
 

 

Notice of meeting and agenda 

 

 

City of Edinburgh Council 

 

10.00 am Thursday, 16th December, 2021 

 

Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to watch the live 

webcast on the Council’s website. 

The law allows the Council to consider some issues in private. Any items under “Private 

Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded in the minute. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Tel:  0131 529 4239 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 2 of 18 

 

 

 

1. Order of business 

1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 

 

 

2. Declaration of interests 

2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 

the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

 

3. Deputations 

3.1   If any 

 

 

4. Minutes 

4.1   The City of Edinburgh Council of 25 November 2021 – submitted 

for approval as a correct record 

 

19 - 78 

5. Leader's Report 

5.1   Leader’s Report 

 

79 - 80 

6. Appointments 

6.1   If any 

 

 

7. Reports 

7.1   Independent Review into Whistleblowing and Organisational 

Culture – Report by the Chief Executive 

81 - 236 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 3 of 18 

 

 

7.2   Review of Political Management Arrangements – December 2021 

– Report by the Executive Director of Corporate Services 

237 - 244 

7.3   Treasury Management: Mid Term Report 2021/22 - referral from 

the Finance and Resources Committee 

 

245 - 264 

7.4   Appointment of Executive Director, Corporate Services – Report 

by the Chief Executive 

265 - 268 

8. Motions 

8.1   By Councillor Burgess – Household Recycling Charter 

 

“Council; 

1. Notes that the Scottish Government and CoSLA agreed a 

Household Recycling Charter that aims to bring more 

consistency to recycling services; 

https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/content/charter-

household-recycling 

2. Notes that many of Scotland’s leading councils have 

signed up to the Charter; 

3. Notes that the Charter is a declaration of an intent to 

provide services that deliver local and national benefits, 

encouraging high-levels of citizen participation in waste 

prevention, recycling and reuse; 

4. Notes that under the Charter signatories commit: 

 

I. To improve our household waste and recycling 

services to maximise the capture of, and improve 

 

https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/content/charter-household-recycling
https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/content/charter-household-recycling


 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 4 of 18 

 

 

the quality of, resources from the waste stream, 

recognising the variations in household types and 

geography to endeavour that our services meet the 

needs of all our citizens. 

II. To encourage our citizens to participate in our 

recycling and reuse services to ensure that they are 

fully utilised.  

III. To operate our services so that our staff are safe, 

competent and treated fairly with the skills required 

to deliver effective and efficient resource 

management on behalf of our communities.  

IV. To develop, agree, implement and review a Code of 

Practice that enshrines the current best practice to 

deliver cost effective and high-performing recycling 

services and tell all of our citizens and community 

partners about both this charter and the code of 

practice. 

5. Notes that Scottish Ministers agree to work in partnership 

with signatories and their representatives to support the 

delivery of these commitments; 

6. Recognises that these commitments and the actions to 

achieve them are in-line with Council ambitions for 

household recycling and therefore agrees that the Council 

Leader and the Chief Executive sign up to the Household 

Recycling Charter on behalf of the Council.” 

 

8.2   By Councillor Laidlaw – Health and Wellbeing Census 

“Council notes that it has been asked by the Scottish Government 

to participate in an online health and wellbeing survey for all 

children in P5 to S6, which each child will be asked to complete 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 5 of 18 

 

 

this during class time. 

Council notes that while pupils will not be asked to type in their 

name into the survey they will use their SCN number. Schools 

and the local authority will typically use the data at cohort level 

but could identify individuals to offer support depending on 

responses. 

Council notes that this survey will include a number of questions 

about sexual activity that have raised concerns from a number of 

parents and their representative bodies. These in particular 

include questions relating to specific sexual activities which will 

be asked to pupils in S4 and above, who could be as young as 14 

years old. These include asking whether they have a boyfriend or 

girlfriend, “How much, if any, sexual experience have you had?”, 

when they first had sex, and subsequent multiple-choice answers 

including ‘oral sex’ and ‘vaginal or anal sex’ and questions about 

use of various contraceptives. 

Council notes the full questionnaire is yet to be published on the 

Scottish Government website and parents will only be able to see 

top-line guidance before being able to make a decision on 

whether to opt-in or out. 

Council questions whether asking such questions is in the best 

interests of young people, who may feel additional pressure 

around whether they ought to be in relationship and/or sexually 

active, and that the widespread nature of the roll-out is likely to 

make this the subject of discussion, and possible bullying, in 

school settings. 

Council questions whether administering this survey is a valuable 

use of class and teacher time, especially given the pressures of 

the past year of pandemic learning and the challenges teachers 

continue to face; as recently raised by the EIS.  

Council notes a number of local authorities in Scotland, including 

West Lothian and Fife Councils, have decided to halt its roll-out 

due to concerns about its appropriateness and the impact on 

young people.  

Council agrees for the census roll-out to be halted until a full 

report is brought to the next meeting of the Education, Children 

and Families Committee for elected members consideration.” 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 6 of 18 

 

 

8.3   By Councillor Rust – Community Councils – Notification of Key 

Information and Consultations 

“Council: 

1. Recognises that Community Councils are staffed by 

volunteers, and are a key link between salaried council 

officers and councillors. More than that, they are statutory 

stakeholders which need to be included in consultations. 

2.  Notes that recently there have been incidences where: 

 Some Community Councils have not received 

notification of key information and consultations 

impacting their area 

 All Community Councils have been required to 

respond within less than one meeting cycle - in 

some cases to council plans with significant impact 

on their local area. 

3.  Understands it can be difficult to attract community 

councillors to the role at the best of times, but even harder 

if they are given a role to represent their community to the 

council which, due to a process that is not fit for purpose is 

almost impossible to achieve. 

4.  Therefore requests: An urgent review of the Community 

Council notification process and contact lists to include:(a) 

Responsibility on council officers to check annually that the 

contact details they hold for Community Councils is correct 

and that they have more than one contact point and 

channel; and (b) Where possible to sample Community 

Councils to check receipt of key communications and/or 

put in place a mechanism whereby a community council 

can instantly notify receipt of a key communication. 

5. Further seeks a commitment to ensure no community 

council is asked to respond to a council consultation in less 

than one calendar month meeting cycle as it severely limits 

their ability for their response to adequately represent the 

community because: 

a. They are volunteers themselves having to fit the 

workload round day jobs and other commitments 

b. They may need time to run community engagement 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 7 of 18 

 

 

and surveys to inform their position on a particular 

consultation 

c. They may need a meeting to vote to take a position 

that has been informed by that community 

engagement and it is unreasonable to force 

volunteers to convene meetings at short notice.” 

 

8.4   By Councillor Staniforth – Scottish Government Funding for Light 

Rail 

 

“Council notes: 

 

1. That as light rail is not currently included in the Scottish 

Government funding for the under 22s free public transport 

scheme that Edinburgh would shoulder the burden for it 

with regard to trams if included in the upcoming Council 

budget; 

 

2. That Glasgow City Council has already resolved to write to 

Transport Scotland urging them to include their light rail 

subway system within funding for the scheme and that it 

would be consistent for Edinburgh to make the same 

request for trams; 

 

3. That if light rail is not included in the scheme it will 

potentially put other councils off from investing in those 

methods of public transport and may also lead to a two-tier 

system of public transport when public transport integration 

and increased patronage is critical; 

 

4. That because trams have not been included in other 

national free public transport schemes only Edinburgh 

residents can use their concessionary travel passes on 

Edinburgh’s trams; 

 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 8 of 18 

 

 

Council therefore resolves: 

 

To write to Transport Scotland and the Cabinet Secretary for 

Finance highlighting these points and asking that light rail 

including trams are included in funding for all national free public 

transport schemes that apply to buses.” 

 

8.5   By Councillor Howie – Enhancing Employment Opportunities for 

People with a Disability 

 

“Council notes: - 

 

1. Specialist officers employed by the Department for Work & 

Pensions and operating as part of the Civil Service for many 

years provided an invaluable service to people with a disability 

whereby they assessed relevant needs and then obtained the 

necessary finance, equipment and all support required to assist 

the recipients to complete the work they had been employed to 

do alongside their work colleagues, many of whom would not 

have a disability. 

 

2. The Department for Work & Pensions no longer employ such 

specialist officers and, instead, provide only finance following a 

complicated and lengthy application process, leaving recipients to 

get on with it, without knowing what's available in terms of 

equipment and other support services which could assist them to 

do the job for which they have been employed.  

 

3. People with a disability therefore no longer have access to the 

experience, expertise and specialist knowledge which would 

certainly be of benefit to them and could mean the difference 

between success and failure in the job they have managed to 

obtain. 

 

4. The rate of unemployment for people with a disability is 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 9 of 18 

 

 

currently running at between 40/50%, ten times the national 

figure. 

 

5. The consequences of unemployment for most people with a 

disability, including exclusion from the workplace are absence of 

a work routine/structure, reduced income, increased social 

isolation and disproportionately higher levels of physical and 

mental health issues.  

 

6. Council agrees to: - 

 

Bring forward a report to Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work 

Committee within two cycles that: 

 

Considers how the Council can best assist and support people 

with a disability to find and sustain employment, be it within the 

Council itself but also with other local employers; 

 

Considers the advantages for both people with a disability as well 

as wider society of having more people in employment, disabled 

or otherwise; 

 

Considers how best to replace the service previously provided by 

the Department for Work & Pensions and the benefits and 

advantages of this for people with a disability and others; 

 

And also examine any other ways in which the council can 

facilitate an increase in the employment of people with a 

disability, be it within the council or, alternatively, with other local 

employers, and to consider how the council can give a lead and 

demonstrate to others by example how this can be achieved 

successfully and to the benefit of all.” 

 

8.6   
By Councillor Howie – Cameron Toll Bridge Strikes 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 10 of 18 

 

 

“Council notes: 

1. Bridge strikes have occurred ever since the bridge was too 

low and vehicles, mainly lorries, became too big to pass 

underneath it, which takes us back to sometime in the last 

century; 

2. History of bridge strikes is unknown as council does not retain 

relevant statistics including casualty figures or costs, and that 

previous reviews and improvements have failed to stop the 

bridge strikes;  

3. Vehicles striking the bridge, mainly HGVs, usually topple over 

and thereby pose a risk to both pedestrians and other road 

users, including cyclists; 

Council therefore: 

4. Expresses a desire to reduce the number of bridge strikes to 

zero; and 

5. Agrees to liaise with Police Scotland and Network Rail in to 

bring forward a report to full council within two cycles 

establishing what needs to change to ensure that there are no 

bridge strikes and, therefore, zero casualties.” 

 

8.7   By Councillor Booth – VAT Rate on Energy Efficiency Retrofits 

 

“Council: 

 

1) Notes that energy to heat and power the city’s homes and 

other buildings accounts for over two thirds of Edinburgh’s 

greenhouse gas emissions, and that accelerating energy 

efficiency in homes and buildings is a key aim of the city’s 

recently-approved 2030 Climate Strategy; 

 

2) Notes that VAT on most building retrofit products and 

services is currently charged at 20% while VAT on new 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 11 of 18 

 

 

build construction projects is currently zero-VAT rated; 

 

3) Notes research undertaken by the Federation of Master 

Builders which found that VAT costs are deterring around 

4 million homeowners in the UK from improving their 

homes, while a VAT cut could unlock a £51 billion green 

revolution, and create 345,000 jobs; 

 

4) Notes that the differential VAT rate between new build and 

retrofit projects creates a disincentive for building owners 

and managers to undertake energy efficiency retrofit 

projects and will make it harder for the council to achieve 

its carbon reduction targets; 

 

5) Notes that a number of organisations including the Royal 

Institute of Chartered Surveyors, the Federation of Master 

Builders and the Architects’ Journal support a campaign to 

reduce VAT on building retrofit projects in order to create 

jobs, drive forward energy efficiency improvements and cut 

greenhouse gas emissions; 

 

6) Therefore agrees that the council supports the aims of the 

campaign to reduce VAT on building retrofits, and further 

agrees that the Council Leader will write to the Chancellor 

of the Exchequer urging him to reduce the rate of VAT on 

building retrofits to 5% or less.” 

 

8.8   By Councillor Cameron – Improving Accessibility and Inclusion for 

Edinburgh Citizens and Visitors 

 

“The City of Edinburgh Council is committed to Edinburgh 

becoming a safer, more accessible, and inclusive city for 

Edinburgh residents and visitors. 

 

Council notes recent policy and project development and 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 12 of 18 

 

 

implementation which has been designed to improve accessibility 

and inclusivity, including, the citywide A Board ban which was 

designed to significantly reduce trip hazards and the 

enhancement of our dropped kerb programme, as well as the 

agreement to provide 4,500 new homes within our house building 

targets which will be wheelchair accessible or adaptable. 

  

Council also notes that in order to achieve the real benefits of 

Equality Impact Assessments, they need to be designed with the 

input of people with lived expertise of the barriers that the 

assessments and recommendations intend to remove.  

 

Council calls for Equality Impact Assessments to be undertaken, 

in respect of proposals pertaining to the temporary and 

permanent use of buildings, parks, land, public facilities and 

amenities in the Council ownership which will affect citizen and 

visitor access to these. 

 

Equality Impact Assessments of such proposals, temporary and 

permanent, should consider and clearly set out in reports, how 

proposals will impact on improving the accessibility and inclusion 

of our city to Edinburgh citizens and visitors. 

 

Council calls for a report to the Policy and Sustainability 

Committee within three cycles setting out progress on improving 

the accessibility and inclusion of Edinburgh;  how this is being 

achieved; and what further steps Council can take to work with its 

partners to improve the accessibility of major attractions, public 

services and amenities which are not in the Council ownership.” 

 

9. Congratulatory Motions 

9.1   By Councillor Fullerton – Smilechildcare 

Council notes: 

Smilechildcare is a Council partner provider nursery based in the 

Calder’s in South West Edinburgh. They have been in operation 

 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 13 of 18 

 

 

since 1997 and provide high quality, inclusive, affordable 

childcare for children aged 0 – 12 years, 8am – 6pm for 50 weeks 

of the year in safe and nurturing environments, meeting the 

needs of each child and supporting their families whilst working in 

partnership with other agencies.  This service enables families on 

low income or accessing further education to secure and sustain 

long term employment helping to break the cycle of child poverty 

and deprivation, whilst in the knowledge their children will receive 

first class care. 

In addition to offering this vital service, their location allows 

students attending the nearby schools, colleges and universities 

to study, attend training courses or volunteer, supporting them to 

become Job Ready. 

I am delighted to announce that Smilechildcare have been 

successfully awarded Quality Counts certification, Platinum 

accreditation from National Day Nurseries Association (NDNA).  

The first organisation awarded this accreditation in 

Scotland.  The whole staff team has worked really hard over the 

last 18 months to achieve this accreditation, which acts as an 

indicator of the quality of service that they offer and they are 

delighted that their efforts have been rewarded by achieving this 

very special award. 

In addition, the whole staff team had previously been awarded the 

Millie’s Mark accreditation.  Millie’s Mark is a national recognition 

for going above and beyond the minimum training requirements 

for paediatric first aid. Millie’s Mark is focused on the under 5 age 

group and all of Smilechildcare’s staff, regardless of which 

department they work in, had to complete this rigorous training as 

it is the company as a whole which has gained the accreditation 

and not just the under 5 settings.  

Council asks that the Lord Provost to acknowledge the 

achievements of Smilechildcare in an appropriate way. 

 

10. Questions 

10.1   By Councillor Rust - Equal Pavements Pledge - for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

269 - 270 

10.2   10.2 - By Councillor Rust - SFP - Monitoring Cycle Counters - for 271 - 272 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 14 of 18 

 

 

answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment 

Committee 

 

10.3   By Councillor Jim Campbell - Safe Route to School - New Victoria 

Primary - for answer by the Convener of the Transport and 

Environment Committee 

 

273 - 274 

10.4   By Councillor Mowat - London Street Crossing - for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

275 - 276 

10.5   By Councillor Neil Ross - Motion on Amplification of Sound - 

Letter to Minister - for answer by the Convener of the Regulatory 

Committee 

 

277 - 278 

10.6   By Councillor Neil Ross - Roads and Pavements Repairs - for 

answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment 

Committee 

 

279 - 280 

10.7   By Councillor Neil Ross - Zebra Markings for Side Streets - for 

answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment 

Committee 

 

281 - 282 

10.8   By Councillor Jim Campbell - Councillor Access to Documents - 

for answer by the Convener of the Finance and Resources 

Committee 

 

283 - 284 

10.9   By Councillor Cook - Meeting with Politicians and Business 

Representatives - for answer by the Council Leader 

 

285 - 286 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 15 of 18 

 

 

10.10   By Councillor Cook - Meeting with Business Representatives - for 

answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment 

Committee 

 

287 - 288 

10.11   By Councillor Mowat - SEV Legal Advice - for answer by the 

Convener of the Regulatory Committee 

 

289 - 290 

10.12   By Councillor Mowat - Gull Proof Sack - for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

291 - 292 

10.13   By Councillor Whyte - Chief Executive Appraisal 1 - for answer 

by the Council Leader 

 

293 - 294 

10.14   By Councillor Whyte - Chief Executive Appraisal 2 - for answer 

by the Council Leader 

 

295 - 296 

10.15   By Councillor Whyte - Chief Executive Appraisal 3 - for answer 

by the Council Leader 

 

297 - 298 

10.16   By Councillor Booth - Refurbishment of Darroch Annex - for 

answer by the Convener of the Education, Children and Families 

Committee 

 

299 - 300 

10.17   By Councillor Bruce - Care Packages - for answer by the 

Convener of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

 

301 - 302 

Nick Smith 

Service Director, Legal and Assurance 



 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 16 of 18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Information about the City of Edinburgh Council 

The City of Edinburgh Council consists of 63 Councillors and is elected under 

proportional representation.  The City of Edinburgh Council usually meets once a 

month and the Lord Provost is the Convener when it meets. 

This meeting of the City of Edinburgh Council is being held virtually by Microsoft 

Teams. 

 

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 

Gavin King, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 2.1, 

Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG,  Tel 0131 529 4239, email 

gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 

committees can be viewed online by going to the Council’s online Committee Library.  

Live and archived webcasts for this meeting and all main Council committees can be 

viewed online by going to the Council’s Webcast Portal. 

 

Webcasting of Council meetings 

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Lord Provost will confirm if all or 

part of the meeting is being filmed. 

The Council is a Data Controller under the General Data Protection Regulation and 

Data Protection Act 2018.   

We broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of 

the public to observe the democratic process.  Data collected during this webcast will 

be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited 

to, for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via 

the Council’s internet site. 

mailto:gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://edinburgh.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 17 of 18 

 

 

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or 

otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical 

record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter 

until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and 

other connected processes).  Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as 

part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above. 

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 

storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 

damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 

(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk


 

City of Edinburgh Council - 16 December 2021 Page 18 of 18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 1 of 60 

 Minutes 

The City of Edinburgh Council  

Edinburgh, Thursday 25 November 2021 

Present:- 
 

LORD PROVOST 
 

The Right Honourable Frank Ross 
 

COUNCILLORS 
 
Robert C Aldridge 
Scott Arthur 
Gavin Barrie 
Eleanor Bird 
Chas Booth 
Claire Bridgman 
Mark A Brown 
Graeme Bruce 
Steve Burgess 
Lezley Marion Cameron 
Jim Campbell 
Kate Campbell 
Mary Campbell 
Maureen M Child 
Cammy Day 
Alison Dickie 
Denis C Dixon 
Phil Doggart 
Karen Doran 
Scott Douglas 
Catherine Fullerton 
Neil Gardiner 
Gillian Gloyer 
George Gordon 
Ashley Graczyk 
Joan Griffiths 
Ricky Henderson  
Derek Howie 
Graham J Hutchison 
Andrew Johnston 
 

David Key 
Callum Laidlaw 
Kevin Lang 
Lesley Macinnes 
Melanie Main 
John McLellan 
Amy McNeese-Mechan 
Adam McVey 
Claire Miller 
Max Mitchell 
Joanna Mowat 
Rob Munn 
Gordon J Munro 
Hal Osler 
Ian Perry 
Susan Rae 
Alasdair Rankin 
Lewis Ritchie 
Cameron Rose 
Neil Ross 
Jason Rust 
Stephanie Smith 
Alex Staniforth 
Mandy Watt 
Susan Webber 
Iain Whyte 
Donald Wilson 
Norman J Work 
Ethan Young 
Louise Young 

  

Page 19

Agenda Item 4.1



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 2 of 60 

1 Street Furniture - Motion by Councillor Howie 

a) Deputation – Guide Dogs Scotland 

The deputation indicated that they had serious concerns about the 

proliferation of temporary street furniture, which could act as an obstacle to 

people with vision impairment or limited mobility.  They felt it remained vital 

that people with a vision impairment and others with limited mobility should 

continue to be able to access their streets, businesses and other local 

services safely. 

 They asked the Council to consider the following: 

• Review and enforce any existing guidance on the placement of street 

furniture;  

• Evaluate whether disabled people, including people with sight loss, can 

use temporary measures effectively 

• Encourage businesses to consult with groups in the area that may be 

affected by the proposals 

• Consider the need for an accessible barrier with colour contrast and a tap 

rail so that long cane users can navigate safely 

• Ensure the minimum pavement width remaining allows two pedestrians to 

pass each other while socially distancing 

• Ensure no structures or signs allowed outside the designated area, the 

presence of tables and chairs should never discourage pedestrians from 

using the footway 

• Where possible furniture should be located on the carriageway to enable 

social distancing 

• Potential locations for outdoor seating/tables should be assessed to 

ensure that they don’t add to existing street clutter. For example, that 

tables/chairs should not be located near to/next roadworks, bike racks, 

diversion signs and any other street clutter likely to impede the safe 

passage of pedestrians 

b) Motion by Councillor Howie 

The following motion by Councillor Howie was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17, and verbally altered in terms of Standing Order 22.5: 

“Council: 

1) Notes Councillor Miller’s Equal Pavements Pledge motion which was 

passed during September’s Full Council Meeting.  

Page 20



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 3 of 60 

2) Recognises the increase in street furniture facilitates the Covid 

recovery. 

3) Commends the work done by many pubs and restaurants to make their 

outdoor areas in public spaces disability-friendly. 

4) Notes that the recent applications for pubs and restaurants to place 

platformed seating areas outside their premises are now increasing 

and altering so that they become permanent arrangements instead of 

temporary. 

5) Notes however that issues raised by Guide Dogs for the Blind Scotland 

regarding the enforcement of the regulations on street furniture indicate 

there are still issues for the blind and visually impaired people in 

Edinburgh. 

6) Is concerned that many blind and visually impaired people avoid parts 

of our city, such as Portobello Promenade, because the street furniture 

regulations are being ignored, leading to excessive, and for them, 

dangerous, street clutter. 

7) Calls for officers to compile, in consultation with Guide Dogs for the 

Blind Scotland and other disability groups, a report on the continued 

impact of street furniture on blind and visually impaired people, the 

wider disabled community and parents with buggies and how to 

mitigate it and how this should be aligned with the aforementioned 

motion.” 

- moved by Councillor Howie, seconded by Councillor     

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Howie. 

Declaration of Interests 

Councillor Howie declared a non-financial interest in the above item as the owner of 

a guide dog. 

Councillor Ritchie declared a non- financial interest in the above item as the owner of 

a business with an outside seating area. 

2 Minutes 

Decision 

To approve the minute of the Council of 28 October 2021 as a correct record. 

Page 21



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 4 of 60 

3 Leader’s Report 

The Leader presented his report to the Council.  He commented on: 

• Congratulations to Fergus Linehan recipient of Edinburgh award 

• Edinburgh becoming a Living Wage City 

• 16 Days of Activism campaign – Action on Violence against Women 

• COP26 – Edinburgh Climate Summit 

• Net Zero target for 2030 

 

The following questions/comments were made: 

Councillor Whyte - Legacy of COP26 – work done by the Council to 

become net zero by 2030 - costs 

Councillor Miller - Brexit – staffing crisis in health care 

Councillor Aldridge - 

- 

- 

Violence against women and girls 

Net Zero targets 

Broken Coalition commitments 

Councillor Day - 

- 

- 

Edinburgh Award 

Violence against women and girls 

Use of 4 libraries within the city as COVID test 

centres 

Councillor Kate Campbell - 

- 

Violence against women and girls 

Accreditation of Edinburgh as a Living Wage City - 

work with businesses 

Councillor Bruce - Council loss in income streams due to COVID – 

proposals for making up shortfall 

Councillor Burgess - Climate emergency – concern at failure to reach 

agreement at COP26 

Councillor Louise Young - Schools and school excursions – theatre visits 

Councillor Watt - 

 

 

- 

Congratulations to Councillor McVey on becoming 

a white ribbon ambassador and support for 16 

Days of Activism Campaign 

Licences for zero licence policy for sexual 

entertainment venues 

Page 22



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 5 of 60 

Councillor Macinnes - COP26 - Next steps to obtain 2030 net zero target 

goal in Edinburgh 

Councillor Laidlaw - Edinburgh’s contribution to COP26 – diesel 

generators being used for the City’s outdoor ice 

rink and Christmas market 

Councillor Jim Campbell - Transport and Environment Committee - advice 

from Clerk and Legal adviser 

Councillor Main - Net zero targets – Merchiston Community Council 

declaration of climate and ecological emergency – 

local action  

Councillor Munro - Funding settlement by Scottish Government – 

representations by Leader and Depute Leader 

   

4 Appointment to Committees and Outside Organisations etc 

In terms of Standing Order 30.1, the Lord Provost ruled that there had been a 

material change in circumstances and that the Conservative Group amendment 

should be considered.  

Appointments to Outside Bodies for 2017–22 were approved by Council on 29 June 

2017 and appointments to the Council’s committees were made at the Council 

meeting on 27 May 2021.   

Councillor Gavin Corbett had submitted his resignation as a councillor of the City of 

Edinburgh Council for Ward 9, Fountainbridge/Craiglockhart and this had resulted in 

a number of vacancies at committees, joint boards and outside organisations. 

Motion 

To appoint Councillor Key as the Canal Champion. 

- moved by Councillor Fullerton, seconded by Councillor Doran 

Amendment 1 

1) To consider that the resignation of Councillor Corbett is a material change of 

circumstances, and agrees to recast the Committee places in line with the 

political balance of the Council seeking nominations from the political parties 

to fill their allocated places.  

Page 23



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 6 of 60 

2) In response to recommendations 1.6 and 1.8 of the report by the Executive 

Director of Corporate Services, to appoint Councillor Doggart to the Edinburgh 

Community Solar Co-operative and Councillor Jim Campbell to the Board of 

Energy for Edinburgh. 

3) To seek nominations for the places as Canal Champion and on the Torness 

Local Liaison Committee (paragraphs 1.5 and 1.7 of the recommendations). 

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Whyte 

Amendment 2 

1) To appoint Councillor Staniforth to the Finance and Resources Committee in 

place of Councillor Corbett. 

2) To appoint Councillor Burgess to Transport and Environment Committee in 

place of Councillor Corbett. 

3) To appoint Councillor Booth to the Committee on Discretionary Rating Relief 

Appeals in place of Council Corbett.  

4) To appoint Councillor Booth to the Lothian Valuation Joint Board/Lothian 

Electoral Joint Committee in place of Councillor Corbett. 

5) To appoint a Canal Champion in place of Councillor Corbett. 

6) To appoint Councillor Main to the Edinburgh Community Solar Co-operative in 

place of Councillor Corbett. 

7) To appoint Councillor Burgess to the Torness Local Liaison Committee in 

place of Councillor Corbett. 

8) To appoint Councillor Burgess to the Board of Energy for Edinburgh in place 

of Councillor Corbett. 

9) To agree that Councillor Miller receive the Green Group Leader’s Senior 

Councillor Remuneration with effect from 29 November 2021.  

- moved by Councillor Burgess, seconded by Councillor Miller 

The Lord Provost ruled that as there was no opposition to the motion by Councillor 

Fullerton, that Councillor Key be appointed as the Canal Champion. 

The Lord Provost further ruled that a vote be taken between Amendment 1 and 

Amendment 2. 

 

Page 24



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 7 of 60 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For Amendment 1   - 25 votes 

For Amendment 2   - 35 votes 

Abstentions    - 1 

(For Amendment 1:  Councillors Aldridge, Barrie, Bridgman, Brown, Bruce, Jim 

Campbell, Doggart, Douglas, Gloyer, Hutchison, Johnston, Laidlaw, Lang, McLellan, 

Mitchell, Mowat, Osler, Rose, Neil Ross, Ritchie, Rust, Smith, Webber, Whyte and 

Louise Young. 

For Amendment 2:  The Lord Provost, Councillors Arthur, Bird, Booth, Burgess, 

Cameron, Kate Campbell, Mary Campbell, Day, Dickie, Dixon, Doran, Fullerton, 

Gardiner, Gordon, Graczyk, Griffiths, Henderson, Howie, Key, Macinnes, McNeese-

Mechan, McVey, Main, Miller, Munn, Munro, Perry, Rae, Rankin, Staniforth, Watt, 

Wilson, Work and Ethan Young. 

Abstentions:  Councillor Child.) 

Decision 

To approve the Motion by Councillor Fullerton and Amendment 2 by Councillor 

Burgess as follows: 

1) To appoint Councillor Staniforth to the Finance and Resources Committee in 

place of Councillor Corbett. 

2) To appoint Councillor Burgess to Transport and Environment Committee in 

place of Councillor Corbett. 

3) To appoint Councillor Booth to the Committee on Discretionary Rating Relief 

Appeals in place of Council Corbett.  

4) To appoint Councillor Booth to the Lothian Valuation Joint Board/Lothian 

Electoral Joint Committee in place of Councillor Corbett. 

5) To appoint Councillor Key as the Canal Champion in place of Councillor 

Corbett. 

6) To appoint Councillor Main to the Edinburgh Community Solar Co-operative in 

place of Councillor Corbett. 

7) To appoint Councillor Burgess to the Torness Local Liaison Committee in 

place of Councillor Corbett. 

Page 25



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 8 of 60 

8) To appoint Councillor Burgess to the Board of Energy for Edinburgh in place 

of Councillor Corbett. 

9) To agree that Councillor Miller receive the Green Group Leader’s Senior 

Councillor Remuneration with effect from 29 November 2021.  

(References – Act of Council No 8 of 29 June 2017; Act of Council No 6 of 24 August 

2017; Act of Council No 4 of 27 June 2019; Act of Council No 7 of 27 May 2021; 

report by the Executive Director of Corporate Services, submitted.) 

5 Independent Inquiry Report Arising Out of Allegations 

Concerning the Conduct of the late Sean Bell 

The Council had considered the outcome of an independent inquiry commissioned 

by the Council into complaints about the conduct of the late Sean Bell, a former 

senior manager in the Communities and Families directorate, who passed away in 

August 2020 whilst due to stand trial for sexual offences charges, and agreed to a 

further report on how the recommendations of the inquiry would be implemented in 

full. 

An update was provided on progress which had been made and the proposed next 

steps in this regard. 

Motion 

1) To note the progress with regard to the recommendations made in the Inquiry 

report.  

2) To agree that a further review of the misuse of public funds issue in the way 

detailed by Pinsent Masons would be disproportionate and costly but notes 

this means there will be unresolved issues in relation to whether and how the 

outcomes of the investigations undertaken at the time into this and the related 

Fair Treatment at Work Complaint by the whistleblowers were actioned.  

3) To acknowledge the difficulty in this for the whistleblowers, who did the right 

thing in bringing information forward, and asks that the redress scheme 

appropriately takes account of the impact on them of potential previous 

failings of the Council to satisfactorily deal with issues raised. 

4) To note that the Review undertaken by Brodies, requested by the then 

Monitoring Officer, was not a reinvestigation and related only to whether the 

Monitoring Officer was required to conduct further investigation under the 

relevant legislation; further notes that this has been made available to some 

councillors and agrees to make this report available to all Councillors in 

appropriate data room conditions. 

Page 26



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 9 of 60 

5) To recognise the issue of proportionality on this matter as set out in 2) above, 

to request officers to consider any additional actions which can be progressed 

through relevant working groups set out in section 4.3 of the report by the 

Chief Executive to make improvements (for example in relation to record 

keeping and assurance as to completion of actions), to ensure that in future 

assurance can be provided that all relevant actions have been taken in 

relation to matters such as those raised by the whistleblowers. 

- moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day 

Amendment 

1) To note the progress with regard to the recommendations made in the Inquiry 

report.  

2) To instruct the Chief Executive to organise a private briefing, or create a data 

room for Members, within one cycle in order to review the reports that identify 

those officers who made up the “old boys' network”. 

3) To agree that a further review of the misuse of public funds issue in the way 

detailed by Pinsent Masons would be disproportionate and costly but notes 

that there remain issues to be resolved in relation to whether and how the 

outcomes of the investigations undertaken at the time into this and the related 

Fair Treatment at Work Complaint by the whistleblowers were actioned. 

4) To note that the Review undertaken by Brodies, requested by the then 

Monitoring Officer, was not a reinvestigation and related only to whether the 

Monitoring Officer was required to conduct further investigation under the 

relevant legislation; further notes that this has been made available to some 

councillors and agrees to make this report available to all Councillors in 

appropriate data room conditions. 

5) To note that recent events, notably the information included in the October 

2021 Tanner report, throw new light on the credibility of some of the evidence 

supplied to those investigations and the likelihood that the appropriate actions 

were taken thereafter. 

6) To therefore instruct that a short management review is undertaken to 

determine the accurate position so that councillors, the whistleblowers and 

those who undertook the investigations (both latter groups containing current 

Council staff members) can understand the outcomes, any failings by the 

Council management at the time, and what action remains necessary to 

ensure that a just and proportionate resolution is found that recognises all 

those damaged by the actions of Sean Bell. This review to be reported to 

Council within two cycles. 

Page 27



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 10 of 60 

- moved by Councillor Whyte, seconded by Councillor Rose 

Adjournment 

In accordance with Standing Order 21 a vote was taken to adjourn the meeting to 

allow the motion and amendment to be considered. 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For an adjournment  - 55 votes 

Against an adjournment -   0 votes 

The meeting was adjourned for 50 minutes. 

Resumption 

On resuming the meeting, the following adjustment to the motion by Councillor 

McVey was submitted: 

To add to the end of paragraph 4 of the motion by Councillor McVey: 

“Agrees the conclusion on proportionality doesn’t preclude further request for 

management actions to seek additional assurance if necessary in future.” 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the motion (as adjusted) - 41 votes 

For the amendment   - 16 votes 

(For the motion (as adjusted):  The Lord Provost, Councillors Aldridge, Barrie, Bird, 

Booth, Bridgman, Burgess, Cameron, Kate Campbell, Mary Campbell, Child, Day, 

Dickie, Dixon, Doran, Fullerton, Gardiner, Gloyer, Gordon, Griffiths, Henderson, 

Howie, Key, Lang, McNeese-Mechan, McVey, Main, Miller, Munn, Munro, Osler, 

Perry, Rae, Rankin, Neil Ross, Staniforth, Watt, Wilson, Work, Ethan Young and 

Louise Young. 

For the amendment:  Councillors Brown, Bruce, Jim Campbell, Doggart, Douglas, 

Hutchison, Johnston, Laidlaw, McLellan, Mitchell, Mowat, Rose, Rust, Smith, 

Webber and Whyte.) 

  

Page 28



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 11 of 60 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McVey: 

1) To note the progress with regard to the recommendations made in the Inquiry 

report.  

2) To agree that a further review of the misuse of public funds issue in the way 

detailed by Pinsent Masons would be disproportionate and costly but note this 

meant there would be unresolved issues in relation to whether and how the 

outcomes of the investigations undertaken at the time into this and the related 

Fair Treatment at Work Complaint by the whistleblowers were actioned.  

3) To acknowledge the difficulty in this for the whistleblowers, who did the right 

thing in bringing information forward, and ask that the redress scheme 

appropriately took account of the impact on them of potential previous failings 

of the Council to satisfactorily deal with issues raised. 

4) To note that the Review undertaken by Brodies, requested by the then 

Monitoring Officer, was not a reinvestigation and related only to whether the 

Monitoring Officer was required to conduct further investigation under the 

relevant legislation; to further note that this had been made available to some 

councillors and agree to make this report available to all Councillors in 

appropriate data room conditions.  To agree the conclusion on proportionality 

didn’t preclude further requests for management actions to seek additional 

assurance if necessary in future. 

5) To recognise the issue of proportionality on this matter as set out in 2) above, 

to request officers to consider any additional actions which could be 

progressed through relevant working groups set out in section 4.3 of the 

report by the Chief Executive to make improvements (for example in relation 

to record keeping and assurance as to completion of actions), to ensure that 

in future assurance could be provided that all relevant actions had been taken 

in relation to matters such as those raised by the whistleblowers 

(References – Act of Council No 2 of 28 October 2021; report by the Chief 

Executive, submitted.) 

6 Boundary Commission for Scotland – 2023 Review of UK 

Parliament Constituencies 

Details were provided on the Boundary Commission for Scotland’s initial proposals 

for a new map of UK Parliamentary constituencies in Scotland.  Scotland had been 

allocated 57 constituencies for the 2023 Review, two fewer than at present, the UK 

Page 29



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 12 of 60 

Parliament retaining 650 constituencies in total. The overall aim was to make the 

electorate of each constituency more equal.  

Under the proposals Edinburgh retained 5 constituencies, with the current names, 

with minor changes to the boundaries between constituencies, however, it was 

proposed that the Edinburgh East constituency should include the western half of 

Musselburgh. 

Decision 

1) To note the Boundary Commission for Scotland consultation on the proposed 

new UK Parliamentary Constituencies. 

2) To approve the proposed response to the Boundary Commission for Scotland 

as detailed in Appendix 1 to the report by the Chief Executive. 

(Reference – report by the Chief Executive, submitted.) 

7 Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership – Appointment 

of Service Director - Operations 

Details were provided on the recruitment process which would be followed to appoint 

the Service Director Operations within the Edinburgh Health and Social Care 

Partnership.  Normally, Service Directors employed by the Council would be 

appointed by a Recruitment Committee comprising seven elected members, 

however, in the current circumstances, it was proposed that the Council waive its 

right, and agree that responsibility for the selection of these posts be given to an 

Integration Joint Board (IJB) recruitment panel. 

Decision 

1) To note the arrangements for the appointment of the Service Director – 

Operations, Health & Social Care. 

2) To agree the arrangements for the recruitment and appointment of the 

Service Director – Operations, including the establishment of an IJB 

recruitment panel to make the appointments. 

3) To delegate authority to the Chief Executive to authorise the appointment (if 

necessary) of the Service Director – Operations following the selection of 

appropriate candidates by the IJB. 

(Reference - report by the Chief Executive, submitted.) 

Page 30



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 13 of 60 

8 City of Edinburgh Council – 2020/21 Annual Audit Report to 

the Council and the Controller of Audit – referral from the 

Finance and Resources Committee 

The Finance and Resources Committee had referred a report on the City of 

Edinburgh Council – 2020/21 Annual Audit Report to the Council and the Controller 

of Audit to the Council for noting. 

Motion 

To note the report by the Executive Director of Corporate Services.  

- moved by Councillor Munn, seconded by Councillor Griffiths 

Amendment 

1) To note the report by the Executive Director of Corporate Services.  

2) To instruct the Chief Executive to present a report to the March Council 

meeting setting out progress in relation to each of the main actions identified 

in the key messages section of the External Auditor’s report; agreeing that:  

(a) such a report should also include an update on progress towards 

completing all outstanding management actions arising from Internal 

Audit activity; and  

(b) the potential consequences for the City of Edinburgh’s medium-term 

financial framework arising from the absence of a medium-term 

financial strategy for the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board. 

- moved by Councillor Johnston, seconded by Councillor Doggart 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the motion  - 37 votes 

For the amendment  - 21 votes 

(For the motion:  The Lord Provost, Councillors Barrie, Bird, Booth, Bridgman, 

Burgess, Cameron, Kate Campbell, Mary Campbell, Child, Day, Dickie, Dixon, 

Doran, Fullerton, Gardiner, Gordon, Graczyk, Griffiths, Henderson, Howie, Key, 

Macinnes, McNeese-Mechan, McVey, Main, Miller, Munn, Munro, Perry, Rankin, 

Ritchie, Staniforth, Watt, Wilson, Work and Ethan Young.  

Page 31



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 14 of 60 

For the amendment:  Councillors Aldridge, Brown, Bruce, Jim Campbell, Doggart, 

Douglas, Gloyer, Hutchison, Johnston, Laidlaw, Lang, McLellan, Mitchell, Mowat, 

Osler, Rose, Rust, Smith, Webber, Whyte and Louise Young.) 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Munn. 

(References – Finance and Resources Committee of 18 November 2021 (item 1); 

referral from the Finance and Resources Committee, submitted.) 

Declaration of Interests 

Councillors Bruce, Cameron, Dixon, Osler and Staniforth declared a non-financial 

interest in the above item as members of Edinburgh Leisure. 

Councillors Bird, Brown and Gordon declared a non-financial interest in the above 

item as trustees of Spartans Community Football Academy. 

9 Call for Action on Zebra Markings for Side Streets - Motion by 

Councillor Neil Ross 

a) Deputation – Bruntsfield Primary School Parent Council 

A written deputation was presented on behalf of Bruntsfield Primary School 

Parent Council. 

 The deputation strongly supported the motion by Councillor Neil Ross for a 

trial of cost-efficient Zebra markings for side streets to encourage walking to 

school and to promote the wider Living Streets for the school community and 

all of Edinburgh. 

 The deputation urged the Council to proceed with a trial as soon as possible 

and to show its support for the national call by Living Streets and other road 

safety groups to ask the government to give zebra markings the same legal 

force as zebra crossings. 

b) Deputation – South Morningside Primary School Parent Council 

A written deputation was presented on behalf of South Morningside Primary 

School Parent Council.   

The deputation were very pleased to see the proposal to introduce a trial of 

side street zebra crossings which they strongly supported.  They believed that 

painted zebra markings would be an excellent addition to the measures that 

Page 32



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 15 of 60 

allowed safe travel to school and that these crossings would make a real 

difference to encouraging active travel. 

The deputation indicated that they would also like to volunteer a proposal for a 

trial route, were willing to help canvas parents for opinions on whether the 

route had improved their walk to school and had suggested a route as an 

option for the trial. 

c) Deputation – Stockbridge Primary Parent Council 

A written deputation was presented on behalf of Stockbridge Primary Parent 

Council. 

 The deputation indicated that they were in full support of the call for action on 

zebra markings for side streets as they felt that this cost effective initiative 

would go some way to improving the safety of their pupils, in particular those 

who used the Saxe-Coburg crossing, until other measures could be put in 

place.  

 They stressed that it was particularly appealing that the zebra markings could 

be actioned quickly given the addition hazards the children faced in the dark 

mornings and afternoons of the Scottish winter and felt that other schools in 

Edinburgh would benefit from zebra markings on side-streets. 

d) Motion by Councillor Neil Ross 

 The following motion by Councillor Neil Ross was submitted in terms of 

Standing Order 17: 

“Council: 

1) Notes the national call for authorisation from central government to use 

zebra markings for side streets.  The joint statement has been signed 

by Living Streets, British Cycling, Guide Dogs, the Campaign for Better 

Transport, The Ramblers, Sustrans and Playing Out as well as 

motoring body The AA. 

2) Recognises that, in the face of the global climate crisis and worsening 

obesity and physical inactivity levels, the need to enable millions more 

people across the nation to make local journeys on foot is not a choice 

but an absolute necessity. 

3) Notes that Greater Manchester Council has published new evidence 

showing that zebra markings on side roads lead to drivers giving way 

30% more than where there is no marking and is asking for permission 

to roll out a large-scale trial of zebra markings at side roads. 

Page 33



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 16 of 60 

4) Notes that the Danish city of Aarhus is to trial 3D zebra style crossings. 

5) Notes that new YouGov polling data published and commissioned by 

Living Streets has found that: 

- 83% of adults would feel more confident crossing the road with 

zebra markings 

- 29% of adults have been hit or had a near miss at a side road 

- 65% of adults think the UK government should authorise zebra 

markings on side roads 

- 76% of parents of 4-11-year-olds would feel safer about their child 

walking to school (or allowing them to walk independently) if there 

were zebra crossings on side roads 

- 76% would also be more likely to walk to school if there were zebra 

crossings at side roads. 

6) Notes that the proposed side road zebra markings - that do not use 

expensive Belisha Beacons or zigzags - are in common use across the 

world to give greater priority to pedestrians when crossing quieter 

roads. They are also in widespread use across the UK in supermarket 

car parks and airports and are already authorised for use on protected 

cycle tracks. The crossings typically cost around £1,000 compared to 

£40,000 for a zebra crossing with Belisha Beacons. 

7) Requests that the Convener of Transport & Environment writes to the 

Scottish Government ministers responsible for Transport and Active 

Travel to  

- highlight the benefits to pedestrians of zebra markings for side 

streets; 

- ask for authorisation, if necessary in conjunction with the UK 

Government, for the Council to implement zebra markings for side 

streets; and 

- report to the Transport & Environment Committee within two cycles 

to provide details of the correspondence with the Minister, including 

the response received from the Minister and details of any progress 

made. 

8) Requests that officers investigate the potential to set up a trial of zebra 

markings on side streets in Edinburgh, learning from the trials in 

Page 34



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 17 of 60 

Manchester and Aarhus, by selecting suitable locations in each of the 

locality areas in collaboration with local councillors with a focus 

towards, but not exclusive to, safer routes to school.   Officers should 

report their recommendations to the Transport and Environment 

Committee in one cycle with the aim of commencing the trial within the 

current Council term.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Neil Ross. 

- moved by Councillor Neil Ross, seconded by Councillor Lang 

Amendment  

1) To agree paragraphs 1-7 of the motion by Councillor Neil Ross. 

2) To replace paragraph 8 of the motion and add paragraph 9 as follows: 

“8) To recognise that discussions have already taken place with officers on 

this topic as the Coalition acknowledged this wider campaign and the 

benefits that zebra crossings of this nature could bring to Edinburgh’s 

residents.  Councillor Watt has, for example, already requested a pilot 

in her ward. 

9) To request that officers investigate the potential to set up a trial of 

zebra markings on side streets in Edinburgh, learning from the trials in 

Manchester and Aarhus. Suitable trial locations should be identified by 

taking into account other planned road changes and related aspects of 

the City Mobility Plan, with engagement with local Ward Councillors 

and Community Councils. This report should be prepared with the 

intent of returning to the Transport and Environment Committee within 

two cycles (March 2022) setting out the possibilities for positive action 

on this topic.” 

- moved by Councillor Macinnes, seconded by Councillor Doran 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the motion  - 25 votes 

For the amendment  - 35 votes 

(For the motion:  Councillors Aldridge, Barrie, Bridgman, Brown, Bruce, Jim 

Campbell, Doggart, Douglas, Gloyer, Hutchison, Johnston, Laidlaw, Lang, McLellan, 

Page 35



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 18 of 60 

Mitchell, Mowat, Osler, Ritchie, Rose, Neil Ross, Rust, Smith, Webber, Whyte and 

Louise Young. 

For the amendment:  The Lord Provost, Councillors Arthur, Bird, Booth, Burgess, 

Cameron, Kate Campbell, Mary Campbell, Child, Day, Dickie, Dixon, Doran, 

Fullerton, Gardiner, Gordon, Griffiths, Henderson, Howie, Key, Macinnes, McNeese-

Mechan, McVey, Main, Miller, Munn, Munro, Perry, Rae, Rankin, Staniforth, Watt, 

Wilson, Work and Ethan Young.) 

Decision 

To approve the amendment by Councillor Macinnes as follows: 

1) To note the national call for authorisation from central government to use 

zebra markings for side streets.  The joint statement had been signed by 

Living Streets, British Cycling, Guide Dogs, the Campaign for Better 

Transport, The Ramblers, Sustrans and Playing Out as well as motoring body 

The AA. 

2) To recognise that, in the face of the global climate crisis and worsening 

obesity and physical inactivity levels, the need to enable millions more people 

across the nation to make local journeys on foot was not a choice but an 

absolute necessity. 

3) To note that Greater Manchester Council had published new evidence 

showing that zebra markings on side roads led to drivers giving way 30% 

more than where there was no marking and was asking for permission to roll 

out a large-scale trial of zebra markings at side roads. 

4) To note that the Danish city of Aarhus was to trial 3D zebra style crossings. 

5) To note that new YouGov polling data published and commissioned by Living 

Streets had found that: 

- 83% of adults would feel more confident crossing the road with zebra 

markings 

- 29% of adults have been hit or had a near miss at a side road 

- 65% of adults think the UK government should authorise zebra markings 

on side roads 

- 76% of parents of 4-11-year-olds would feel safer about their child walking 

to school (or allowing them to walk independently) if there were zebra 

crossings on side roads 

Page 36



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 19 of 60 

- 76% would also be more likely to walk to school if there were zebra 

crossings at side roads 

6) To note that the proposed side road zebra markings - that did not use 

expensive Belisha Beacons or zigzags - were in common use across the 

world to give greater priority to pedestrians when crossing quieter roads. They 

were also in widespread use across the UK in supermarket car parks and 

airports and were already authorised for use on protected cycle tracks. The 

crossings typically cost around £1,000 compared to £40,000 for a zebra 

crossing with Belisha Beacons. 

7) To request that the Convener of the Transport and Environment write to the 

Scottish Government ministers responsible for Transport and Active Travel to  

- highlight the benefits to pedestrians of zebra markings for side streets; 

- ask for authorisation, if necessary in conjunction with the UK Government, 

for the Council to implement zebra markings for side streets; and 

- report to the Transport and Environment Committee within two cycles to 

provide details of the correspondence with the Minister, including the 

response received from the Minister and details of any progress made. 

8) To recognise that discussions had already taken place with officers on this 

topic as the Coalition acknowledged this wider campaign and the benefits that 

zebra crossings of this nature could bring to Edinburgh’s residents.  Councillor 

Watt had, for example, already requested a pilot in her ward. 

9) To request that officers investigate the potential to set up a trial of zebra 

markings on side streets in Edinburgh, learning from the trials in Manchester 

and Aarhus. Suitable trial locations should be identified by taking into account 

other planned road changes and related aspects of the City Mobility Plan, with 

engagement with local Ward Councillors and Community Councils. This report 

should be prepared with the intent of returning to the Transport and 

Environment Committee within two cycles (March 2022) setting out the 

possibilities for positive action on this topic. 

Declaration of Interests 

Councillor Neil Ross declared a non-financial interest in the above item as a member 

of Living Streets Scotland. 

  

Page 37



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 20 of 60 

10 Freedom of the City of Edinburgh on the Edinburgh Squadron 

of the Scottish and North Irish Yeomanry - Motion by the Lord 

Provost 

The following motion by the Lord Provost was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council: 

Notes that 2021 is the 250th anniversary of the birth of Sir Walter Scott and the 

variety of celebrations organised to commemorate this. 

Notes that on 30th October 2021 the City hosted the largest civic commemorative 

event seen for several generations to mark the 250th anniversary. 

Notes that the Scottish and North Irish Yeomanry, based at Redford barracks, is 

formed of four Squadrons and has a rich history and role in Scotland’s past. They 

are formed of A (Earl of Carrick’s Own) Squadron based in Ayr, B (North Irish Horse) 

Squadron in Belfast, C (Fife & Forfar/Scottish Horse based in Cupar and in 

Edinburgh, E (Lothians & Border Yeomanry) Squadron. 

Notes that the latter’s antecedent Regiments having been formed by Sir Walter 

Scott, protected the Lord Provost on North Bridge, formed the Reconnaissance unit 

for the 51st Highland Division at St Valery in 1940 and more recently supported the 

SNHS. 

Notes that Edinburgh Squadron has been at the forefront of the military contribution 

at home and abroad and has a proud and deep connection within the communities in 

which we live and serve. 

Agrees to confer the Freedom of the City of Edinburgh on the Edinburgh Squadron 

of the SNIY in recognition of the above.” 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Griffiths 

Decision 

To approve the motion by the Lord Provost. 

  

Page 38



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 21 of 60 

11 Granton Gas Holder - Motion by Councillor Laidlaw 

The following motion by Councillor Laidlaw was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council: 

Welcomes the UK Government announcement that it will provide £16.482 million 

from its Levelling-Up Fund to support the Council in the first phase of the Granton 

Waterfront regeneration programme, with the money allocated to restore the B-

Listed Granton Gas Holder. 

Recognises the historic value of the Gas Holder as an iconic building for North 

Edinburgh and beyond, and its role in providing heritage context to the new 

development and public realm, with the aim to create a ‘new coastal town’. 

Commits to working with the UK Government to secure additional Levelling-Up 

funding for projects across the City of Edinburgh to supplement existing sources of 

funding.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Laidlaw. 

- moved by Councillor Laidlaw, seconded by Councillor Jim Campbell 

Amendment 

To delete last paragraph of the motion by Councillor Laidlaw and replace with: 

“Notes the Council applied for 6 projects in total and 5/6 were not approved by the 

UK Government but notes that these may be applied for in future funding rounds and 

the Council will continue to apply for available funding from available sources which 

can support the aims of the Capital.” 

- moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day 

In accordance with Standing Order 21(12), the amendment was adjusted and 

accepted as an addendum to the motion. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Laidlaw: 

1) To welcome the UK Government announcement that it will provide £16.482 

million from its Levelling-Up Fund to support the Council in the first phase of 

Page 39



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 22 of 60 

the Granton Waterfront regeneration programme, with the money allocated to 

restore the B-Listed Granton Gas Holder. 

2) To recognise the historic value of the Gas Holder as an iconic building for 

North Edinburgh and beyond, and its role in providing heritage context to the 

new development and public realm, with the aim to create a ‘new coastal 

town’. 

3) To commit to working with the UK Government to secure additional Levelling-

Up funding for projects across the City of Edinburgh to supplement existing 

sources of funding. 

4) To note the Council applied for 6 projects in total and 5/6 were not approved 

by the UK Government but note that these may be applied for in future 

funding rounds and the Council would continue to apply for available funding 

from available sources which could support the aims of the Capital.  

12 Cycle Parking Technical Guidance - Motion by Councillor 

Booth 

a) Deputation - Spokes 

A written deputation was presented on behalf of Spokes. 

 The deputation were concerned with the provision of cycle parking in new 

developments as they had seen numerous planning applications be approved 

with substandard cycle parking, and in some cases no provision whatsoever.  

They felt that all the main aspects of proposed cycle parking should be set out 

in planning applications and should also specify how security would be 

achieved as well as how easy to access and use the parking would be. 

 The deputation welcomed the motion by Councillor Booth to urgently bring 

forward the technical factsheet on cycle parking. 

b) Motion by Councillor Booth 

 The following motion by Councillor Booth was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council: 

1) Notes the recently reported rise in cycle thefts in Edinburgh, with the 

capital responsible for over a third of Scottish statistics, and an 

increase of over 10% in thefts in the capital compared with last year; 

Page 40



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 23 of 60 

2) Notes that safe, secure, well-lit and convenient cycle parking at both 

origin and destination locations can significantly reduce the chance of a 

bicycle being stolen, and is also essential to encouraging more people 

to cycle; 

3) Welcomes the recent changes to the Permitted Development 

(Scotland) Order which removed the requirement for planning 

permission for certain small bike storage sheds; 

4) Notes with dismay that the Planning technical factsheet "Cycle Parking 

in New Developments", which at the meeting of full council in 

December 2018 the Planning Convenor said he was keen to publish 

"as quickly as possible" has still not been published; 

5) Therefore agrees that the council will urgently consult with Sustrans, 

Spokes and any other organisations with expertise in cycle parking as 

it sees fit, and present draft technical factsheet(s) on cycle parking to 

the next meeting of Planning Committee for approval.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Booth. 

- moved by Councillor Booth, seconded by Councillor Miller 

Amendment 

1) To agree paragraphs 1-3 of the motion by Councillor Booth. 

2) To replace paragraphs 4 and 5 of the motion with: 

“4) Notes that there has been considerable unfortunate delay in delivering 

this Factsheet, as a result of Covid-related resource pressures, a 

change of internal personnel, procurement requirements and funding 

issues but that the work is now almost complete. It is expected that this 

Factsheet will be published shortly and before the end of 2021, 

following senior management approval.  

5) Notes that input to the Factsheet was received from Spokes, Living 

Streets and the Access Panel.” 

- moved by Councillor Gardiner, seconded by Councillor Child 

In accordance with Standing Order 21(12), the amendment was adjusted and 

accepted as an amendment to the motion. 

  

Page 41



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 24 of 60 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Booth: 

1) To note the recently reported rise in cycle thefts in Edinburgh, with the capital 

responsible for over a third of Scottish statistics, and an increase of over 10% 

in thefts in the capital compared with last year. 

2) To note that safe, secure, well-lit and convenient cycle parking at both origin 

and destination locations could significantly reduce the chance of a bicycle 

being stolen, and was also essential to encouraging more people to cycle. 

3) To welcome the recent changes to the Permitted Development (Scotland) 

Order which removed the requirement for planning permission for certain 

small bike storage sheds. 

4) To note that there had been considerable unfortunate delay in delivering the 

Planning technical factsheet "Cycle Parking in New Developments", this 

Factsheet, as a result of Covid-related resource pressures, a change of 

internal personnel, procurement requirements and funding issues but that the 

work was now almost complete. 

5) To note that input to the Factsheet was received from Spokes, Living Streets 

and the Access Panel. 

6) To therefore agree that the council would present technical factsheet(s) on 

cycle parking to the next meeting of the Planning Committee and note that 

this Factsheet would be published before the end of 2021, following senior 

management approval. 

13 St Margaret’s Chapel Guild - 80th Anniversary - Motion by 

Councillor Neil Ross 

The following motion by Councillor Neil Ross was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17;  

“Council notes: 

In 1942 the Very Reverend Dr Selby Wright CVO TD, at that time minister of 

Canongate Kirk, placed an advertisement in the local press inviting anyone with 

Margaret in their name to place flowers in St Margaret’s Chapel in Edinburgh Castle.  

Such was the response that the St Margaret’s Chapel Guild was founded and has 

been in existence ever since.  2022 will be the Guild’s 80th anniversary. 

The aims of the Guild are to follow the example and to practice the principles of St 

Margaret, to promote the use of the Chapel for public and private devotion, to ensure 

Page 42



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 25 of 60 

that those with the name of Margaret place flowers in the Chapel every week of the 

year, and to support organisations or people with ideals similar to St Margaret’s. 

The Guild is a non-denominational charity and holds services in the chapel every 

year on St Margaret’s Day, 16th November. 

In acknowledging the positive work of the St Margaret’s Chapel Guild, Council 

requests that the Lord Provost marks their 80th Anniversary in an appropriate way.” 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Griffiths 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Neil Ross. 

14 Questions 

The questions put by members to this meeting, written answers and supplementary 

questions and answers are contained in Appendix 1 to this minute. 

 

Page 43



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 26 of 60 

Appendix 1 

(As referred to in Act of Council No 14 of 25 November 2021) 

 
 

QUESTION NO 1 By Councillor Lang for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and 

Environment Committee at a meeting 

of the Council on 25 November 2021 

  At the 19 August 2021 meeting of the Transport Committee, 

and following a discussion on the business bulletin item 

covering the Kirkliston cross roads, committee voted to 

agree “that a report setting out options for reconfiguring the 

junction and any other appropriate action should be 

presented to committee for decision in November 2021”. 

Question (1) Why was a report not presented to committee at the 

November meeting? 

Answer (1) A detailed update of the proposed junction improvements 

was provided in the Business Bulletin for Transport and 

Environment Committee on 14 October 2021. 

Question (2) When will the report be presented? 

Answer (2) A report on progress on the proposed signal control 

improvements will be presented to Transport and 

Environment Committee on 27 January 2022. 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thank you Lord Provost, so can I thank the Convener for the 

answers that she's provided.  If I go back to the meeting in 

August, the motion that both her and I voted for, it says in 

my question, a report setting out options for reconfiguring 

the junction and we've not had that yet, so can I ask her to 

clarify if the report that we get in January will cover off that 

point because there was a consultant’s report that had 

options for reconfiguring the junction and that's never come 

to Committee. 

Page 44

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39337/6.1%20-%20Business%20bulletin%20141021_Final.pdf


The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 27 of 60 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 Thank you Councillor Lang.  What has come to Committee 

was the business bulletin on 14 October, where it stated 

quite clearly that there was no scope for physical alterations 

at that particular junction so in my mind that covers off quite 

a bit of the content of your supplementary question, 

however, what I will do is ask officers to meet with you again 

to go over that particular part and see whether not there’s 

any further action to be taken to answer your supplementary 

question. 

  

Page 45



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 28 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 2 By Councillor Lang for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and 

Environment Committee at a meeting 

of the Council on 25 November 2021 

   

Question (1) What engagement has there been with Living Streets 

Edinburgh since the October meeting of the Transport & 

Environment Committee regarding the review of pedestrian 

waiting times at road crossings?  

Answer (1) There is ongoing engagement with Living Streets on the 

Travelling Safely pedestrian prioritisation at traffic signals 

workstream and broader study. This engagement will 

continue for the workstream and will focus on the findings of 

the study when complete. 

Question (2) How many crossing waiting times have been reviewed since 

this meeting of the committee? 

Answer (2) Prior to Committee meeting on 14 October 2021, there were 

seven pedestrian crossings which had not been reviewed as 

part of the Travelling Safely programme that was agreed by 

Transport and Environment Committee.  These seven have 

now been completed.   

Question (3) What programme is in place to review pedestrian waiting 

times at crossings throughout the city? 

Answer (3) As set out in answer 2 there was a programme of work 

focusing on key routes as part of the Travelling Safely 

programme.  As part of the on-going discussions with Living 

Streets, where concerns are raised regarding waiting times 

at crossings, officers are seeking to improve these crossing 

times wherever possible. 

Page 46



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 29 of 60 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Yes , thank you, quite a simple question, supplementary for 

this Lord Provost.  So in the answer to question 1, it 

mentions that the broader study which I think does sit 

separately from the travelling safely programme and she 

says that the engagement will continue for the workstream 

and will focus on the findings of the study when complete, 

has she got any indication as to the timescale for the 

completion of that study? 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 Not yet but I will ask officers to inform you when they are 

able to give you a proper timing on it, thank you. 

Comment by 

the Lord 

Provost 

 Councillor Macinnes, can we make sure that that notification 

goes to everybody rather than just Councillor Lang, thank 

you. 

 

 

  

Page 47



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 30 of 60 

 
 
 

QUESTION NO 3 By Councillor Howie for answer by 

the Convener of the Finance and 

Resources Committee at a meeting 

of the Council on 25 November 2021 

   

Question (1) According to our equalities data, what percentage of staff 

identify as disabled? 

Answer (1) 2.9% of our employees have self-classified and recorded 

themselves as having a long-term condition or disability. 

This is based on response rate of 80.8%.  The remaining 

19.2% of employees have either stated they prefer not to 

say (5.2%) or left the question blank (14%). 

Question (2) In terms of degree of disability, how many of these staff 

have been offered support to get Department of Work and 

Pensions Access to Work funding for assistance with their 

role? 

Answer (2) The Council does not hold this information since the Access 

to Work scheme operated by the UK Government requires 

employees to submit their Access to Work application 

directly to the Department for Work and Pensions.  The 

Council does, however, provide appropriate support and 

advice to employees on reasonable adjustments through its 

occupational health provider, health and safety 

professionals and our property and facilities management 

teams. 

Question (3) What steps has the council taken to make the recruitment 

process easier for people who experience neurodivergence 

(e.g. on the autistic spectrum or with attention deficit 

disorder) but don’t qualify as disabled? 

Page 48



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 31 of 60 

Answer (3) The Council is committed to building an inclusive 

recruitment culture where all people feel valued, included 

and able to be at their best during the recruitment process.  

The Council recognises that every person will potentially 

have different needs and may require different reasonable 

adjustments, therefore, recruiting line managers work with 

individuals to ensure they have a positive experience when 

applying to work for the Council. 

In addition, the Council is a Disability Confident Employer in 

accordance with the UK wide scheme operated by the 

Department for Work and Pensions.  This means that the 

Council offers guaranteed interviews for jobs where 

candidates meet the essential requirements and consider 

themselves to have a disability or long-term condition.  It 

should be noted that, for employment purposes, disability is 

a matter of self-classification, not a requirement to meet a 

specification ‘qualifying criteria’. 

Question (4) For each of the past 3 years: 

•  How many, both in numbers and as a percentage of 

all applicants through myjobscotland.gov.uk indicated 

they identified as disabled and were eligible for the 

Guaranteed Interview Scheme and what percentage of 

those were Modern apprenticeships? 

• How many of these were invited to an interview? 

• How many of these required adjustments to attend the 

interview? 

• How many of these adjustments were accommodated 

by us enabling them to attend? 

• How many of these were offered the job? 

Page 49



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 32 of 60 

Answer (4) Appendix 1 provides the figures requested for Local 

Government Employees.   

This information is drawn from the national recruitment 

portal for Local Government, operated by the Improvement 

Service, known as MyJobScotland.  It should be noted that 

this does not require mandatory disclosure by job applicants 

about whether they consider themselves to have a disability 

or long-term health condition.  

The Council’s recruitment process clearly advises that if a 

candidate for a post requires any reasonable adjustments to 

enable them to attend an interview, that they should contact 

the recruiting line manager to facilitate this. 

No request for a reasonable adjustment should be declined 

by a recruiting line manager and professional advice on 

reasonable adjustments is available from different experts, 

as outlined in the answer to question 2, if an individual is 

selected for employment. In addition, it should be noted that 

pre-employment occupational health screening 

questionnaires will review if any reasonable adjustments are 

required. 

Question (5) Part time contracts (Temporary and permanent):  

• Does the council operate a scheme whereby disabled 

people work part time and at the same time retain full 

benefits? 

• If so, how many are employed on a temporary basis?  

• If so, how many are employed are on a permanent 

basis? 

Answer (5) The Council does not offer a scheme whereby employees 

that consider themselves to have a disability or long-term 

health condition can request part time hours but retain a full-

time salary.  As with all part-time employment 

arrangements, salary is pro-rated to the hours worked.   

The Council does however offer a range of flexible working 

options to all employees which these includes, part time 

working, permanently working from home and variable 

hours, etc.   

Page 50



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 33 of 60 

Question (6) Pay grades, career development, promotion: 

• What grades are disabled employees on? 

• How many disabled employees are offered career 

development opportunities? 

• How many disabled employees occupy promoted 

positions? 

• How many disabled employees are currently occupying 

grade 10 posts or above?  

Answer (6) A breakdown by grade for Local Government Employees 

that have self-classified as having a disability or long-term 

condition is provided in Appendix 1 to these responses. 

All employees, irrespective of any protected characteristic, 

including disability or long-term health conditions are offered 

career development opportunities and any individual a 

disclosed disability or long-term health condition who meets 

the minimum essential criteria will be guaranteed an 

interview should they apply for a promotion, as stated. 

The Council does not have a recording category of 

‘promoted positions.’  However, the Workforce Dashboard, 

which is regularly reported to the Finance and Resources 

Committee classifies employees at Grade 5 or above to be a 

Frontline Manager or Specialist, based on this description 

the Council has 259 colleagues who have declared a 

disability or long-term health condition to be in a promoted 

post (excluding teachers).  7 of these colleagues are Grade 

10 or above.  On the basis of this definition, employees in 

these roles could be deemed to be ‘promoted.’ 

In addition, employees with self-classified disabilities or 

long-term conditions are employed within Chief Officer roles.  

However, this detail is not provided, because of the limited 

number of employees at this level, which may make 

individuals directly identifiable 

 

  

Page 51



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 34 of 60 

Appendix 1  

 
Data for Question 4 

 
 2020 2019 2018 

Number % Number % Number % 

Candidates declaring a 
disability (from the total number 
of candidates applying) 

4077 5.4 3082 5.1 3017 4.7 

Invited to interview (from those 
declaring a disability) 

920 22.5 726 23.6 637 21.1 

Offered a role (from those 
invited to interview) 

74 8 111 15.3 36 5.7 

Candidates for Modern 
Apprentice roles 

15  36  47  

 
 
Data for Question 6 
 

Grade 

Employees self-
classifying with a 
disability or long-

term condition 

GR1 14 

GR2 33 

GR3 89 

GR4 107 

GR5 69 

GR6 56 

GR7 74 

GR8 41 

GR9 12 

GR10 7 

Total 502 

 
 
  

Page 52



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 35 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 4 By Councillor Booth for answer by 

the Convener of the Culture and 

Communities Committee at a 

meeting of the Council on 25 

November 2021 

   

Question (1) Please can the Convener confirm whether the cost of fully 

bilingual Gaelic/English signage throughout the new 

Meadowbank building has been investigated, either by the 

council or by Edinburgh Leisure? 

Answer (1) The cost of fully bilingual signage has not been investigated. 

For the new Meadowbank Sports Centre, Edinburgh 

Leisure’s approach is to keep the signage clear and 

uncluttered, taking cognisance (in the design of the signage) 

of the challenges that people with dementia and other 

cognitive issues face regards to signage and what would 

support their ease of use. There are several TV/ electronic 

screens throughout the building to identify areas/ spaces 

and share information with customers. The TV screens 

identifying the activity areas will also detail the Gaelic 

equivalent. 

The Welcome to Meadowbank Sports Centre sign to the 

right-hand side of the main entrance on the external wall will 

also be displayed in Gaelic. 

Question (2) If so, what was the estimated cost of fully bilingual signage? 

What was the estimated cost of monolingual signage? 

Answer (2) As noted above, the cost of fully bilingual signage has not 

been investigated. 

Question (3) If this has not been investigated, why not? 

Answer (3) This is answered in the response to question 1. 

Page 53



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 36 of 60 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thanks very much Lord Provost, I thank the Convener for 

his answer where he states that the cost of bilingual signage 

at the new Meadowbank building has not been investigated.  

The council's own Gaelic language plan which was 

approved in 2018 states that the Council will encourage and 

I quote “all council ALEOs to consider Gaelic and/or 

bilingual signage as and when new or refreshed signage is 

introduced”, so please can the Convener clarify why has he 

ignored the Council's own policy on this? 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 Thank you for the question Councillor Booth and I would 

refer you back to the answer and if you go on to read you 

will see that the approach, certainly Edinburgh Leisure’s 

approach has been to keep the signage clear and 

uncluttered taking cognisance of the challenges that people 

with dementia and other cognitive issues face, so that is the 

reason.  Also I would say that a lot of planning and thought 

has gone into the master plan, indeed we just won an award 

last week from 80 awards for the master plan for 

Meadowbank so we are very proud of that and there has 

been a lot of thought gone into this and there are TV 

screens which are quite capable of identifying activity areas  

and they will also detail in Gaelic. 

 

 

  

Page 54



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 37 of 60 

 

 

QUESTION NO 5 By Councillor Booth for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 

Environment Committee at a meeting 

of the Council on 25 November 2021 

   

Question (1) Please can the Convener confirm whether the cost of fully 

bilingual Gaelic/English signage on the Newhaven tram 

extension has been investigated? 

Answer (1) Discussions have taken place between the project and the 

Capital Gaelic Development Officer.  A translation of the 

location signage to be installed on the Tram to Newhaven 

project has been requested.  Initial costings for the 

translation are awaited from Gaelic Place- Names of 

Scotland. 

Question (2) If so, what is the estimated cost of fully bilingual signage? 

What is the estimated cost of monolingual signage? 

Answer (2) The cost of signage is borne by Edinburgh Trams as they 

instruct design to accord with brand requirements.  Any 

additional cost for the inclusion of a Gaelic translation will be 

assessed when the translation (which will inform the size of 

each sign and in turn support requirements) has been 

prepared and discussed with Edinburgh Trams. 

Question (3) If this has not been investigated, why not? 

Answer (3) As noted above. 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thank you Lord Provost, I thank the Convener for her 

answer and in particular I welcome the fact that as she is 

investigating the cost of bilingual signage and therefore in 

contrast to the previous answer does appear to be 

complying with Council policy in this regard.  Please could 

the Convener clarify what the timetable is for the likely cost 

of bilingual signage coming back for a decision, will she 

please share that information with members of the Council's 

Gaelic Implementation Group and can she clarify that the 

investigation into costs also includes the possibility of 

signage for the tram stop names themselves? 

Page 55



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 38 of 60 

Comments by 

the Lord 

Provost 

 Before the Convener answers, we pushed one question just 

a little bit far there Councillor Booth. 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 Thank you very much though Councillor Booth for those 

questions.  In terms of timing I don't have a particular timing 

but we will certainly come back to everybody in this Council 

with that particular timing.  I am more than happy to share 

any results on that with the Gaelic Implementation Group 

and similarly around costs.  I would say that I am very keen 

to see Gaelic place names along the tram route, I don’t 

know if it’s possible or not but as you know from previous 

answers I’ve given around Gaelic issues in this chamber 

and other committees, I think it's very important to mark both 

the historical connections with Gaelic in this city and the 

presence of Gaels in this city, it is important to mark that and 

to comply with the Scottish Government Act on that. 

 

 

  

Page 56



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 39 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 6 By Councillor Mitchell for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 

Environment Committee at a meeting 

of the Council on 25 November 2021 

   

Question  Please could the Convener set out in table form (1) the 

number of parking spaces currently available to N3 permit-

holders in the following streets, (2) the net gain or loss to N3 

permit-holders should TRO/21/16 be implemented in these 

streets, and (3) totals for both. 

• Bedford Street 

• Cheyne Street 

• Comely Bank Avenue 

• Comely Bank Grove 

• Comely Bank Place 

• Comely Bank Row 

• Comely Bank Street 

• Comely Bank Terrace (both sides) 

• Dean Park Street 

• Learmonth Avenue 

• Learmonth Crescent 

• Learmonth Gardens 

• Learmonth Grove 

• Learmonth Park 

• Learmonth Place 

• Learmonth View 

• Portgower Place 

• Raeburn Place 

• South Learmonth Gardens  

Answer  The table below sets out the requested information. Please 

note that permit and shared use parking places are marked 

in continuous blocks rather than individual parking places. 

Therefore, the figures below are estimated parking space 

numbers based on the current available lengths of kerbside 

parking and the lengths of parking that may be lost should 

TRO/21/16 be implemented 

Page 57



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 40 of 60 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thank you Lord Provost and thank you very much to the 

Convener for her answer.  Lord Provost I may be 

overreaching with this so please do intervene if I am, I’d like 

to clarify on the net loss numbers if I could to the Convener, 

in N3 we’re seeing overall about 13% in this section of N3, 

30% loss in the most densely populated area, some 40% 

and 10 to 27 for others, have attempts been made to try and 

replace some of that lost parking because of the hubs, is 

that too much? 

Comments by 

the Lord 

Provost 

 Pushing it Councillor Mitchell but I think Council Macinnes 

got a good answer or not by looking at the view. 

Councillor 

Macinnes 

 I have to be honest Lord Provost, I didn’t actually 

understand the question, could you repeat it please in a 

more succinct manner? 

Clarification by 

Councillor 

Mitchell 

 Of Course, sorry, could the Convener clarify if attempts have 

been made to possibly try and replace some of the lost 

parking because looking at the actual TRO it doesn't seem 

like there have been attempts made? 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 I would have to confirm that with officers and again I’ll ask 

them to return directly to you and to the rest of the Chamber 

with that answer 

   

 

 

Zone N3 streets 

Parking spaces 

currently available to 

N3 permit-holders 

Net gain or loss to N3 

permit-holders should 

TRO/21/16 be 

implemented  

      

Bedford Street 33 -2 

Cheyne Street 26 -4 

Comely Bank Avenue 101 -10 

Page 58



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 41 of 60 

Comely Bank Grove 46 -6 

Comely Bank Place 36 -10 

Comely Bank Row 32 -6 

Comely Bank Street 40 -8 

Comely Bank Terrace (both sides) 31 -4 

Dean Park Street 36 -14 

Learmonth Avenue 56 -10 

Learmonth Crescent 56 -4 

Learmonth Gardens 69 -2 

Learmonth Grove 60 -10 

Learmonth Park 19 0 

Learmonth Place 30 -2 

Learmonth View 13 -2 

Portgower Place 15 -2 

Raeburn Place 0 0 

South Learmonth Gardens  73 -2 

      

Totals 772 -98 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 59



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 42 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 7 By Councillor Mitchell for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 

Environment Committee at a meeting 

of the Council on 25 November 2021 

   

Question  Please could the Convener set out in table form (1) the 

number of parking spaces currently available to N2 permit-

holders in the following streets, (2) the net gain or loss to N2 

permit-holders should TRO/21/16 be implemented in these 

streets, and (3) the totals for both. 

• Bangholm Terrace 

• Eildon Street 

• Goldenacre Terrace 

• Howard Place 

• Howard Street 

• Inverleith Avenue 

• Inverleith Row 

• Inverleith Terrace 

• Monmouth Terrace 

• Montagu Terrace 

• Royston Terrace 

• Warriston Crescent 

Answer  The table below provides the requested information. Please 

note that permit and shared use parking places are marked 

in continuous blocks rather than individual parking places. 

Therefore, the figures below are estimated parking space 

numbers based on the current available lengths of kerbside 

parking and the lengths of parking that may be lost should 

TRO/21/16 be implemented. 

   

   

 

 

 

 

Page 60



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 43 of 60 

 

 

N2 zone streets 

parking spaces 

currently available to 

N2 permit-holders 

net gain or loss to N2 

permit-holders should 

TRO/21/16 be 

implemented  

      

Bangholm Terrace 20 -2 

Eildon Street 84 -8 

Goldenacre Terrace 18 -4 

Howard Place - included with Inverleith Row - - 

Howard Street - included with Inverleith Row - - 

Inverleith Avenue 0 0 

Inverleith Row 70 0 

Inverleith Terrace 108 -2 

Monmouth Terrace 12 -2 

Montagu Terrace 10 0 

Royston Terrace 20 -4 

Warriston Crescent 44 0 

      

Totals 386 -22 

 

 

 

  

Page 61



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 44 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 8 By Councillor Rust for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and 

Environment Committee at a meeting 

of the Council on 25 November 2021 

  In the report about Lanark Road provided to the Transport 

and Environment Committee on 14 October, in the Active 

Travel Measures Travelling Safely update in item 7.1, 

Appendix 2 (Lanark Road: Monitoring Results, Feedback 

from Engagement Exercise and Recommendations) 

contains cycle and vehicle count data for Lanark Road near 

Redhall Bank Road and Spylaw Bank Road. 

For each of the survey periods, please could you provide the 

daily counts for each date within the survey period for both 

locations: 

Question (1) October 2020 data, in the report all that was provided was 

an average from the 5 working days. Please provide the 

individual counts for each of 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13 

October, to include the weekend for both cycle and vehicles. 

Page 62



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 45 of 60 

Answer (1) Cycles per 

Day 

Location 

Spylaw Bank Redhall Bank 

07/10/2020 120 149 

08/10/2020 140 155 

09/10/2020 130 136 

10/10/2020 89 141 

11/10/2020 131 183 

12/10/2020 99 91 

13/10/2020 98 98 

 

Vehicles per 

Day 

Spylaw Bank 

07/10/2020 10,628 

08/10/2020 10,688 

09/10/2020 11,222 

10/10/2020 12,929 

11/10/2020 10,886 

12/10/2020 9,128 

13/10/2020 10,635 

There were no vehicle counts carried out at Redhall Bank 

during October 2020. 

Question (2) August 2021 data - the data for the school holiday period is 

missing. Please provide data for each of 16, 17, 18, 19, 20 

August for both cycle and vehicles 

Page 63



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 46 of 60 

Answer (2) Cycles per 

Day 

Location 

Spylaw Bank Redhall Bank 

16/08/2021 92 115 

17/08/2021 92 120 

18/08/2021 112 141 

19/08/2021 128 136 

20/08/2021 103 131 

 

Vehicles per 

Day 

Location 

Spylaw Bank Redhall Bank 

16/08/2021 9,008 8,475 

17/08/2021 9,420 8,838 

18/08/2021 9,992 9,097 

19/08/2021 10,085 9,763 

20/08/2021 9,987 9,859 
 

Question (3) In the July 2021 and August 2021 survey periods, it appears 

from the report that the weekends were excluded from the 

survey.  

a) Why wasn't a full week of data captured in the survey 

periods to include weekends? 

b) If it was included, please can you provide cycle and 

vehicle counts for both locations for the weekend days 

for July and August 2021. 

Answer (3) a) Traffic counts generally focus on working days which 

provide the most consistent data in terms of levels of 

use. Data at weekends is more variable, and involves 

more optional trips, thus is less reflective of the general 

level of use. 

b) Not applicable. 

Page 64



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 47 of 60 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thank you Lord Provost and thank you to the Convener for 

her answer.  In terms of the response to 3(a) where it relates 

to traffic counts generally focusing on working days which is 

probably the most consistent data, the answer states that 

weekends were variable and involves more optional trips, 

what does the Convener regard as optional trips, where is 

this less reflective of the general level of use but is nearly a 

third of the time 2 days out of 7, thank you. 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 Thank you Councillor Rust, I missed the first part of your 

question so my apologies for not answering it correctly but in 

terms of the difference in the nature of trips it’s very 

important when you are establishing whether something is 

for leisure purposes or whether or not something is for 

commuting and it helps us to understand a little bit about 

where the infrastructure needs to go and understand the use 

of it, that's why I think those traffic counts have previously 

concentrated on week days, but weekends are much more 

variable in terms of who is out cycling and how many trips 

are taken, it’s also impacted by weather etc, so there’s a 

number of different reasons for it. 

  

Page 65



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 48 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 9 By Councillor Jim Campbell for 

answer by the Depute Leader of the 

Council at a meeting of the Council 

on 25 November 2021 

  The Depute Leader will be aware of considerable comment 

on this policy approved by the Transport and Environment 

Committee on 17 May 2018 regarding litter and litter bins in 

Victoria Park. 

The policy review is annually, or as required. 

Question (1) Can the Depute Leader confirm which Committee of Council 

will next review this policy, and when this review is due to 

take place? 

Answer (1) The Litter Bin Siting Policy is reviewed annually as part of 

the annual review of Waste and Cleansing Policies.  The 

most recent review was reported to Transport and 

Environment Committee on 11 November 2021. 

Question (2) Would the Depute Leader agree that a review would be a 

helpful in response to the comment from the community 

around Victoria Park? 

Answer (2) I agree that a brief review by officers of the number of bins 

and their location in Victoria Park, alongside the current 

frequencies, would be helpful with the outcome to be 

circulated to ward Councillors.   

Question (3) Finally, would the Depute Leader accept that more frequent 

servicing of the litter bins where they are currently sited in 

Victoria Park, and other locations throughout the city, would 

reduce the unacceptable spectacle of litter overflowing from 

Council litter bins and contaminating the public realm? 

Answer (3) Litter bin servicing is carried out by the Council’s street 

cleansing team.  At the end of October 2021 the service 

began to roll-out Routesmart, with the routes designed using 

a range of parameters including frequency of servicing.  

Officers will include data gathered from the Routesmart 

system alongside other available information in the review 

noted in answer 2. 

Page 66

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40138/8.2%20-%20Waste%20and%20Cleansing%20Service%20Policy%20Assurance%20Statement.pdf


The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 49 of 60 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thank you Lord Provost and I thank the Depute Leader for 

his answer.  Would the Depute Leader like to agree I'm sure 

with all ward colleagues that the initiative taken by Trinity 

Academy, the staff and students to help litter-pick in Victoria 

Park is also a great example of a community working 

together? 

Comments by 

the Lord 

Provost 

 I'm not sure that’s a supplementary question along the lines 

of getting clarification Councillor Campbell so we'll move on. 

 

 

  

Page 67



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 50 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 10 By Councillor Doggart for answer by 

the Convener of the Culture and 

Communities Committee at a 

meeting of the Council on 25 

November 2021 

   

Question  In November 2018, Council approved a motion that 

prevented the erection of large structures in Princes St 

Gardens East prior to Remembrance Sunday. Could the 

convener explain why the construction of the “big wheel” this 

year breached that motion? 

Answer  At the meeting of Council on 22 November 2018 the 

following adjusted motion by Councillor Doggart was 

approved:  

Council:  

Asks Officers to investigate and report back to the Transport 

and Environment Committee how the work to construct the 

Princes Street Gardens Christmas Market and attractions 

could be programmed so that:  

1) a dignified no-work cordon is maintained round the 

Garden of Remembrance, and  

2) the erection of high structures are delayed till after 

Armistice Day and Remembrance Sunday from 2019 on?”. 

The Big Wheel is an important part of Edinburgh’s 

Christmas and one that the producers are contractually 

obliged by the Council to supply. The wheel’s location is 

fixed due to piling and foundation works that were 

undertaken to support it in 2013. 

The installation of the wheel takes several days. It is the first 

element that must be installed as all the rest of the  

Page 68



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 51 of 60 

  Christmas site must be constructed around it because of its 

size.  

A delay in the installation of the big wheel would delay the 

opening of the Christmas markets by at least 3 weeks, to the 

second week in December. The dates of the Christmas 

market are detailed within the contract and to delay or 

shorten these would put the Council in breach of its contract. 

Proposals for this year’s activities were agreed at the All-

Party Oversight Group on Festivals and Events on 25 March 

2021. A further update, including construction dates, was 

circulated to Group spokespeople on the Culture and 

Communities Committee and City Centre ward Councillors 

on 19 October 2021. 

While the wheel must be constructed before Remembrance 

Sunday, there is a strict works embargo in response to the 

approved motion. For 2021, this was as follows:  

11 November – no Christmas works for an hour around 

11:00. Remembrance sites are kept clear and unoccupied. 

14 November – no Christmas works in the East gardens at 

all, all day 

15 November – Royal British Legion Scotland start to 

remove Garden of Remembrance. 

The Star Flyer is not installed until after Remembrance 

Sunday.  

Two planning applications for the site at East Princes Street 

Gardens have been approved by Development 

Management Sub-Committee (20/03707/FUL – for 2020 to 

2022; and 21/04953/FUL for 2021/22) Both of these 

approved applications detail that construction will 

commence 20 days prior to opening, including erection of 

the big wheel. 

This issue will be reviewed when revised arrangements for 

Christmas in Edinburgh are put in place next year. 

Page 69



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 52 of 60 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thank you Lord Provost and I'll try and stick to the rules and 

thank the Convener for his answer.  Could the Convener 

clarify why a motion of Council has been ignored or 

overturned by (1) unelected officers who have signed 

contracts (2) an APOG that meets in secret and has no 

decision making powers and (3) on presentation by officers 

to Development Management Sub-Committee? 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 Thank you Lord Provost and thank you Councillor Doggart 

for the supplementary question.  I can confirm that none of 

that has happened, I think it's in the answer there that the 

motion that was passed did not agree to do it, it agreed to 

investigate and report back, so the report back did go to the 

Transport and Environment Committee and then was 

referred on to Culture and Communities, so there has been 

lots of sight of this, there was two elements to it of course, 

there was the dignified no-work cordon which was 

established and was maintained, there was no work done on 

Remembrance Sunday and the other part of it was of course 

to delay the construction of the big wheel but of course the 

reasons for why that wasn't possible is there and was 

discussed at the time I have to say and is to do with the 

fixing of foundations which were established in 2013 and 

can’t be moved, and we are contractually obliged to do that 

first and to use those foundations so, but the respectful 

cordon was established and was maintained at the key 

moments.  I have to say also another part of that was that 

we would revisit it at the end of the contract and of course 

that contract is ending this year, so that is there and will be 

dealt with in terms of timings in any new contract that comes 

forward, so we have fulfilled every aspect of the motion. 

 

 

  

Page 70



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 53 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 11 By Councillor Jim Campbell for 

answer by the Convener of the 

Transport and Environment 

Committee at a meeting of the 

Council on 25 November 2021 

  I thank the Convener on the understanding that Scotrail 

have been written to in terms of the earlier Decision of 

Council. 

Question (1) Can the Convener share a copy of her letter? 

Answer (1) Content shown below: 

‘Tackling Poor Air quality and ensuring Edinburgh 

meets its net-zero carbon target  

The City of Edinburgh Council has a strong desire to deliver 

significant improvements to air quality across the city, in 

partnership with Scottish Government and other valued key 

stakeholders such as Network Rail Scotland.  

A key area of concern for Edinburgh is the impact that rail 

emissions have on the city’s air quality and the need to 

ensure that this sector is contributing effectively to meeting 

air quality requirements.  

The City of Edinburgh Council remains dedicated to meeting 

our ambitious 2030 net-carbon emissions target and we are 

seeking an understanding or assurance that ScotRail’s 

future investment plans also reflect this aim.  

We have a shared vision for the Waverley Valley and the 

future of Waverley station and we recognise its importance 

as a welcoming gateway into the city. However, we must 

also consider the environmental impact of the Inter7City 

fleet, at a time when we are working to implement a low 

emission zone to help achieve a cleaner green city for all. 

This will be key to reducing polluting vehicles into our 

historic city centre.  

It is considered that the Inter7City Fleet account for a 

significant source of diesel emissions into the Waverley.  

Page 71



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 54 of 60 

  Service levels will no doubt have been impacted by the 

pandemic but I would assume that you are working towards 

a situation where passenger numbers return to previous 

levels. In light of this I wondered if you could provide more 

information on the projected engine emissions for the fleet 

running a full timetable in terms of CO2, NOX and 

particulate matter. It would also be useful for us to 

understand the emissions standards that these engines 

conform to presently and your intentions for the future. 

Finally, as we consider our sustainability targets, there will 

be the requirement for a new public transport strategy and 

there is a need to consider the contribution of rail services 

within that plan as we look towards integrated ticketing, for 

example. We deeply value the relationship with your 

company and would be keen for early engagement on this 

subject as our plans develop.  

If you feel an online meeting would be helpful my service 

and policy advisor would be happy to set this up. You can 

contact her at victoria.baillie@edinburgh.gov.uk ‘ 

Question (2) Can the Convener share a copy of the response? 

Answer (2) I am happy to do so when it is received. 

Question (3) If the same EURO VI emissions standards that are 

proposed for commercial vehicles in the delayed Edinburgh 

Low Emissions Zone (LEZ) were applied to diesel power 

trains, what penalty income could the Council expect to 

receive from Scotrail? 

Answer (3) The LEZ proposals are designed on the basis that ‘Low 

emission zones set an environmental limit on certain road 

spaces, allowing access to only the cleanest vehicles and 

can help to transform towns and cities into cleaner, healthier 

places to live, work and visit.’, to quote the Scottish 

Government website (my bold)? While understanding the 

contribution to air quality levels that rail can make is useful, 

addressing those levels does not lie within the remit of our 

proposed Low Emission Zone. 

Page 72

mailto:victoria.baillie@edinburgh.gov.uk


The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 55 of 60 

Question (4) Will the Convener use the delay in the LEZ scheme to 

request that all transport modes within the area comply to 

the same standards? 

Answer (4) Officers are working hard to address the terms of the 

committee amendment to the proposed LEZ and we expect 

to see a report back to committee in January. If accepted by 

Committee it is expected that there would be no significant 

variance in the anticipated enforcement date. 

As stated above the LEZ terms of reference relate to road 

space only. 

The very careful preparation of the LEZ proposals included   

all motor vehicles except motorcycles or mopeds. This 

reflects both Scottish Government advice and similar 

approaches in the other Scottish cities leading on LEZs and 

helps to reinforce consistency for road users in the four 

cities. 

   

Decision of Council, October 2020 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Jim Campbell:  

1) To note the low numbers of passengers currently traveling by all modes of 

public transport, including intercity train. Recognise this had substantially 

increased the emissions and the costs of public transport, when expressed in 

terms of passenger kilometres.  

2) Wish to understand the environmental impact of Scotrail’s Inter7City fleet, 

which were anticipated to be a significant source of diesel emissions in the 

Waverley Valley and therefore request the Transport Convener to write to 

Scotrail to seek their direct commitment to Edinburgh’s 2030 net-zero carbon 

target and get assurance that their investment plans will reflect this aim with:  

 a) Information on the emissions standards these engines conformed to; 

and  

 b) The projected engine emissions in the Waverley Valley of the 

Inter7City  fleet of trains running a full timetable, in terms of CO2, NOx and 

 Particulate matter. 

 

  

Page 73



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 56 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 12 By Councillor Johnston for answer 

by the Convener of the Planning 

Committee at a meeting of the 

Council on 25 November 2021 

   

Question (1) How many Council lease holders have been written to as 

part of CityPlan 2030 and the proposed changes in land 

use? 

Answer (1) Statutory notifications were sent out as required to all 

properties on or within 20 metres of a plan proposal site, in a 

similar way as planning applications are notified.  

Of these we have established through the Estates database 

that 46 are direct Council leaseholders. Taking into account 

sublets by ground leaseholders that figure rises to some 85 

premises. 

Question (2) Can a breakdown of these lease holders' activities be 

provided? 

Answer (2) The lease holders and sublet activities are: 

Car Park; light industrial workshops; fitness; storage; trade 

counter/retail; trades (electricians, joiners, plumbers); charity 

office/depot; dry cleaning; brewery; government office. 

Question (3) In terms of the lease duration of these lease holders, what is 

the longest, the mean and mode value? 

Answer (3) Lease duration: 

• Longest – to 2120 (ground lease) 99 years 

• Mean – 10.2 years 

• Mode – 4 years 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thank you Lord Provost. Just on a point of clarification I 

wonder if the Council has made any provision to offer 

businesses affected durable alternative leases? 

Page 74



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 57 of 60 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 I thank Councillor Johnson for his supplementary and it may 

be necessary, I don’t necessarily have the detail here and 

now, I would say that in the City Plan itself there is policies 

ECON 5 which talks about re-provision to create mixed-use 

development which I draw the Councillor's attention to and 

also that there is a 10 year effective land supply, sorry a 9 

year current effective land supply which will take us to the 

middle of the new plan period so the need for the land that 

the Councillor's asking about is not immediate but I will 

make enquiries about your particular question and see if we 

get a response for you, so thank you for the question 

Councillor Johnston. 

 

 

  

Page 75



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 58 of 60 

 
 

QUESTION NO 13 By Councillor Booth for answer by 

the Convener of the Finance and 

Resources Committee at a meeting 

of the Council on 25 November 2021 

   

Question (1) Please can the Convener list the number of old/obsolete 

items of IT equipment which have been returned to Digital 

Services in the last two years from  

a) the Corporate division, and  

b) the learning & teaching division. 

Answer (1) Any IT equipment returned to the Council’s Digital Services 

which can be re-used either in the Corporate or Learning 

and Teaching digital estate is recycled and reissued for use 

within the Council. This can include devices previously 

deemed to be either ‘old’ or potentially ‘obsolete’ prior to 

being upgraded. 

Detailed information is not held on the specific number/types 

of equipment which are returned, however the overall asset 

register of devices in use on the Council’s networks is 

monitored to ensure that this remains within our licensed 

use thresholds. 

Question (2) In each case will the convener please also specify: 

a) the number of items that have been rebuilt/reused 

within the council? 

b) the number of items that it is not possible to 

rebuild/reuse within the council? 

Page 76



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 59 of 60 

Answer (2) a) As stated in response to question 1, detailed 

information is not held on the number/types of 

equipment which are specifically re-used, however the 

overall asset register of devices in use on the Council’s 

networks is monitored to ensure that this remains 

within our licensed use thresholds. 

b) A total of 2,592 laptops or desktops over the last 2 

years have been unable to be recycled/reused within 

the Council. 

Question (3) Of those that cannot be reused within the council, how many 

are donated to charity, and how many are recycled? 

Answer (3) Where devices are unable to be reused or rebuilt, then 

these are fully wiped and sent onto ReUsingIT, to enable 

these to be recycled for the benefit of the community.  Over 

the last 2 years, a total 2,592 desktops or laptops have been 

recycled and reissued through this route as part of our 

community benefits approach. 

Question (4) What steps is the council taking to increase the proportion of 

old IT equipment which is reused or donated to charity? 

Answer (4 The Council is currently planning to work with a local partner 

on the re-use of old iPads and iPhones to mirror our 

approach to laptop and desktop community benefit 

recycling. 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Thank you Lord Provost and I thank the Convener for his 

answer, I do have a single supplementary question.  I am a 

bit concerned that in his answer he said that no record is 

held of the number of items of IT equipment returned, 

please could he clarify why this information isn't held given 

the requirements of the waste other electrical and electronic 

equipment directive and will he seek clarity from officers on 

this and circulate the response to Councillors? 

Page 77



The City of Edinburgh Council – 25 November 2021                                                  Page 60 of 60 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 Thank you Councillor Booth.  I’m happy to seek clarity, my 

understanding is that when items are returned they go to the 

service and not into central place unless they are unusable 

so I’ll seek clarity on that but I think you know what happens 

is the they go back to the service and are reused within the 

service so there's no record kept centrally, that's my 

understanding, but I’ll get clarity and circulate it, thanks for 

your question. 

 
 
 

Page 78



  
December 2021 

Let’s enjoy a safe Christmas 

The latest news about the increasingly rapid spread of the new Omicron variant of Covid is of course 
worrying and, as the First Minister confirmed in her update earlier today, it’s more important than ever that 
we step up our efforts to limit its impact. We must take action now to protect ourselves and those around us 
and reduce the risk of further restrictions being imposed over Christmas.   

If we continue to follow the guidance – wearing face coverings indoors, practicing good hand and surface 
hygiene, testing regularly and, vitally, getting both jags and, if eligible, the booster – we can hopefully 
return to some sense of normality over the festive season while protecting one another from infection. 

We’ve come so far over the last year and a half, there’s no reason to stop now, so let’s pull together to slow 
the virus’s spread. 

I know people are rightly angry about the headlines of rules being broken by those in the UK Government, 
but please remember this isn’t about them. It’s about keeping our city safe, you safe, your family safe and 
our NHS protected.  

Once again, I’d like to extend my sincere thanks to the many, many people, from all our Council staff to 
NHS workers, retailers and other businesses to transport providers, and countless others who’ve helped 
protect us and kept our services running throughout the year.  

… and a green one too 

More of us than ever before are looking to make sustainable changes in our daily lives to help protect our 
planet. And, with four out of five people in Edinburgh agreeing that we have a responsibility to cut down on 
waste this Christmas, our new Green Christmas campaign highlights some of the steps we can all take to 
buy more responsibly and avoid waste where possible over the festive season. 

There is lots of helpful information and tips available on our website, including details on recycling and 
Christmas tree uplifts, plastic free and second-hand shops across the city and inspiration on how to buy 
less, choose well and make things last. 

It’s hugely important that Edinburgh does all it can to play its part in tackling the climate emergency, and 
I’m pleased the city’s 2030 Climate Strategy was approved by Councillors last month. It sets out a greener, 
fairer, climate ready future for the city and is supported by an implementation plan which outlines the 
deliverables, timescales, milestones and resources needed to achieve the city’s ambitious climate goals, 

along with clear measures of outcomes and impact.  

Communal bins, communal benefit 

I was pleased also to see Zero Waste Scotland backing the roll-out of our new and improved communal bin 
hubs this week with a funding announcement of £7.7m from the Scottish Government’s Recycling 
Improvement Fund. 

Such significant national investment – with almost 60% of the entire national allocation coming to 
Edinburgh – demonstrates clear support for our efforts to improve the sustainability and effectiveness our 

waste service for all residents.  

With all the different waste bins grouped together, the hubs are far more convenient and accessible. They 
have increased capacity and the service will be more reliable and frequent, reducing overflowing bins and 
street clutter.  

If you live in a shared property and don’t currently use our kerbside service, around 130,000 of you will see 
the new hubs appearing shortly.  

We’ll also be using the funding to invest in new bin sensors and five new electric vehicles for our fleet, 

helping us towards Edinburgh’s net zero ambitions and improving our air quality. 

A sustainable future for our Winter Festivals 

When we embarked on a citywide conversation on the future of Edinburgh’s Winter Festivals earlier this 
year, we had a very open mind on what the format of these events could be in future years.  

We had an excellent response to the consultation, and it was encouraging that so many of our residents and 
businesses want to see Christmas and Hogmanay celebrations continue in the years ahead – while also 

providing us with a valuable insight into what exactly people and businesses would like to see changed.  

I know there are lots of differing views on the hosting of major events, but it has been encouraging to see 
this level of input from people of all ages and tastes – and from right across the city. Whilst some 
differences of opinion can’t be reconciled, this input helps us to reflect our residents’ aspirations for these 
celebrations in future while dealing with concerns raised from previous years. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 5.1

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/greenchristmas
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13371/2030-climate-strategy-sets-out-a-greener-fairer-climate-ready-future-for-capital
https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/local-authorities/recycling-improvement-fund
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13366/future-of-edinburgh-s-winter-festivals-feedback-published


Following the consultation, Councillors unanimously agreed to run a one-year pilot for winter 2022/23 – 
helping us to ensure that our focus remains firmly on our residents and local businesses. If we get it right 
for them first and foremost, I’m sure these events will be enjoyed for many more years to come. 

The Story Never Ends… 

Following the success of our first Forever Edinburgh campaign in the summer, the winter leg is now well 
underway, continuing to highlight our city from a different perspective and showcasing its many qualities.  

Over the past few weeks we’ve become acquainted with local pooch Hamish who through a new ‘dogs-eye 
view’ video has shown us that Edinburgh is every bit as welcoming and accessible for dog lovers. The city is 
ranked as the UK’s most dog-friendly destination and with more people becoming dog owners during the 
pandemic and planning to travel with their pets, it’s a great opportunity to promote the city in a novel way. 

Meanwhile, the campaign is enjoying widespread UK media interest (close to 200 articles in less than a 
week) thanks to its collaboration with one of our favourite authors, Ian Rankin OBE. A new competition 
launched this week offers up the chance to walk in the footsteps of some of the world’s best loved writers 
on a tour of Edinburgh’s literary sites accompanied by the Rebus’ creator.   

Of course, Edinburgh was UNESCO’s first City of Literature and it’s not surprising the capital has provided 
the inspiration to so many writers down the centuries. 

Not sitting still on fundraising appeal 

We’re giving our full support to the fundraising efforts taking place to raise funds for a statue in tribute to 
the life and work of pioneering Edinburgh doctor Elsie Inglis.  

Elsie was a woman of real character, who inspired others with her determination and pioneering work during 
the most challenging times. It’s entirely fitting, then, that we should have a lasting tribute to her legacy on 
the streets of the Capital. 

Originally launched in 2017, the establishment of a Working Group chaired by the Lord Provost has led to 
renewed focus and an exciting new stage of the fundraising campaign. Some of the activities already 
planned for 2022 include the Girlguiding sponsored ‘Sit Still’ in the Meadows and a series of afternoon teas 

to be held in the City Chambers and the Royal College of Surgeons Edinburgh. 

The Group has recently launched a dedicated website where you can learn more about the life and times of 

Elsie Inglis as well as information on how to get involved and donate to this most worthwhile cause.  

Good luck for 2022 

This time last year, we were waiting expectantly for the roll-out of the vaccine programme, which gave us 

all such a welcome lift during 2021. Now, with the emergence of Omicron variant, we find ourselves at a 
crossroads once more but, thankfully, with a great deal more confidence in our ability to fight this virus. 

As a city, we’ve continued to show real grit, community spirit and resilience through everything the 
pandemic has thrown at us – and I have no doubt that we’ll continue this into the new year. 

For our part, as a Council, we’ll be pressing on with our core priorities to bring about lasting, positive 
change for Edinburgh – tackling climate change and poverty, building thousands of new affordable homes, 
investing in zero-carbon transport choices, building new schools to give our children the best possible start 
in life and much, much more. All while, of course, focusing on getting the basics right for the people who 

call Edinburgh home.  

I wish you all a happy and restful festive period and all the very best for 2022. 

Get involved 

Keep up to date with all Council news via our news section online. You can watch live Council and committee 
meetings via our webcast service and join the debate on Twitter using #edinwebcast. If you wish to 

unsubscribe, please email us. 

 Follow us on twitter  Follow us on Facebook 

 

Page 80

https://edinburgh.org/storyneverends/
https://youtu.be/6SR6K7iAUoM
https://youtu.be/6SR6K7iAUoM
https://edinburgh.org/competition/
https://edinburgh.org/competition/
https://www.elsieinglis.org/
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news
http://www.edinburgh.public-i.tv/core/
mailto:leader@edinburgh.gov.uk?subject=Unsubscribe
https://twitter.com/Edinburgh_CC
http://www.facebook.com/edinburghcouncil
http://www.facebook.com/edinburghcouncil
https://twitter.com/#!/Edinburgh_CC


 

 
City of Edinburgh Council 
 

Please note that the version circulated with the original papers for 

16 December 2021 Committee now reflects a change which 

removes Paragraph 5.26 to the newer version of the now appended 

(namely the:- “Report into the Review of the Whistleblowing and 

Organisational Culture of the City of Edinburgh Council as originally 

dated 10 December 2021 (and as amended on 16 December 

2021). 

To ensure that the Council maintains a correct record of what was 

circulated for consideration by Council, the following paragraph was 

within the report: 

“5.26 By way of example, during the course of the Review, 

Councillors alleged in newspaper columns that CEC had made a 

substantial payment to a witness in a criminal trial in an attempt to 

“gag” or “silence” the witness. This claim was made despite 

assurances on three separate occasions by the Chief Executive to 

Councillors that it was untrue. The Review Team has examined this 

particular claim and is satisfied that there is no evidential basis to 

support the assertion that an improper payment was made. The 

claim made in the press was not justified and it served to suggest 

that CEC had sought to suppress a complainer from giving 

evidence in a criminal trial involving a CEC employee when that 

was not the case.” 

The paragraph was verbally withdrawn by Susanne Tanner QC at 

the Council meeting. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7.1



 

 
City of Edinburgh Council 
 

10.00am, Thursday 16 December 2021 

Independent Review into Whistleblowing and Organisational 

Culture 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards  
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 To note that the independent review (the “Review”) into whistleblowing and 

organisational culture, conducted by Susanne Tanner QC with the assistance of 

Pinsent Masons LLP, is now complete.    

1.2 To request that the Chief Executive report back to Council within one cycle with 

proposals on how the recommendations will be implemented.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andrew Kerr 

Chief Executive 

E-mail: andrew.kerr@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3002 

 

  

Page 82

mailto:andrew.kerr@edinburgh.gov.uk


City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

 
Report 
 

Independent Review into Whistleblowing and Organisational 

Culture 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The independent Review has made certain observations and recommendations and 

the Council is asked to consider these and how to respond to them. 

 

3. Background 

3.1 The Council commissioned an independent Inquiry (“the Inquiry”) into complaints 

about the conduct of the late Sean Bell, a former senior manager in its Communities 

and Families directorate, who passed away in August 2020.  The outcome of that 

Inquiry was reported to Council in October 2021. 

3.2 The Policy and Sustainability Committee agreed in October 2020 that a further 

independent assessment of the Council’s whistleblowing and organisational culture 

should be undertaken by way of an independent review (“the Review”). This was 

agreed by full Council on 15 October 2020. 

3.3 The Review was conducted by Susanne Tanner QC, assisted by law firm Pinsent 

Masons. 

3.4 Susanne Tanner QC has produced her report which identifies key issues, findings 

and recommendations.  This is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

4. Main report 

4.1 Elected Members are asked to consider the information provided in the Review 

report at Appendix 1.  

4.2 Given the independent nature of the Review, neither elected members nor Council 

officers have been able, at this time, to give full consideration to the 

recommendations made and how these should, subject to Council approval, be 

implemented. 

4.3 It is clear that some of the recommendations from the Inquiry and the Review will 

overlap and it is proposed that the Chief Executive report back to the 10 February 

Council meeting with proposals on how the Review recommendations can be 

Page 83



City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

implemented, together with an update on progress with implementation of the 

Inquiry’s recommendations. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The Council should consider the findings and recommendations as set out in the 

Review report. 

5.2 If the recommendations are approved, the Chief Executive will report back within 

one cycle with proposals on how the recommendations can be implemented.  

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The cost of the Inquiry into complaints about the late Sean Bell, to date and 

excluding work in progress which has not yet been invoiced, is approximately 

£679,100. The cost of the Review, to date and excluding work in progress which 

has not yet been invoiced, is approximately £625,000.  

6.2 These costs were provided for through the use of Council reserves and the 

reporting of these costs has been incorporated into the Revenue Monitoring reports 

to the Finance and Resources Committee, most recently on 9 December 2021.  

6.3 There will be significant financial implications arising from both the Inquiry and the 

Review costs, and the implementation of the recommendations in this regard when 

the Chief Executive reports back to the Council.  It is anticipated that provision will 

need to be made within the Council’s 2022/23 Revenue Budget for these increased 

costs, on a recurring basis.  

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 The Council acknowledges that the outcome of this report will require improvements 

to be made in some areas and the Council believes that implementation of both the 

Inquiry and the Review reports’ recommendations will address the concerns 

identified going forward.    

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Response to Council Motion on Whistleblowing Culture, Policy and Sustainability 

Committee – 6 October 2020 

8.2 Response to Council Motion on Whistleblowing Culture, Referral from P&S 

Committee, City of Edinburgh Council 15 October 2020 

8.3 City of Edinburgh Council Meeting – 28 October 2021 

 

Page 84

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5671&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5671&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5592&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5592&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=6007&Ver=4


City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 - Review Report  

Page 85



  

 1 

  

 

REPORT INTO THE REVIEW OF THE WHISTLEBLOWING AND ORGANISATIONAL 

CULTURE OF THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL 

10 DECEMBER 2021 

(AS AMENDED ON 16 DECEMBER 2021) 

Susanne Tanner QC 

 

 

 

  

Page 86



  

 2 

INDEX 

  Page No. 

 Personal statement by Susanne Tanner QC 4 

1. Definitions 6 

2. Introduction 9 

3. Scope and Methodology 10 

4. Acknowledgements 14 

5.  Question 1: Is there a positive, open, safe and supportive 

whistleblowing and organisational culture for the raising of and 

responding to concerns of wrongdoing within the Council, its 

elected members, officers and colleagues? If not, why not? 

16 

6.  Question 2: Do the Council's whistleblowing processes and 

practices, in particular the Council’s ‘Whistleblowing Policy’ 

(introduced in May 2014) and the appointment of Safecall as a 

whistleblowing service provider, embody good practice and 

provide an effective vehicle for raising and responding to 

concerns of wrongdoing? 

44 

7. Question 3: Do the Council's elected members, officers, 

colleagues and former colleagues feel empowered to raise 

concerns of wrongdoing? Are there any barriers or other reasons, 

actual or perceived, which inhibit the reporting of wrongdoing 

within the Council? 

68 

8.  Question 4: Do the Council's elected members, officers and 

colleagues in management roles feel empowered to respond to 

concerns of wrongdoing which are raised by elected members, 

officers, colleagues, former colleagues or members of the public? 

Are there any barriers or other reasons, actual or perceived, which 

inhibit the response to concerns of wrongdoing within the 

Council? 

79 

Page 87



  

 3 

9. Question 5: Are whistleblowing reports and other reports of 

wrongdoing involving the Council, its elected members, officers 

and colleagues properly investigated and acted upon, including 

by taking steps to prevent recurrence? If not, why not? 

82 

10. Question 6: Is the avoidance of reputational damage or legal 

liability a contributory factor in any failure by the Council to 

respond to or to address concerns of wrongdoing? 

90 

11. Recommendations 93 

Appendices 

Appendix 1  Terms of Reference 99 

Appendix 2 Results of Colleague Survey 101 

Appendix 3 Case Study 1  115 

Appendix 4 Case Study 2  130 

Appendix 5 Case Study 3  135 

Appendix 6 Number of Formal Whistleblowing Disclosures to Safecall  141 

Appendix 7 Draft Expectation Management Protocol 143 

Appendix 8 Draft Model Early Resolution Process 147 

Appendix 9 Draft Whistleblowing Principles 151 

 

  

Page 88



  

 4 

Personal Statement from Susanne Tanner QC 

Whistleblowing is a procedure that enables serious concerns over malpractice or wrongdoing in 

an organisation to be raised and responded to. A positive, open, safe and supportive 

whistleblowing culture is one in which people in the organisation feel empowered to speak up and 

raise their concerns without fear of victimisation, discrimination or harassment and in which those 

concerns are appropriately acted upon. 

 

Our Review of the whistleblowing and organisational culture at City of Edinburgh Council (“CEC”) 

has only been possible because people have been willing to give their time to speak to us, to 

share their experiences and views. We are extremely grateful for all the contributions we have 

received from CEC Colleagues, Councillors, trade union representatives, Edinburgh residents, 

the external whistleblowing service provider and others who have reached out to shine a light on 

the current whistleblowing and organisational culture at CEC. We understand that the process of 

sharing was difficult and upsetting for some, due to the personal nature of the experiences which 

were brought to our attention and the way in which some people felt about how they had been 

treated. 

 

We have listened carefully to everything that we have been told. We have heard many positive 

views about the current culture and the improvements that have been made since 2014, when a 

new way of dealing with whistleblowing disclosures was introduced by CEC. However, we have 

also been told about practical and cultural issues which have prevented the process from working 

as well as it should, leaving some of those who have raised concerns feeling dissatisfied with the 

process, the outcome, or both; and without a guarantee of rigorous scrutiny by those charged with 

the governance of the process.  

 

Because our Review is thematic in nature, we have not been able to feature the majority of 

contributors by name, or to write in detail about their individual experiences in this Report. 

However, I hope that all who have made a contribution feel that they have been heard by the 

Review Team. I recognise that some current and former Colleagues and service users may feel 

disappointed that their individual cases do not feature by name. I have endeavoured to capture 

their experiences in the themes identified and I very much hope that they can see that their 

individual experiences have been carefully considered and reflected in this Report.   

 

I consider that CEC Councillors were right to commission the Review. The catalyst for this wider 

review were the concerns about the way in which historical complaints about abusive conduct of 

the late Sean Bell had been dealt with, which were the subject of the Inquiry, which reported in 

October 2021. The fact that Sean Bell’s abusive conduct was known about within CEC and was 

not acted upon has, in fact, been borne out in the findings of the Inquiry. The Councillors were 

Page 89



  

 5 

concerned that there were wider issues with CEC’s culture, beyond those which were being 

considered by the Inquiry, in relation to the way in which CEC responded to alleged wrongdoing. 

The Review is different from the Inquiry, in that we were asked to focus on the present culture 

and to look forward. We have, of course, had to look back to help to inform our views. A number 

of Councillors told us about historical concerns which pre-date the current administration and 

leadership team, some of which continue to take up time, effort and public resources to this day 

and, for that reason, they form part of the current culture which we were asked to consider. I hope 

this Report helps assuage some of the Councillors’ more serious concerns while providing a route 

map for cultural improvements going-forward. 

 

The purpose of the recommendations we are making is to inform cultural change in the way that 

complaints of wrongdoing are dealt with by CEC, to ensure that CEC is as transparent and 

accountable as it can be in its actions, and that it engenders a feeling of safety in those who wish 

to raise concerns, by removing any actual or perceived barriers to disclosures. We hope that in 

doing so, the culture will be better for its workforce, its elected members, and ultimately those 

whom they all serve, the residents of the city of Edinburgh. 

 

 

Susanne Tanner QC 
Independent Chair 

December 2021 
  

Page 90



  

 6 

1. DEFINITIONS 

Definition Meaning 

ABH Policy Avoidance of Bullying and Harassment Policy 

Call for Evidence The invitation issued by the Review Team on 

13 November 2020, inviting any current or 

former Colleagues, Councillors, or service 

users to contribute to the Review 

CEC The City of Edinburgh Council 

CLT Corporate Leadership Team which comprises 

the Chief Executive, other Executive Directors 

and some Service Directors 

Colleagues A reference to all employees of CEC 

excluding Councillors, also referred to as 

officers 

Colleague Survey The survey issued by the Review Team to all 

Colleagues in January 2021 – see Appendix 

2 

Councillors The 63 elected members of CEC 

Directorates The four CEC Directorates under which CEC’s 

services are provided:  

 Corporate Services;  

 Edinburgh Health and Social Care 

Partnership;  

 Place; and 

 Education and Children’s Services1 

 
1 The Directorates were re-organised and re-named in July 2021, during the course of the Review and where appropriate, 
reference will be made in this Report to the Directorates’ previous names. 

Page 91



  

 7 

Executive Directors The Chief Executive and the heads of CEC’s 

four Directorates  

GRBV The Governance Risk and Best Value 

Committee (of Councillors) whose role is to 

monitor the financial performance of CEC and 

its subsidiary undertakings, the effectiveness 

of CEC’s audit and inspection, risk 

management and governance arrangements 

and of the control environment of CEC and 

associated fraud and anti-corruption 

arrangements 

Group Leaders The head of each respective political group of 

Councillors 

the Inquiry The independent inquiry which reported in 

October 2021 into the conduct of a former 

CEC social worker and the way in which 

historical complaints regarding him had been 

dealt with by CEC 

Investigating Officers Those tasked with undertaking investigations 

on behalf of CEC 

Service Directors 

 

The respective heads of CEC’s various 

service areas which sit within CEC’s 4 

Directorates 

Member-Officer Protocol The protocol which sets out the roles and 

responsibilities of Councillors and CEC 

officers to ensure clarity when carrying out 

their respective duties 

Monitoring Officer The CEC officer appointed to carry out the 

duties of Monitoring Officer under Section 5(1) 

of the Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 Act   

Nominated Officer The Colleague responsible for setting the 

terms of reference for any internal 

Page 92



  

 8 

investigation and appointing the Investigating 

Officer. They have the decision-making 

authority on the steps that should be taken 

following the investigation 

The Report This report into the review of the 

whistleblowing and organisational culture of 

CEC 

The Review  This independent review of CEC’s 

whistleblowing and organisational culture 

relevant to the raising of and responding to 

concerns of wrongdoing involving CEC, its 

elected members and Colleagues 

The Review Team Susanne Tanner QC and lawyers from the law 

firm Pinsent Masons LLP (also referred to as 

“the Reviewer” in the Terms of Reference) 

Safecall CEC’s independent whistleblowing service 

provider 

SPSO Scottish Public Service Ombudsman  

Terms of Reference A document setting out the scope, parameters 

and limitations of the Review 

  

  

Page 93



  

 9 

2. INTRODUCTION  

2.1 On 15 October 2020, CEC commissioned an independent review of its whistleblowing 

and organisational culture relevant to the raising of and responding to concerns of 

wrongdoing involving CEC, its elected members, officers and Colleagues. 

2.2 The Review began following a motion made at a full Council meeting on 15 October 

2020 that an independent review should be commenced. The Review was 

commissioned following the commissioning of the Inquiry. 

2.3 On 6 November 2020, following an interview by the Group Leaders on 5 November 

2020, I was instructed by CEC as the Independent Chair of the Inquiry and to conduct 

the Review. In this Report I am reporting to CEC as a whole.  

2.4 The Review has been carried out by me with support from the law firm Pinsent Masons 

LLP.  

2.5 I was asked to answer the following questions: 

2.5.1 Is there a positive, open, safe and supportive whistleblowing and 

organisational culture for the raising of and responding to concerns of 

wrongdoing within the Council, its elected members, officers and colleagues? 

If not, why not? 

2.5.2 Do the Council's whistleblowing processes and practices, in particular the 

Council’s ‘Whistleblowing Policy’ (introduced in May 2014) and the 

appointment of Safecall as a whistleblowing service provider, embody good 

practice and provide an effective vehicle for raising and responding to 

concerns of wrongdoing? 

2.5.3 Do the Council's elected members, officers, colleagues and former colleagues 

feel empowered to raise concerns of wrongdoing? Are there any barriers or 

other reasons, actual or perceived, which inhibit the reporting of wrongdoing 

within the Council? 

2.5.4 Do the Council's elected members, officers and colleagues in management 

roles feel empowered to respond to concerns of wrongdoing which are raised 

by elected members, officers, colleagues, former colleagues or members of 

the public? Are there any barriers or other reasons, actual or perceived, which 

inhibit the response to concerns of wrongdoing within the Council? 

Page 94



  

 10 

2.5.5 Are whistleblowing reports and other reports of wrongdoing involving the 

Council, its elected members, officers and colleagues properly investigated 

and acted upon, including by taking steps to prevent recurrence? If not, why 

not?  

2.5.6 Is the avoidance of reputational damage or legal liability a contributory factor 

in any failure by the Council to respond to or to address concerns of 

wrongdoing? 

2.6 The Terms of Reference are at Appendix 1. 

2.7 As the Inquiry was required to examine a specific issue which had the potential to lead 

to disciplinary action for certain CEC Colleagues and the findings of the Inquiry were 

likely to inform the Review, it was determined that the Inquiry should be concluded in 

advance of the Review. The Inquiry Report was published on 22 October 2021 and 

presented at the full Council meeting on 28 October 2021. In this Report, with a few 

exceptions, I do not repeat the findings set out in the Inquiry Report. Those findings 

were made in a particular context, and in relation to past conduct, whereas this Report 

focusses on the current whistleblowing and organisational culture of CEC. However, 

where thematic issues were identified within the Inquiry, which are within the Terms of 

Reference of the Review, these have been considered by the Review Team and, where 

relevant, included in this Report. 

3. SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY 

3.1 This Report addresses CEC’s approach to whistleblowing and the organisational culture 

from May 2014 onwards, when CEC’s current Whistleblowing Policy was introduced.  

3.2 This Report is thematic in nature and, while consideration of past and current 

whistleblowing and other relevant cases were informative, the Review has not 

determined the merits of individual reports, complaints, or concerns of wrongdoing 

relating to CEC.   

3.3 In the main, the Review Team spoke with people on a confidential basis. All contributors 

were informed that the Review was thematic in nature and was not a substitute for 

CEC’s whistleblowing or other complaints processes. 

3.4 With three exceptions, and in keeping with the Terms of Reference, I have determined 

not to comment on individual cases. The three exceptions are the case studies set out 

in Appendices 3, 4 and 5 of this Report which are used as thematic examples due to 

the case studies displaying a number of the themes identified by the Review Team. Two 

Page 95



  

 11 

of the case studies pre-date the current Whistleblowing Policy (which was first 

introduced in 2014) and I am confident the cases would be handled differently were they 

to arise today. While the first two case studies concern historical issues, a number of 

Councillors asked me to review these cases and it is clear to me that the legacy of how 

these cases were handled feeds a current perception that the Council does not 

approach whistleblowing in an open and transparent manner.  I wish to address that 

perception through commenting on these two case studies. The third case study is more 

recent and although the allegations reported were investigated and not upheld, the 

allegations were serious and important, and the case study highlights challenging issues 

which arise in handling difficult whistleblowing disclosures. The case studies do not 

include the names of the whistleblowers. I have also commented on press reports which 

alleged that inappropriate payments were made to a witness in connection with the 

prosecution of a former teacher. Other partly or fully anonymised cases are used by 

way of examples throughout the Report to emphasise thematic points.   

3.5 Throughout the course of the Review, the Review Team has acted independently of 

CEC. We received an exceptional level of co-operation from CEC. All our requests for 

information and documents were met, including being afforded access to legally 

privileged documents on the basis of a limited waiver of privilege, the terms of which 

enabled us access to legally privileged materials while maintaining the privileged status 

of those documents.  

3.6 The Review Team was reliant on CEC for its support in collating and providing relevant 

materials, facilitating internal communications and helping with arrangements for the 

Review Team to speak with relevant Colleagues and groups of Colleagues. CEC 

appointed Craig Russell, a Principal Solicitor within CEC’s Legal Team to act as the 

point of contact for the Review Team, who in turn was assisted by Iain Wallace, a 

solicitor within CEC’s Legal Team. Messrs Russell and Wallace’s primary role was to 

locate and provide documents requested by the Review Team and to take forward other 

essential project management tasks such as arranging the communication of the Call 

for Evidence, the roll-out of an organisation-wide survey, arranging workshops with 

Colleagues, and bringing to the Review Team’s attention any significant developments 

in on-going whistleblowing and disciplinary matters. In addition, Nick Smith, CEC’s 

Service Director for Legal and Assurance and Monitoring Officer, informed the Review 

Team of any new and material developments and provided the Review Team with all 

information and documents requested of him. 

3.7 Messrs Russell, Wallace and Smith co-operated fully with the Review, respected the 

Review Team’s independence throughout and worked extremely hard to respond in a 

Page 96



  

 12 

timely and thorough manner to the Review Team’s requests for documents and 

information.  

3.8 The Review Team also requested and received documents and information directly from 

Safecall, CEC’s whistleblowing service provider.  

3.9 The Review Team has reviewed 2,748 documents, including 38 whistleblowing 

disclosures and 30 completed whistleblowing investigation reports.  

3.10 To promote the Review to Colleagues, former Colleagues and service users, CEC set 

up a designated webpage on its website for the Review and made public statements 

about the Review. As of 6 December 2021, this webpage had been viewed 4,489 times. 

3.11 On 13 November 2020, the Review Team issued the Call for Evidence, via CEC, inviting 

any current or former CEC Colleagues, Councillors, and service users to contribute to 

the Review.  

3.12 Current Colleagues were sent emails from Andrew Kerr, CEC Chief Executive, 

encouraging them to participate in the Review. However, there are a significant minority 

of Colleagues who have no access to a CEC email address or personal access to CEC’s 

intranet, the Orb. Efforts were made to inform these Colleagues of the Review by way 

of written communications sent out with their payslips.  

3.13 The Review was also the subject of press reports in the Edinburgh Evening News and 

the Scotsman. 

3.14 The response to the Call for Evidence and the subsequent communications issued by 

CEC resulted in 233 people contacting the Review Team to provide information.  

3.15 The Review Team held 158 telephone or Microsoft Teams calls with people who wished 

to discuss their experiences with the Review Team. Of the 158 people who spoke to the 

Review Team, 114 were current Colleagues, 17 were former Colleagues who had left 

CEC within the last 5 years, 11 were former Colleagues who had left CEC more than 5 

years ago, and 16 were from outside CEC. 

3.16 The Call for Evidence formally closed on 31 March 2021. However, after that date 

several people who had already contributed to the Review contacted the Review Team 

either to provide new information or to make enquiries about the progress of the Review. 

In addition, a number of new contributors contacted the Review Team throughout the 

months from 31 March 2021 until the publication of the Report, notwithstanding the 

closure of the Call for Evidence. In relation to all late contributions, the Review Team 

considered whether the information fell within the Terms of Reference and then applied 

Page 97



  

 13 

an “exceptional circumstances” test to decide whether it was possible to consider the 

matters further.  

3.17 In addition to the Call for Evidence, the Review Team issued the Colleague Survey in 

January 2021. 1,447 Colleagues out of a total workforce of 19,9432 responded to the 

Colleague Survey. This means the Colleague Survey was responded to by 

approximately 7.3% of Colleagues. While I would have hoped for a higher response 

level to provide greater data for the Review to analyse and consider, and I recognise 

that a response rate of 7.3% means that the Colleague Survey results should be 

approached with a degree of caution, the 1,447 responses provide the best available 

insight into the whistleblowing and organisational culture of CEC from those who 

currently work within the organisation. The full results of the Colleague Survey are 

contained at Appendix 2. 

3.18 Following the preliminary evidence gathering stage by the Review Team, the Review 

Team conducted 30 detailed interviews with contributors.   

3.19 The Review Team also held 24 workshops over Microsoft Teams with Colleagues, 

Councillors, and trade union representatives, and I visited the Bankhead Waste Depot 

with a member of the Review Team for face-to-face meetings with front line Colleagues. 

There were 101 participants across these workshops from the following parts of CEC: 

Councillors from across the political spectrum; Service Directors from all of CEC’s 

Directorates; Colleagues within CEC’s HR function; Colleagues responsible for the 

functioning of the whistleblowing process (including Safecall); Colleagues with 

responsibility for conducting investigations; Colleagues working in education; front-line 

Colleagues; and trade union representatives. Some of those who participated in the 

workshops also spoke to the Review Team in follow up interviews. 

3.20 Each contributor to whom the Review Team spoke had the opportunity to speak on a 

confidential basis if they chose to do so. I wish to reassure all contributors who spoke 

with us on a confidential basis that we have not shared their details, or any information 

about them or their experiences with CEC. In fact, the Review has not shared any 

documents, information, or statements with CEC. The only exceptions to this approach 

were: (i) matters brought to our attention, where no confidentiality issues arose, which 

the Review Team considered required operational input by CEC, in relation to which a 

recommendation was made to CEC that the cases should be reviewed from an 

operational perspective and that interested parties should be updated, if applicable; (ii) 

cases where contributors requested that we speak with CEC about their particular issue 

 
2 Number correct as of December 2021 

Page 98



  

 14 

or concern, if the Review Team considered that this was justified, in relation to which a 

recommendation was made to CEC that the cases should be reviewed from an 

operational perspective and that interested parties should be updated, if applicable; (iii) 

one instance where the Review Team needed to make enquiries about a child safety 

issue that was raised (see Case Study 3 in Appendix 5); and (iv) I also made one formal 

interim recommendation in respect of a case (see Case Study 1 in Appendix 3). CEC 

was receptive to such information being provided by the Review Team and updated the 

Review Team in respect of steps taken in response to such matters. In addition, the 

Review Team directed contributors with ongoing concerns to report them to Safecall.  

3.21 My conclusions are based on the evidence collated. While 1,477 Colleagues responded 

to the Colleague Survey and we spoke with 289 people through calls, workshops and 

interviews, CEC has 19,943 employees, the vast majority of whom did not respond to 

the Colleague Survey or the Call for Evidence. I am also conscious that a person with 

a grievance is more likely to have contacted the Review than a person who is happy 

with the culture of CEC. Despite these caveats, I am satisfied that the Review was 

thorough. We worked hard to reach people but if there are people whom the Review 

has failed to reach, I apologise. There will inevitably be some people that the Review 

Team was unable to speak with and others may have wished for the Review Team to 

speak with them for longer or to follow up in more detail about their specific experiences. 

The Review Team endeavoured to listen to and take on board the experiences of those 

who contacted the Review. I hope those who contributed will understand that in order 

to deliver this Report within a reasonable timeframe and cost it was necessary that 

choices were taken as to the extent to which individual experiences were looked into to 

inform our thematic findings and recommendations. 

4. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

4.1 I wish to acknowledge my personal gratitude, and the gratitude of the Review Team, to 

those people who came forward and contributed to the Review. Many of the experiences 

shared with us were upsetting for the individuals to relive and we are extremely grateful 

for the courage shown by those people who spoke with us.   

4.2 The hard work, professionalism, proactivity and dedication of CEC lawyers, Craig 

Russell and Iain Wallace, is deserving of special mention. I recognise that they have 

demanding jobs and this Review added to the burden they and their Colleagues in CEC 

Legal Team faced. I therefore extend my thanks to the entire CEC Legal Team which 

helped Craig Russell and Iain Wallace with other work commitments during the Review.  

Page 99



  

 15 

4.3 I also wish to acknowledge the co-operation and proactive support of CLT in helping to 

progress this Review. The Review was instigated by the Councillors; not by Andrew 

Kerr (Chief Executive) or CLT. The Review was proactively supported by Mr Kerr, CLT, 

and the Service Directors through the allocation of CEC resources, internal 

communications promoting the Review, and by providing access to CEC’s records and 

people, as requested by the Review Team. Nick Smith, in his role as CEC’s Monitoring 

Officer and Service Director for Legal and Assurance, was responsive to our requests 

for information and explanations, and the Review Team are grateful to him for his 

proactivity in keeping the Review informed of important developments which were 

relevant to the Review.  

4.4 I would also like to thank the Councillors who commissioned this Review and contributed 

their own views about the organisational culture and their desires for improvement in 

the organisation. 

4.5 I add my personal thanks to the Review Team - Tom Stocker, Alistair Wood, Kathryn 

O’Brien and James Cran from Pinsent Masons LLP, for their hard work, dedication and 

support throughout the Review. 

  

Page 100



  

 16 

5. QUESTION 1: IS THERE A POSITIVE, OPEN, SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE 

WHISTLEBLOWING AND ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE FOR THE RAISING OF 

AND RESPONDING TO CONCERNS OF WRONGDOING WITHIN THE COUNCIL, 

ITS ELECTED MEMBERS, OFFICERS AND COLLEAGUES? IF NOT, WHY NOT? 

Overarching findings 

5.1 My overall conclusion is that despite considerable steps taken to improve organisational 

culture since 2014, there is not a universally positive, open, safe and supportive 

whistleblowing and organisational culture for the raising of and responding to concerns 

of wrongdoing within CEC. 

5.2 I should note that CEC has taken considerable strides since Andrew Kerr’s appointment 

as Chief Executive and Nick Smith’s appointment as Monitoring Officer to improve its 

whistleblowing and organisational culture, which evidence shows was historically 

extremely problematic. Many of the issues which were brought to our attention 

originated when CEC was under different leadership and a previous administration and 

to an extent the current Executive Directors and the Monitoring Officer are grappling 

with the legacy and cultural impact of historical cases that still hang over CEC, some of 

which have required, and continue to require, the expenditure of significant time and 

public resources. I also wish to state that, while there is more work to be done, the 

Whistleblowing Policy and processes that have been in place since May 2014 have 

given whistleblowers increased confidence to report concerns and have served to 

improve the culture of CEC to one that is more open and safer for whistleblowers than 

was previously the case.  

5.3 683 of those Colleagues who responded to the Colleague Survey said they had not 

seen an improvement since 2015 in CEC’s culture for encouraging Colleagues to report 

and address serious concerns; whereas 405 Colleagues said the culture had improved. 

Although the 683 Colleagues who had not seen any improvement in CEC’s culture only 

embody 3.5% of CEC’s workforce, the figure represented 47% of those who responded 

to the Colleague Survey. This suggests that the steps taken by CEC to improve its 

culture have not had a wide and deep enough impact to reassure its workforce.  

5.4 While CEC is moving in the right direction, there is a need to demonstrate 

transformational changes. My recommendations are designed to assist with that 

objective.  

 

 

Page 101



  

 17 

Positive findings 

5.5 CEC’s Executive Directors and Councillors share a common desire to have a positive, 

open, safe and supportive culture. It is clear to me that serious cases of alleged 

wrongdoing, in particular reports concerning wrongdoing directed towards service 

users, are nowadays handled more appropriately3, albeit often too slowly, if the report 

is made via the independent whistleblowing provider, Safecall.  

5.6 Having conducted an extensive review, I have not identified any evidence that any 

“major/significant”4 whistleblowing disclosures are being covered up by CEC. Where a 

whistleblowing disclosure comes to the attention of the Whistleblowing Team and 

Safecall it will be investigated. Whistleblowers may not always be satisfied with the 

outcome, investigations tend to take too much time to conclude, and the investigations 

conducted are of mixed quality, but CEC does endeavour to investigate all 

whistleblowing disclosures.  

5.7 In the course of the Review, some significant and challenging whistleblowing 

disclosures were received by CEC. Although those whistleblowing disclosures would 

have benefitted from being investigated more quickly, I am content that the matters have 

been investigated.  

5.8 Considerable steps have been taken since May 2014 to improve CEC’s processes for 

addressing wrongdoing. While there is room for improvement, CEC’s whistleblowing 

process, and the use of an independent whistleblowing provider, set a positive tone and 

CEC’s Whistleblowing Team, Safecall and GRBV work hard to deliver and oversee an 

effective programme for the reporting and investigating of wrongdoing.  Those involved 

in the whistleblowing process struck me as hard-working and well-intended in their 

approach. In a review such as this, recommended improvements are inevitable, but I do 

not doubt the dedication of CEC’s Whistleblowing Team, Safecall and GRBV. I hope 

that the findings and recommendations enable them to build on the strong foundations 

of the Whistleblowing Policy, existing processes, and the experience that they have 

developed over the last seven years in dealing with concerns that are raised. 

5.9 Efforts are being made by CEC’s HR Department to understand and reflect on CEC’s 

culture. While the Review was underway, the HR Department engaged an external 

consultant to assist with a cultural review. That cultural review has completed and its 

 
3 That was not always the case – see the case studies at Appendices 3 and 4 
4 A term used by CEC’s whistleblowing team and Safecall to describe cases which are investigated by Safecall as opposed 
to by CEC itself.  

Page 102



  

 18 

findings, combined with those in this Report, will help to drive positive cultural change, 

which includes a positive, open, safe and supportive whistleblowing culture.   

5.10 Andrew Kerr has also set about improving organisational culture through initiatives such 

as the “Future Engage Deliver Programme”5 and the “Inspiring Talent Programme”6, 

which were well received by participants. Although not a universally held view, many of 

the people we spoke with acknowledged that under Mr Kerr’s leadership, the 

organisational culture has improved. 

5.11 Many Colleagues to whom we spoke were proud of working within CEC, despite issues 

which they wished to bring to our attention and had decided to contribute to the Review 

with a view to informing improvements, not just for them, but for the organisation and 

the city of Edinburgh as a whole.  

Mixed perceptions 

5.12 Nevertheless, concerns about the current culture were repeatedly raised by contributors 

and the response to the Colleague Survey demonstrates that there is a mixed picture.  

The answer to question 3 of the Colleague Survey demonstrates the position, which 

includes the fact that 35% of those responding to the question (504 Colleagues) were 

of the view that the CEC has a weak culture which discourages speaking up and 

addressing concerns of wrongdoing, with a further 49% (707 Colleagues) providing a 

neutral response. A much smaller minority of 16% (229 Colleagues)  reported a strong 

culture in this regard.  

  

 
5 A programme CEC runs to assist managers, and those with aspirations of being a manager, to become more confident 
and capable leaders. The programme operates on a hybrid of e-learning and support groups which work together to 
complete the programme over 12 months. 
6 A programme CEC runs to: (i) identify and develop future senior leaders; (ii) anticipate and address workforce planning 
priorities; and (iii) promote diversity and inclusion, in particular to encourage more women into senior roles. 

Page 103



  

 19 

5.13 What was evident from the contributions to the Review is that CEC does not have one 

universal culture. Instead, it has many different cultures depending on which department 

Colleagues work in, their level of seniority within the organisation, and the location of 

their place of work. The term “siloed” was used frequently by contributors to the Review 

to describe different Directorates / departments within CEC. The culture within parts of 

the Children’s Services department (as detailed in the Inquiry report) and a small 

number of schools within the Education and Children’s Services Directorate (formally 

known as Communities and Families Directorate and prior to that Children and Families) 

has been raised with us as problematic but I am hopeful that recent personnel changes, 

including the appointment of an Interim Executive Director of Education and Children’s 

Services in May 2021 and a permanent successor in November 2021, and the 

implementation of the recommendations of this Report will lead to positive cultural 

change, in which the organisation as a whole encourages speaking up and addressing 

of concerns.  

5.14 A challenge faced by CEC is that reduced budgets and restructuring has caused 

capacity issues for CEC. Budget cuts have impacted negatively on CEC’s culture 

because Colleagues are having to do more for less and are feeling under strain and 

undervalued. I do not have a magic wand to address this issue. It is the reality of CEC’s 

financial position. However, there are steps that can be taken to improve the culture 

with limited need for additional resource to be allocated. In addition, there is a need for 

CEC to recognise false economies, such as overloading its Colleagues with duties over 

and above their day jobs, for example tasking them with investigations into complaints 

of wrongdoing, which inevitably leads to delays in investigations and in some cases poor 

investigation processes and outcomes, as well as having an impact on employee 

wellbeing and morale. Some of my recommended steps will necessitate budget to be 

allocated and I would encourage CEC to find the budget because it will, in the medium 

to longer term, save time, expense, and reduce staff absence due to stress or other 

wellbeing issues.   

5.15 Specific areas for improvement are addressed below.  

Councillors 

5.16 Councillors are the face of CEC and the conduct of Councillors has a significant 

influence on the culture of the organisation, in particular the approach of CEC officers 

and Colleagues to dealing with issues of potential wrongdoing. 

5.17  A number of Councillors contributed to the Review through a variety of means, including 

individual interviews, participation in group workshops (21 Councillors attended 

Page 104



  

 20 

workshops) and by assisting contributors to engage with the Review. Some Councillors 

to whom we spoke have held elected office with CEC for many years, through different 

administrations and leadership teams, and others were elected at the most recent 

election in 2017. We spoke to Councillors in the administration, including the Leader7 

and Deputy Leader8 and those in opposition. Generally, while some Councillors were 

more critical of the current whistleblowing and organisational culture than others, all the 

Councillors to whom we spoke wished to see improvements in the culture of the 

organisation. 

5.18 For the organisation to operate effectively, it is important that officers have confidence 

that confidential information provided to Councillors will remain confidential, that 

Councillors will accept the factual accuracy of information provided to them unless there 

is a good reason not to, and that Councillors will not unnecessarily embark on seeking 

to apportion blame to individuals charged with operational duties. Unfortunately, it is 

clear to me that some officers have become guarded and defensive in the information 

provided to Councillors due to concerns about information being leaked or the possibility 

of the officer or the department being unfairly criticised by Councillors.   

5.19 In course of the Review, leaks of confidential information and sensationalised press 

statements have arisen. There will be times where a Councillor considers there to be a 

strong public interest in confidential information being made public. However, in some 

of the cases I observed, the public interest element was not apparent to me and there 

were occasions where the reporting of the information was sensationalised or 

inaccurate, which is not conducive to a positive organisational culture.  

5.20 All Councillors are subject to the Code of Conduct for Councillors which is produced by 

the Scottish Government  and outlines the standards of conduct expected of Councillors 

under the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. At the time the 

Review began, the Code of Conduct for Councillors had been in force since July 2018; 

and an amended Code of Conduct for Councillors was issued by the Scottish Ministers 

in September 2021 following consultation, and with the approval of the Scottish 

Parliament. The new Code of Conduct for Councillors came into force on 7 December 

2021, shortly before the publication of this Report. Where references are made to the 

Code in this Report, it is to the 2021 Code. The Standards Commission for Scotland, an 

independent body whose purposes include encouraging high ethical standards in public 

life through the promotion and enforcement of the Code of Conduct for Councillors, has 

produced guidance for Councillors on the Code of Conduct for Councillors, which has 

 
7 Adam McVey, SNP 
8 Cammy Day, Labour 

Page 105



  

 21 

been revised in line with the new Code, and contains illustrations and examples of 

factors that Councillors should consider when interpreting the Code. 

5.21 The CEC full council and the committees are responsible for strategy and policy 

decisions, whereas the CEC officers are responsible for operational decisions. The role 

of Councillors is to determine policy aims and objectives. The Code of Conduct for 

Councillors states at paragraph 3.7 that “I will not become involved in operational 

management of my council’s services as I acknowledge and understand that is the 

responsibility of its employees”.  

5.22 One of the key principles of the Code of Conduct for Councillors (at paragraph 2.2) is 

that Councillors must “respect all other councillors and all council employees and the 

role they play, treating them with courtesy at all times”. The majority of Councillors 

conduct themselves professionally, comply with the Code of Conduct for Councillors, 

and treat their fellow members and CEC’s officers with courtesy and respect. However, 

occasional slips in behaviour and conduct of a minority of Councillors has had a negative 

impact on the organisational culture of CEC. Concerns about the conduct of some 

Councillors towards officers, and each other, in the course of committee meetings was 

raised with the Review Team by both Councillors and officers.  

5.23 The Accounts Commission’s Best Value Assurance Report dated 26 November 2020 

(the “Best Value Report”) noted that there were “tensions between elected members 

which manifest in inappropriate language and tone being used in council debate, in the 

lack of involvement of some members in decision-making, and in media reports on 

member disagreements”. The Best Value Report further notes that the steps taken to 

address these issues have made little difference with relationships remaining strained 

leading to an environment which is “challenging for members and officers”.  

5.24 Among the 21 Councillors who participated in the Review workshops, there was cross 

party consensus that little had changed since the Best Value Report was published and 

that no steps had been taken to improve the situation. Indeed, one Councillor observed 

that “in some respects relationships are getting worse” and another that “in the last year 

or so it has become toxic”. I would invite CEC to reflect on the findings of the Best Value 

Report and consider any necessary changes to aid communications intra Councillors 

and between Councillors and officers. I understand that prior to the issuing of the Best 

Value Report, attempts had been made by officers to improve relations with Councillors, 

which included inviting them to participate in the “Future Engage Deliver” programme, 

described above, but the uptake by Councillors was mixed.  

Page 106



  

 22 

5.25 Furthermore, there have been incidents where the use of newspaper columns and 

opinion pieces in local Edinburgh and national newspapers have on occasion been used 

to leak confidential information or to comment inappropriately or erroneously on 

whistleblowing cases. The leaking of confidential information or inaccurate commentary 

undermines the integrity of CEC and the role of GRBV in providing an oversight function, 

and it heightens the feelings of mistrust between Councillors and officers.  

5.26 [PARAGRAPH WITHDRAWN] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.27 While incidents like the example given are uncommon, there are officers who perceive 

that some Councillors cannot be trusted with sensitive and confidential information. It 

seems to be accepted as a given by those officers that if such information is provided 

to Councillors it will be leaked. As a result, this view affects the approach of officers to 

sharing information with Councillors. Many Councillors share the same perception as 

officers about the conduct of other Councillors and, whether or not the perceptions are 

borne out, all Councillors are directly impacted by the resulting culture which has had 

the effect of discouraging openness between officers and Councillors. 

5.28 The Review Team understands that, apart from some particular training courses to 

enable Councillors to sit on specific committees, such as the Planning Committee (due 

to legal requirements), Councillor training is not compulsory. Non-attendance at 

Councillor training is an issue that may impact on Councillor behaviour and ultimately 

the culture of CEC. 

5.29 Complaints of breaches of the Code of Conduct for Councillors are investigated by the 

Commissioner for Ethical Standards and adjudicated by The Standards Commission for 

Scotland. However, some CLT members and Councillors informed the Review Team 

that reporting an alleged breach of the Code of Conduct for Councillors was rarely done 

because it was seen as harmful to relationships and was described as a “nuclear option” 

and potentially “career ending”. 

Page 107



  

 23 

5.30 Recommendation 1: All political groups should take steps, if they do not already 

do so, to ensure that all their members attend training, particularly training in 

relation to the Member-Officer Protocol and Councillor conduct, including the 

2021 Code of Conduct for Councillors.  

5.31 Recommendation 2: Whistleblowing training should be delivered to and attended 

by all Councillors.  

5.32 Recommendation 3: CEC officers and Councillors should take steps to implement 

any necessary changes following the findings of the Best Value Report. The Chief 

Executive and Group Leaders may also wish to consider whether there is a means, 

short of a report to the Commissioner for Ethical Standards, to address instances of 

discourteous conduct by Councillors towards Colleagues and other Councillors.  

Limiting information provision to councillors 

5.33 The flip side of the concern expressed by officers and Councillors about leaks of 

confidential information and inaccurate statements to the press is that some Councillors 

informed the Review that officers do not share enough information with them and there 

is a lack of trust on the part of some Councillors in relation to the completeness of 

information with which they are provided by certain officers.  

5.34 It is important to note that the provision of information to Councillors is based on a legal 

framework. 

5.35 Councillors have a right to access information to allow them to discharge their duties. 

According to CEC's Member-Officer Protocol, the key principle is in favour of disclosure 

in accordance with the relevant sections of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 

1973 (the “1973 Act”).  

5.36 Section 50 of the 1973 Act gives Councillors a statutory right to inspect various 

documents related to business to be transacted by CEC unless the documents disclose 

certain types of "Exempt Information" (the 1973 Act outlines descriptions of the kind of 

information which is to be considered Exempt Information). 

5.37 The effect of information being Exempt Information is that it need not be disclosed by 

CEC to Councillors who are not directly involved in decisions relating to that Exempt 

Information.  

5.38 The Code of Conduct for Councillors at paragraphs 3.21 to 3.23 provides that 

Councillors must always respect and comply with the requirements to keep information, 

which is not intended to be public, confidential: 

Page 108



  

 24 

5.38.1 “I will not disclose confidential information or information which should 

reasonably be regarded as being of a confidential or private nature, without 

the express consent of a person or body authorised to give such consent, or 

unless required to do so by law. I note that if I cannot obtain such express 

consent, I will assume it is not given. 

5.38.2 I accept that confidential information can include discussions, documents, 

information which is not yet public or never intended to be public, and 

information deemed confidential by statute. 

5.38.3 I will only use confidential information to undertake my duties as a councillor. 

I will not use it in any way for personal or party-political advantage or to 

discredit my council (even if my personal view is that the information should 

be publicly available)”. 

5.39 Despite the above framework, a small number of Councillors perceive that they do not 

have sufficient access to information to enable them to fulfil their role in representing 

their constituents. It was explained by one Councillor that “one of the issues about 

information is that sometimes it’s sensitive information you are after and there is a 

feeling that there is information that we should have access to that is kept from us, for 

two reasons: we might leak it; or people hide behind legal privilege”. There is also a 

perception amongst some Councillors that officers are even more reluctant to share 

information with Councillors when that information relates to a failing on the part of a 

senior officer. These Councillors consider that not providing this information inhibits their 

ability to effectively scrutinise.  

5.40 In the main, the Review Team observed that Councillors do get access to information 

requested, albeit subject to controls such as accessing the information via an online 

data room or being invited to read reports in a meeting room rather than being sent a 

copy of a report. I consider such controls to be reasonable, provided that appropriate 

measures are put in place to address any accessibility issues Councillors may have. 

5.41 The Review Team was advised of one example in the Education and Children’s 

Services Directorate where a process had been put in place in relation to sharing 

information with Councillors. This is not a matter that the Review looked into further. If 

this has proven to be an effective method, other parts of CEC could consider adopting 

this process or something similar. 

5.42 The Review Team is aware of one situation where, because of reliance on legal 

professional privilege, officers have provided Group Leaders with a summary report in 

Page 109



  

 25 

place of the full investigation report (for further discussion on this point see paragraph 

10.9).  

CEC leadership 

5.43 As noted above, many of the people to whom the Review Team spoke acknowledged 

that under Andrew Kerr’s leadership the organisational culture of CEC has improved. In 

particular a number of people who contributed to the Review explained that under Mr 

Kerr’s leadership significant strides had been made to break down the pre-existing 

culture of siloed thinking within CEC. Nevertheless, there remain issues relating the 

tone set by the top of the organisation and in particular by the Executive Directors.  

5.44 There is currently no disciplinary policy formally adopted in relation to the Chief 

Executive, although there is a national policy applicable to chief executives which could 

be applied if required. In addition, the policy applicable to all other Executive Directors 

and Service Directors has not been updated since 1997, does not cover all potential 

circumstances and is therefore not fully fit for purpose. This position risks creating a 

perception that the Executive Directors and Service Directors can act with impunity and 

is a major barrier to responding to issues of wrongdoing concerning these officers, as 

the framework for doing so is unclear. At the time of writing this Report, steps were 

being taken within CEC to put in place a revised disciplinary policy applicable to all 

Executive Directors and Service Directors. I would wish to see this process accelerated.  

5.45 Five contributors to the Review commented on the gender balance of CLT and the fact 

that it is quite male dominated. These comments were likely made with reference to the 

former make up of CLT, as the gender balance in 2019, when the CLT comprised 7 

members, was 6 males to 1 female. However, CLT has, since November 2020, 

expanded to 14 members and the gender balance is currently, as at December 2021, 7 

males to 7 females.   

5.46 While a number of contributors to the Review have commented on a positive and 

inclusive atmosphere at CLT meetings, a smaller number have commented that CLT 

can be an intimidating environment to those who perceive themselves to be outsiders. 

This could, therefore, unintentionally exclude those who do not feel comfortable in the 

current environment. Executive Directors and those on CLT should reflect on the 

atmosphere they create at meetings and should take steps to ensure that there is a 

welcoming and inclusive environment for all. More general efforts towards diversity and 

inclusion are to be welcomed, and for more on this topic see paragraphs 5.105 to 5.112.  

5.47 There was a perception among a small number of contributors that managers, at varying 

levels across CEC, will look out for each other rather than seeking to take forward 

Page 110



  

 26 

concerns. The Review Team has not been provided with any evidence of this occurring 

currently. However, there were examples of historical cases where this was an issue, 

including Case Studies 1 and 2 (Appendices 3 and 4). The Inquiry also considered 

how this situation arose in the former Children and Families Directorate with a group of 

employees, with negative effects when it came to dealing with complaints of abuse and 

other wrongdoing involving a senior social worker. Given the fact that long service by 

managers across CEC is very common, there is a risk of cliques forming among 

managers who have spent many years working together. While there are many positive 

aspects to Colleagues and managers having strong, constructive and long-standing 

relationships, from the perspective of encouraging suspected wrongdoing to be 

reported, it is of paramount importance that, as part of building on a more open and 

transparent culture within CEC, whistleblowers have confidence that the whistleblowing 

channels are independent and that investigations will be conducted by Investigating 

Officers who are not part of any perceived management clique.  

5.48 Recommendation 4: CEC should put in place a revised disciplinary policy 

applicable to the Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Service Directors as a 

matter of priority. 

Culture across Directorates and departments 

5.49 As noted at the outset, CEC does not have one culture. The culture of CEC varies 

across CEC’s different Directorates and departments, with some appearing to have a 

more open culture compared to others. With an organisation the size of CEC it is 

impossible to attempt to homogenise individuals’ experiences, however some parts of 

CEC have been discussed with the Review Team more than others. This indicates that 

a positive culture within these areas is less pronounced than in others.  

5.50 It is evident to the Review Team that there are some parts of CEC that appear to have 

more cultural issues than others. It is important to note that there was a substantive 

restructuring of CEC’s Directorate structure during the summer of 2021 while the 

Review was ongoing. A breakdown of those who responded to the Call for Evidence 

and provided details of where they worked within CEC9 is set out below10: 

 

 

 
9 Others may have told the Review Team where they worked but it was not clear to the Review Team which Directorate 
these roles sat in. They have therefore not been included in this table.  
10 This table uses the names of the Directorates prior to the re-organisation in 2021 as the Call for Evidence was open 
when these particular Directorates were in place.  

Page 111



  

 27 

DIRECTORATE NUMBER OF WITNESSES 

Communities and Families11 97 

Resources12 13 

Place 13 

Health and Social Care Partnership 14 

 

5.51 The HR Department’s statistics on active cases currently being dealt with by the HR 

Case Team (ABH, disciplinary, grievance, and suspensions) from 30 November 2021 

also paint a similar picture: 

DIRECTORATE NUMBER OF CASES 

Education and Children’s Services ABH: 4 

Disciplinary: 36 

Grievance: 6 

Suspensions: 6 

Total: 52 

Corporate Services  ABH: 0 

Disciplinary: 1 

Grievance: 013 

Suspensions: 0 

Total: 1 

 
11 Now known as Education and Children’s Services 
12 In July 2021, following re-organisation, the Resources Directorate ceased to exist, and the Corporate Services 
Directorate was formed. Corporate Services brings together some of the professional teams from the former Resources 
Directorate, along with the teams in the former Chief Executive’s Service. The Property and Facilities Management 
Department of the former Resources Directorate was transferred into the Place Directorate, moving a substantial 
proportion of staff from the former Resources Directorate.  
13 The Review Team is aware of a collective grievance in this Directorate which is currently the subject of an appeal and 
is therefore not included in the HR Case Team’s statistics. 

Page 112



  

 28 

Place ABH: 3 

Disciplinary: 19 

Grievance: 3 

Suspensions: 8 

Total: 33 

Health and Social Care Partnership ABH: 4 

Disciplinary: 32 

Grievance: 1 

Suspensions: 1 

Total: 38 

 

5.52 As can be seen from the data above, the Education and Children’s Services Directorate 

(previously known as Communities and Families, and prior to that Children and 

Families) appears to be the source of a greater proportion of issues within CEC 

compared to other Directorates. It is important to caveat that general statement with the 

fact that Education and Children’s Services is the largest Directorate (it is more than 

double the size of the next largest Directorate), but the number of Colleagues who 

approached the Review Team from this Directorate far outstrips those from other 

Directorates. Two areas of the Education and Children’s Services Directorate that have 

been of particular concern to the Review Team from a cultural perspective are the 

Schools and Lifelong Learning Department (in particular schools) and the Children’s 

Services and Criminal Justice Services (commonly referred to by Colleagues as the 

Social Work Department). The Review Team identified two matters of particular concern 

during the Review and flagged them to CEC. In parallel, CEC has identified an issue 

with one of the matters and these matters are now being dealt with by CEC. An Interim 

Executive Director of Education and Children’s Services was appointed in May 2021, 

with a permanent successor being appointed in November 2021. In addition, during the 

course of the Review, recommendations from the Inquiry, which related to matters in 

the Social Work Department, were made in October 2021 and were accepted by CEC 

in full. A plan is being developed in respect of implementation of those 

recommendations. 

Page 113



  

 29 

5.53 Of those who responded to the Call for Evidence, 26 worked in schools. For context I 

note that the CEC employs 5,120 teachers, plus others such as teaching assistants, 

education officers and support staff. Themes identified which are relevant to this Review 

included: preferential treatment with respect to promotions and new hires (see more 

below); unreasonable behaviour towards more junior teachers, including alleged 

incidents of bullying and harassment by head teachers or heads of departments; 

management closing ranks and protecting one another; and a general lack of 

encouragement to speak up. Senior education officers and head teachers to whom the 

Review Team spoke as part of the Review did not consider there to be a widespread 

culture of bullying and harassment within schools. However, 12 teachers raised 

concerns about the behaviours of more senior teachers towards staff within their 

schools.  

5.54 Of those who responded to the Call for Evidence, 21 worked in the Social Work 

Department. The issues discussed in the Inquiry Report relate to the Social Work 

Department and will not be discussed further here. However, there are also other 

concerns that have been raised with the Review Team in relation to parts of the Social 

Work Department. Five Colleagues working within one team within the Social Work 

Department and a Councillor raised concerns with the Review Team about a “toxic 

culture in the team and a culture of systemic bullying” within that team. The majority of 

the concerns raised related to actions of the management team. The individual 

complaints have been investigated but without consideration being given to the pattern 

of behaviours reported.  

5.55 As noted in relation to schools, there is a perception more generally of preferential 

treatment (including cronyism, nepotism and favouritism) among some Colleagues in 

relation to the award of jobs to internal candidates. Of the 115 whistleblowing 

disclosures made between 2018 and 2021, 12 of them related to allegations of nepotism 

or cronyism. However, the Review Team has reviewed several instances of jobs being 

awarded where preferential treatment and other exclusionary behaviour has been 

raised as a concern and we have not identified any evidence to substantiate the 

perception. On the face of the documents reviewed by us, the processes leading to the 

job awards appear reasonable and fair. Nevertheless, there remains a perception of 

preferential treatment and other exclusionary behaviour in the course of job awards 

which is unhelpful to the overall organisational culture. 

5.56 Recommendation 5: Refresh avoidance of bullying and harassment training for 

all Colleagues, with schools and those involved in social work being part of the 

initial roll-out.  

Page 114



  

 30 

5.57 Recommendation 6: Those involved in recruitment and selection of candidates 

for new positions should complete a short form declaration to disclose any 

personal or professional relationship with a prospective candidate.  

Communications and training 

  

5.58 While it appears that the majority of Colleagues have some awareness of CEC’s 

Whistleblowing Policy (albeit over a quarter of those who responded to the Colleague 

Survey who were aware of the Whistleblowing Policy, stated that they became aware 

of it as a result of the Review), what is apparent from the Review is that there is a varied 

level of understanding amongst Colleagues as to what constitutes whistleblowing, the 

avenues by which people can report concerns, and how instances of whistleblowing will 

be investigated and dealt with. One of the main reasons for this mixed understanding is 

the manner in which CEC’s whistleblowing processes have been communicated.  

5.59 When the Whistleblowing Policy was first rolled out in 2014, under the previous 

administration and Executive Team, there were serious failings with regard to the 

communications strategy. At the time of the roll out, a communications plan had been 

prepared, which consisted of the use of electronic communications, articles in internal 

magazines, workplace posters and wallet cards to provide details on the service being 

offered. However, before the posters and wallet cards could be disseminated to 

Colleagues, the (then) Chief Executive paused all communications in relation to the 

Whistleblowing Policy. Following this suspension of communications, the available 

hours for the service changed, thus rendering the wallet cards prepared inaccurate.  

5.60 In 2015, a new promotion campaign took place which involved posters being put up on 

staff notice boards across all CEC buildings, articles in newsletters, and the wallet cards 

were issued (albeit with the incorrect working hours on them). I understand that these 

posters and wallet cards have not been refreshed in the following six years and there 

has been no audit to check whether the original posters remain in place.  

Page 115



  

 31 

5.61 While impromptu reminders have been given to Colleagues via management briefings 

and communications from the Chief Executive in the years following the 2015 promotion 

campaign, the Review is not aware of any subsequent promotion campaign. Failing to 

refresh posters and wallet cards has a particular impact on those frontline Colleagues 

who do not have personal access to CEC’s intranet or a CEC email address (for more 

on these Colleagues see paragraphs 7.26 to 7.36) and presents a barrier to them being 

able to raise concerns.  

5.62 Despite the Whistleblowing Policy forming part of the “Essential Learning” for all 

Colleagues, the majority of Colleagues have not received any formal training on 

whistleblowing. This is evidenced by the answer to Colleague Survey question 10. I 

understand that “Essential Learning” means that Colleagues are required to read the 

policy, as opposed to there being formal training offered on the Whistleblowing Policy. 

Indeed, I understand that there is no formal programme of training in relation to the 

Whistleblowing Policy. Instead, some Colleagues have received training on 

whistleblowing but there is no planned programme. 

  

5.63 CEC is in the process of producing a new whistleblowing e-learning module which will 

be made available to all Colleagues through CEC’s e-learning platform on its intranet. 

The Review Team has reviewed an early draft of this e-learning module and provided 

feedback to the designers on its content. 

5.64 In addition to a lack of formal training, not all managers are taking the time to speak with 

Colleagues about whistleblowing. However, when they do, the tone of the discussion is 

generally positive or neutral. Formal training cannot be the only method by which 

Colleagues are informed of the means by which they can raise concerns. Regular 

promotion of whistleblowing by managers and through other communications is 

essential.   

Page 116



  

 32 

  

  

5.65 UK Government – Whistleblowing: Guidance for Employers and Code of Practice 

(BEIS) is the UK government guidance for employers in relation to whistleblowing. The 

guidance contains several useful pointers which can help an employer to create an 

environment where workers feel able to speak up. It emphasises that organisations 

must ensure that employees know how to make a disclosure. This can be done via their 

intranet, through a staff newsletter or through trade unions. It is a good idea for 

organisations to share the information with all staff regularly to make sure that they are 

all reminded of the policy and procedures and to inform new staff.  Written policies are 

not enough. Training should be provided to all staff on the key arrangements of the 

policy. Additional training should be provided to those with whistleblowing 

responsibilities, such as managers or designated contacts, so that they are able to 

provide guidance confidently to workers. It is also a good idea to include handling 

whistleblowing disclosures as part of discipline and grievance training for managers and 

staff. Training should be offered at regular points to make sure it stays fresh in 

managers’ minds.  

5.66 Recommendation 7: A new whistleblowing communications and training strategy 

should be put in place and rolled out across CEC. This could involve a regular series 

of “town hall” type talks by senior managers, including periodic attendance by CLT 

members. In addition to an e-learning course which is currently available, face-to-face 

Page 117



  

 33 

training which is supported by promotional posters and videos being shown in canteens 

and via CEC vlogs / CEC social media should be prioritised. Training should be visibly 

supported by senior managers and Whistleblowing Champions (see Recommendation 

23) by their attendance at sites and depots to help to deliver the training and engage 

with Colleagues on its aims. 

Overly formal approach and lack of early resolution 

5.67 CEC can adopt an overly formal approach to addressing concerns of wrongdoing, 

whether via whistleblowing disclosures or matters addressed under CEC’s disciplinary, 

grievance, or ABH policies.  

5.68 Linked to an overly formal approach is that early resolution is not provided for in the 

Whistleblowing Policy and under some other CEC policies which relate to concerns 

about wrongdoing. The Review Team is aware of very few cases where steps have 

been taken to resolve the issues when they are raised, where early resolution may have 

been a more constructive approach. Whilst, obviously, unnecessarily re-directing time 

and resource to investigations that are not required, this approach can also lead to less 

serious matters that could be addressed via a conversation or a form of facilitated 

discussion becoming blown out of all proportion to the issues which have been raised. 

There are a number of cases involving allegations of bullying and harassment of which 

the Review Team is aware which would have benefitted from early resolution and de-

escalation. For example, the Review Team is aware of two cases in separate 

departments in CEC’s Education and Children’s Services Directorate (at the time known 

as Communities and Families) where allegations of bullying on the part of managers to 

more junior Colleagues have been determined by the managers to be examples of 

employees not responding to management techniques or forms of performance 

management as opposed to bullying. In both these cases there appears to have been 

little effort made to have a facilitated discussion in order to resolve the issues. Instead, 

in both these cases, formal processes were instigated with some Colleagues involved 

taking extended leaves of absence purportedly due to the stress involved.  

5.69 There is a perception that in some cases Trade Unions have insisted on the formal 

application of a policy (and the Review Team has seen one example of this happening 

in practice) rather than seeking to resolve matters or take matters down another, more 

pragmatic, route. This does not happen in all cases, and a number of Trade Union 

representatives who spoke with the Review expressed their willingness to engage with 

CEC on ways in which matters can be dealt with less formally and resolved earlier in 

the process.  

Page 118



  

 34 

5.70 In addition to resolving issues between the parties, greater emphasis could be placed 

on conducting a paper-based review at the point of a concern being raised and before 

the subject of the disclosure or complaint is informed that they are under investigation. 

An example of where an early document-based review would have been beneficial is in 

relation to a teacher who was the subject of a whistleblowing report which alleged that 

they had abused their position to get their partner a job in their school. This resulted in 

a prolonged investigation lasting several months which caused the teacher stress and 

anxiety. The outcome of the investigation was that it was found that the teacher had not 

abused their position. However, had the investigator reviewed the relevant paperwork 

at the outset they would have seen that the teacher had recused themselves from the 

recruitment process and had informed their managers of the fact that their partner was 

applying for a job in their school. There was therefore no need for the investigation to 

take place at all. The issues identified in this observation could be addressed by way of 

Investigating Officer training (see Recommendation 9).  

5.71 Recommendation 8: CEC should revise its Whistleblowing Policy to put a greater 

emphasis on consensual early resolution (see Recommendation 32). I would 

encourage the relevant Trade Unions to support this recommendation. In reviewing its 

policy suite more generally, CEC should consider embedding a consistent focus on 

early resolution. 

Investigations 

5.72 The majority of whistleblowing investigations which arise from disclosures to Safecall 

are referred back into CEC by Safecall for investigation. CEC also undertakes a number 

of different investigations internally such as, disciplinary investigations, complaints 

investigations, ABH investigations and grievance investigations. 

5.73 In September 2021, CLT approved a business case to recruit two dedicated 

Investigating Officers to help drive CEC’s disciplinary, grievance, and ABH cases going 

forward. This is to be welcomed. Apart from this proposed team, CEC does not have a 

dedicated internal investigations team. Instead, investigations are handled by managers 

within CEC who are tasked with conducting these investigations on top of their day jobs. 

The typical approach to investigations conducted within CEC is for a Nominated Officer, 

who is normally a senior manager or Service Director within the service area in question, 

and an Investigating Officer, who is normally a more junior manager within the service 

area in question, to be appointed. The Nominated Officer is responsible for setting the 

terms of reference for any investigation, appointing the Investigating Officer, and has 

the decision-making authority on the steps that should be taken following the 

Page 119



  

 35 

investigation. The Investigating Officer is responsible for conducting the fact-finding 

investigation and reporting their findings to the Nominated Officer. 

5.74 The quality and robustness of the internal investigations examined by the Review Team 

is mixed. There are examples of investigations that have been conducted thoroughly 

and effectively. However, there are also examples of investigations where the depth and 

timeliness of the investigations could have been improved. There are a variety of 

reasons for this: Investigating Officers may be undertaking the investigation on top of 

their other responsibilities and are under time pressure; Investigating Officers do not 

receive sufficient training; there is a lack of support for Investigating Officers; and there 

is a general lack of resource made available to Investigating Officers. 

5.75 Some of those tasked with conducting internal investigations explained to the Review 

Team that while they enjoy undertaking investigations and find them stimulating, they 

are time consuming, can be stressful, and impact on their ability to perform their day 

job. Investigating Officers can find themselves working on investigations late at night 

and in their own time as there is insufficient time during ordinary work hours to take 

forward investigative work (or vice versa, they may have to work on their own duties 

and responsibilities outside of work hours). Investigating Officers are generally expected 

to undertake investigations in addition to their own work and, with one exception, the 

Review Team saw little evidence of workloads being managed to enable Investigating 

Officers to prioritise taking forward an investigation. A case study which exemplifies the 

issue in practice is the Chief Internal Auditor’s Phase 1 report on the issues raised by a 

service user, which is discussed more fully in Case Study 1 at Appendix 3. When 

conducting their investigation, the Chief Internal Auditor spent circa 292 hours on this 

matter, while still performing their role as Chief Internal Auditor. 

5.76 A result of this approach to conducting investigations, on top of the day job, is that 

investigations can take longer than they should. The Whistleblowing Policy provides that 

most investigations should be completed within three months of a report being received. 

As noted below investigations are often not concluded in this timeframe.  

5.77 In the last year, CEC’s HR Department have started to create a pool of experienced 

Investigating Officers who will be tasked in the first instance to undertake internal 

investigations. This is to be welcomed but it also necessitates the reallocation of work 

so that Investigating Officers are not overburdened.  

5.78 The quality and frequency of investigations training offered by CEC to its managers is 

an area of major concern. As can be seen from the answer to Colleague Survey 

Page 120



  

 36 

question 45, of the 324 managers who responded to the Colleague Survey only 13.5% 

of them have received training on how to investigate whistleblowing complaints.  

  

  

5.79 A number of Investigating Officers who spoke with the Review explained that they 

received no training before conducting their first investigation and were expected to 

learn “on the job”. Some training on investigations has been provided by CEC which is 

to be welcomed and encouraged but there is currently no planned programme of 

investigator training. The Review Team has examined the investigations training offered 

by CEC to some of its Investigating Officers and I consider it could be improved by the 

inclusion of scenario-based training which should cover steps from the outset of a case, 

including early case assessment based on a review of documents, consideration of 

early resolution, planning and scope of investigations, and conducting effective 

interviews.   

5.80 Some of the Investigating Officers to whom the Review Team spoke explained that they 

often receive little support when conducting investigations. This observation was made 

in the context of whistleblowing and other relevant investigations. Investigating Officers 

are provided with template reports and witness statements, but these documents only 

provide details of the structure expected through the use of headings as opposed to 

providing any detailed guidance on how to produce an effective report or witness 

statement.  

Page 121



  

 37 

5.81 A lack of minute takers for interviews was identified as an issue. Investigating Officers 

explained that prior to a re-organisation some years ago the HR Department used to 

assist Investigating Officers by providing someone to take notes of interviews. 

Investigating Officers are now left, generally, to take the notes of interview themselves 

whilst conducting the interview at the same time. Some Investigating Officers stated that 

they are sometimes able to source note taking support from within their own service 

area, but that this does not always happen. The lack of a separate note taker will 

inevitably impact on the effectiveness of the questions asked and the quality of interview 

notes.  

5.82 Some of the Investigating Officers to whom the Review Team spoke also explained that 

they felt that there was a lack of emotional support for Investigating Officers, particularly 

for those who have been tasked with conducting investigations into potentially 

distressing subject matters and/or matters that might have a criminal aspect. While 

support might be available, it could be better highlighted to those tasked with the 

investigative role. Some Investigating Officers who contributed to the Review said that 

it was not clear to them who they could approach for support. Of those who did avail 

themselves of support, there were some Investigating Officers who said that the 

available support was not consistent and that the quality of support was varied.  

5.83 The issues highlighted above are, by and large, the result of inadequate resource being 

allocated to the conduct of internal investigations. The current approach of tasking 

Investigating Officers with the conduct of investigations in addition to their day jobs, 

particularly those who lack skill and experience in investigations, is a false economy 

because it can affect the wellbeing and morale of Investigating Officers. Delays or poorly 

conducted investigations also impact negatively on a whistleblower and those subject 

to investigations. This approach results in an inconsistent output, with investigations 

taking longer than they should, and dissatisfaction with the process.  

5.84 I welcome the recruitment of two dedicated Investigating Officers. This could be 

developed to build on the recommendation from the Inquiry that the organisation should 

consider the implementation of an independent investigation unit to investigate all 

allegations in relation to CEC employees of a sexual nature, domestic abuse, physical 

violence, harassment or stalking. This recommendation in the Inquiry has been 

accepted by CEC and consideration is being given to how it can be implemented.  

5.85 Recommendation 9: A programme of training for Investigating Officers should be 

developed and delivered, preferably by an external body skilled in effective 

investigation processes and techniques. Such training should be a precondition 

to being appointed as an Investigating Officer for the first time. This training could 

Page 122



  

 38 

be delivered as part of CEC’s contract with Safecall. It could also involve some form of 

shadowing of experienced investigators by prospective Investigating Officers and 

should ideally involve some form of scenario-based training.  

5.86 Recommendation 10: CEC should consider the implementation of an independent 

investigation unit of appropriately experienced and properly trained Investigating 

Officers to work with Safecall on the conduct of “major/significant” (external) 

investigations; to support any other whistleblowing investigations where the 3-

month target date for completion is not met; and to conduct other investigations, 

including disciplinary, bullying and harassment and complaints investigations 

which are complex or sensitive. 

5.87 Recommendation 11: CEC should resource the use of note takers for 

investigative interviews. This resource could either be found from the Directorate in 

which the investigation is being conducted or from a central business pool. Alternatively, 

those training as Investigating Officers could participate in interviews and take notes as 

part of their investigations training.  

5.88 For further findings in relation to investigations see the answer to Question 5.  

Delays in conclusion of investigations 

5.89 CEC’s Whistleblowing Policy provides that “ordinarily a whistleblowing disclosure will 

be acted upon and concluded in good time. Good time will normally mean no more than 

three months.” Of the 103 qualifying whistleblowing disclosures made since 1 October 

2017, in only 23 cases was the investigation concluded and signed off by Safecall within 

this timeframe.  

5.90 The length of time taken to conclude investigations, both those conducted by CEC 

internally and those conducted by Safecall, is a significant issue. Of the 103 qualifying 

whistleblowing disclosures made since 1 October 2017, 12 took longer than a year to 

conclude and be signed off by Safecall. The Review Team is also aware of long running 

disciplinary, grievance, and ABH investigations.  

5.91 These delays and long running cases have a detrimental impact on the culture of CEC. 

Some of those who had made complaints/allegations discussed with the Review Team 

the delays associated with investigations and explained that the length of time taken to 

investigate their matter caused them stress and frustration and ultimately led to them 

losing faith in the process. Furthermore, some contributors who had been the subject of 

an investigation explained that the prolonged nature of investigations caused them 

stress and anxiety, and in some cases, this led to them taking time off work on sickness 

Page 123



  

 39 

absence, which ultimately prolonged the investigation further. One Investigating Officer 

told us that “Often staff will go off sick when they are being investigated, this can drag 

things out. Our normal workload suffers because we are trying to prioritise the 

investigation”.  

5.92 The principal reason for the time that investigations are taking, in the view of the Review 

Team, is that those conducting internal investigations are doing them on top of their day 

job and “off the side of their desk”. As noted above, the result of this approach to 

investigations is that timescales are rarely set or adhered to and investigations take 

longer than expected both by those making complaints and those being investigated. 

Although senior CEC personnel recognise that investigations take longer than specified 

in policies and that delays occur for a variety of reasons, the Review Team did not see 

any concerted efforts across the organisation to improve the timescales for 

investigations.  

5.93 Another reason for investigations being delayed or prolonged is that investigations may 

be paused pending the outcome of another process. A recent example of this issue in 

practice is in relation to an ongoing case where two Colleagues who have made 

whistleblowing disclosures are also the subject of ongoing disciplinary investigations. In 

this case the two Colleagues have refused to participate in the disciplinary process until 

the whistleblowing disclosures have been fully investigated. The original whistleblowing 

disclosures were made in late 2018 / early 2019 and are complex, containing numerous 

allegations. The disciplinary investigations commenced around the same time. The two 

Colleagues began sickness absence in 2019 and have remained on full pay to date. 

CEC agreed to investigate the whistleblowing disclosures before continuing with the 

disciplinary investigations. However, for a number of reasons the progress of the 

whistleblowing investigations has been delayed and as of the date of this Report, is still 

ongoing. Accordingly, the disciplinary investigations have not progressed in the 

intervening period. The result of this approach is that two Colleagues have been absent 

from work on sickness absence for a significant period of time on full pay and the 

disciplinary investigations have not progressed during that time. Even had the 

whistleblowing investigations hit the target time of a report no later than three months 

from initial disclosure, that would still have been a significant period over which to 

“pause” a disciplinary investigation with Colleagues on leave of absence and the 

resulting impact on both the provision of CEC services and the wellbeing of Colleagues, 

including the whistleblowers. CEC should reflect on the impact such an approach has 

had before taking a similar one in future and any such “pausing” of processes to allow 

others to continue should only be done in exceptional circumstances, the reasons for 

Page 124



  

 40 

which should be properly documented. For further detail on the impact of multiple 

processes see paragraphs 9.17 to 9.20 below. 

5.94 I make recommendations in the answer to Question 2 to ensure greater adherence to 

the three month target for completing whistleblowing investigations.  

Pattern recognition 

5.95 Several cases highlighted to the Review Team have demonstrated a lack of pattern 

recognition or trend spotting when concerns are investigated by CEC. This issue has 

been particularly evident in some cases involving ABH allegations which the Review 

Team has examined but the issues are also present in relation to some whistleblowing 

cases.  

5.96 By way of example, the Review Team has spoken to four witnesses who raised separate 

concerns regarding alleged bullying and harassment of staff by a teacher at the school 

in which they worked. The concerns were all raised separately under a variety of CEC 

Policies including grievance, ABH, and whistleblowing. The nature of these complaints 

was very similar, but based on our review of the papers, each appears to have been 

investigated in isolation and without consideration of the other complaints that had been 

raised. None of these individual complaints were upheld due to an insufficiency of 

evidence to support the claims made. The ability to take account of other allegations of 

bullying relating to the same person when conducting a bullying investigation might 

enable CEC to investigate more widely and reach conclusions based on a consideration 

of all the evidence.  

5.97 There are three key reasons for patterns of alleged misbehaviour not being identified: 

firstly, although the whistleblowing and HR teams do liaise, there is no formalised liaison 

regime to enable worrying trends to be identified and discussed; secondly, some 

investigations being conducted can focus narrowly on the issue at hand rather than 

seeking to speak to other people in the department to ascertain if they are aware of any 

wider issues; and thirdly, Safecall does not keep any data to help identify patterns in 

certain areas. 

5.98 CEC formed a Strategic Complaints Group in April 2021. The purpose of this group is 

to better coordinate across Directorates on the nature of complaints or the responses 

to specific complaints. A similar approach could be taken to pattern recognition in 

whistleblowing, ABH and grievance reports.  

5.99 Recommendation 12: The Whistleblowing Team and the HR Department should 

have regular liaison meetings, in a similar manner to the Strategic Complaints 

Page 125



  

 41 

Group, with the specific objective of identifying any concerning patterns of 

behaviour in an area.  

5.100 Recommendation 13: In order to assist CEC in identifying concerning patterns of 

behaviour across multiple cases, the independent whistleblowing provider 

should keep a record of service areas and locations of disclosures, together with 

a general description of the nature of the disclosures, so that this can be shared 

with CEC’s Whistleblowing Team. I have in mind that the data held will not be specific 

to an individual and will be more thematic in nature. This data could then be used to 

help inform the scope of investigations and whether a location or department might 

benefit from more management support, including extra training and HR involvement.  

Exit interviews 

5.101 An effective system of conducting exit interviews with Colleagues who are leaving the 

organisation would help to identify poor behaviours and other issues that would benefit 

from being addressed. Exit interviews are an effective means of identifying potential 

issues as people who are leaving the organisation should feel more comfortable raising 

concerns when they know that they no longer have to work with those about whom they 

are raising concerns. I understand that until recently, exit interviews were conducted by 

some line managers and that some people leaving the organisation received a 

questionnaire analogous to an exit interview. I do not consider this to be an appropriate 

means of CEC identifying as many concerns as it could. I understand that work is 

currently ongoing to imbed a more robust exit interview process within CEC.  

5.102 Recommendation 14: All Colleagues leaving CEC should be offered the 

opportunity to take part in an exit interview with a member of the HR Department. 

This exit interview should take place after any reference has been given as this will help 

to ensure the Colleague feels able to speak more openly. 

Performance management 

5.103 There is currently no formal means for Colleagues to provide anonymous feedback on 

the performance of their managers and those above them. I understand that in some 

annual review conversations with managers there are conversations between 

Colleagues and managers about their manager’s performance as part of the “looking 

back” and “looking forward” conversations. The Chief Executive has also taken part in 

a “360” review process where there was upwards feedback. This “360” review process 

started in 2019/20 but has been interrupted by the Covid-19 pandemic. The result of 

there being no formal anonymised feedback process throughout the organisation is that, 

unless a significant issue arises that leads to a grievance or whistleblowing report, poor 

Page 126



  

 42 

behaviours can be hidden and left unchecked. In addition, managers may be unaware 

that they are conducting themselves in a manner that may cause offence or upset to 

Colleagues, particularly behaviours which may fall short of matters that Colleagues feel 

require to be reported under a formal procedure such as ABH or grievance. Anonymous 

feedback reviews can be a useful tool in alerting managers to behaviours that they 

exhibit that might be of concern to more junior Colleagues.   

5.104 Recommendation 15: CEC should consider putting in place a system for 

Colleagues to provide anonymous feedback on the conduct and behaviours of 

managers as part of their annual performance reviews. The feedback process could 

initially be started at Service Director level and above and be cascaded down as 

resources permit. Such a system may be offered as part of the HR software suite used 

by CEC or could be requested in any future tender process. 

Diversity and Inclusion 

5.105 There is a perception amongst some Colleagues that there is prejudicial treatment of 

Colleagues based on protected characteristics, such as race, gender and disability. A 

small number of people to whom the Review Team spoke raised concerns about such 

prejudice and some others raised a concern about a general lack of diversity at the top 

of CEC.  

5.106 Since 1 October 2019, CEC has had in place a Diversity and Inclusion Strategy and 

Action Plan (“Strategy and Action Plan”). The Strategy and Action Plan was developed 

by a focus group which contained representatives from Councillors, Trade Unions and 

CEC’s colleague networks. The focus group continues to oversee the direction of the 

work in relation to diversity and inclusion and provides guidance on ongoing priorities 

for CEC. On 5 October 2021, a progress update on the Strategy and Action Plan was 

presented to CEC’s Policy and Sustainability Committee. A number of key 

achievements were noted, which covered progress and benchmarking; the collation of 

equalities data; equalities pay gap reporting; diversity and inclusion training; and CEC’s 

Violence at Work Policy. 

5.107 The progress update also noted some areas of focus going forward. These included: 

activities to ensure Colleagues are aware of prejudice-incident reporting; developing 

bespoke e-learning; and examining CEC’s recruitment processes from a diversity and 

inclusion perspective.  

5.108 In addition to the Strategy and Action Plan, CEC has been offering training in relation to 

diversity and inclusion. Training modules include “What Equality and Diversity is and 

why it matters” (completed by 4,039 Colleagues), “Unconscious Bias” (completed by 

Page 127



  

 43 

3,033 Colleagues), “Achieving Equality and Diversity” (completed by 2,069 Colleagues), 

“Equality and Diversity” (completed by 2,888 Colleagues), and “Direct and Indirect 

Discrimination” (completed by 2,250 Colleagues). 

5.109 CEC also has a number of colleague networks which aim to support Colleagues in order 

to create a more inclusive working environment and to tackle barriers to progression. 

Colleague networks include Stride (CEC’s LGBT+ colleague network), the Black, Asian 

and Minority Ethnic Network, the Network Engagement for Women’s Support, the Black 

and Minority Ethnic Equality Workers forum, and the SPARC Network, which is a 

network for Colleagues with disabilities and long-term health conditions.  

5.110 I understand that as part of CEC’s Diversity and Inclusion Strategy a “reverse mentoring” 

scheme will commence in early 2022. This scheme will involve CLT and Colleagues 

from CEC’s Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic colleague network participating in 

discussion workshops facilitated by an external organisation. 

5.111 CEC’s HR Department operates a system of Prejudice Based Incident Reporting to 

enable them to build a picture of the extent of prejudice-based incidents in CEC. 

Colleagues are encouraged to report all prejudice-based incidents to their line manager, 

who is then responsible for recording the incident with ASK HR, using a “Report a 

Prejudice-Based Incident Form”, and for investigating the matter. Colleagues are also 

able to report such incidents directly to ASK HR, who will then refer the matter to an 

appropriate manager to investigate. The manager responsible for investigating the 

matter is required to contact the colleague reporting the concern within 10 working days 

of being appointed to investigate. However, the Review did not identify any cross-

logging between whistleblowing reports which raised discrimination issues and the 

Prejudice Based Incident Reporting Log and therefore there is a risk that data relating 

to prejudice-based incidents may be incomplete. 

5.112 Recommendation 16: Whistleblowing disclosures containing any issue of alleged 

discrimination based on a protected characteristic should be logged with the HR 

Department in the same manner as the Prejudice Based Incident Reporting used 

by the HR Department. The cross-logging can be done with the subjects of the 

reporting being anonymised to minimise data privacy concerns.  

  

Page 128



  

 44 

6. QUESTION 2:  DO THE COUNCIL'S WHISTLEBLOWING PROCESSES AND 

PRACTICES, IN PARTICULAR THE COUNCIL’S ‘WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY’ 

(INTRODUCED IN MAY 2014) AND THE APPOINTMENT OF SAFECALL AS A 

WHISTLEBLOWING SERVICE PROVIDER, EMBODY GOOD PRACTICE AND 

PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE VEHICLE FOR RAISING AND RESPONDING TO 

CONCERNS OF WRONGDOING? 

Overarching findings 

6.1 The Whistleblowing Policy (implemented in May 2014 with the current version dated 23 

May 2019) and the appointment of an independent hotline provider embody good 

practice and provide an effective vehicle for raising and responding to concerns of 

wrongdoing.  

6.2 Having a whistleblowing system whereby all calls are logged and recorded is a crucial 

safeguard against matters not being addressed. The simple fact that all calls are logged 

via the independent provider adds robustness to CEC’s whistleblowing processes as, 

once logged, there is a record of the disclosure. I understand that there may be only 

one other Scottish local authority that has an independent whistleblowing hotline similar 

to that operated by CEC. I commend CEC for its approach.  

6.3 The fact that Safecall provides a triaging and investigations service is, as I understand 

it, unique to CEC amongst Scottish local authorities. This approach is an important and 

positive aspect of CEC’s whistleblowing process that helps to give Colleagues 

confidence that there is an independent, confidential and safe means by which 

wrongdoing can be disclosed and investigated.  

6.4 I also consider two positive features of the current process to be that Safecall, the 

independent whistleblowing provider, and other independent investigators, investigate 

the most serious disclosures, and that Safecall provides oversight of all whistleblowing 

investigations.  

6.5 The fact that GRBV receive a quarterly report on whistleblowing disclosures and the 

progress of whistleblowing investigations, provides the opportunity for oversight and 

governance of whistleblowing matters.  

6.6 While overall I consider CEC’s whistleblowing processes and practices embody good 

practice, there are areas in respect of which the whistleblowing processes and practices 

can be made more effective. 

 

Page 129



  

 45 

Whistleblowing – the legal definition 

6.7 “Whistleblowing” is a colloquial description for the making of a “protected disclosure” 

which was introduced into UK law by the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (the 

“1998 Act”). Under the 1998 Act, an employee or a worker who made a protected 

disclosure to his/her employer or to a “prescribed body” had a right not to suffer 

detriment for having done so. Any detrimental treatment gave rise to the right to 

complain to an employment tribunal. The 1998 Act has been incorporated into the 

Employment Rights Act 1996 (as amended by the Enterprise and Regulatory 

Reform Act 2013) (the “1996 Act”). 

6.8 Under the 1996 Act, a disclosure qualifying for protection is a disclosure of information 

which, in the reasonable belief of the worker making the disclosure, is made in the public 

interest and tends to show that:  

6.8.1 a criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely to be 

committed;  

6.8.2 a person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any legal 

obligation to which he is subject (for example, this may include an obligation 

under a contract or a delictual duty to take reasonable care);  

6.8.3 a miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur;  

6.8.4 the health and safety of any individual has been, is being or is likely to be 

endangered;  

6.8.5 the environment has been, is being or is likely to be damaged; or   

6.8.6 information tending to show any matter falling within any one of the preceding 

points has been, is being or is likely to be deliberately concealed. 

6.9 The key limitation is that the person making the disclosure must have a reasonable 

belief that the disclosure is in the “public interest” (my emphasis). The broad intent of 

the legislation is that enhanced statutory protection accorded to whistleblowers is not 

aimed at purely private workplace disputes.  

 

 

 

 

Page 130



  

 46 

Whistleblowing – CEC’s definition   

6.10 CEC’s definition of whistleblowing is wider than the one set out in the 1996 Act. CEC’s 

Whistleblowing Policy defines whistleblowing in accordance with the 1996 Act, but it 

also states that these grounds “does not represent an exhaustive list of areas covered 

by this Policy” and notes that “you should also raise any serious concerns that you may 

have about any aspects of Council business or the conduct of officers or members of 

the Council or other acting on behalf of the Council under this Policy”. Under the 

Whistleblowing Policy, the independent whistleblowing provider is required to consider 

the public interest test in determining whether the concern reported is a whistleblowing 

matter. However, we have seen few cases diverted to be dealt with under other policies 

on the basis that the public interest element was considered not to be present.  

6.11 We have also seen that many contributors had an expansive view of what amounted to 

whistleblowing and the term was generally used to describe any disclosure of 

misconduct, including conduct more appropriately characterised as a grievance or ABH 

matter.  

6.12 There are disclosures which are clearly whistleblowing disclosures because they 

concern issues such as fraud, health and safety breaches, environmental damage or 

other criminal matters. However, whistleblowing is not intended to capture purely 

personnel issues, grievances or even isolated instances of behaviour which may be 

considered tantamount to bullying. There are disclosures which fall into a grey area 

between being a whistleblowing disclosure and a grievance or a personnel issue. As a 

general principle, disclosures which relate purely to personnel matters which do not 

concern a breach of the law are not whistleblowing disclosures. If, however, a disclosure 

concerns a criminal breach or a concealment of wrongdoing or a significant allegation 

of bullying, harassment or abusive conduct, particularly if it is directed at more than one 

colleague, it meets the test for whistleblowing. 

6.13 Between May 2014, when the Whistleblowing Policy was put in place, and 30 June 

2021, there were 137 whistleblowing disclosures, an average of almost 20 a year. Of 

those who responded to the Call for Evidence and spoke to the Review Team, only 15 

of the 158 contributors wished to discuss a case which was reported under the 

Whistleblowing Policy (only 11 of these contributors spoke about a disclosure that they 

had made themselves). The remaining contributors wished to discuss wider cultural 

issues, primarily concerns about ABH and grievances.  

6.14 For further detail on the number of reports made to Safecall see Appendix 6. 

 

Page 131



  

 47 

Confidence in CEC’s whistleblowing process  

6.15 Almost 48% of Colleagues who responded to the Colleague Survey do not have 

confidence that a whistleblowing report to their line manager would be dealt with 

properly, whereas over 70% of those surveyed have confidence that Safecall will 

properly investigate any concerns raised with them by a whistleblowing report. 

 

 

The role of the independent whistleblowing provider / Safecall 

6.16 Safecall is CEC’s current whistleblowing hotline provider. Safecall is a separate 

independent organisation and is not part of CEC. The Whistleblowing Policy states that 

the use of Safecall’s whistleblowing hotline is the main way to make a whistleblowing 

disclosure. 

6.17 As can be seen from the response to Colleague Survey question 32, above, having an 

independent whistleblowing hotline provider gives Colleagues increased confidence 

that any concerns raised with them will be properly investigated, as opposed to 

whistleblowing disclosures made to CEC managers. CEC should continue to engage 

an external whistleblowing hotline provider.  

Page 132



  

 48 

6.18 The fact that Safecall also investigates reports categorised by them as 

“major/significant” (rather than CEC investigating them internally) is also commendable. 

It goes beyond what many other local authorities and public bodies do, and it 

demonstrates a commitment by CEC to identify and address wrongdoing. Safecall and 

the investigators they appoint are by and large former senior police officers with 

experience of handling police complaints. 

6.19 The Whistleblowing Policy provides that when a disclosure is made, the independent 

whistleblowing provider will determine (after application of the public interest test 

referred to above) whether the disclosure is a “minor/operational” disclosure, or a 

“major/significant” disclosure, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer and the 

Whistleblowing Team. In most cases, those categorised as “minor/operational” 

disclosures are referred back into CEC for internal investigation, with the details of the 

investigation conducted and the findings being reported back to Safecall for oversight 

purposes. “Major/significant” disclosures are investigated by Safecall or by Safecall in 

conjunction with a CEC Investigating Officer. While the Policy does not explicitly provide 

for this, “major/significant” and “minor/operational” investigations are also on occasion 

outsourced to external investigators (usually an external firm of solicitors) for 

investigation. 

6.20 There is, however, no formal framework for determining which matters should be 

constituted as “major/significant” matters and what should be considered 

“minor/operational” and therefore investigated within CEC. This therefore leaves this 

decision up to the discretion of the independent whistleblowing provider, with input from 

the Monitoring Officer and the Whistleblowing Team. The rationale for determining 

whether or not a matter is “major/significant” or “minor/operational” is not currently 

formally documented and there is therefore no audit trail as to the categorisation of a 

matter as one or the other. The terminology itself may also downplay the seriousness 

of a reported issue if it is categorised as falling into the “minor/operational” category.  

6.21 Since 2018, 94 of 115 whistleblowing disclosures received have been classified as 

“minor/operational” and eight as “major/significant” (12 were classed as non-qualifying 

and one was still to be categorised at the time of writing this Report). Given the legal 

definition of what amounts to a whistleblowing disclosure, I would anticipate that more 

disclosures would be categorised as “major/significant”. Given that it appears from the 

Colleague Survey and some individual contributors that Colleagues have a higher 

confidence in investigations conducted by Safecall (or other independent providers) 

rather than CEC, it would be helpful to the perception of the whistleblowing process if 

more investigations went down that investigative channel or another route that provides 

a similar level of independence.  

Page 133



  

 49 

6.22 The classification of a matter as “minor/operational” does not remove it entirely from the 

oversight of Safecall, because Safecall still review the investigation and findings of any 

internal whistleblowing investigation. However, Safecall does not conduct the 

investigation and is far less involved in overseeing the investigation than when the 

investigation is classified as “major/significant”. There was a perception amongst a small 

number of people to whom the Review Team spoke that the designation of a matter as 

“minor/operational”, and it therefore being investigated by CEC, is an attempt, in some 

cases, for CEC to cover up matters. The Review Team did not see any evidence to back 

up this perception. However, a clearly documented framework that sets out the 

considerations to be taken into account when classifying a matter as either 

“major/significant” or “minor/operational”, and then a clearly documented assessment 

and decision as to the rationale for the classification would be beneficial in seeking to 

tackle this perception.   

6.23 The Whistleblowing Policy also provides that, upon receiving a disclosure, the 

independent whistleblowing provider may direct the whistleblower to another CEC policy 

where the issue that has been raised might be more appropriately addressed. Safecall 

have informed us that they occasionally direct people to other avenues of recourse 

under other CEC policies. However, they noted that “there is an argument for greater 

use of this avenue in certain cases”.  

6.24 I note that truly “minor/operational” matters might not meet the public interest 

requirement for a disclosure to be treated as a public interest / whistleblowing disclosure 

and it may be more appropriate for the matter to be handled through an early resolution 

process (see Recommendation 32) or under an alternative CEC policy. Cost savings 

could be achieved from more rigorous triaging at the outset and progressing 

“minor/operational” matters under early resolution processes or alternative CEC 

policies. 

6.25 In addition to its role as hotline provider and its triaging and investigatory role, Safecall 

also assists CEC by acting as a “critical friend” in relation to investigations conducted 

by CEC. If a case is categorised by Safecall as “minor/operational”, the process requires 

the investigation to be conducted within CEC. However, Safecall will review the 

investigation report prepared to check the scope of the investigation conducted that the 

findings are evidenced based and reasonable and that the recommendations are 

commensurate with the findings. If Safecall is dissatisfied with any of these aspects, 

then the report is referred back to the Investigating Officer via the Whistleblowing Team 

to ask for additional work to be carried out or clarification to be provided. This is an 

important safeguard but this aspect of Safecall’s role is not well known or understood 

by Colleagues.   

Page 134



  

 50 

6.26 Safecall’s role as a critical friend provides a safeguard in cases where investigations 

conducted in-house by CEC Investigating Officers fall short of the investigative standard 

expected. One example of this relates to an Initial Case Review conducted by CEC in 

2017, which was the result of three whistleblowing disclosures received by Safecall. A 

first version of the Initial Case Review report prepared by a member of CEC’s Quality 

Assurance Team contained eight recommendations. At a meeting to check for any 

factual errors and to discuss and finalise the recommendations, changes to the 

recommendations were requested and made which reduced the number of adverse 

findings and recommendations. After the conclusion of the Initial Case Review, and 

following a review by the Monitoring Officer, the Monitoring Officer asked Safecall to 

conduct a desktop review of both versions of the Initial Case Review Report. As a result 

of this review, Safecall and CEC agreed that the second, and final, version of the Initial 

Case Review report did not fully and sufficiently address the concerns raised. An 

independent investigation by Safecall was then commissioned to re-examine the initial 

whistleblowing disclosures. Following Safecall’s investigation, they concluded that, 

although there were some amendments necessary in relation to the first version of the 

Initial Case Review report, this did not merit the reduction of the eight detailed 

recommendations to one all-encompassing “vanilla” recommendation. 

6.27 The case discussed in Case Study 3 in Appendix 5 also demonstrates how having an 

independent whistleblowing provider supports CEC with responding to concerns of child 

or public safety. The independent oversight offered by Safecall in that case study is to 

be welcomed. However, I note in the case study that there is a need to maintain 

documentation, from the very outset, which evidences the steps taken to interrogate the 

safety concerns raised.  

6.28 I consider the key performance indicators (“KPIs”) that Safecall is contractually obliged 

to report against would benefit from being refined. Under Safecall’s contract with CEC 

Safecall currently has to report on the following KPIs: 

6.28.1 95% of calls to the whistleblowing hotline answered within 4 rings; 

6.28.2 95% of complaints acknowledged within 2 working days of receipt; 

6.28.3 95% achievement on reporting requirements; 

6.28.4 95% achievement on referrals to external agencies requirement; and 

6.28.5 that the assessment of all disclosures as to whether they are 

“major/significant” or “minor/operational” is assessed and a course of action 

agreed within 5 working days of a disclosure.  

Page 135



  

 51 

6.29 I consider these metrics do not address the most important factors that Safecall should 

be measured against to ensure that the process is working effectively. I make 

recommendations below in this regard.  

6.30 Recommendation 17: A documented triaging process should be put in place with 

a framework that sets out the considerations to be taken into account for 

disclosure classification. 

6.31 Recommendation 18: The nomenclature currently used for classifying reports as 

“major/significant” or “minor/operational” should be revised to address a  

perception that “minor/operational” cases are not treated as seriously. Wording 

such as “External” and “Internal” would be preferable. 

6.32 Recommendation 19: Consideration should be given to more cases being 

categorised as “major/significant” (external) and therefore investigated by 

Safecall or another independent provider; or, alternatively, having a third, middle, 

tier of case where Safecall provide greater oversight as the “critical friend” of an 

internal Investigating Officer. 

6.33 Recommendation 20: For more serious whistleblowing matters that are 

investigated internally, Safecall (or another provider) should provide “critical 

friend” monitoring from the outset of an investigation rather than waiting until the 

investigation report is submitted for review. The role of the “critical friend” should 

be set out in the Whistleblowing Policy. 

6.34 Recommendation 21: Safecall, or any other independent whistleblowing provider, 

should report on the following KPIs: 

6.34.1 Number of disclosures categorised as “major/significant” or 

“minor/operational” (or any new naming convention); 

6.34.2 Number of disclosures diverted to be dealt with under another policy;  

6.34.3 Number of disclosures categorised as not qualifying as a whistleblowing 

disclosure; 

6.34.4 Number of disclosures dealt with by way of early resolution (see 

Recommendation 32); and  

6.34.5 Number of disclosures investigated within 3 months / not investigated 

in this time frame with reasons given. 

Page 136



  

 52 

6.35 Recommendation 22: Immediate and ongoing steps taken to address any public 

safety issue should be recorded in a document maintained by the independent 

whistleblowing provider which sets out the steps taken, and to be taken, to check 

on the safety concerns reported by a whistleblower. This should be shared with 

GRBV at the first quarterly meeting following the disclosure.   

The Whistleblowing Team 

6.36 CEC has a centralised Whistleblowing Team that sits within CEC’s Legal and Assurance 

service and reports directly to Nick Smith in his role as CEC’s Monitoring Officer. The 

Whistleblowing Team has three team members, plus Mr Smith. The role of the 

Whistleblowing Team is to manage the operation of CEC’s whistleblowing processes by 

assisting with case management, co-ordinating and supporting Investigating Officers, 

and co-ordinating and supporting the contact with Safecall.  

6.37 The Whistleblowing Team has responsibility for preparing the whistleblowing oversight 

reports provided to GRBV and for following up on any actions or recommendations 

arising out of a whistleblowing investigation report. Please see paragraphs 6.59 to 6.69 

for further discussion on the reporting of whistleblowing cases to GRBV. 

6.38 The Whistleblowing Team is also able to provide advice to Colleagues on the operation 

of the Whistleblowing Policy and the processes involved. However, given the centralised 

role and the size of the Whistleblowing Team, it is not ideally placed to provide 

consistent support on demand to those who are considering blowing the whistle or those 

who have blown the whistle. As I observe at paragraph 6.70 to 6.73 the support provided 

to whistleblowers needs to be improved, this could be achieved by the creation of a new 

“Whistleblowing Champion” role. The Whistleblowing Champion’s role would be to 

provide impartial and confidential advice to those who want more information or support 

in relation to the whistleblowing process. These Champions can, in turn, approach the 

Whistleblowing Team for support and guidance should they need it. These 

Whistleblowing Champions should be given time in addition to other work 

responsibilities to perform this role. By imbedding a Whistleblowing Champion within 

each service area this should increase the awareness of whistleblowing within the 

Council and make support more accessible for those who need it. They can also assist 

in promoting Whistleblowing training and the roll out of communications strategies to 

Colleagues. 

6.39 Recommendation 23: A senior colleague in every service area should be 

appointed as a Whistleblowing Champion.  

 

Page 137



  

 53 

The role of HR 

6.40 CEC’s HR Department is a centralised department, and no HR consultants sit within the 

separate Directorates and departments of CEC. Instead, there are relationship teams 

within the HR Department which align with the various Directorates. The role of these 

relationship leads is to work with the senior management teams within these 

Directorates to help them deliver their service plans.  

6.41 The HR Department operates a function called ASK HR. It acts as the front-line HR 

service of CEC for Colleagues and managers to raise HR related queries and consists 

of a team of around 12 HR professionals. ASK HR operates via a customer relationship 

management system and a phone line. The role of ASK HR is to be the first port of call 

for HR related queries who can then escalate any issues if required. I understand that 

ASK HR currently fields around 3,000 telephone calls every month.  

6.42 The satisfaction levels with ASK HR consistently remained above 80% in the period 

from October 2018 to March 2021. However, some of those to whom the Review Team 

spoke raised concerns about how this approach has removed the ability for Colleagues 

and managers to have a conversation with an individual in the HR Department in order 

to talk through an issue. It was explained to us that one of the reasons ASK HR was put 

in place was to ensure that there was a centralised record of conversations with the HR 

Department and to help drive a more consistent approach to HR queries.  

6.43 The HR Department has a Case Management Team whose role is to support and guide 

managers who are dealing with more complex HR related issues, whether that be 

grievances, disciplinary matters or long-term absences. The Review Team understands 

that the Case Management Team is involved in assisting managers in most of CEC’s 

ongoing disciplinary cases. As at November 2021, the HR Case Management Team 

was managing 163 active cases, with 88 of those being disciplinary cases. The 

attendees at the Investigating Officers’ Review workshop agreed that the HR case 

officers were generally helpful and provided useful support for investigations when 

required. However, one Investigating Officer noted their concern that the HR case officer 

they dealt with was “completely swamped” with around 45 active cases. The 

Investigating Officer suggested that this has led to delays with some cases due to a lack 

of bandwidth.  

6.44 There was a perception among a small number of those to whom the Review Team 

spoke that the HR Department are on the side of management and are there to help 

CEC defend its position as opposed to being an impartial conduit between all 

Colleagues, including those in management roles. We were told that as a centralised 

Page 138



  

 54 

function, the HR Department is not as visible or approachable to most Colleagues as it 

was previously. Given the financial constraints of CEC, a return to locating HR 

Colleagues within Directorates may not be feasible. Instead, CEC should reflect on how 

it can make its HR Department accessible to Colleagues, including how it can provide 

effective and helpful guidance and advice to all Colleagues, not just those in 

management roles.   

Manager reports 

  

6.45 Under the Whistleblowing Policy managers are required to report to Safecall all 

whistleblowing reports they receive. While, based on the answer to Colleague Survey 

question 43, some managers who responded appear to know what to do if an employee 

raises a concern with them, there is little evidence of managers reporting whistleblowing 

disclosures to Safecall. Of the 137 whistleblowing disclosures between the start of the 

current whistleblowing process in May 2014 and June 2021 there have only been 22 

manager referrals to Safecall (see Appendix 6). In the period May 2014 to 31 December 

2018 there were only two manager referrals. While the number of manager referrals in 

recent years has improved, the Review Team anticipates there is under reporting and 

considers that more needs to be done to encourage managers to make reports to 

Safecall.   

6.46 The Review Team has received anecdotal evidence that some managers are unclear 

as to what sort of concerns constitute a whistleblowing disclosure and are therefore not 

passing on concerns to Safecall which maybe should be referred. 

6.47 The lack of management referrals to Safecall is a serious issue because, as seen in the 

answer to Colleague Survey questions 5 and 29, most people would report a serious 

concern to a manager in the first instance.  

Page 139



  

 55 

  

  

6.48 The failure of managers to then report concerns to Safecall could go some way to 

explaining the perception that whistleblowing reports are not actioned when reports are 

made to a manager. 

  

Page 140



  

 56 

  

6.49 The above responses show a lack of confidence by 661 current Colleagues that a 

whistleblowing concern reported to their line manager would be properly investigated.  

6.50 In respect of managers’ perceptions, some managers who spoke to the Review Team 

explained that there was a perception that the Whistleblowing Policy was being 

“weaponised” as a means of “getting at managers” by disgruntled staff. The Review 

Team has seen little evidence of this perception being played out in practice. Indeed, 

the relatively low number of whistleblowing disclosures each year compared to the size 

of the organisation suggests that the Whistleblowing Policy is not in fact being used 

frequently as a tool to attack managers. The Review Team is aware of one case where, 

on the face of it, the whistleblower used the whistleblowing line to make potentially 

malicious claims, but the Review Team does not consider this to be a widespread issue 

on the basis of the evidence of the whistleblowing disclosures which have been made. 

However, it is a concern that this perception exists amongst some managers as they 

are the same individuals tasked with cascading down information to more junior staff 

about the Whistleblowing Policy, which may result in insufficient or inaccurate 

information being provided to those Colleagues. It should be noted that within the 

current Whistleblowing Policy there is a provision for dealing with malicious disclosures. 

In addition, more rigorous triaging by Safecall when a disclosure is received, so that 

non-qualifying disclosures are not treated as amounting to whistleblowing, should help 

to address this perception.  

6.51 Recommendation 24: CEC should take steps to train managers on how to identify 

a whistleblowing disclosure. CEC should emphasise to managers that if they are ever 

in doubt, they should make a report to Safecall or speak to a Whistleblowing Champion 

for their service area. The training should extoll the benefits of whistleblowing and seek 

to dispel any perception that whistleblowing is routinely being misused by those making 

disclosures.  

Page 141



  

 57 

6.52 Recommendation 25: All whistleblowing disclosures made to CEC managers and 

Councillors should be referred to the independent whistleblowing provider, so 

that they are recorded as whistleblowing disclosures and dealt with under the 

whistleblowing process, at least initially. 

Anonymity 

6.53 Those making a report to Safecall can do so anonymously if they wish. Persons 

reporting to Safecall can do so with: (i) full anonymity, where neither Safecall nor CEC 

are aware of the whistleblower’s identity; (ii) partial anonymity, where Safecall are aware 

of the whistleblower’s identity but CEC are not made aware of their identity; and (iii) no 

anonymity, where the whistleblower’s identity is made known to CEC. It is the choice of 

the whistleblower as to whether they wish to have anonymity. 

6.54 The reports to GRBV show that 55% of the disclosures made between 2018 and 2021 

were made anonymously14. This may indicate that those reporting issues are concerned 

about potential detrimental treatment should their identity be known. 

6.55 In cases of full anonymity, the whistleblower is provided with confidential log in details 

to access Safecall’s portal so that they can be contacted about their disclosure. I 

consider this to be an effective mechanism for protecting the anonymity of the 

whistleblower, whilst still enabling them to be contacted and kept up to date if needed. 

I am satisfied that under the current procedure, when a whistleblower makes a 

disclosure on an anonymised basis, the anonymity of the whistleblower is protected 

insofar as it can be. However, the reality is that any investigation process may lead to 

the subjects and witnesses working out who made a disclosure. Steps are taken by 

Safecall or the Investigating Officers to guard against this, but it cannot be completely 

avoided if matters are to be investigated.  

6.56 While the provision of anonymised whistleblowing is helpful in giving people the 

confidence to make a disclosure, the Whistleblowing Policy explains that anonymised 

disclosures are more difficult to progress, but they will be investigated. The reality is that 

anonymised disclosures may be more difficult to prove because the credibility and 

reliability of the person making the disclosure and the weight of their evidence cannot 

be assessed. However, more could be done by CEC to interview anonymous 

whistleblowers and to explain to them that the investigation may be constrained by the 

fact the disclosure is made anonymously, and that therefore the credibility and reliability 

 
14 In 16% of the disclosures, the whistleblower’s name was known to Safecall but not CEC. In 29% of cases the 
whistleblower’s name was disclosed to CEC.    

Page 142



  

 58 

of the evidence provided, and its weight, is more difficult to assess. For more on this 

see paragraphs 9.7 to 9.11.  

Interaction with other policies 

6.57 At present there are misalignments between the Whistleblowing Policy and other CEC 

policies and procedures, such as the Grievance Procedure and the Disciplinary 

Procedure. This issue was identified in a review in 2015 and it was recommended that 

steps be taken to review CEC’s policies to ensure that they aligned with the 

Whistleblowing Policy. Little progress has been made to align the related policies. In 

July 2020, CEC’s Chief Internal Auditor published a report on CEC’s Policy 

Management Framework which assessed the adequacy of the framework and its 

operating effectiveness. One of the agreed management actions in the report was that 

a full review and refresh of the CEC’s Policy Register be carried out to ensure that all of 

the out of date and draft policies in the register were identified. It was also agreed that 

prior to inclusion in the Policy Register, a check should be performed to confirm that 

policies had been prepared using the CEC’s policy template. 

6.58 Many individuals to whom the Review Team spoke, in particular managers, explained 

that they were often unsure which policy was applicable to a particular situation as a 

result of this confused policy landscape. This confusion is not conducive to having in 

place effective arrangements for dealing with reports of wrongdoing. 

Whistleblowing governance arrangements 

6.59 Under the Whistleblowing Policy, Safecall is required to produce quarterly and annual 

summary reports regarding whistleblowing disclosures for GRBV’s consideration. 

These reports are intended to provide a narrative covering the whistleblowing activity 

for the preceding quarter / year.  

6.60 GRBV is also provided with two reports prepared by CEC’s Whistleblowing Team: 

6.60.1 An “A Agenda” Report – which is a publicly available document that provides 

a high-level overview of the operation of CEC’s whistleblowing service, 

detailing the number of whistleblowing disclosures in the period and the cost 

of the service to CEC; and 

6.60.2 A “B Agenda” Report – which is a confidential document that provides a more 

detailed overview of the operation of CEC’s whistleblowing service through 

the inclusion of two status tables which cover: 

Page 143



  

 59 

(a) Table 1 – an overview of all live whistleblowing investigations at that 

time. This table is reviewed and approved by Safecall; and 

(b) Table 2 – a summary of each whistleblowing investigation that is 

being considered for closure. These summaries include a summary 

of the original disclosure, the findings of the investigation, and any 

action being taken.  

6.61 With regard to the overview provided in Table 1 of the B Agenda Report, the descriptions 

provided can be high level and vague. Some of the descriptions would not allow GRBV 

to know what the disclosure related to and whether greater scrutiny of the matter should 

be considered. An example of this issue can be seen in Case Study 3 at Appendix 5. 

CEC’s Whistleblowing Team should consider the level of detail provided to GRBV in 

these reports and ensure that the short descriptions of whistleblowing disclosures 

provide sufficient information to inform GRBV what the disclosure concerns.  

6.62 In contrast to the level of detail provided in these reports, the document packs that the 

GRBV committee members receive in advance of meetings are often hundreds of pages 

in length, with some packs being over 500 pages long covering internal audit reports 

and detailed financial statements. This volume of information, combined with the limited 

detail in the whistleblowing summary reports, risks inhibiting GRBV’s ability to effectively 

scrutinise CEC’s whistleblowing processes and individual reports.  

6.63 An audit by the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors on the effectiveness of GRBV 

dated 2 August 202115 concluded that it fulfilled its core remit but the current design of 

the arrangements for GRBV limit the effectiveness of the scrutiny it undertakes. The 

audit observed that CEC’s governance’s structures will be revised post the May 2022 

elections and recommended that consideration should be given as to whether CEC 

would benefit from an audit and risk committee. It also observed that GRBV had a busy 

agenda, that the papers provided to it should be more concise, and that GRBV may 

wish to revisit the balance of focus on strategic and operational matters and its scrutiny 

activities focused on the outcomes/impact of CEC policies. As noted above, the GRBV 

meeting packs are generally hundreds of pages in length. The information provided can 

be voluminous and the time to consider the papers in advance of Committee meetings 

can be short. The Review Team has watched a number of the recordings of GRBV 

committee meetings, and we see that committee members work hard to review the 

papers and to provide effective oversight. However, the Review Team understand that 

due to the length of the papers needing to be reviewed, GRBV requested that shortened 

 
15 Charted Institute of Internal Auditors for the City of Edinburgh Council, Review of the Effectiveness of Scrutiny of 
Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee – 2 August 2021 

Page 144



  

 60 

summaries of whistleblowing reports be provided. I am concerned that scrutiny of 

whistleblowing reports and the progress of investigations risks being somewhat lost 

amongst the competing priorities of GRBV. I am informed that the Monitoring Officer 

has recently sought to address this concern by providing time for additional confidential 

questions regarding whistleblowing reports to be raised as part of GRBV agenda 

planning meetings which take place in advance of committee meetings. 

6.64 Under the Whistleblowing Policy, the Monitoring Officer and / or the Executive Director 

of the relevant service area and / or the Chief Executive and / or Council Leader initially 

receive details of disclosures in advance of them being presented to GRBV. In addition, 

they also receive all investigation reports from Safecall in advance of these being 

presented to GRBV. These investigation reports are provided for information and 

comment only. However, the Review Team is aware of a small number of instances 

where the detail of a whistleblowing disclosure has not been formally reported to GRBV 

in accordance with the quarterly reporting schedule, due to competing policy 

considerations and other factors. In these cases, the existence of the disclosures has 

been made known to the Group Leaders and the GRBV convener but, in my view, the 

formal quarterly reporting to GRBV should take place without exception.   

6.65 As noted in relation to Case Study 3 in Appendix 5 there can be significant delays 

between the original whistleblowing disclosure being received by Safecall and the case 

first being notified to GRBV and also between the investigation concluding and the final 

report to GRBV. Based on a review of disclosures reported to GRBV between January 

2018 and September 2021 there was a gap of six or more months between the 

disclosure being received and the first report being made to Safecall in 65 cases out of 

115 cases. GRBV meets quarterly, therefore if a meeting is missed it will be another 

three months before the disclosure can be reported on again to GRBV. Ensuring 

disclosures and the outcomes of investigations are reported to GRBV timeously is an 

important aspect of good governance.  

6.66 Recommendation 26: CEC’s Whistleblowing Team should report all 

whistleblowing disclosures and reports to GRBV in accordance with the quarterly 

reporting cycle, without any exceptions.  

6.67 Recommendation 27: As part of any review of CEC’s committee structure, 

consideration should be given to setting up a sub-committee to scrutinise 

whistleblowing disclosures and reports. This sub-committee’s remit would be to 

oversee whether whistleblowing investigations are being fully reported and progressed 

in a timely manner and that any recommended actions following investigation are 

implemented. Separate, non-voting, experts could sit on the sub-committee. I 

Page 145



  

 61 

recommend that the sub-committee has the possibility of meeting on an ad hoc basis 

so that the in-built delays of the current system do not prevent whistleblowing reports 

from being reported to the sub-committee for months, in the way that currently occurs 

with reports to GRBV. I consider that these meetings should be in private to ensure 

effective scrutiny of confidential materials.  

6.68 I observe that the whistleblowing policy was the subject of a legal review in 2015 which 

led to some improvements. This Review has been very thorough and my 

recommendations, if implemented, should serve to greatly improve CEC’s 

whistleblowing processes and culture. To help sustain these improvements, it will be 

important that the actions taken are audited and, more generally, the effectiveness of 

the whistleblowing process should be periodically reviewed (albeit not the same extent 

as this Review). 

6.69 Recommendation 28: The whistleblowing process should be periodically audited 

by internal audit and, perhaps once every five years, reviewed by an external 

provider. 

Support for whistleblowers and those about whom disclosures are made 

6.70 Apart from allowing for anonymous reporting and confirming that anyone who blows the 

whistle will be protected from any form of victimisation as a result of making a disclosure, 

the Whistleblowing Policy does not set out how the whistleblower, or anyone who is the 

subject of a whistleblowing disclosure, will be supported. In practice, we have seen a 

mixed picture in terms of the support provided to whistleblowers and those subject to 

whistleblowing investigations, with support generally being ad hoc and dependent on 

the department in which the whistleblower and / or the subject are based.  

  

6.71 The majority of those responding to the Colleague Survey indicated that either those 

who raise concerns are not properly supported or could not say whether they were 

supported. This lack of formal support, or a perception that there is a lack of formal 

Page 146



  

 62 

support, is a barrier to the reporting of concerns. If Colleagues feel that they will not be 

supported following the making of a disclosure, or if they have seen other Colleagues 

who have not been so supported, then they will be less likely to make a whistleblowing 

disclosure.  

  

6.72 As can be seen from the responses to question 37 of the Colleague Survey, Colleagues 

expect managers to be able to provide support that is needed. As noted above, 

managers are the main port of call for those who wish to raise concerns. They are 

therefore ideally positioned to provide any support whistleblowers might require or to 

signpost relevant support. Managers should be effectively trained on how to treat those 

reporting concerns with empathy and how to create a work environment that 

encourages the raising of concerns.   

6.73 Recommendation 29: CEC should take steps to ensure that anyone who receives 

a whistleblowing disclosure asks the person raising the matter what support they 

may need and how this can be provided. This support, where relevant, should 

also be offered to those who are the subject of a whistleblowing investigation. 

The support may include: 

6.73.1 access to a confidential contact who can provide information and advice on 

the procedure for raising concerns and support during the process, for 

example the proposed Whistleblowing Champions; 

6.73.2 counselling or psychological support; 

6.73.3 occupational health support; and 

Page 147



  

 63 

6.73.4 considering, with the person who has raised a concern, a range of actions to 

reduce any consequences they are facing as a result of raising the concern, 

including making adjustments at work. 

Keeping the whistleblower informed and managing expectations 

6.74 The Whistleblowing Policy does not set out how the whistleblower will be kept informed 

as to the progress of the investigation. A failure to be kept informed is a theme that has 

been highlighted by those who contributed to the Review, with eight of the eleven 

contributors who considered that they had made a whistleblowing disclosure expressing 

their disappointment that they were not informed of the progress of what they perceived 

to be “their case”. The answer to Colleague Survey question number 26 also 

demonstrates that this is an issue (although the survey answers are likely to relate to 

investigations more broadly, see my comments at paragraph 7.4). 

  

6.75 It is considered best practice to keep whistleblowers informed as to the progress of the 

case. In the European Union, there is a legal obligation on organisations to inform 

whistleblowers within a reasonable timeframe about the action envisaged or taken as 

follow-up to their whistleblowing report and the grounds for the choice of that follow-

up16. In all cases, the whistleblower should be informed of the investigation’s progress 

and outcome with a reasonable timeframe for informing a reporting person being three 

months. If after three months the appropriate follow-up is still being determined, the 

whistleblower should be informed about this and about any further feedback to expect. 

6.76 Furthermore, the Whistleblowing Commission Code of Practice17 states that as part of 

whistleblowing arrangements, there should be written procedures covering the raising 

and handling of concerns. The written procedures should require that a worker raising 

a concern (i) be given an estimate of how long the investigation will take; and (ii) be told, 

 
16 EU Whistleblowing Directive 2019/1937 – preamble, paras 57 and 58 
17 The Whistleblowing Commission – The Code of Practice 

Page 148



  

 64 

where appropriate (subject to the Data Protection Act 2018, ongoing investigations or 

the rights of third parties), the outcome of the investigation.  

6.77 I understand from speaking with the Whistleblowing Team that, since 2019, there has 

been an increased focus on the provision of feedback to whistleblowers at the 

conclusion of investigations. However, they noted that due to capacity issues (the 

Whistleblowing Team being relatively small and the members of the Whistleblowing 

Team having other responsibilities on top of whistleblowing) and the fact that the 

process of providing feedback is not systemised, the provision of feedback is not as 

regular as it should be. To improve the whistleblowing process and to improve feedback 

to both whistleblower and the investigation subjects, the Whistleblowing Team has 

recently moved to a case officer model, whereby when a disclosure comes in it is 

allocated to a case officer who is allocated to follow the disclosure through the whole 

process.   

6.78 In addition to keeping the whistleblower informed as to the progress of the case, 

managing the whistleblower’s expectations at the outset of the case is equally important. 

The UK Government advises that it is good practice for managers, when dealing with 

disclosures, to manage the expectations of the whistleblower in terms of what action 

and/or feedback they can expect as well as timescales for providing updates.18 While I 

understand from Safecall that some effort is made to manage the expectations of a 

whistleblower and to let them know what to expect in terms of feedback and timescales 

at the outset of a matter, there is no formal approach to managing the expectations of 

whistleblowers.  

6.79 Some of those to whom the Review Team spoke were unaware that “minor/operational” 

investigations are referred back into CEC for investigation. As part of the 

communications and training for all Colleagues in relation to the Whistleblowing Policy 

and again during the managing expectations process for whistleblowers, this should be 

included so that they are aware of the process by which their concerns will be 

investigated.  

6.80 An issue that is exemplified by Case Study 2 (see Appendix 4), is that a whistleblower 

may have a recollection of being told at the start or during a whistleblowing investigation 

that they would be given more information than they are actually given at the end of the 

investigation. This may arise from informal conversations between the whistleblower 

and the Investigating Officer or other CEC personnel, or as a result of differing 

 
18 UK Government – Whistleblowing: Guidance for Employers and Code of Practice (BEIS) 

Page 149



  

 65 

recollections of discussions where a contemporaneous note of the discussion with the 

whistleblower is not kept.  

6.81 Recommendation 30: CEC, in conjunction with Safecall, should develop an 

agreed protocol for setting a whistleblower’s expectations at the point of 

commencing an investigation. A Draft Expectation Management Protocol for 

managing expectations of whistleblowers is at Appendix 7. 

6.82 Recommendation 31: Accurate and contemporaneous minutes should be taken 

by CEC at all meetings and during all conversations with whistleblowers and 

other interested parties.  

Model Early Resolution Process 

 

6.83 As I note in the answer to Question 1, the lack of facilitated early resolution of 

whistleblowing reports and the time taken to conclude whistleblowing investigations is 

a recognised issue which serves to undermine the whistleblowing culture of CEC.  

6.84 The Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (Healthcare Whistleblowing) Order 

2020 (the “2020 Order”) amended the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman Act 

2002 (the “2002 Act”) to create an obligation on the SPSO to publish a model complaint 

handling procedure for the handling of whistleblowing reports by health service 

organisations19. Prescribed health service bodies are legally required to have in place 

a whistleblowing complaints procedure that complies with the model procedure. The 

model procedure encourages early resolution by way of internal action to resolve a 

concern within five working days. An investigation only takes place if the whistleblower 

is not satisfied with the proposed resolution or action is not taken within five working 

days. An investigation is commenced with the aim of completing the investigation and 

responding to the whistleblower with a proposed internal resolution within 20 working 

days. If the whistleblower remains dissatisfied, they can bring their concerns to the 

SPSO for an independent external review.  

6.85 Recommendation 32: CEC should instigate an early resolution process and 

stricter timelines for the conduct of whistleblowing investigations. A Draft Model 

Early Resolution Process is set out in Appendix 8. This approach may also be 

suitable for other CEC policies and processes. 

 
19 Section 16B, 2002 Act 

Page 150



  

 66 

6.86 Recommendation 33: CEC should include the Draft Whistleblowing Principles set 

out in Appendix 9 in the Whistleblowing Policy and apply them to all 

whistleblowing matters. 

Monitoring Officer Reports 

6.87 Section 5(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 Act (the “1989 Act”) 

requires CEC to designate one of its officers to carry out the duties of the Monitoring 

Officer. In Scotland, the Monitoring Officer cannot be the chief financial officer of the 

local authority.  

6.88 The primary role of CEC’s Monitoring Officer is to report to CEC on any action, proposed 

action or failure to take action which they believe has already or might in the future give 

rise to either: 

6.88.1 a contravention of legislation, law or statutory code of practice; 

6.88.2 maladministration or injustice as that is defined in the legislation dealing with 

the role of the SPSO. 

6.89 A Monitoring Officer's report is concerned with contravention of the law or 

maladministration only in relation to the actions or omissions of CEC, committees or 

sub-committees, or officers or employees of CEC.   

6.90 Before preparing a Monitoring Officer report, the Monitoring Officer has a duty to consult, 

as far as is practicable, with CEC's head of paid service and chief finance officer. The 

full Council must consider the Monitoring Officer's report within 21 days of copies of the 

report being sent to all Councillors of CEC. The consideration of this report cannot be 

delegated to any committee or sub-committee. In addition, if the Monitoring Officer's 

report expresses serious concern about a proposed action, that action is, by law, 

effectively suspended until CEC has considered the Monitoring Officer's report.  

6.91 The role of the Monitoring Officer is independent and not subject to direction by CEC. 

CEC cannot instruct the Monitoring Officer either to prepare a report in respect of a 

particular matter, or not to prepare a report. The duties on the Monitoring Officer are to 

be performed by the Monitoring Officer personally or, where they are unable to act owing 

to absence or illness, the Monitoring Officer role may be carried out by a nominated 

deputy.  

6.92 A plain reading of section 5 of the 1989 Act requires a Monitoring Officer to prepare a 

report in all instances where CEC or a CEC employee breaks the law. Customs and 

practice amongst Monitoring Officers, however, is to be more selective in the matters 

Page 151



  

 67 

which are the subject of a Monitoring Officer report because otherwise the Monitoring 

Officer role would require considerably more resource. My understanding is that, in 

practice, Monitoring Officer reports across councils are relatively rare and instead 

councils set up systems, such as whistleblowing processes and other specialist teams, 

for dealing with more routine alleged breaches.  

6.93 The advantage of the Monitoring Officer producing a report in terms of a culture of 

openness and transparency is that it must, by law, be reported to the full Council. 

Whereas, in CEC’s current processes, whistleblowing reports are, in contrast, shared 

with GRBV and only on request.  

6.94 At CEC, Nick Smith, Service Director for Legal and Assurance, fulfils the role of 

Monitoring Officer. Having a solicitor, advocate, barrister, or legal executive represents 

good practice and the Law Society of England & Wales have called for legislative 

change to require that the Monitoring Officer is a member of the legal profession.  

6.95 Mr Smith informed us that since he became Monitoring Officer in February 2016, he has 

produced five monitoring reports concluding that maladministration had occurred. Mr 

Smith keeps a log of matters reviewed by him in his capacity as Monitoring Officer 

whether or not those reviews lead to a Monitoring Officer’s report.  

6.96 I understand that very few local authorities in Scotland have received Monitoring Officer 

reports. Custom and practice appears to be that Monitoring Officer’s reports are used 

sparingly across Scotland’s local authorities. While that may be the case, I am not aware 

of any criteria which explain when a specific report by a Monitoring Officer should also 

be produced and it would be helpful if CEC’s Monitoring Officer worked with other 

Monitoring Officers across Scotland to put such criteria in place.  

  

Page 152



  

 68 

7. QUESTION 3: DO THE COUNCIL'S ELECTED MEMBERS, OFFICERS, 

COLLEAGUES AND FORMER COLLEAGUES FEEL EMPOWERED TO RAISE 

CONCERNS OF WRONGDOING? ARE THERE ANY BARRIERS OR OTHER 

REASONS, ACTUAL OR PERCEIVED, WHICH INHIBIT THE REPORTING OF 

WRONGDOING WITHIN THE COUNCIL? 

Overarching findings 

7.1 Most of those who responded to the Colleague Survey indicated that they would more 

likely than not make a whistleblowing disclosure if the need arose. While this is a positive 

finding, there are Colleagues who would not, or are unlikely to make a whistleblowing 

disclosure. The reasons for this are a mixture of perceptions on how a whistleblowing 

disclosure would be handled and the impact of the lived experiences of others. 

  

7.2 In addition to the points already noted elsewhere in this Report, the following key 

barriers that inhibit the reporting of wrongdoing within CEC have been identified. 

Poor experiences of whistleblowing in practice 

7.3 I recognise that a dissatisfied whistleblower may have been more likely to respond to 

the Colleague Survey than a person who was satisfied with how the process worked but 

the Colleague Survey data is the data available to the Review. As can be seen from the 

response to Colleague Survey question 24, of those who considered that they had made 

a whistleblowing disclosure, a majority were not satisfied with how it was dealt with. 

7.4 In addition to this, eight of the eleven people who spoke with the Review Team about 

their whistleblowing disclosure expressed their disappointment at how their disclosure 

was dealt with. Again, I need to recognise that a dissatisfied person may have been 

more likely to contact the Review Team to share their experiences than someone who 

was satisfied with the process and/or the outcome. To put these figures in context, it 

should be noted that there have been a total of 137 whistleblowing disclosures since 

Page 153



  

 69 

May 2014 when the current process was put in place. Based on the responses to the 

Colleague Survey it would seem that 67% of those who had made whistleblowing 

disclosures via Safecall responded to the Colleague Survey. I would be surprised if this 

was the case. Instead, the reasons for such a high number of people responding to the 

Colleague Survey stating that they had made a whistleblowing disclosure could include: 

misunderstanding on the part of the complainer of the type of disclosure which they had 

made; and/or misunderstanding by line managers to whom concerns were reported 

about what constitutes whistleblowing with a resultant failure of the manager to report 

the matter to Safecall. 

  

7.5 The negative experiences of others are bound to have an impact on the decision of 

people who might be considering making a whistleblowing disclosure. Indeed, five 

people to whom the Review Team spoke said that they had been dissuaded by 

Colleagues from making a whistleblowing disclosure due to a colleague’s negative 

experiences of the process. Although five people being dissuaded from making a 

disclosure is a small number, given the overall colleague population of CEC, it is five 

people too many.  

7.6 The Draft Model Early Resolution Process set out at Appendix 8, which includes stricter 

adherence to timescales, should serve to increase the number of whistleblowers who 

are satisfied with how their report is dealt with. Also, the inclusion of case studies and 

examples of positive outcomes from whistleblowing investigations in training delivered 

to Colleagues will help drive confidence in the whistleblowing processes. 

Anonymity of whistleblowers 

7.7 As can be seen from the response to Colleague Survey question 17, most Colleagues 

who responded to the Colleague Survey are aware that they can make a whistleblowing 

report anonymously but there are Colleagues who are unaware that they can do so.  

Page 154



  

 70 

  

7.8 In addition, the answer to the Colleague Survey question 18 shows that 807 Colleagues 

who responded to the Colleague Survey did not believe that their anonymity would be 

protected in the event of them making a disclosure. If these Colleagues think that they 

are unable to make a report anonymously, then it can be inferred that they are less likely 

to make a disclosure. Inevitably, other personnel will speculate or even know who the 

whistleblower is, especially where there is a small team where an incident occurred or 

with an employee who made a complaint to a manager initially, but it is important for me 

to note that from the documents reviewed by the Review Team and discussions we 

have had, I am confident that Safecall fully protect anonymity. I have also seen that 

CEC’s Whistleblowing Team are careful to protect the anonymity of whistleblowers. In 

any communications strategy and training, CEC should make clear that whistleblowing 

reports can be made anonymously, as well as partly anonymously (from CEC). 

  

Fear of retribution or prejudicial treatment 

7.9 The answer to Colleague Survey question 20 shows that 550 people who responded  to 

the Colleague Survey were unaware that those who make a whistleblowing disclosure 

are protected from detrimental treatment, with around two thirds of those who 

responded to the Colleague Survey stating that they believed that they would suffer 

negative consequences in the event of making a disclosure. If Colleagues think that 

Page 155



  

 71 

they are likely to suffer as a result of making a whistleblowing disclosure, then they are 

less likely to make a disclosure. In any communications strategy and training CEC 

should make clear that those who make a whistleblowing disclosure will be protected 

from detrimental treatment.  

  

  

7.10 Of those who responded to the Colleague Survey (i) who considered that they had made 

a whistleblowing disclosure; and (ii) were dissatisfied with the outcome, 32 were 

dissatisfied because they believed that they suffered negative consequences as a result 

of having made a whistleblowing disclosure.  

  

Page 156



  

 72 

7.11 The Review Team has been pointed to situations where Colleagues who have raised 

concerns more generally have suffered negative consequences as a result. For 

example, the Review Team is aware of a case where a Colleague raised concerns about 

the conduct of another Colleague. Following the raising of this concern the complainer 

was called a “grass” by other Colleagues and the behaviour of the person complained 

about worsened. The complainer told the Review Team that they were offered no 

support by managers and that their colleague’s treatment of them went unchallenged. 

7.12 A particular challenge is where whistleblowing disclosures are not upheld for evidential 

reasons. The whistleblower is likely to feel aggrieved. They may feel they have not been 

listened to or consider they have not been believed when the reality is, they may have 

simply misunderstood the factual position or there may have been insufficient 

supporting evidence to substantiate the allegation. Often whistleblowers will have to 

continue to work with the person complained about. We heard about a small number of 

cases where whistleblowers claimed:  

7.12.1 they were told to physically relocate where they sat to avoid coming into 

contact with a person complained about;  

7.12.2 they had to continue to work with the person complained of, including in 

circumstances where bullying and harassment was alleged, without 

adjustments being made;   

7.12.3 the managers complained about later refused to interact with them and sought 

to have other Colleagues not speak to them; or  

7.12.4 they were not allocated particular types of work after having complained about 

their line manager.  

7.13 There have also been examples of Colleagues who say they were on short term, 

temporary or rolling contracts who informed the Review Team that following their raising 

of concerns, their contracts were not renewed. While, in line with our Terms of 

Reference, we have not conducted a merits-based review of these cases and cannot 

therefore make findings as to whether detrimental treatment has, in fact, been suffered 

by whistleblowers, they do represent a number of situations in which whistleblowers 

perceive that they have been subject to detrimental treatment as a result of their 

protected disclosures. Further, if such perceptions were to be discussed with other 

Colleagues it would be a disincentive to the making of such disclosures by others.  

7.14 A worker has the right not to be subject to any detriment by any act, or any deliberate 

failure to act, by their employer or any other worker or agent of his employer on the 

Page 157



  

 73 

ground that the worker has made a protected disclosure. The concept of detriment is 

broad and must be judged from the viewpoint of the worker. While there must be a 

material link (in the sense of being more than a trivial influence) between the 

protected disclosure and the act, or failure to act, which causes the detriment, a 

detriment exists if a reasonable worker would, or might, take the view that the treatment 

is in all the circumstances to their detriment. Detrimental treatment, includes: 

7.14.1 suspensions, lay-off, dismissal or equivalent measures; 

7.14.2 demotion or withholding promotion; 

7.14.3 transfer of duties, change of location of place of work, reduction in wages, 

change in working hours; 

7.14.4 withholding of training; 

7.14.5 a negative performance assessment or employment reference; 

7.14.6 imposition or administering of any disciplinary measure or reprimand; 

7.14.7 coercion, intimidation, harassment or ostracism; 

7.14.8 discrimination, disadvantageous or unfair treatment; 

7.14.9 failure to convert a temporary employment contract into a permanent one, 

where the worker had legitimate expectations that he or she would be offered 

permanent employment; 

7.14.10 failure to renew, or early termination of, a temporary employment contract; 

and  

7.14.11 harm, including to the person's reputation particularly on social media, or 

financial loss, including loss of income; 

7.15 It is extremely important that managers are trained in what amounts to detrimental 

treatment and that the Whistleblowing Team, HR Department and the proposed 

Whistleblowing Champions are vigilant in their efforts to guard against a whistleblower, 

whether or not a disclosure is upheld, being the subject of detrimental treatment.  

7.16 Recommendation 34: Any whistleblowing training and communications strategy 

rolled out by CEC should make it clear that whistleblowing disclosures can be 

made anonymously (with the two levels of anonymity being explained) and that 

those who make disclosures will be protected from detrimental treatment. 

Page 158



  

 74 

Training delivered to managers should explain what amounts to detrimental 

treatment. 

7.17 Recommendation 35: CEC Whistleblowing Team and the HR Department should 

check-in with whistleblowers for a period of 12 months after a whistleblowing 

disclosure, to check that no detriment is being suffered; and that if allegations of 

detriment are made by the whistleblower the alleged detriment should be 

reviewed and addressed. 

Independence of investigators 

7.18 Seventeen people who responded to the Call for Evidence raised concerns in relation 

to the perceived lack of independence of some Investigating Officers who had been 

appointed to conduct internal investigations across all policies, including whistleblowing, 

disciplinary, grievance and ABH, within CEC. This issue was also discussed in a number 

of workshops, in particular the workshop with Investigating Officers where one 

Investigating Officer explained that “one of the weaknesses is that a directorate has to 

investigate its own Directorate. We are often asked to investigate previous colleagues. 

It’s quite a challenge to be part of that investigation whilst maintaining relationships. 

Investigating across Directorates would be good”. Another Investigating Officer 

explained that they had to recuse themselves from conducting an investigation because 

they considered they had too close a working relationship with the subject of the 

investigation. That Investigating Officer was of the view that they would have been 

allowed to continue with the investigation had they not said anything. This suggests that 

a rigorous conflict checking process is not always undertaken by those appointing 

Investigating Officers.   

7.19 The Review Team has seen examples of “minor/operational” whistleblowing cases 

being investigated by someone, who on the face of it, was perhaps too close to the 

subject matter at hand. For example, one whistleblowing case relating to Waste and 

Fleet Services was investigated, albeit with Safecall’s oversight, by an Operational 

Support Officer from Waste and Fleet Services. The investigation was conducted to a 

reasonable standard and I do not question the conclusions reached but, in my view, 

there was a risk of the Investigating Officer being perceived to be too close to the 

operating team. The Whistleblowing Team and the Monitoring Officer identified this risk 

at the time and queried the appointment with the relevant Directorate. When asked 

about this case, and others, Safecall stated that “there is always a balance to be struck 

between the severity of the matters raised, having knowledge of the issue at hand, the 

requirement for independence and the effectiveness of an investigation”. While I agree 

entirely with this statement, it is important for CEC to reflect on the effect that a 

Page 159



  

 75 

perception of a lack of independence has on the integrity of any investigation conducted 

and the fact that there could an actual conflict in some cases. 

7.20 The investigation discussed in Case Study 1 at Appendix 3 which was conducted into 

the allegation by a service user about the Chief Executive is another example of the 

perception a complainer may have in relation to a lack of independence in the 

appointment of an Investigating Officer. 

7.21 The perceived lack of independence of Investigating Officers is a significant issue and 

brings into question the integrity of any investigation and the decisions taken as a result 

of it. It also undermines the trust of Colleagues in the investigatory system within CEC 

and is likely to dissuade Colleagues from raising concerns. This issue also feeds into 

the general perception, mentioned elsewhere, that some Colleagues consider that 

management are out to protect one another. 

7.22 A related issue that has been identified during the course of the Review, and was also 

identified in the Inquiry, is that there are cases where those in relationships with one 

another have direct, or indirect, line management responsibility for their partner. There 

is a general perception that those who are line managed by their partner receive a level 

of protection and that it would be pointless to raise a concern about those people, as it 

would not be taken seriously by management. As noted in the Inquiry Report, the current 

HR practices relating to relationships between Colleagues are inadequate and do not 

reflect the close working and personal relationships between many Colleagues, which 

may be undisclosed.  

7.23 Recommendation 36: Where an Investigating Officer is from the same service 

area as the subject of the disclosure, Safecall (or another independent provider) 

should perform a “critical friend” role to oversee the whistleblowing investigation 

more closely. 

7.24 Recommendation 37: Both the Nominated Officer and Investigating Officer 

should be required to complete a written declaration of independence at the 

outset of any investigation. Nominated Officers should be required to carefully 

consider any actual or perceived conflicts of interest with regard to themselves or the 

Investigating Officer before an investigation commences. Likewise, Investigating 

Officers should be required to carefully consider any actual or perceived conflicts of 

interest. 

7.25 Recommendation 38: CEC should establish a policy which stipulates that 

relationships between Colleagues must be disclosed if one person has line 

management responsibility for the other.  

Page 160



  

 76 

Front-line colleagues 

7.26 There are 5,573 Colleagues who do not have their own CEC email address or regular 

personal access to CEC’s electronic systems, including the Orb. These Colleagues 

typically work in front line services such as waste and cleansing, libraries, care at home, 

facilities, learning support and transport services.  

7.27 These Colleagues have no access, or at least no regular personal access, to the Orb 

and do not receive emails distributed to the rest of CEC. This therefore limits the 

accessibility of important information. Many of these Colleagues to whom the Review 

Team spoke explained that they did not feel part of the wider CEC organisation. As a 

group, they have often been described as “hard to reach” Colleagues, which does not 

reflect particularly well on CEC, given that percentage-wise the group makes up more 

than a quarter of CEC’s workforce. 

7.28 Most of CEC’s resources, including information on whistleblowing and other policies, 

are contained on the Orb. These frontline Colleagues are therefore excluded from or 

severely restricted in accessing this information and can become isolated as a result. 

The Review Team took steps to try and engage with this group for the purpose of the 

Review. Those who spoke to the Review gave the following examples of the effect of 

this lack of access to information:  

7.28.1 an inability to access HR support;  

7.28.2 a lack of awareness of where to go to with concerns;  

7.28.3 an inability to access other forms of support such as PAM assist20;  

7.28.4 being beholden to a manager about whom a complaint may have been made 

in order to get information; and  

7.28.5 being unable to access training available to office-based staff. 

7.29 Colleagues to whom we spoke also noted that this lack of access to information and 

communications can lead to a disconnect between these Colleagues and higher 

management. Often these Colleagues only have contact with their immediate line 

manager and have no contact with senior management.  

7.30 The main medium for the dissemination of information to these frontline Colleagues is 

through “toolbox talks” from managers and from updates through Trade Unions, for 

 
20 An employee assistance programme offered by CEC which is focussed on employee wellbeing 

Page 161



  

 77 

those who are members. This therefore relies on the effectiveness of these managers 

or Trade Union representatives in spreading information. Given the vast amount of 

information available on the Orb and regularly communicated via CEC’s email 

communications it is unsurprising that these front-line Colleagues miss out on valuable 

information about CEC. The information they receive may also be biased as a result of 

their line manager’s perceptions, such as the negative perception of some managers 

about the whistleblowing process and the way in which it might be used by employees. 

7.31 As noted above, one of the results of this lack of access to information is that there is a 

risk of these Colleagues being unaware of the options available to them in relation to 

the reporting of concerns. Indeed, a number of these front-line Colleagues expressed 

their concern that if they did not trust their manager to listen to and address their 

concerns, then they had nowhere else to turn. This sentiment is evidenced by the fact 

that at a workshop with a group of these Colleagues none of the attendees had heard 

of Safecall and only one attendee was aware of an independent whistleblowing line.  

7.32 The overwhelming sentiment from these Colleagues was that they feel that because 

they work at locations away from the main offices they are often forgotten about. There 

is a perception amongst these colleague that office-based Colleagues are provided with 

the support and tools they require to perform their jobs at the expense of more remote 

/ “blue collar” workers. 

7.33 Like an increasing number of organisations there is a greater emphasis being placed by 

CEC on e-learning. CEC is in the process of rolling out a new whistleblowing e-learning 

training course. As this course is being delivered via e-learning 5,573 front-line 

Colleagues will not receive this training. Based on the Review Team’s discussions with 

these Colleagues it appears that face-to-face training on certain issues is given to 

Colleagues but that the volume and quality of training varies greatly depending on where 

Colleagues are based, what role they perform and sometimes shift patterns. 

7.34 CEC is aware of the isolation of these front-line Colleagues and has taken steps to try 

and address some of the main issues. CEC has put all its policies (including the 

Whistleblowing Policy) on the external website so that Colleagues can access them on 

their own devices. However, some supporting documents referred to within the policies 

are not made available in this way. Front-line Colleagues have also been invited to sign 

up for communications with their personal email addresses so that they can receive 

internal communications and e-payslips, however I understand that uptake of this has 

been relatively low with only 1,991 Colleagues signing up for this service.    

Page 162



  

 78 

7.35 HR Colleagues who spoke with the Review explained that, while this is acknowledged 

as an ongoing issue, there is no means of gauging the efficacy of these changes and 

that while  work had been done to try and engage with these Colleagues, more needs 

to be done.  

7.36 Recommendation 39: CEC should develop an action plan to improve its approach 

to communicating with front-line Colleagues with identifiable KPIs.  

  

Page 163



  

 79 

8. QUESTION 4: DO THE COUNCIL'S ELECTED MEMBERS, OFFICERS AND 

COLLEAGUES IN MANAGEMENT ROLES FEEL EMPOWERED TO RESPOND TO 

CONCERNS OF WRONGDOING WHICH ARE RAISED BY ELECTED MEMBERS, 

OFFICERS, COLLEAGUES, FORMER COLLEAGUES OR MEMBERS OF THE 

PUBLIC? ARE THERE ANY BARRIERS OR OTHER REASONS, ACTUAL OR 

PERCEIVED, WHICH INHIBIT THE RESPONSE TO CONCERNS OF WRONGDOING 

WITHIN THE COUNCIL? 

Overarching findings 

8.1 I conclude from our workshops with Councillors and Service Directors, and my meetings 

with Executive Directors that both Councillors and the most senior CEC managers 

generally feel empowered to respond to allegations of wrongdoing and concerns raised 

with them. The Review Team has seen numerous examples of Councillors responding 

to matters of concern raised with them by Colleagues and constituents. This pro-activity 

on the part of Councillors is to be commended. However, it is unclear to the Review 

Team how often Councillors are reporting these concerns to Safecall. With regard to 

Executive Directors and Service Directors, it is clear from the workshops and interviews 

held with them that they share a common goal of ensuring that all allegations of 

wrongdoing are properly investigated and remedied where necessary. 

8.2 As noted above, most Colleagues in management roles who responded to the 

Colleague Survey believe that they know what to do if an employee raises a concern 

with them. However, it appears that in practice that some managers do not know how 

to respond to an employee raising a concern with them and that others do not feel 

empowered to respond to concerns of wrongdoing. 

  

8.3 As I note earlier in this Report, there exist the following barriers to managers responding 

to concerns of wrongdoing.  

Page 164



  

 80 

Difficulty in identifying whistleblowing cases 

8.4 As can be seen from the response to Colleague Survey question 44, most managers 

within CEC who responded to the Colleague Survey have not received formal training 

on how to recognise whistleblowing complaints. This finding resonates with the 

anecdotal evidence the Review Team has received. As noted at paragraph 6.46, a 

number of managers told the Review Team that they were unclear as to what sort of 

concerns constitute a whistleblowing complaint. At paragraph 6.12 I have provided an 

explanation as to the distinction between whistleblowing and other forms of complaints. 

8.5 The low number of management referrals as a proportion of all the whistleblowing 

disclosures received in the last two years, also suggests that managers might not be 

spotting whistleblowing disclosures and appropriately escalating them. This may 

account for the views of some contributors to the Review who were of the opinion that 

they had made a whistleblowing disclosure where it appears that the disclosure had not 

in turn been notified to Safecall. 

  

8.6 As noted at paragraph 5.63, CEC is the process of producing a new whistleblowing e-

learning module which will include specific sections of training for managers.  

Capacity and resource 

8.7 As noted in the answer to Question 1, the current practice of asking managers to 

conduct investigations in addition to their day job is a false economy, that ultimately 

impacts on the quality of investigations and service delivery. The Review Team has 

seen examples of CEC seeking to ease these capacity issues so that investigations can 

be undertaken expeditiously and to a higher standard. One example is a review that 

was launched following a whistleblowing report made in late 2020. CEC appointed a 

senior colleague from within the Quality, Governance and Regulation team to conduct 

a review into the matters raised by the whistleblower. This colleague was tasked with 

conducting the review on a full time basis and was relieved of their day-to-day duties. 

This enabled the Investigating Officer to conduct a thorough review without also having 

Page 165



  

 81 

to find the time to perform their regular duties. This is a good example of how CEC can, 

when the need arises, dedicate appropriate resource to investigations to allow them to 

be completed in a focussed manner. While I commend this approach, I understand that 

the Investigating Officer in this case felt quite isolated at times as they had been taken 

out of their traditional line management structure. 

8.8 Appropriate consideration should be given to supporting Colleagues performing the task 

of investigating matters, particularly if they are dealing with allegations of a criminal 

nature or those concerning a distressing subject. 

Executive Directors and Service Directors 

8.9 Managers may feel concerned about bringing complaints or whistleblowing reports 

against the Chief Executive and other Executive Directors because of the potentially 

unclear and/or out of date disciplinary policy position. Steps are being taken to clarify 

this policy position.  

8.10 There was also a concern on the part of a small number of officers that because of 

management reorganisations their job situation could be affected as a result of making 

complaints or disclosures. It should be noted, however, that the Review Team received 

no evidence of this having happened to anyone.  

Policy confusion 

8.11 As noted at paragraph 6.57, there are misalignments between the Whistleblowing Policy 

and other CEC policies and procedures, such as the Grievance Procedure, the ABH 

Procedure, and the Disciplinary Procedure. These misalignments, combined with a lack 

of manager training on how to recognise whistleblowing disclosures, may inhibit 

managers’ ability to effectively identify whistleblowing disclosures and respond to them 

appropriately.  

 

 

  

Page 166



  

 82 

9. QUESTION 5 ARE WHISTLEBLOWING REPORTS AND OTHER REPORTS OF 

WRONGDOING INVOLVING THE COUNCIL, ITS ELECTED MEMBERS, OFFICERS 

AND COLLEAGUES PROPERLY INVESTIGATED AND ACTED UPON, INCLUDING 

BY TAKING STEPS TO PREVENT RECURRENCE? IF NOT, WHY NOT? 

Overarching findings 

9.1 A number of my findings in relation to investigations conducted by CEC are set out in 

the answer to Question 1. In short, I am satisfied that all whistleblowing disclosures 

notified to Safecall are investigated, although, as already noted, the timeliness of the 

investigations conducted in response to whistleblowing disclosures should be improved. 

Steps also need to be taken to monitor more closely the effectiveness of investigations 

conducted internally.  

9.2 The Review Team has examined 30 whistleblowing investigation reports (both 

“major/significant” and “minor/operational” reports). We also reviewed other internal 

investigation reports and reports by external law firms and forensic accountants. 

Generally, the reports prepared are of a good standard and clearly set out the steps 

taken to investigate the matter and the findings. There are however areas that could be 

improved. 

9.3 An area of concern is the steps taken to prevent recurrence, until recently there was 

insufficient rigour around the implementation of recommendations. However, since 2019 

CEC has put in place processes to help address this concern.  

Investigation scope and terms of reference 

9.4 I understand that at the outset of whistleblowing investigations an investigation scope 

and terms of reference are set by CEC and Safecall, but we have only seen some 

examples of these scopes or terms of reference being recorded in whistleblowing 

investigation reports. The lack of documented investigation scopes and terms of 

reference in these reports means that those reviewing these reports, such as GRBV, 

are not sighted on the scope and limitations of the investigation and therefore may be 

less able to scrutinise effectively the investigation conducted.  

9.5 Furthermore, I understand that terms of reference are rarely, if ever, agreed with or 

shared with those making the whistleblowing disclosures. While it is ultimately a matter 

for CEC and Safecall to decide the scope of an investigation, not providing a 

whistleblower with details of the scope of the investigation creates a situation where the 

whistleblower might ultimately be dissatisfied with the outcome of an investigation and 

could feel that some matters have been missed. Early discussion with the whistleblower 

Page 167



  

 83 

as to the scope of an investigation, or at least making them aware of the scope of an 

investigation, would help increase satisfaction and trust in the whistleblowing process. 

9.6 Recommendation 40: An investigation scope for a whistleblowing investigation 

should be prepared at the outset and, where appropriate, shared with the 

whistleblower with an invitation to provide comments. The investigation scope 

and any limitations on the investigation to be conducted should be included in 

the whistleblowing investigation report. 

Investigations involving anonymous whistleblowers 

9.7 Anonymous whistleblowers are not always interviewed in cases where the disclosure is 

considered to be “minor/operational” and is therefore investigated by a CEC 

Investigating Officer. In these cases, CEC is unaware of the identity of the whistleblower 

and is therefore unable to approach them directly to ask to interview them. This creates 

a tension, as it is difficult to effectively investigate a matter without being able to 

interview the whistleblower.  

9.8 I understand that since 2019, CEC’s Investigating Officers have been able to send 

messages to anonymous whistleblowers via Safecall’s online portal (prior to this 

Investigating Officers had to contact Safecall to ask them to post messages to 

whistleblowers). However, I question how often this takes place as a number of 

whistleblowing reports we have seen refer to the whistleblower not being interviewed 

because they had chosen to be anonymous. We are aware that it is a matter for the 

Investigating Officer to decide whether to attempt to make any contact with the 

whistleblower in such circumstances. 

9.9 I would encourage CEC Investigating Officers to be proactive in relation to contacting 

anonymous whistleblowers via the portal and to always seek to interview the 

whistleblower, regardless of their level of anonymity. Of course, I recognise that a 

whistleblower might not wish to be interviewed by a CEC Investigating Officer, but the 

managing expectations process referred to above should assist in aiding 

whistleblowers’ understanding of the effect that this might have on an investigation.  

9.10 In cases of complete anonymity, Safecall should make an offer to the whistleblower for 

them to be interviewed by Safecall and explain to them at the point of managing 

expectations how the inability to interview the whistleblower could hamper the progress 

of any investigation. 

9.11 Recommendation 41: CEC should be proactive in relation to attempts to contact 

anonymous whistleblowers (via a secure portal) and always seek to interview the 

Page 168



  

 84 

whistleblower regardless of their level of anonymity. In cases where the 

whistleblower does not wish to be identified to CEC, Safecall (or another 

independent provider) should be tasked with undertaking an interview and then 

feeding back the findings to CEC (subject to any relevant redactions required to 

protect the whistleblower’s identity).  

Whistleblowing reports in relation to Executive Directors  

9.12 The Whistleblowing Policy provides that in the case of “major/significant” whistleblowing 

disclosures, Safecall will immediately notify the Monitoring Officer and the Chief 

Executive of the disclosure. However, the Whistleblowing Policy provides that when a 

report is received about the Monitoring Officer the disclosure will be passed to the Chief 

Executive, and when a report is received about the Chief Executive it will be passed to 

the Council Leader or, in their absence, the Deputy Leader. Beyond this detail, the 

Whistleblowing Policy does not set out how such matters should be investigated or 

reported to GRBV. While the Whistleblowing Policy does not name these types of 

disclosures, where a disclosure is made about the Chief Executive or the Monitoring 

Officer Safecall refers to them as “500 Reports”.  

9.13 There have only been three 500 Reports since the Whistleblowing Policy was 

introduced in 2014 but delays in investigating and reporting to GRBV can arise with 500 

Reports because of sensitivities about the seniority of the people involved and the fact 

that such reports are not overseen by the Whistleblowing Team. However, the 

Whistleblowing Policy does not, and should not, provide for any difference from other 

whistleblowing reports in terms of rigour of investigation, timeliness and GRBV 

oversight. 

9.14 With investigations into allegations against Executive Directors, independence of 

investigation is paramount but can be difficult to achieve if the investigation is conducted 

in-house, or even if conducted by Safecall, because ultimately, they routinely report to 

the Monitoring Officer and Chief Executive.   

9.15 Recommendation 42: The Whistleblowing Policy should be updated to 

specifically address “500 Reports” and all such reports should be taken forward 

with a target date of being completed within three months. 

9.16 Recommendation 43: Where serious allegations are made against Executive 

Directors or the Monitoring Officer, CEC should outsource the investigation to a 

non-panel law firm or counsel with experience in the conduct of investigations. 

 

Page 169



  

 85 

Multiple processes 

9.17 There have been cases where whistleblowing or other investigations have been paused 

pending the outcome of other processes. There are some situations where the pausing 

of an internal investigation to allow other processes to take place is appropriate, for 

example in the case of an investigation by the police where to continue with a parallel 

internal investigation might prejudice the police investigation. However, in most 

situations it would be appropriate to continue with the internal investigation, 

notwithstanding the other process(es). I am of the opinion that CEC is often too quick 

to pause internal investigations when another parallel process starts. Pausing an 

investigation may create more issues because it inevitably results in matters being 

investigated a significant time after the acts have occurred and possibly after key 

personnel have left the organisation. Pausing of investigations may also take place 

alongside suspension of Colleagues, or absence due to sickness, for lengthy periods of 

time, which is neither good for the organisation nor the wellbeing of those subject to 

investigation and on suspension or sickness absence. 

9.18 Furthermore, one of the investigations discussed in Case Study 1 at Appendix 3 was 

paused because CEC did not consider it appropriate to have a concurrent investigation 

while the Citizen in question had referred concerns to the General Teaching Council of 

Scotland. Except in exceptional cases, disciplinary investigations, employment tribunal 

proceedings and other processes should not delay the conduct of whistleblowing 

investigations, nor reporting to GRBV. If investigations are to be paused due to 

concurrent processes, the fact that such a decision has been taken and the exceptional 

circumstances for the pausing should be properly documented in writing. 

9.19 In addition to the pausing of concurrent investigations, CEC does not share information 

or evidence gathered as part of whistleblowing investigations for use in a disciplinary 

investigation. For example, I understand that witness statements gathered as part of a 

whistleblowing investigation are not used as part of the evidence in any subsequent 

disciplinary investigation. Indeed, the HR Department told us that there are occasionally 

cases that “started as whistleblowing and then went to disciplinary and people were 

interviewed twice as part of both”. The result of this approach is that efforts are 

duplicated, and interviews have to be repeated, which can be stressful and time 

consuming for those being interviewed. There is also a risk of inconsistent evidence 

being gathered due to the passage of time. This approach means that subsequent 

disciplinary investigations take longer because evidence has to be re-located, 

potentially many months after the reported incident, resulting in increased cost and 

reduced capacity for CEC and additional unnecessary strain for those who are the 

subject of the investigation. If proper and full witness statements are taken during the 

Page 170



  

 86 

whistleblowing investigation there is no reason they cannot be reused in a disciplinary 

context so long as this is explained to the giver of the statement. 

9.20 Recommendation 44: CEC should streamline its disciplinary investigation 

process and rely more on the evidence (not the opinions of the Investigating 

Officer but rather the underlying evidence) collated in the course of 

whistleblowing investigations. I would encourage Trade Unions to support aligning 

and streamlining of these processes.  

CEC criticism of complainers 

9.21 The Review Team is aware of one case where, in investigation reports, the Investigating 

Officers have sought to criticise the conduct of the complainer, in particular in relation 

to perceptions on the part of those Investigating Officers that the complainer was trying 

to influence the investigation process. Except where a whistleblower or complainer acts 

unlawfully or presents falsified evidence, they should not be criticised for trying to 

persuade an Investigating Officer to side with their account. 

9.22 As discussed in Case Study 1 (Appendix 3) CEC needs to be able to end 

communications with a service user or for that matter a whistleblower if they continue 

to pursue matters which have been investigated and addressed. This should only occur 

following a careful review to ensure that such a decision is made on solid and justified 

grounds.  

9.23 Recommendation 45: Those who write investigation reports should be cautious 

about criticising whistleblowers or complainers who have every right to try to 

persuade the investigator to side with their version of events, so long as they do 

so lawfully. 

9.24 Recommendation 46: Any decisions to cease communication with a service user 

or a whistleblower from outwith CEC should reference and follow CEC’s 

“Managing Customer Contact in a Fair and Positive Way Policy”; and any 

decision to cease communications with a service user or a whistleblower should 

be reported to GRBV in writing to ensure proper oversight.  

Conclusion of investigations 

9.25 Fifteen people to whom the Review Team spoke explained that following the conclusion 

of the process in which they were involved (principally ABH, disciplinary or grievance) 

either the person who had made the complaint or the person complained about was 

moved department, location or role as a means of resolving the matter. This approach 

Page 171



  

 87 

appears to be more common in situations where, following an investigation, it is 

concluded that there is insufficient evidence to uphold the complaint. Part of the 

outcome of any process must be a careful and thoughtful consideration as to how 

actions will affect those involved and the wider teams or departments in which they 

work. It is not a resolution to simply move Colleagues around the organisation if other, 

less disruptive steps, may resolve matters.  

9.26 Linked to keeping whistleblowers informed, discussed at paragraphs 6.74 to 6.82, an 

issue that was raised by 21 contributors to the Review was the situation where a 

colleague had made a complaint about the conduct of another colleague, such as one 

of bullying or harassment, but they were not told the outcome of their complaint even 

though in some instances their complaint was upheld. 12 of these Colleagues found 

themselves having to continue working with the colleague they had complained about. 

In such cases we have seen examples where one, or both, of these Colleagues was 

eventually moved, or chose to move department or location in order to resolve the issue. 

Instead of moving Colleagues, or waiting until they move themselves, there needs to be 

a more constructive conclusion to these matters, involving both the complainer and the 

person complained about. In such circumstances, I would encourage CEC to share 

more information with the complainer as to the outcome of the investigation and the 

actions taken. To achieve true reconciliation and to allow people to move on, there 

should, in most cases, be some form of facilitated meeting where the outcome is shared 

and, depending on the circumstances, an apology given. It may be that at the end of 

this process, one person has to be thoughtfully asked to move, but this should not be 

the first option. I recognise that in some cases, in particular those involving allegations 

of abuse or sexual harassment which have not been upheld, there will not be an 

opportunity for reconciliation and there is no other option but to consider whether one 

or other party should be moved to another location or role.  

9.27 It has also become apparent to the Review Team that, on occasion, those who are the 

subject of disciplinary processes either leave or retire from CEC part way through the 

process and CEC will generally decide to end the disciplinary process at that point and 

not see it through to conclusion. One example of this was a senior social worker who 

resigned during the Inquiry while subject to disciplinary action, which then ended. The 

Review Team was also pointed to three other examples of this occurring by contributors 

to the Review. While it might seem unnecessary to continue with a disciplinary 

investigation when CEC is going to be unable to sanction the individual at the conclusion 

of the process, I do not consider this approach to be appropriate in all cases. Concluding 

an investigation when the subject leaves or retires from CEC sends the wrong message 

to others in CEC and fuels a perception that those who have committed some form of 

Page 172



  

 88 

wrongdoing are able to walk away without consequence. I would encourage CEC to 

consider continuing whistleblowing and disciplinary investigations in serious cases even 

if the subject leaves or retires from CEC.  

Taking forward recommendations and remediation 

9.28 A number of contributors expressed concerns about failures to implement or sustain 

recommendations following the conclusion of whistleblowing investigations, and other 

significant investigations, as well as recommendations resulting from SPSO and 

regulatory decisions.  

9.29 This concern is shared by the Monitoring Officer and GRBV and, in the case of 

whistleblowing recommendations, in 2019 the Monitoring Officer put in place a central 

register of actions arising from all whistleblowing investigations since 2016. In addition 

to this, CLT agreed that they would check that all recommended actions had been 

implemented. The aim of this register is to bring all management actions into one 

document to assist Directorates in checking that all actions reported to GRBV were 

completed. Each Executive Director has responsibility for ensuring that all management 

actions in their service area are implemented and must document the progress against 

recommendations in the register. The Whistleblowing Team also checks in intermittently 

with managers to ensure that recommendations are being progressed.  

9.30 One case of particular note to the Review Team relates to the implementation of 

recommendations following a Significant Case Review concerning the safety of persons 

in the care of CEC. An action plan for implementation of the recommendations was 

produced, agreed to and assurances were given to the Chief Officers Group that the 

recommendations had been largely implemented. Following a later whistleblowing 

disclosure, the Investigating Officer in that whistleblowing investigation raised concerns 

that there was a lack of evidence that most of the recommendations from the Significant 

Case Review were in place. Once the issue was identified, CEC moved quickly to 

investigate this issue to identify which controls had not been implemented or had been 

implemented but not sustained.   

9.31 The importance of maintaining an audit history in relation to the implementation of 

recommendations is demonstrated by the first whistleblowing disclosure received by 

Safecall, which involved a serious case of suspected criminality. This disclosure was 

received on the first day of the service being operational in May 2014. This disclosure 

was first reported to GRBV on 24 September 2014. Various updates were given to 

GRBV in the following years as police enquiries and other employment processes took 

place. In addition, on two occasions in 2015, CEC’s Corporate Policy and Strategy 

Page 173



  

 89 

Committee received updates on the management actions taken, or to be taken, to 

implement 13 recommendations made by Safecall to prevent recurrence. In March 

2019, it was reported to GRBV that the matter had closed following the conclusion of 

related criminal and employment proceedings. With regard to the outcomes of the 

whistleblowing report, the summary provided to GRBV noted that there were no 

management actions required. It was noted that the relevant policies, procedures and 

processes in place at the time were considered adequate but had not been followed. In 

the March 2019 report to GRBV, no reference was made to the 13 recommendations 

made by Safecall in their investigation report or the status of the outstanding 

management actions from the 2015 reports to the Corporate Policy and Strategy 

Committee.  

9.32 CEC has recently commissioned a review to check that recommendations raised in 

historical whistleblowing and closed child protection reviews and complaints (managed 

under CEC’s Complaints Procedure) have been effectively implemented and sustained. 

This review will report in early 2022 and will include checking the status of the 

management actions in the case described at paragraph 9.31 above. 

9.33 I am aware that CLT has recently approved the establishment of an Assurance 

Management Framework which will set out CEC’s overarching approach to recording, 

monitoring and providing oversight of the implementation of assurance actions.  

Operational changes are also being made, with some Directorates appointing an 

Operations Manager and others appointing an additional first line assurance capacity, 

whose task is to ensure that agreed recommendations from whistleblowing reports, 

assurance reports and internal audit reports are actioned. Two members of internal 

audit have also been seconded to the Directorates to assist with an exercise to get on 

top of outstanding actions from internal audit reports. In addition, I observe that 

consideration should be given to any adverse regulatory or SPSO decisions also being 

subject to governance oversight by GRBV.  

9.34 I commend CEC’s recent efforts to address the problem of identified remediation not 

being fully actioned and I do not therefore need to make any recommendations in that 

regard.   

Page 174



  

 90 

10. QUESTION 6 - IS THE AVOIDANCE OF REPUTATIONAL DAMAGE OR LEGAL 

LIABILITY A CONTRIBUTORY FACTOR IN ANY FAILURE BY THE COUNCIL TO 

RESPOND TO OR TO ADDRESS CONCERNS OF WRONGDOING? 

Overarching findings 

 

10.1 I have not identified any current or recent failures by CEC to respond to or to address 

concerns of wrongdoing. 

10.2 However, a concern about prejudicing other legal processes is a contributory factor in 

delays by CEC to conclude whistleblowing investigation reports. 

10.3 The occasional application of legal professional privilege to investigations does create 

strains between the legal department and Councillors.  

Reputational damage 

10.4 Based on the review conducted by the Review Team, I do not consider that CEC fails 

to respond to or address concerns of wrongdoing due to a fear of reputational damage.  

Legal liability 

10.5 Based on the review conducted by the Review Team, I do not consider that CEC fails 

to respond to or address concerns of wrongdoing due to potential legal liability. 

However, potential legal liability and / or other legal processes being in train at the time 

of investigations and the concern of those proceedings being prejudiced is a 

contributory factor to investigations being paused and delayed unnecessarily. I accept 

that this occurs where there are genuine concerns about resulting prejudice. 

10.6 The impact of other legal proceedings being ongoing at the time of whistleblowing 

reports and a fear by CEC of prejudicing those proceedings is evident in Case Study 3 

at Appendix 5.  

Application of data protection law  

10.7 We have seen examples, in some cases, where Safecall and the Whistleblowing Team 

considered that they were unable to update whistleblowers as to the progress of a case 

due to data protections concerns. CEC’s Information Governance Unit have 

responsibility for dealing with data protection issues within CEC. I understand that 

requests are made by the Whistleblowing Team for advice on the application of data 

protection principles to whistleblowing cases but there is no formal process for dealing 

with this.  In each case, there should be a careful reflection on whether there is a need 

Page 175



  

 91 

to restrict information on the basis of data protection law and whether instead of a 

complete refusal to provide information to a whistleblower, some useful information can 

be provided to assuage their concerns.  

Application of legal professional privilege  

10.8 There is a general lack of understanding among some relevant officers as to the extent 

and limits of legal professional privilege. There is also a lack of understanding on the 

part of some Councillors as to what privilege is and the reasons CEC might wish to rely 

on it. Some Councillors see it simply as a tool for officers to use to obstruct them. 

However, legal professional privilege is a legal protection that is fundamental to the 

giving and receipt of confidential legal advice and the preparation of litigation. There are 

often good reasons why officers may wish to rely on legal privilege to maintain 

confidentiality and limit the sharing of a document. 

10.9 The Review Team has only seen one example where CEC has sought to rely on legal 

professional privilege where the reason for seeking to apply privilege was unclear.  

10.10 Some Councillors with whom the Review Team spoke see privilege as a shield for 

officers to hide behind in order to withhold information from them (see the comment by 

the Councillor referenced at paragraph 5.39). This perception is not made out in my 

opinion. The Review Team is aware of examples where officers have agreed to allow 

Councillors to view information considered to be privileged when, on a strict reading of 

the Member-Officer Protocol, officers were under no obligation to do so.  

10.11 The Review Team is aware of cases where instead of sharing information under a 

limited waiver of privilege (see more below), CEC has sought to prepare summary 

reports or documents for interested parties. Not only does this create more work for 

officers in having to prepare these reports, but these reports may lack sufficient detail 

to enable the reader to understand the conclusions drawn. The Review Team has also 

seen evidence of issues with naming conventions and version control which may arise 

from the preparation and disclosure of such summary reports, such as those referred to 

in relation to the different versions of the Phase II Report referenced in Case Study 1 at 

Appendix 3. 

10.12 It should be noted that, even in cases where officers consider a matter to be legally 

privileged, they are still able to share relevant documents or information with third parties 

under a limited waiver of privilege, which entails the third party acknowledging the 

privileged status of the document and expressly agreeing to respect the privileged and 

confidential status of the document and the information contained therein. In cases 

where the sharing of privileged information would provide suitable assurance to 

Page 176



  

 92 

Councillors or regulators, or would generally help in engendering a culture of openness 

and transparency, greater thought should be given to sharing such information under a 

limited waiver of privilege.  

10.13 Recommendation 47: Legal professional privilege should be utilised sparingly in 

the context of whistleblowing or other fact-finding investigations outside of the 

preparation of actual or threatened litigation. 

10.14 Recommendation 48: Any decisions to treat a matter as legally privileged should 

be clearly documented with appropriate analysis of the application of the legal 

tests to the facts at hand being set out. 

10.15 Recommendation 49: In circumstances where assurance is sought by Councillors 

or regulators, and the provision of privileged information would aid in providing 

such assurance, consideration should be given to sharing this information under 

a limited waiver of privilege. 

10.16 Recommendation 50: Training on legal professional privilege should be offered 

to Councillors and relevant Colleagues.  

  

Page 177



  

 93 

11. RECOMMENDATIONS 

11.1 Recommendation 1: All political groups should take steps, if they do not already do so, 

to ensure that all their members attend training, particularly training in relation to the 

Member-Officer Protocol and Councillor conduct, including the 2021 Code of Conduct 

for Councillors.  

11.2 Recommendation 2: Whistleblowing training should be delivered to and attended by 

all Councillors.  

11.3 Recommendation 3: CEC officers and Councillors should take steps to implement any 

necessary changes following the findings of the Best Value Report. 

11.4 Recommendation 4: CEC should put in place a revised disciplinary policy applicable 

to the Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Service Directors as a matter of priority. 

11.5 Recommendation 5: Refresh avoidance of bullying and harassment training for all 

Colleagues, with schools and those involved in social work being part of the initial roll-

out.  

11.6 Recommendation 6: Those involved in recruitment and selection of candidates for new 

positions should complete a short form declaration to disclose any personal or 

professional relationship with a prospective candidate. 

11.7 Recommendation 7: A new whistleblowing communications and training strategy 

should be put in place and rolled out across CEC. 

11.8 Recommendation 8: CEC should revise its Whistleblowing Policy to put a greater 

emphasis on consensual early resolution (see Recommendation 32). 

11.9 Recommendation 9: A programme of training for Investigating Officers should be 

developed and delivered, preferably by an external body skilled in effective investigation 

processes and techniques. Such training should be a precondition to being appointed 

as an Investigating Officer for the first time. 

11.10 Recommendation 10: CEC should consider the implementation of an independent 

investigation unit of appropriately experienced and properly trained Investigating 

Officers to work with Safecall on the conduct of “major/significant” (external) 

investigations; to support any other whistleblowing investigations where the 3-month 

target date for completion is not met; and to conduct other investigations, including 

disciplinary, bullying and harassment and complaints investigations which are complex 

or sensitive. 

Page 178



  

 94 

11.11 Recommendation 11: CEC should resource the use of note takers for investigative 

interviews. 

11.12 Recommendation 12: The Whistleblowing Team and the HR Department should have 

regular liaison meetings, in a similar manner to the Strategic Complaints Group, with 

the specific objective of identifying any concerning patterns of behaviour in an area.  

11.13 Recommendation 13: In order to assist CEC in identifying concerning patterns of 

behaviour across multiple cases, the independent whistleblowing provider should keep 

a record of service areas and locations of disclosures, together with a general 

description of the nature of the disclosures, so that this can be shared with CEC’s 

Whistleblowing Team. 

11.14 Recommendation 14: All Colleagues leaving CEC should be offered the opportunity to 

take part in an exit interview with a member of the HR Department.  

11.15 Recommendation 15: CEC should consider putting in place a system for Colleagues 

to provide anonymous feedback on the conduct and behaviours of managers as part of 

their annual performance reviews. 

11.16 Recommendation 16: Whistleblowing disclosures containing any issue of alleged 

discrimination based on a protected characteristic should be logged with the HR 

Department in the same manner as the Prejudice Based Incident Reporting used by the 

HR Department. 

11.17 Recommendation 17: A documented triaging process should be put in place with a 

framework that sets out the considerations to be taken into account for disclosure 

classification. 

11.18 Recommendation 18: The nomenclature currently used for classifying reports as 

“major/significant” or “minor/operational” should be revised to address a  perception that 

“minor/operational” cases are not treated as seriously. Wording such as “External” and 

“Internal” would be preferable. 

11.19 Recommendation 19: Consideration should be given to more cases being categorised 

as “major/significant” (external) and therefore investigated by Safecall or another 

independent provider; or, alternatively, having a third, middle, tier of case where Safecall 

provide greater oversight as the “critical friend” of an internal Investigating Officer. 

11.20 Recommendation 20: For more serious whistleblowing matters that are investigated 

internally, Safecall (or another provider) should provide “critical friend” monitoring from 

the outset of an investigation rather than waiting until the investigation report is 

Page 179



  

 95 

submitted for review. The role of the “critical friend” should be set out in the 

Whistleblowing Policy. 

11.21 Recommendation 21: Safecall, or any other independent whistleblowing provider, 

should report on the following KPIs: 

11.21.1 Number of disclosures categorised as “major/significant” or 

“minor/operational” (or any new naming convention); 

11.21.2 Number of disclosures diverted to be dealt with under another policy;  

11.21.3 Number of disclosures categorised as not qualifying as a whistleblowing 

disclosure; 

11.21.4 Number of disclosures dealt with by way of early resolution (see 

Recommendation 32); and 

11.21.5 Number of disclosures investigated within 3 months / not investigated in this 

time frame with reasons given. 

11.22 Recommendation 22: Immediate and ongoing steps taken to address any public safety 

issue should be recorded in a document maintained by the independent whistleblowing 

provider which sets out the steps taken, and to be taken, to check on the safety concerns 

reported by a whistleblower. This should be shared with GRBV at the first quarterly 

meeting following the disclosure. 

11.23 Recommendation 23: A senior colleague in every service area should be appointed as 

a Whistleblowing Champion. 

11.24 Recommendation 24: CEC should take steps to train managers on how to identify a 

whistleblowing disclosure. 

11.25 Recommendation 25: All whistleblowing disclosures made to CEC managers and 

Councillors should be referred to the independent whistleblowing provider, so that they 

are recorded as whistleblowing disclosures and dealt with under the whistleblowing 

process, at least initially. 

11.26 Recommendation 26: CEC’s Whistleblowing Team should report all whistleblowing 

disclosures and reports to GRBV in accordance with the quarterly reporting cycle, 

without any exceptions.  

Page 180



  

 96 

11.27 Recommendation 27: As part of any review of CEC’s committee structure, 

consideration should be given to setting up a sub-committee to scrutinise whistleblowing 

disclosures and reports. 

11.28 Recommendation 28: The whistleblowing process should be periodically audited by 

internal audit and, perhaps once every five years, reviewed by an external provider. 

11.29 Recommendation 29: CEC should take steps to ensure that anyone who receives a 

whistleblowing disclosure asks the person raising the matter what support they may 

need and how this can be provided. This support, where relevant, should also be offered 

to those who are the subject of a whistleblowing investigation. 

11.30 Recommendation 30: CEC, in conjunction with Safecall, should develop an agreed 

protocol for setting a whistleblower’s expectations at the point of commencing an 

investigation. A Draft Expectation Management Protocol for managing expectations of 

whistleblowers is at Appendix 7. 

11.31 Recommendation 31: Accurate and contemporaneous minutes should be taken by 

CEC at all meetings and during all conversations with whistleblowers and other 

interested parties. 

11.32 Recommendation 32: CEC should instigate an early resolution process and stricter 

timelines for the conduct of whistleblowing investigations. A Draft Model Early 

Resolution Process is set out in Appendix 8. 

11.33 Recommendation 33: CEC should include the Draft Whistleblowing Principles set out 

in Appendix 9 in the Whistleblowing Policy and apply them to all whistleblowing matters. 

11.34 Recommendation 34: Any whistleblowing training and communications strategy rolled 

out by CEC should make it clear that whistleblowing disclosures can be made 

anonymously (with the two levels of anonymity being explained) and that those who 

make disclosures will be protected from detrimental treatment. Training delivered to 

managers should explain what amounts to detrimental treatment. 

11.35 Recommendation 35: CEC Whistleblowing Team and the HR Department should 

check-in with whistleblowers for a period of 12 months after a whistleblowing disclosure, 

to check that no detriment is being suffered; and that if allegations of detriment are made 

by the whistleblower the alleged detriment should be reviewed and addressed. 

11.36 Recommendation 36: Where an Investigating Officer is from the same service area as 

the subject of the disclosure, Safecall (or another independent provider) should perform 

a “critical friend” role to oversee the whistleblowing investigation more closely. 

Page 181



  

 97 

11.37 Recommendation 37: Both the Nominated Officer and Investigating Officer should be 

required to complete a written declaration of independence at the outset of any 

investigation.  

11.38 Recommendation 38: CEC should establish a policy which stipulates that relationships 

between Colleagues must be disclosed if one person has line management 

responsibility for the other. 

11.39 Recommendation 39: CEC should develop an action plan to improve its approach to 

communicating with front-line Colleagues with identifiable KPIs. 

11.40 Recommendation 40: An investigation scope for a whistleblowing investigation should 

be prepared at the outset and, where appropriate, shared with the whistleblower with 

an invitation to provide comments. The investigation scope and any limitations on the 

investigation to be conducted should be included in the whistleblowing investigation 

report. 

11.41 Recommendation 41: CEC should be proactive in relation to attempts to contact 

anonymous whistleblowers (via a secure portal) and always seek to interview the 

whistleblower regardless of their level of anonymity. In cases where the whistleblower 

does not wish to be identified to CEC, Safecall (or another independent provider) should 

be tasked with undertaking an interview and then feeding back the findings to CEC 

(subject to any relevant redactions required to protect the whistleblower’s identity). 

11.42 Recommendation 42: The Whistleblowing Policy should be updated to specifically 

address “500 Reports” and all such reports should  be taken forward with a target date 

of being completed within three months. 

11.43 Recommendation 43: Where serious allegations are made against Executive Directors 

or the Monitoring Officer, CEC should outsource the investigation to a non-panel law 

firm or counsel with experience in the conduct of investigations. 

11.44 Recommendation 44: CEC should streamline its disciplinary investigation process and 

rely more on the evidence (not the opinions of the Investigating Officer but rather the 

underlying evidence) collated in the course of whistleblowing investigations. 

11.45 Recommendation 45: Those who write investigation reports should be cautious about 

criticising whistleblowers or complainers who have every right to try to persuade the 

investigator to side with their version of events, so long as they do so lawfully. 

11.46 Recommendation 46: Any decisions to cease communication with a service user or a 

whistleblower from outwith CEC should reference and follow CEC’s “Managing 

Page 182



  

 98 

Customer Contact in a Fair and Positive Way Policy”; and any decision to cease 

communications with a service user or a whistleblower should be reported to GRBV in 

writing to ensure proper oversight. 

11.47 Recommendation 47: Legal professional privilege should be utilised sparingly in the 

context of whistleblowing or other fact-finding investigations outside of the preparation 

of actual or threatened litigation. 

11.48 Recommendation 48: Any decisions to treat a matter as legally privileged should be 

clearly documented with appropriate analysis of the application of the legal tests to the 

facts at hand being set out. 

11.49 Recommendation 49: In circumstances where assurance is sought by Councillors or 

regulators, and the provision of privileged information would aid in providing such 

assurance, consideration should be given to sharing this information under a limited 

waiver of privilege. 

11.50 Recommendation 50: Training on legal professional privilege should be offered to 

Councillors and relevant Colleagues.  

 

  

Page 183



  

 99 

APPENDIX 1 

TERMS OF REFERNCE 

1. The City of Edinburgh Council (the "Council") has commissioned an independent review 

of whistleblowing and organisational culture relevant to the raising of and responding to 

concerns of wrongdoing involving the Council, its members, officers and colleagues (the 

"Review").  

2. The Review is being carried out by Susanne Tanner QC (the "Independent Chair") with 

support from Pinsent Masons (collectively the "Reviewer").  

3. The outcomes of the Review are:  

3.1 to determine whether or not a positive, open, safe and supportive whistleblowing and 

organisational culture for the raising of and responding to concerns of wrongdoing within 

the Council, its elected members, officers and colleagues (“employees”) exists within 

the Council and, if not, why not;  

3.2 to determine whether or not the Council's whistleblowing processes and practices, in 

particular the Council’s ‘Whistleblowing Policy’ (introduced in May 2014) and the 

appointment of Safecall as a whistleblowing service provider, embody good practice 

and provide an effective vehicle for raising and responding to concerns of wrongdoing;  

3.3 to determine whether Council elected members, officers, colleagues and former 

colleagues feel empowered to raise concerns of wrongdoing, or whether there are any 

barriers or other reasons, actual or perceived, which inhibit the reporting of wrongdoing 

within the Council;  

3.4 to determine whether Council elected members, officers and colleagues in management 

roles feel empowered to respond to concerns of wrongdoing which are raised by elected 

members, officers, colleagues, former colleagues or members of the public, or whether 

there are any barriers or other reasons, actual or perceived, which inhibit the response 

to concerns of wrongdoing within the Council; 

3.5 to determine if whistleblowing reports and other reports of wrongdoing involving the 

Council, its elected members, officers and colleagues are properly investigated and 

acted upon, including by taking steps to prevent recurrence, and, if not, why not;  

3.6 to determine whether the avoidance of reputational damage or legal liability is a 

contributory factor in any failure by the Council to respond to or to address concerns of 

wrongdoing; and  

Page 184



  

 100 

3.7 to make recommendations to improve the organisational culture, processes and 

practices of the Council, to provide a positive, open, safe and supportive whistleblowing 

and organisational culture, to encourage and support the reporting, responding to and 

addressing of wrongdoing involving the Council, its elected members, officers and 

colleagues.  

4. The Review will examine the organisational culture, processes and practices, relevant 

to whistleblowing and reporting of and responding to wrongdoing, of the Council as a 

whole, including amongst elected members, officers and colleagues.  

5. The Review's remit is to determine the organisational culture, processes and practices 

with a view to making recommendations to improve any shortcomings. The Review will 

necessarily entail looking at the approach to whistleblowing and other relevant 

processes, which may include reports and investigations both before and after the 

introduction of the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy in May 2014, insofar as relevant to 

the assessment of the current position. Anyone within or outwith the Council will be able 

to raise issues they believe are relevant to the investigation and it will be within the 

discretion of the Reviewer as to whether or not any past or current reports or 

investigations are relevant to an assessment of the current organisational culture, 

processes and practices. In addition, while consideration of past or current 

whistleblowing and ‘speak-up’ reports may be informative to the Reviewer, the Review 

shall not determine the merits of individual whistleblowing reports, complaints or 

concerns of wrongdoing by Council personnel, former Council personnel or service 

users.  

6. The Reviewer shall keep confidential all confidential information disclosed as a result of 

the Review and shall not use nor disclose the same save as provided in the Annex to 

the Terms of Reference or as required by law.  

7. At the conclusion of the Review, the Reviewer shall produce a written report (the 

"Report") which shall be provided to the Council. The Independent Chair will report 

publicly on the Review's findings. 

  

Page 185



  

 101 

APPENDIX 2 

RESULTS OF COLLEAGUE SURVEY 

 

 

Page 186



  

 102 

 

 

Page 187



  

 103 

 

 

Page 188



  

 104 

 

 

Page 189



  

 105 

 

 

Page 190



  

 106 

 

 

 

Page 191



  

 107 

 

 

 

Page 192



  

 108 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 193



  

 109 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 194



  

 110 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 195



  

 111 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 196



  

 112 

 

 

Page 197



  

 113 

 

 

Page 198



  

 114 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 199



  

 115 

APPENDIX 3 

CASE STUDY 1 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This case study concerns long running concerns and complaints by a service user of 

CEC, who is referred to as the “Citizen”. The initial complaints in this case meet the test 

for being considered as relevant to whistleblowing matters because they relate to 

serious failings in the education and care of the Citizen’s child. In addition, some of the 

Citizen’s later concerns and complaints are relevant to my consideration of the culture 

of CEC, in so far as it relates to the way in which concerns and complaints of wrongdoing 

are responded to by the organisation.  

1.2 It is important for me to observe at the outset of this Case Study that the Citizen’s 

persistence from 2010 to 2015 in relation to seeking to have their concerns and 

complaints dealt with, by CEC and external regulators, has resulted in identification of 

serious past failures in the education and care of an autistic child and to steps being 

taken that are for the benefit of all children with additional support needs in Edinburgh 

schools.    

1.3 I have decided to summarise aspects of the Citizen’s concerns, complaints and related 

investigations because it demonstrates the importance of addressing reported 

wrongdoing quickly and properly. I have reviewed aspects of the case for the purpose 

of making thematic recommendations. However, in line with the Review Terms of 

Reference, I have not considered the merits of the Citizen’s allegations.   

1.4 The Review Team has been provided with a significant amount of information in 

connection with all aspects of this case. To piece together and present the whole history 

of this case would be a disproportionately lengthy and complex exercise. I make 

observations below about the key events and some of the decisions made to help to 

illustrate and inform my broader recommendations. With the aim of keeping this Case 

Study to a reasonable length, there are details and events which I have decided not to 

include in this summary.  

1.5 I have shown the Case Study to the Citizen and their family and current relevant CEC 

officers and invited representations from them, which I have considered and reflected, 

where appropriate and in line with the evidence, prior to publication. Neither the Citizen, 

nor the CEC officers who have participated in the representations process, agree fully 

with my summary of this complex and difficult case. The Citizen and their family feel that 

there are important aspects about their experiences that have been left out of the 

Page 200



  

 116 

narrative and that my findings do not go far enough to fully address all of their concerns, 

both past and current. Despite this, the Citizen, in discussion with their family, has 

agreed to its publication. I wish to acknowledge that the process of engaging with this 

Review has taken courage on their part and I am sorry if any distress has been caused 

to the Citizen or their family as a result of their contribution to the Review. I am grateful 

for their permission to publish this Case Study, despite it is inherent limitations from their 

perspective.  

1.6 I also acknowledge that CEC officers may feel that decisions made in the past, some of 

which were made by people who are no longer with the organisation, are being 

assessed critically and with the benefit of hindsight. I agree that I am applying critical 

hindsight, but the purpose of the Review is to identify thematic learnings to help CEC to 

avoid repeating the mistakes of the past. I am also making observations and 

recommendations in Section 4 which, if accepted, should hopefully allow CEC and the 

Citizen to explore whether they can resolve the outstanding differences between them.  

1.7 Councillors familiar with this case will recognise who it concerns but I have sought to 

anonymise the details with the objective of minimising the distress and anxiety to those 

involved in the history of the matter. I do not mention people by name but with the aim 

of being transparent, where I have considered it appropriate, I have provided job titles 

or role descriptions.  

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The genesis of the complaints in this case was the mistreatment of the Citizen’s child 

while at a mainstream primary school more than a decade ago and a subsequent 

downplaying of the school’s failings, coupled with the challenges faced by the school 

due to the child’s needs and behaviour being exaggerated by the school and those 

initially tasked with looking into the issue. The complaints at the heart of the case are 

serious because they involved inappropriate physical handling and the prevention of a 

child with additional support needs as a result of autism from accessing education.   

2.2 Reviews have concluded that classroom teachers involved did not deliberately mistreat 

the Citizen’s child and they wanted to do well by the child and the other children in their 

care, but they struggled due to a lack of training in how to respond to children with 

additional support needs as a result of autism. Unfortunately, a failure to initially 

investigate the Citizen’s concerns and attempts to minimise the school’s failings made 

matters worse and the Citizen lost trust in various personnel at the school and CEC. 

Further failings arose in 2013, which again resulted in the Citizen’s child being 

effectively prevented from accessing education for a large part of the school year, which 

Page 201



  

 117 

compounded the Citizen’s mistrust in the ability of CEC to address the wrongs that had 

occurred.  

2.3 The Citizen’s persistence in seeking to get to the bottom of what occurred and to ensure 

that lessons were learned to prevent recurrence, which is for the benefit of children with 

additional support needs as a result of autism, or other additional support needs, has 

led to the Citizen’s underlying complaints being the subject of significant reviews by 

CEC in 2012 and 2015. The Citizen and the Citizen’s family have received apologies 

from CEC, but the Citizen does not consider the apologies to have been sufficient, and 

from the Citizen’s perspective, CEC wrongly blamed their vulnerable child and family, 

causing distress to the Citizen and their family. As a result of a deep sense of being 

wronged and not all issues raised being investigated, the Citizen has made complaints 

against CEC, directly to CEC, and to Councillors, Members of the Scottish Parliament, 

and other regulators and professional bodies including the Scottish Information 

Commissioner, the SPSO, Audit Scotland, and the General Teaching Council for 

Scotland (“GTCS”).  

2.4 CEC’s position is that mistakes and inappropriate action in the care of the Citizen’s child 

and deliberate wrongdoing in responding to the Citizen’s complaints were investigated 

in a fulsome manner in 2012 and 2015, the wrongs of the past have been acknowledged 

by CEC and apologies have been given. They consider the Citizen’s persistent and 

continuing complaints and information requests to be overly demanding and 

unreasonable in light of the extensive investigations conducted and the apologies given. 

CEC is concerned that the Citizen’s persistent demands and complaints place 

disproportionate and unreasonable demands on CEC resource and have impacted on 

the well-being of some CEC employees who were not involved in the underlying 

misconduct.  

2.5 I acknowledge both sides of this cycle of complaints and the response to them and the 

resulting impact on both CEC employees and the Citizen’s family. I have been made 

aware of a number of CEC employees who were not involved in the underlying 

misconduct, who have been impacted as a result of being involved with the Citizen’s 

concerns and complaints. I accept these accounts while noting that they have not been 

examined in detail by this Review. I have also been told about the number of hours 

spent by some CEC employees and external appointees in dealing with these matters, 

which has ultimately cost the public purse. Again, there is evidence to support the 

number of hours spent. However, I also accept the account of the Citizen about the 

impact that these matters have had on them and their family over a period of more than 

a decade. The Citizen shows insight and recognises the amount of time, the number of 

CEC personnel and the resulting public expenditure which has been required in 

Page 202



  

 118 

responding to their concerns and complaints. However, the Citizen considers that 

matters could have been fully resolved many years ago had CEC responded differently 

to their initial concerns and complaints, and thereafter, and the Citizen also considers 

that it is the duty of CEC as the employer to address any capacity issues that have 

arisen as a result of having to deal with these matters. I have made observations below 

about a number of things that could have been done differently by CEC and these would 

have saved time and expense, as well as restricting the impact on the wellbeing of both 

CEC staff and the Citizen’s family. 

3. REVIEWS CONDUCTED 

3.1 In July 2011, approximately 15 months after the Citizen and their family first raised their 

concerns, a senior member of the CEC’s Policy, Strategy and Performance team 

commenced an internal review to establish the facts around the complaints (the “First 

Internal Review”). This individual was independent of the (then) Children and Families 

Directorate (now known as the Education and Children’s Services Directorate). The First 

Internal Review was extensive. It concluded in May 2012, with numerous critical findings 

against the school and the (then) Children and Families Directorate, including that: 

3.1.1 Several staff members at the school physically handled the Citizen’s child and 

that these interventions were inappropriate; 

3.1.2 Back in 2010, the school did not keep adequate records of significant incidents 

that involved physical intervention or handling and the pupil record files did 

not appear to have been completed and may have had material removed from 

it. There were several weaknesses in the school’s response to Data Protection 

Act requests. Suggestions at various points that all available information had 

been released were therefore wrong and some relevant information and 

emails appeared to have been ignored, withheld, altered or deleted. There 

was, however, no evidence of a systematic or organised ‘cover-up’; and 

3.1.3 The response of the (then) Children and Families Directorate to the Citizen’s 

complaints had been on the whole defensive rather than open. 

3.2 The full report of the First Internal Review was provided to the Citizen. In response to 

the findings, the (then) Director of the Children and Families Directorate emailed the 

Citizen to apologise for the failings identified and to reassure the Citizen that appropriate 

action would be taken, and a plan implemented to prevent recurrence. There were also 

discussions about a joint statement by the (then) Director of the (then) Children and 

Families Directorate and the Citizen’s family which would have acknowledged the 

findings of the investigations and given a fulsome apology to the Citizen’s family. 

Page 203



  

 119 

However, the proposed joint statement was not issued and the (then) Director of 

Children and Families instead met with the school’s staff and parent council 

representatives to inform them that the Citizen’s complaints had been upheld and an 

apology issued directly to the Citizen. In addition, in September 2014, an apology was 

issued via the school’s newsletter “for various matters” and “mistakes made” in relation 

to the schooling of the Citizen’s child and for “erroneous” statements made at a previous 

meeting of parents.  

3.3 In parallel to the First Internal Review, the Citizen submitted a number of complaints to 

CEC, which were dealt with by the (then) Head of Planning and Performance within the 

(then) Children and Families Directorate, under CEC’s Complaints Procedure, with 

findings being provided to the Citizen and their family during 2012. The Citizen remained 

concerned with the remedial and other actions that followed the First Internal Review 

and they considered a commitment to conduct an external investigation was not lived 

up to.  

3.4 I understand that the Citizen’s complaint that CEC did not live up to a commitment to 

conduct an external investigation was considered by the SPSO and not upheld because 

they accepted that the First Internal Review was a thorough exercise. However, a 

number of other serious and adverse findings have been made by the SPSO and the 

Scottish Information Commissioner with respect to aspects of the Citizen’s complaints 

about CEC’s approach to dealing with their complaints.   

3.5 One of the elements that the Citizen remains concerned about was that a child 

protection investigation had not been conducted when their concerns about their child’s 

treatment were first reported or at any time thereafter. This complaint was the subject 

of a review by solicitors from CEC’s legal team reporting CEC’s (then) Monitoring Officer 

(the “Second Internal Review”). The Second Internal Review concluded that the (then) 

Director of the (then) Children and Families Directorate made a professional judgment 

call that a child protection investigation was unnecessary, a decision which they were 

entitled to make. In reaching this conclusion, the authors of the report took external legal 

advice. The full final report in the Second Internal Review dated April 2013 was shared 

with the Citizen. It subsequently transpired that there were earlier draft reports produced 

by another solicitor in CEC’s legal team. The Citizen sought information about these 

earlier draft reports, and the Citizen was incorrectly told that the information did not exist. 

This existence of the earlier draft reports was the subject of a review in 2019 and 2020 

by CEC’s Chief Internal Auditor.  

3.6 After the First Internal Review, further problems arose and the Citizen’s child was 

effectively prevented from accessing education from February 2013 until the end of the 

Page 204



  

 120 

school year, albeit that attempts were made to bring the Citizen’s child back to school 

during that period. In June 2013, the Citizen brought a disability discrimination claim 

against CEC through the (then) Additional Support Needs Tribunals for Scotland 

(ASNTS). A settlement was reached between CEC and the Citizen.  

3.7 Due to the Citizen having on-going concerns about their child being prevented from 

accessing education, the question of whether effective remedial actions were taken 

following the First Internal Review and other issues of contention between the parties, 

CEC commissioned an investigation in 2015 by an external solicitor (the “First External 

Review”). The scope of the First External Review was determined by the external 

solicitor commissioned to conduct the review following discussions with personnel from 

CEC and the Citizen.  The First External Review examined a number of issues, including 

the progress of the remedial steps since the First Internal Review and the prevention of 

the Citizen’s child from accessing education during part of 2013. The review conducted 

was extensive, including interviews of 13 witnesses, and resulted in a report of 54 pages 

in length which contained well-reasoned findings, some of which were critical of past 

actions by CEC personnel. The report included a finding that there was a service failure 

at the school which effectively prevented the Citizen’s child from accessing education 

and the service failure was neglectful and amounted to maladministration, and that the 

subsequent handling of a serious complaint by the Citizen against CEC fell below 

expected standards to the extent that it amounted to maladministration. The findings of 

this review were shared with the Citizen and it led to CEC giving a formal apology to the 

Citizen’s family for the identified failings which led to the Citizen’s child being effectively 

prevented from accessing education from February 2013 until the end of the school year 

and which noted that this was partly as a result of not learning all appropriate lessons 

from a previous review. The apology also noted that a complaint made by the Citizen at 

the time was not dealt with appropriately and that the Citizen’s concerns were both 

serious and legitimate. The apology concluded with the words “The Council recognises 

the real hurt these have caused the [Citizen’s] family and we apologise unreservedly to 

[family members listed]”. The Citizen and their family were also invited to give a 

deputation to the full Council to share their experiences.  

3.8 Additional concerns and complaints by the Citizen, primarily concerning the former 

Director of the (then) Children and Families Directorate, were the subject of a second 

investigation by the external solicitor (the “Second External Review”). The Second 

External Review also appears to have been thorough and led to the production of a 

report of 52 pages in length which sought to answer the Citizen’s concerns and 

complaints. The Second External Review did not uphold to any significant degree the 

substantive complaints against the former Director of the (then) Children and Families 

Page 205



  

 121 

Directorate but there were some points, described as “minor criticisms”, of decisions 

made by the former Director were highlighted.  The Citizen was not provided with a copy 

of the Second External Review report and instead received a letter which set out which 

complaints had been “not upheld” and which complaints had been “upheld”. Where a 

complaint was upheld, including partially, more information was provided. However, no 

further information or explanation was provided where the complaint was not upheld. 

3.9 Following the conclusion of the First and Second External Reviews, the Citizen 

continued to correspond  with CEC about their concerns and complaints. On 30 June 

2016 (and followed up with a further letter on 26 April 2017), CEC’s Chief Executive 

wrote to the Citizen to inform the Citizen that CEC would not engage with the Citizen 

any further in relation to historical issues because CEC considered that they had already 

been the subject of extensive scrutiny.  

3.10 From 2013 to 2017, the Citizen pursued a complaint against a former senior employee 

in the former Children and Families Directorate through the GTCS.  Following a review 

of documents provided to the GTCS, there was considered to be a case to answer, and 

the senior employee was referred to the Fitness to Teach Panel for an evidential 

hearing. In January 2015, CEC’s (then) Monitoring Officer committed to the Citizen that 

if the GTCS did not resolve matters, CEC “will investigate your complaint according to 

our procedures.” The Fitness to Teach hearing began in March 2016 and three days of 

evidence were heard in the period to March 2017. As the hearing did not conclude, it 

was part heard and adjourned to future dates. However, the GTCS then decided to stop 

the hearing because of the time that had elapsed since the initial complaint. By this time, 

the former senior employee had been retired from CEC for a number of years. Despite 

the previous commitment given to the Citizen by CEC that the complaint would be 

investigated according to CEC procedures in the event that it was not so dealt with by 

GTCS, CEC also decided not to investigate the allegations because, by this time, a 

decision had been reached by CEC that the Citizen’s complaints had already been the 

subject of extensive scrutiny and to commit further resource to this would not be 

reasonable and proportionate.  

3.11 On 27 April 2017, CEC wrote to the Citizen about four complaints by the Citizen against 

CEC which had been upheld by the SPSO (the complaints concern the period prior to 

December 2015) including findings that CEC had “unreasonably failed to properly 

investigate your concerns” about a previous investigation conducted in 2013; had 

“unreasonably said…that they had done everything they could reasonably be expected 

to do to address your past concerns ‘and this view is supported by the Ombudsman”; 

had “unreasonably decided that political leaders’ officers should be contacted to request 

that your correspondence should not be responded to…”; and CEC had “unreasonably 

Page 206



  

 122 

failed to investigate your complaints…in line with stage 2 of their complaints 

procedure”21. There was also a fifth complaint that was not upheld.  

3.12 For balance, I note that in February 2018, following a further complaint by the Citizen 

that CEC was refusing to investigate their complaints, the SPSO found against the 

Citizen, noting that CEC had already undertaken several investigations in relation to 

matters concerning the Citizen’s child’s treatment at school and the way in which 

subsequent investigations were dealt with. The SPSO considered that the CEC’s refusal 

to investigate the Citizen’s complaints further was reasonable22. However, the Citizen 

considers that some of the facts found in the SPSO decision are incorrect in that the 

Citizen’s view is that it proceeds on the basis that a CEC senior manager has been 

investigated when that was not the case. There was also a SPSO “provisional decision” 

in May 2020 which found that CEC did not fail to respond to a complaint by the Citizen 

which was submitted on 1 November 2017, but they did fail to respond appropriately to 

correspondence which asked about the wording used to describe an investigation report 

produced by CEC in December 2015. The SPSO considered CEC could not continue 

to maintain its position of not communicating with the Citizen and, noted that the Citizen 

had expressed a desire to resolve matters, the SPSO recommended that CEC offer to 

pay for independent and professional mediation with CEC23.  I understand that CEC 

does not agree with the provisional decision and the decision has not been finalised.  

3.13 On 18 October 2018, the Citizen submitted a complaint against CEC’s Chief Executive 

which alleged that he had misled Group Leaders to secure support for CEC’s refusal to 

communicate with the Citizen. The background to this complaint was that in explaining 

the reasoning for refusing to engage further with the Citizen, CEC’s Chief Executive 

sought to rely on a text message from the Citizen. A Councillor was concerned that the 

text message was being wrongly characterised as showing the Citizen to be acting in a 

vindictive manner. The Citizen was also concerned that Councillors were told that the 

SPSO considered the Council’s actions in stopping correspondence with the Citizen to 

be appropriate which the Citizen considered to be a misrepresentation of the position. 

CEC’s Deputy Monitoring Officer, who was also a senior member of CEC’s in-house 

legal team was appointed to investigate the Complaint under CEC’s Complaints Policy. 

The Citizen expressed concerns that the Deputy Monitoring Officer was not independent 

because, in their role with CEC Legal Services, they were a subordinate to the Chief 

Executive and the Citizen questioned if the solicitor had had any involvement in their 

earlier complaints. The Deputy Monitoring Officer refused to recuse themselves from 

the investigation, noting that in this statutory role they were duty bound to act 

 
21 The adverse findings are set out in a letter from CEC to the Citizen dated 29 April 2017  
22 SPSO Decision Report 201702982 
23 SPSO Decision Notice 201807835 

Page 207



  

 123 

independently of CEC and the Chief Executive. In confirming this position, the Deputy 

Monitoring Officer sought independent external legal advice from a partner at an 

external law firm who is an expert on local authority law and governance. The Deputy 

Monitoring Officer investigated the complaints and did not uphold any of the Citizen’s 

complaints.  

3.14 During the period from 2016 to November 2018, the Citizen submitted freedom of 

information requests for all draft reports, emails and witness statements in relation to 

CEC’s decision not to initiate a child protection investigation. Following searches, CEC 

initially responded that the information did not exist and noted in its response to 

subsequent requests for the same information that the Citizen’s requests were 

vexatious. In two decisions in January and February 201924, the Office of the Scottish 

Information Commissioner disagreed with CEC’s assessment that the requests were 

vexatious, and CEC was ordered to comply. Another Councillor received information 

from a CEC employee that there was a previous version of the Second Internal Review 

which may have reached different conclusions from the final Second Internal Review 

report provided to the Citizen. In February 2019, following further searches, information 

in relation to CEC’s investigation of the decision not to initiate a child protection 

investigation and pertaining to the Second Internal Review report (see paragraph 3.5 

above) was located. This included earlier versions of reports and related email 

correspondence.  

3.15 CEC’s Chief Internal Auditor was instructed by CEC’s Chief Executive to review the 

facts concerning the discovery of the earlier draft reports and emails and the erroneous 

response to the freedom of information requests. CEC also agreed to review other 

complaints by the Citizen, including an allegation that earlier investigations had been 

misdescribed as “Monitoring Officer” reports. The review conducted was divided into 

two phases: the first phase looked at the discovering of the earlier draft of the Second 

Internal Review report dated 12 April 2013 (the “Phase I Review”); and the second 

phase reviewed the description and categorisation of the earlier reports as Monitoring 

Officer reports (the “Phase II Review”).  

3.16 The Phase I review commenced in March 2019 with a planned completion by May 2019. 

However, the Chief Internal Auditor spent approximately 285 hours on the Phase I 

review, the review was not completed until November 2019 and the Citizen was not 

informed of the outcome until 1 July 2020. A detailed timeline for the reviews and the 

completion of the reports has been included in both the Phase I and II reports together 

with supporting rationale for the time taken. In particular, the Chief Internal Auditor 

 
24 Decisions 001/2019 and 023/2019 

Page 208



  

 124 

points to the impact of COVID-19, an increase in the scope of Phase I to address other 

areas raised by the Citizen, and the volume of evidence provided by the Citizen which 

needed to be reviewed and necessitated follow up enquiries.  

3.17 Three versions of the Phase I report were distributed to others (not including the 

Citizen): 

3.17.1 A “Final Report” dated 18 November 2019 – CEC’s Chief Executive received 

this report; 

3.17.2 A “summary report” dated 16 December 2019 - it is understood that this 

summary report was shared with Group Leaders, Audit Scotland, the Scottish 

Information Commissioner, the SPSO and CEC’s external auditors; and 

3.17.3 A “summary report” dated 24 June 2020 – it is understood this summary report 

was provided to CEC’s Chief Executive and elected members. 

3.18 I understand that an audit trail for the different versions of the Phase I report was 

maintained by the Chief Internal Auditor.  

3.19 The Citizen was not provided with the Final Report or either of the summary reports on 

the basis that legal privilege was asserted by CEC as applying to these reports. The 

Citizen instead received, on 1 July 2020, a document entitled “Outcomes of the Chief 

Internal Auditor’s Investigation of the April 2013 Monitoring Officer Complaint.”   

3.20 Phase II concerned the description of the two earlier reviews as “Monitoring Officer” 

reports. Again, an extensive investigation was undertaken. The Chief Internal Auditor 

spent approximately 325 hours on the second phase review. The Citizen was informed 

on 12 November 2019 that an investigation would be conducted into the description of 

two reports as Monitoring Officer reports. The investigation concluded 17 months later 

at the end of March 2021. The Citizen was provided with a copy of the full Phase II 

report on 7 June 2021. 

3.21 Since receiving the Phase II Report, the Citizen has sent fifteen emails to CEC’s Chief 

Executive entitled “scrutiny #”. The emails essentially seek to challenge the Chief 

Internal Auditor’s findings by pointing out potential factual errors, setting out alleged 

facts which the Citizen considered to be missing from the Phase II report and to 

information of which the Citizen is aware, which in the Citizen’s opinion undermines the 

findings. The Citizen has sought the disclosure of the evidence reviewed and for 

statements and findings to be amended or withdrawn. As a response to these scrutiny 

emails, CEC’s Chief Executive has asked the Convener of GRBV to review both the 

Page 209



  

 125 

Phase I and Phase II reports and the underlying materials and to assess whether they 

are satisfied that the conclusions reached are appropriately based on the evidence 

reviewed. Given my terms of reference and in light of the review by the Convener of the 

GRBV, I have not commented on the factual findings of the Phase I and Phase II 

reviews. However, I do make observations on the approach taken to those reviews.  

4. MY OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

4.1 Mediation: The Citizen has previously expressed a desire to mediate their remaining 

concerns and the SPSO has recommend that outstanding matters be addressed by way 

of mediation. On 11 May 2021, I made an interim recommendation to CEC’s Chief 

Executive that CEC take forward mediation with the Citizen to attempt to reach a 

mutually agreeable resolution. This is a case where, having considered the extensive 

material available to the Review Team in relation to these matters, while not being 

required to determine the merits, I can understand and empathise with the respective 

positions and interests of both parties. I understand the Citizen’s position that CEC has 

not done right by the Citizen and the Citizen’s family. I also understand the Chief 

Executive’s position about the extensive investigations and engagement that has taken 

place over the last decade and which have continued after the failings concerning child 

safety were acknowledged by CEC in 2012 and 2015. Parties need to come together to 

try and find a path through the outstanding issues and the Citizen and the Chief 

Executive have both committed to engage constructively in this process. Since my 

interim recommendation was made, steps have been taken to identify a mediator but 

agreement on the mediator and the approach to mediation has not yet been reached. I 

would urge the Citizen and CEC’s Chief Executive to proceed to mediate as soon 

as possible. 

4.2 Complaints handling and early resolution: There is the possibility that effective 

complaints handling processes could have prevented the Citizen’s complaints from 

escalating.  It is clear from the papers I have read that personnel dealing with the initial 

complaints were ill-equipped to do so and were, at times, overwhelmed with the volume 

of information, correspondence and issues. It is important that CEC has in place and 

maintains effective complaints handling processes which seek to resolve concerns 

consensually and without unnecessary delay. I am aware that CEC’s Complaints 

Handling procedure was revised in February 2013; on 31 October 2017, it was reported 

to GRBV that a strategic complaints function had been established as part of CEC’s 

Information Governance Unit to provide a more coherent and strategic approach to the 

management of complaints throughout CEC; in 2018, CEC’s Complaints Handling 

Procedure was updated; and an updated Corporate Complaints Policy was approved 

on 23 February 2021 by the Policy and Sustainability Committee.  It is therefore 

Page 210



  

 126 

unnecessary for me to make any specific recommendations about CEC’s complaints 

handling processes and I would simply observe that it is important that the 

improvements in complaints handling are sustained and subject to regular testing and 

auditing.  

4.3 Apologies: Following the First Internal Review, the former Director of the former 

Children and Families Directorate and the Citizen’s family came close to agreeing a joint 

statement about what had occurred which would have embodied a fulsome apology to 

the Citizen’s family, but the joint statement was not issued. That was a missed 

opportunity for CEC to have shown proper contrition and to learn from past mistakes. 

There was an apology in September 2014 which apologised for past mistakes and the 

subsequent apology in 2015 was fulsome and it was stated to be an unreserved apology 

to the Citizen’s family, but the Citizen’s view is the apology concerned only the events 

of 2013. The Citizen does not consider that their family has received a complete 

apology. This may well be an issue that can be discussed through the conduit of 

mediation.   

4.4 Remediation: The initial attempts in 2010/2011 to blame the school’s failings on the 

Citizen’s child and the delay of 15 months to investigate the failings which ultimately 

entirely vindicated the concerns of the Citizen and their family were deeply regretful.  

Following the incidents in 2010 and the failures to properly address the Citizen’s 

complaints until 2012, the Citizen’s child was negatively affected by an additional 

neglectful service failure in 2013. Since 2019, CEC has implemented a process to check 

that the recommendations made in whistleblowing investigations are actioned. 

However, a recurring theme of internal audit reports and from the witnesses to whom 

the Review Team has spoken is that CEC struggles to implement and maintain remedial 

actions which arise from complaints, grievances, SPSO and regulatory decisions, and 

other assurance exercises. It is imperative that the recommendations coming out of 

complaints, internal audits, assurance exercise and external reviews (including, in 

particular, adverse findings by the SPSO or a regulatory body) are carefully considered 

and, where the recommendations are accepted, there needs to be a process to ensure 

remedial actions are followed through. CEC acknowledges this point and CLT has 

approved the establishment of an Assurance Management Framework. Operations 

Managers, and other staff are also being appointed by each Directorate specifically to 

provide and seek assurance that remedial actions and recommendations are 

implemented and that those improvements are sustained. In addition, I observe that 

consideration should be given to any adverse regulatory or ombudsman decisions also 

being subject to governance oversight by the GRBV.  

Page 211



  

 127 

4.5 Completing investigations in a reasonable timeframe: Part of the reason the former 

senior employee in the (then) Children and Families Directorate was not investigated by 

CEC was because the Citizen had referred their concerns to the GTCS and CEC did 

not consider it appropriate to have a concurrent investigation. Although that decision 

was made back in 2013, I am concerned that it could be repeated. CEC should not 

pause or defer internal investigations and disciplinary processes, except in exceptional 

cases where the police or an external regulator require them to stop investigating 

concurrently. In addition, and as noted below, I am also concerned about the time taken 

to conclude the Phase I and Phase II reviews by the Chief Internal Auditor and a greater 

focus on concluding investigations in a reasonable timeframe is needed. For balance, I 

note that the First and Second External Reviews were thorough and delivered in a 

reasonable time frame.  

4.6 Independent investigators: The decision to appoint an external solicitor for the First 

and Second External Review is commendable. However, the decision to appoint the 

Deputy Monitoring Officer to investigate the serious allegations made against the Chief 

Executive in October 2018 opened CEC to criticism by the Citizen because the Deputy 

Monitoring Officer was also a member of the in-house legal team. On the information 

available to the Review Team and subject to the caveat that I have not investigated the 

underlying facts or merits of the respective positions, it appears that the Deputy 

Monitoring Officer is a highly able, hard-working and robust professional. I note that the 

Deputy Monitoring Officer proceeded with the investigation having first checked the 

independence consideration with an external solicitor. I therefore do not have reason to 

doubt their integrity and I am content that the Deputy Monitoring Officer proceeded in 

accordance with the legal advice received but they were put in a position of investigating 

the actions of the person to whom they ultimately reported and the Citizen’s perception 

that they could not act independently and objectively was understandable.  Where 

serious allegations are made against the Chief Executive or other Executive 

Directors, I would recommend that CEC outsources the investigation to a non-

panel law firm or counsel with experience in the conduct of investigations. I 

appreciate that the Monitoring Officer has statutory and personal duties under section 5 

of the 1989 Act to investigate and report on matters amounting to illegality or 

maladministration but there is not a bar to the Monitoring Officer engaging an 

independent law firm or counsel to conduct the underlying investigation and advising 

the Monitoring Officer on the conclusions that should be reached. For completeness, I 

should note that I am not calling for any issues in this case to be re-investigated as I am 

strongly of the view that the material issues have been investigated and mediation is 

the only viable way forward. I am also not making any criticism, express or implied, of 

the investigation conducted or of the Deputy Monitoring Officer.  

Page 212



  

 128 

4.7 Chief Internal Auditor Phase I and Phase II reports: It is clear to me that the Chief 

Internal Auditor is an experienced internal auditor and, again subject to the caveat that 

I have not reviewed the underlying factual basis for the conclusions reached in the 

Phase I and Phase II reports, I have no reason to doubt their integrity, independence 

and professionalism. I observe that the Chief Internal Auditor conducts numerous 

internal audits every year some of which are highly critical of CEC processes, 

departments and service failures. However, the following process points concerning the 

Phase I and Phase II reviews are relevant from a thematic perspective:  

4.7.1 The decision to conduct the review internally: While the rationale for the 

time taken is set out in the Phase I and Phase II reports, both reviews took a 

long time to conclude. Given the Chief Internal Auditor’s extensive internal 

audit programme, it would have been preferable for the reviews to be 

conducted by an external professional working to set timescales for the 

delivery of the findings.   

4.7.2 Statement to the Citizen that they sought to influence the review’s 

outcome: There are statements in the Phase I and Phase II reports that the 

Citizen sought to influence the outcome of the investigation. I understand 

statements concerning any influence perceived to have been asserted are a 

common feature of internal audit practice and to accord with Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards. I also understand that CEC officers need to set 

boundaries and express professional concerns in a reasoned manner when 

appropriate. However, in this context the statements have served to 

antagonise the Citizen and it has reduced their trust in the credibility of the 

reviews conducted. Going forward, I encourage those who write investigation 

reports to be cautious about criticising complainers who have every right to try 

and persuade the investigator to side with their version of the events as long 

as they do so lawfully.  

4.7.3 The different versions of the Phase I report: Although I understand an audit 

trail was maintained, the production of different versions of reports for 

distribution to various audiences carries with it a risk of confusion and for 

persons to question why there are multiple versions of a report which appear 

to be in final form. Where a summary report is produced it should make clear 

that it is a summary of a longer form report. Version control is also important. 

If a document is a draft it should be clearly marked as a draft to avoid any 

confusion that it may be the final report.   

Page 213



  

 129 

4.8 The decision to stop corresponding with the Citizen: CEC needs to be able to end 

communications when a citizen continues to pursue matters which have been 

investigated and addressed. The problem with the decision in this particular case was 

that CEC had not followed through on a commitment given to investigate the former 

senior employee should the GTCS not reach conclusions (I appreciate that the decision 

was upheld by the SPSO but it still amounted to a reversal of a previous commitment); 

and CEC had given incorrect responses to freedom of information requests concerning 

the Second Internal Review. While the Citizen is persistent and demanding in seeking 

responses to their concerns and complaints, the Scottish Information Commissioner did 

not consider the Citizen’s freedom of information requests to be vexatious and the 

SPSO observed in May 2020 that the decision to stop corresponding with the Citizen 

was not working as intended and it had led to the Citizen making several submissions 

to the SPSO and other regulatory bodies. Any decision to cease communications with 

a complainer must be on solid grounds, it should reference and follow CEC’s “Managing 

Customer Contact in a Fair and Positive Way Policy” and it should be kept under review. 

Going forward, I recommend that any decision to cease communication with a 

complainer or an external whistleblower follows and references that guidance 

document and that any decision is notified to GRBV in writing to ensure proper 

oversight. I recognise that freedom of information laws can operate to mean that CEC 

are unable to desist completely from responding to communications by a complainer.  

4.9 I reiterate that I am not calling for any aspects of this matter to be reinvestigated. I am 

convinced that mediation is the only viable way forward for both the Citizen and CEC. 

 

 

  

Page 214



  

 130 

APPENDIX 4 

CASE STUDY 2 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This Case Study concerns a historical whistleblowing disclosure, which was made by 

an employee of CEC, who is referred to as the “Whistleblower”. The whistleblowing 

disclosure made by the Whistleblower pre-dates CEC’s current Whistleblowing Policy, 

but I have decided to refer to the case because it demonstrates the importance of 

responding to whistleblowing reports in a proper and robust manner. I also wish to 

reassure Councillors who have on-going concerns about this case that it has been 

reviewed by me for the purpose of making thematic recommendations. However, in line 

with the Review Terms of Reference I have not considered the merits of the allegations 

which form the subject of the disclosure.   

1.2 I have shown the Case Study to the Whistleblower, their spouse and current relevant 

CEC officers. Councillors familiar with this case will recognise who it concerns but I have 

sought to anonymise the details with the objective of minimising the anxiety to those 

involved in the history of the matter. I do not mention people by name but with the aim 

of being transparent, where I have considered it appropriate, I have provided job titles 

or role descriptions.  

1.3 I also do not comment on all aspects of this case because to do so would be a lengthy 

and convoluted exercise and would go beyond the scope of the Review’s Terms of 

Reference. I am also aware that there is the potential for further litigation between the 

Whistleblower / their spouse and CEC. 

1.4 The issues associated with this case started after the Whistleblower made a 

whistleblowing disclosure in 2002 (the “Disclosure”). The Disclosure concerned 

allegations of misuse of public funds, misappropriation of intellectual property rights and 

employees working for their own company in breach of their contracts of employment 

with CEC. No attempt was made to investigate the allegations contained in the 

Disclosure at the time it was made. Instead, the CEC officer tasked with investigating 

the matter undertook enquiries to establish who the whistleblower was.  

1.5 Once the CEC officer established the identity of the whistleblower, disciplinary 

proceedings were taken against the Whistleblower. In 2004, following a disciplinary 

investigation and hearing, the Whistleblower was given a written warning for making the 

Disclosure. 

Page 215



  

 131 

1.6 The Whistleblower appealed the outcome of the disciplinary matter internally and, 

following delays to the appeal, instigated an Employment Tribunal claim against CEC. 

In December 2005, the Whistleblower was successful with the Employment Tribunal 

claim.  

2. DETRIMENT SUFFERED BY THE WHISTLEBLOWER, THEIR FAMILY AND 
OTHERS 

2.1 Whilst the various proceedings referred to above were ongoing, and afterwards, the 

Whistleblower, their family and various others suffered several forms of harassment, 

which are believed by the Whistleblower and their spouse to have been perpetrated by 

CEC employees (although later investigations failed to identify the perpetrators). For 

example: the Whistleblower’s emails were spoofed; the Whistleblower’s email address 

was made public online; and the Tribunal findings were posted online and sent to the 

Whistleblower’s colleagues. Furthermore, derogatory comments were posted on 

Councillors’ blogs, various websites and on Edinburgh Evening News forums about the 

Whistleblower and the Whistleblower’s family. Personal, family, and medical records 

were also disclosed to the public. It was not only the Whistleblower who suffered this 

harassment – their spouse, their family and various others were also subject to 

sustained harassment during the period.    

2.2 In 2006, while the harassment was ongoing, the Whistleblower made a further 

application to the Employment Tribunal on the basis that CEC or its employees had 

subjected them to detrimental treatment because of the protected disclosures that the 

Whistleblower had made. The matter was ultimately settled by the parties and as part 

of the settlement agreement, the Whistleblower was transferred to work in a different 

division within CEC.  

2.3 The Whistleblower’s spouse is also an employee of CEC. Some of their line managers 

were connected to those who were the subject of the Disclosure. As a result of this 

connection, the Whistleblower’s spouse was disadvantaged in the type of work that they 

were given to do and they were the victim of repeated incidents of harassment. This 

included being sent pornography to their work computer, from a CEC IP address, 

although it should be noted that PwC later confirmed that they did not consider that this 

was sent from within the CEC network but rather was likely to be a network breach by 

perpetrators unknown. PwC could not however determine the exact origin of the email. 

2.4 In addition, there were significant issues in relation to the construction and maintenance 

of the CEC premises at which the Whistleblower’s spouse worked, including allegations 

of misconduct on the part of the CEC officers involved in the commission and build of 

the premises and the various defects. The Whistleblower and their spouse made various 

Page 216



  

 132 

connections between the Disclosure and the issues at the premises, although this direct 

link has never been evidenced or proven.  

2.5 In 2015, two reports were produced in relation to the premises. One report was 

conducted by an external firm and related to the various maintenance issues. The other 

report was conducted by CEC’s (then) Chief Internal Auditor and related to the conduct 

of officers involved in the construction of the premises. The latter report was 

commissioned by CEC’s (then) Monitoring Officer. That latter report acknowledged that 

there was a perception amongst CEC staff that there was a link between the Disclosure 

and the issues at the premises, however, as noted above, this was not proven. The 

Whistleblower and their family remain of the view that there was a link.  

2.6 The outcomes of the two reports referred to above were reported to GRBV in 2015. 

Neither the Whistleblower nor their spouse were provided with copies of the reports 

produced. The Management Committee of the premises was provided with a redacted 

copy of the second report and later a full version of the first report. The Whistleblower’s 

spouse, in their capacity as a health and safety officer of the premises, with the legal 

responsibilities that involves, requested a copy of the external report from CEC but this 

was refused. In November 2015, the Whistleblower’s spouse attended a meeting with 

the (then) Monitoring Officer, the (then) Head of Legal, a Councillor and the Chairperson 

of the Management Committee of the premises to discuss the second report. The 

Monitoring Officer agreed that further investigation was required and following this 

meeting an action plan was produced. One of the action points was “Whistleblowing 

matter – further investigation: Remit to be agreed between whistleblower, [a Councillor], 

Deputy Chief Executive and Head of Legal as soon as possible”.  

3. THE PWC INVESTIGATION AND REPORT 

3.1 In November 2015, CEC engaged PwC to undertake an independent review into the 

unresolved issues between CEC, the Whistleblower and their spouse. Following 

completion of the review, PwC produced a report of their findings (the “PwC Report”) 

and CEC issued an apology to the Whistleblower. However, the Whistleblower does not 

consider CEC’s apology to be accurate, due to a qualification. Although the apology 

stated “The report confirmed that PwC are of the view that maladministration by the 

Council and its officers has occurred, specifically with regard to the failure to treat you 

properly and appropriately in response to the allegations made by you. In light of this 

finding, on behalf of the Council please accept my unreserved apologies.”, it was 

qualified in that it further stated, “The Council recognises that the behaviour of some of 

its former employees is completely unacceptable and the Council has already taken 

positive steps to address the shortcomings identified. …”. The Whistleblower contends 

Page 217



  

 133 

that it was not the case that all those who had engaged in the harassment of the 

Whistleblower were former employees at the time that the apology was issued and that 

there were a number of current employees (at the time the apology was issued) who 

had engaged in the harassment but who had had no action taken against them. 

3.2 The Whistleblower and their spouse also received redacted extracts from the PwC 

Report, which CEC considered was the most it could do consistent with its obligations 

under data protection legislation. CEC informed the Whistleblower and their spouse that 

they were not entitled to be provided with a copy of the full PwC Report. The position of 

the Whistleblower and their spouse is that they had only agreed with a CEC officer to 

participate in the review and to provide information to PwC on the basis that they would 

obtain a copy of the full unredacted PwC Report on completion. However, when the 

PwC Report was completed, CEC refused to provide it to the Whistleblower and their 

spouse. There was a dispute over this matter, in which CEC did not accept that there 

was evidence of an agreement to this effect and, in any event, considered that data 

protection law prevented them from providing a full and unredacted copy of the PwC 

Report to the Whistleblower and their spouse, no matter whether that had been 

previously agreed.  

3.3 As a result, the Whistleblower and their spouse raised legal proceedings against CEC 

to obtain a copy of the PwC Report. The Sheriff determined, on the balance of 

probabilities, that a CEC officer had agreed to give the Whistleblower and their spouse 

a copy of the final unredacted PwC report. Separately, the Sheriff was not persuaded 

that data protection laws served to prohibit the supply of the PwC Report to the 

Whistleblower and their spouse, largely due to the lack of detailed submissions made 

by the parties in relation to the data protection issues. CEC was therefore ordered to 

provide the Whistleblower and their spouse with a full, unredacted copy of the PwC 

Report. As a consequence, the full unredacted PwC Report has now been provided to 

the Whistleblower and their spouse.  

4. MY OBSERVATIONS 

4.1 CEC’s decision to withhold the PwC Report: I am aware that some Councillors do 

not accept that CEC acted properly in withholding the PwC Report from the 

Whistleblower and their spouse. On the basis of a limited waiver of privilege, I have 

reviewed external legal advice provided to CEC on whether the PwC Report could be 

voluntarily disclosed, and I am satisfied that CEC acted in accordance with the legal 

advice received and therefore acted properly and reasonably in withholding the PwC 

Report.  

Page 218



  

 134 

4.2 Preventing recurrence: There are important lessons to be taken on board to prevent 

recurrence of the issues that arose in this case. These are as follows: 

4.2.1 Ensuring whistleblowers are protected from prejudicial treatment and 

that whistleblowing investigations are conducted properly and robustly. 

I do not consider that the issues which arose in this case are likely to be 

repeated, given that CEC now operates an independent whistleblowing 

reporting service, and that oversight is exercised by the independent 

whistleblowing provider, CEC’s Whistleblowing Team, and GRBV. However, 

the case demonstrates the important of vigilance and why a robust process 

and governance of that process is of paramount importance;  

4.2.2 managing expectations of whistleblowers at the outset in relation to 

what can and cannot be shared with them;  

4.2.3 accurate and contemporaneous minuting of meetings with 

whistleblowers and other interested parties to avoid subsequent 

disagreement about what was said; 

4.2.4 the need to carefully consider CEC’s approach to withholding 

documents and information based on data protection principles; and  

4.2.5 CEC should, where possible, resist signing up to any external third 

parties’ terms and conditions which seek to restrict the provision of 

commissioned external reports to third parties. This is considered to be 

contrary to a transparent culture, in which employees, service users, 

Councillors or others may have a legitimate interest in having sight of 

such reports or excerpts from them.  

4.3 Apologies given by CEC: as noted above, the Whistleblower received an apology from 

CEC following the conclusion of PwC’s investigation which the Whistleblower does not 

consider to be accurate, due to a qualification. While the Review has not investigated 

the merits of whether all the actors involved in these matters had in fact left CEC by the 

time the apology was issued (i.e. whether the apology was “accurate” or not), CEC 

should carefully consider the wording of apologies issued to whistleblowers and any 

qualifications which are included in them. I have been advised that CEC are re-

considering the question of the apology issued to the Whistleblower. Furthermore, 

relating to apologies issued by CEC in relation to this case, I have not seen any evidence 

that CEC ever formally apologised to the Whistleblower’s spouse. I am aware that this 

is a matter that CEC is currently considering.    

Page 219



  

 135 

APPENDIX 5 

CASE STUDY 3 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 On 4 February 2019, a CEC Social Worker (“SW”) made a disclosure, firstly to the CEC 

Governance Team and then to Safecall, the external whistleblowing provider for CEC. 

The central concern of the SW was an allegation of failure to protect children under the 

supervision of CEC. The SW later made allegations (initially through a CEC Councillor, 

who then contacted Police Scotland) that another child was not being protected. This 

involved contact with Police Scotland and the (then) Head of Children’s Services in the 

period February to September 2020, both in relation to the children mentioned in 

February 2019 and the other child. 

1.2 The SW was also the subject of a disciplinary process, which resulted in the SW’s 

dismissal from CEC. The SW has made a claim to an Employment Tribunal (“ET”) 

alleging that their dismissal is connected with the making of a disclosure. This is denied 

by CEC. In this Case Study, I do not comment on any matters relevant to the disciplinary 

process or the ET proceedings because those are matters which are subject to judicial 

consideration. It is the whistleblowing process and the approach to the public safety 

issues that are of relevance to this Review.  

1.3 I have shown this Case Study to the SW, the relevant CEC officers and Safecall and 

invited representations from them, which I have considered and reflected, where 

appropriate and in line with the evidence, prior to publication.  

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 On 4 February 2019, the SW made a disclosure to the CEC Governance Team. The 

Governance Team met the SW the same day. They advised the SW to contact Safecall 

and the SW did so on 4 February 2019.   

2.2 On 4 February 2019, members of both the CEC’s Governance Team and Legal Team 

took action to check the position of the children about whom the SW had made the 

disclosure. CEC’s Monitoring Officer was also kept informed and there was a discussion 

with him about the appropriate steps to be taken to check the children’s safety. The 

Review Team has seen documentation which provides evidence that those steps were 

taken.  

Page 220



  

 136 

2.3 Following the disclosure being made, the (then) Head of Children’s Services was asked 

by the Monitoring Officer to look into this matter as there were allegations of there being 

a serious safeguarding concern.    

2.4 Further disclosures were made by the SW to Safecall on 5 and 25 February and 26 

June 2019. The Review Team has seen evidence that the (then) Head of Children’s 

Services reviewed the disclosures relevant to the child protection issues raised in 

February 2019. 

2.5 A member of Safecall interviewed the SW on 21 February 2019 and the SW provided a 

bundle of documents related to the disclosures raised. The case was categorised by 

Safecall as “major” (which determined the investigation process to be followed) and an 

investigation methodology was agreed between CEC and Safecall. It was agreed 

between Safecall and CEC that the (then) Head of Children’s Services would investigate 

all the matters raised in the disclosures (both child protection and otherwise), subject to 

oversight by Safecall.  

2.6 The first draft of the outcome of the review by the (then) Head of Children’s Services 

was dated 16 May 2019. It was updated on 23 August 2019 and again in December 

2019. They considered the allegations by the SW relating to the social work practice 

concerning the relevant children and found that there was no case to answer. This 

included checking the relevant information with the assistance of the Legal Team and 

input from professionals with relevant experience. Both Safecall and the (then) Head of 

Children’s Services were further reassured that the children had been involved in the 

independent Children’s Hearing system (which was ongoing until September 2019). 

Various Supervision Orders that formed part of the Children’s Hearing process were 

reviewed by Safecall. However, the SW has expressed concern about the information 

given to the Children’s Hearing Panel.   

2.7 On 19 June 2019, the quarterly whistleblowing report to GRBV included a statement 

that this “major” disclosure had been made. The disclosure was described in the GRBV 

Reporting Tables with the title “Social Worker Practice/Conduct”. The Review Team has 

been advised that, despite this title, CEC officers provided reassurance to GRBV (during 

a discussion on a CEC ‘B agenda’, which was not public) that immediate checks had 

been made upon receipt of the disclosure and that the children were, and remained, 

safe during this period. 

2.8 Separately, the SW raised their concerns with a Councillor. In February 2020, the 

Councillor reported their concerns to Police Scotland. Police Scotland carried out a 

review of the case and provided reassurance to the Councillor on 5 March 2020. The 

Page 221



  

 137 

SW remains concerned about the depth of the review conducted. In about February 

2020, the SW raised further concerns with Police Scotland about another child. The 

child was not clearly identified by the SW, although the SW does not accept this. The 

Review Team has been advised that, given the lack of information, it took from July to 

September 2020 for the (then) Head of Children’s Services and Police Scotland, 

working together, to identify the child referred to by the SW. The Review Team has been 

advised that the (then) Head of Children’s Services confirmed to the Councillor that the 

concerns about all the children had been investigated and that their wellbeing had been 

assured.   

2.9 In May 2020, the investigation by Safecall had been concluded and a final Safecall 

investigation report had been prepared. However, the Safecall investigation report was 

not formally proposed for reporting to GRBV because, by this point, an ET claim had 

been raised by the SW and a decision was taken by CEC and Safecall to pause the 

formal reporting of the outcome of the whistleblowing investigation. I have been advised 

that this was one of the first times that CEC had to consider the issue of cross-over 

between whistleblowing and other formal processes. While the Whistleblowing Policy 

does not explicitly address the approach that should be taken in such circumstances, 

the Whistleblowing Policy is clear that a Safecall investigation report should be sent to 

GRBV once concluded by Safecall.  

2.10 The Review Team has been advised that, on 30 June 2020, the GRBV Convener was 

updated by e-mail that reporting would be delayed due to the ongoing ET process and 

again advised that the children remained safe. The Review Team has been advised that 

there have been subsequent updates to GRBV, and that assurances have been 

provided throughout this period that the children are, and remain, safe. The case has 

continued to appear in the quarterly reporting tables for GRBV. 

2.11 It was proposed that the matter would report to GRBV in December 2020. I have been 

advised that this was on the basis that it was originally expected that the ET proceedings 

would have concluded by then. Initially, a decision was taken by CEC and Safecall 

(apparently in consultation with the GRBV Convener) to delay reporting to GRBV 

because there were pending ET proceedings. Reporting has been further delayed 

because additional information was provided and the view was taken that further issues 

required to be investigated (in July/August 2020, in May 2021 and September 2021) 

based on further allegations received from the SW. It is also noted that the ET timeline 

has been extended and, in addition, the ET case did not conclude on the originally 

scheduled dates which has meant that the ET diet has been split, with the final part now 

being heard in December 2021. The Review Team has been advised that, as the 

updated Safecall investigation report was finalised on 8 October 2021, following the 

Page 222



  

 138 

standard reporting cycle, it will now be sent to GRBV in March 2022. Both the GRBV 

Convener and (I understand) the interested Councillor were updated to this effect by 

email on 8 October 2021. CEC has assured the Review Team that the delay in reporting 

to GRBV has had no impact on child welfare issues. At the time of writing of this case 

study, the SW informs us that they remain unaware of the outcome of the whistleblowing 

investigation. 

3. MY OBSERVATIONS  

3.1 Public Safety: the whistleblowing process can serve no greater purpose than ensuring 

public safety and, in particular, the safety of children under CEC’s care and supervision. 

As the disclosure concerned child safety, I wished to be reassured that, when the 

disclosure was submitted in February 2019, timely steps were taken to check the safety 

of the children. Based on the steps set out above, I am satisfied that the safety of the 

children that the SW raised concerns in relation to in 2019 was immediately checked by 

CEC, through early review by the Legal and Governance Teams and through the 

subsequent review by the (then) Head of Children’s Services. The Review Team has 

seen communications from the Monitoring Officer dated 4 February 2019 (the same day 

as the original disclosure) which stated that the child protection aspect of this matter 

should be prioritised. This involved the Legal and Governance Teams of CEC, as well 

as Safecall. This appears to have been the appropriate process to follow. However, I 

am surprised about the length of time taken to formally report the public safety concerns 

through the appropriate channels, namely (i) the report from the (then) Head of 

Children’s Services (first draft prepared in May 2019 and final version in December 

2019); and (ii) the outcome of the investigation into the disclosures (as set out in the 

Safecall investigation report) to GRBV (which will be reported to GRBV in March 2022).    

3.2 The Review Team has also had to make enquiries to check what had been done to 

ensure that the safety of the children had been ascertained to the satisfaction of 

Children’s Services and therefore CEC. It would have been preferable for the detail of 

the public safety checks taken to have been documented in a record maintained by 

Safecall that could have been immediately provided to the Review Team, when 

requested. Although reassurance can be taken from the investigation into the 

allegations raised by the SW by the (then) Head of Children’s Services before the draft 

report of May 2019, the steps taken to check the safety of the children were not clearly 

explained in the initial quarterly reported provided to GRBV. I understand that such 

reassurance was provided verbally but this was not clearly documented in a way that 

could have provided immediate reassurance to anyone questioning the steps taken. 

The immediate and ongoing steps taken to address any public safety issue raised 

through the whistleblowing process should be recorded in a document 

Page 223



  

 139 

maintained by Safecall and the first quarterly report to GRBV after a disclosure of 

this nature should set out the steps taken, and to be taken, to check on the safety 

concerns reported by the whistleblower.   

3.3 Communication with the SW and Councillor: I have been advised by the CEC 

Governance Team that the SW accepted the reassurances from the CEC Governance 

Team when they contacted CEC throughout this process. However, the SW does not 

accept this. Notwithstanding any reassurances they may have received, the SW 

remains concerned about the safety of the children and has not accepted any 

reassurances that may have been provided to them and which have been provided to 

the Councillor by CEC and Police Scotland. We have been advised that there were 

periodic telephone calls between the SW and the CEC Governance Team, but the SW 

says that no information was provided about the investigation other than it was ongoing. 

The SW does not appear to have been provided with any documentation setting out the 

steps taken and the reasons why the Children’s Services and therefore CEC were 

satisfied that the children were safe.  Going forward, the steps taken by CEC to 

respond to disclosures concerning public safety should be more formally 

documented and, if appropriate, those documents (or appropriately redacted 

versions thereof) shared with a whistleblower and any interested Councillor to 

help to provide reassurance that the safety concerns have been / are being 

addressed. Data protection issues and protecting the rights and interests of any 

relevant children or other members of the public will have to be carefully 

considered in this process but they should not prevent this reporting. There 

should also be clear documentation showing how, and when, any whistleblower 

has been kept up to date with the progress of the matter following the initial 

disclosure (if applicable). 

3.4 Time taken to finalise the Safecall investigation report and to report to GRBV: 

Nearly three years have passed since the initial disclosure in this case and the final 

Safecall investigation report has still not been sent to GRBV for scrutiny. As noted 

above, the Review Team has been advised that it will be sent to GRBV in March 2022. 

While I note that this combination of processes (internal and external) was novel for 

CEC and that further information was received from the SW during the whistleblowing 

process, such delays are too long. The Review Team has been advised that updates 

were given to the GRBV Convenor (often verbally) during this period. There was also a 

delay to the completion of the Safecall investigation pending CEC’s disciplinary process. 

If something comes out of the disciplinary process and/or an ET which necessitates the 

whistleblowing findings being revisited, the Safecall investigation report can be 

reopened. A similar approach can be taken if further information is received from a 

Page 224



  

 140 

whistleblower. The problem with delaying the conclusion of a Safecall  investigation and 

the provision of a Safecall investigation report to GRBV in a case like this is that it 

hinders effective scrutiny of the whistleblowing case. Although I am satisfied that, in this 

case, the child safety concerns were taken seriously, the delays have hindered giving 

this reassurance. GRBV having earlier sight of the Safecall investigation report would 

have provided further documented reassurance. Except in exceptional cases, ET 

proceedings should not delay reporting by the Whistleblowing Team/Safecall to 

GRBV. If there is to be such a delay to the whistleblowing process, the fact that 

such a decision has been taken and the exceptional circumstances for the delay 

should be properly documented in writing and the relevant policy should be 

updated to detail this. Similarly, except in exceptional cases, an ongoing CEC 

disciplinary investigation should not delay completion of a Safecall (or any other 

whistleblowing) investigation. If there is to be such a delay to the whistleblowing 

process, the fact that such a decision has been taken and the exceptional 

circumstances for the delay should be properly documented in writing.  

 

  

Page 225



  

 141 

APPENDIX 6 

NUMBER OF FORMAL WHISTLEBLOWING DISCLOSURES TO SAFECALL 

Date of 
report 

Date period 
covered in 

report 

Number 
of 

“minor” 
reports 

Number 
of 

“major” 
reports 

Total number of 
“minor”/”major” 

reports (not 
including non-

qualifying 
disclosures or 

those 
disclosures still 

to be 
categorised) 

Number of 
management 

referrals 

24.09.2014 12.05.2014 – 
31.07.2014 

6 5 11 0 

23.04.2015 01.08.2014 – 
16.02.2015 

7 2 9 0 

19.10.2015 01.05.2015 – 
31.08.2015 

5 1 6 0 

28.01.2016 01.09.2015 – 
30.11.2015 

5 0 5 1 

21.04.2016 01.12.2015 – 
29.02.2016 

1 1 2 0 

26.09.2016 01.03.2016 – 
30.06.2016 

2 0 2 0 

22.12.2016 01.07.2016 – 
30.09.2016 

2 0 2 0 

09.03.2017 01.10.2016 – 
31.12.2016 

1 1 2 0 

29.08.2017 01.01.2017 – 
30.06.2017 

2 5 7 0 

28.11.2017 01.07.2017 – 
30.09.2017 

0 0 0 0 

20.03.2018 01.10.2017 - 
31.12.2017 

6 0 6 0 

05.06.2018 01.01.2018 – 
31.03.2018 

4 0 4 0 

28.08.2018 01.04.2018 – 
30.06.2018 

11 0 11 0 

Page 226



  

 142 

Date of 
report 

Date period 
covered in 

report 

Number 
of 

“minor” 
reports 

Number 
of 

“major” 
reports 

Total number of 
“minor”/”major” 

reports (not 
including non-

qualifying 
disclosures or 

those 
disclosures still 

to be 
categorised) 

Number of 
management 

referrals 

27.11.2018 01.07.2018 – 
30.09.2018 

1 0 1 0 

19.03.2019 01.10.2018 – 
31.12.2018 

3 0 3 1 

04.06.2019 01.01.2019 – 
31.03.2019 

9 1 10 4 

17.09.2019 01.04.2019 – 
30.06.2019 

3 0 3 0 

03.12.2019 01.07.2019 – 
30.09.2019 

2 0 2 1 

09.06.2020 01.10.2019 – 
31.12.2019  

01.01.2020 – 
31.03.2020 

5 2 7 4 

29.09.2020 01.04.2020 – 
30.06.2020 

1 0 1 0 

08.12.2020 01.07.2020 – 
30.09.2020 

5 1 6 2 

23.03.2021 01.10.2020 – 
31.12.2020 

19 3 22 3 

08.06.2021 01.01.2021 – 
31.03.2021 

9 0 9 2 

21.09.2021 01.04.2021 – 
30.06.2021 

6 0 6 1 

Total 2021 
cases to 
date  

01.01.2021 – 
30.06.2021 

15 0 15 3 

      

TOTAL:  115 22 137 22 

Page 227



  

 143 

APPENDIX 7 

DRAFT EXPECTATION MANAGEMENT PROTOCOL 

These are suggested approaches. The key recommendation is that documents are created that 

will assist CEC and Safecall in keeping a record of what has been done and when, to ensure 

Colleagues are properly informed of how the whistleblowing process works in practice. 

 

Expectation Management Meeting 

This is a suggested form of wording to be used at beginning of whistleblowing processes by 

Safecall. The wording could also be put into an email or communicated via the whistleblowing 

portal. 

 

1. Introduction 

Firstly, thank you for contacting Safecall. It can sometimes be difficult to do so but it is only if 

colleagues speak up that we can try and resolve any issues fairly. 

Do you have a copy of the Whistleblowing Policy?  

If not, I will send you a copy for your information. 

2. Anonymity 

There are different ways that you can provide information to us: 

(1) You can speak with us on an open basis. This means that you are happy for anything you tell 

us to be “on the record” and attributed to you; or 

(2) You can speak with us on a fully anonymous basis, where not even Safecall knows your 

details; or  

(3) You can tell Safecall who you are, but we will not pass your name or details to CEC – this is 

called partially anonymous.  

If you proceed anonymously, fully or partially, please be aware this may limit what we can do to 

respond to your concern and the weight that can be given to what we are told by you.  

There are also some possible limitations on anonymity, even if you select to be anonymous, for 

example a court could order disclosure of information you tell me about yourself. 

Page 228



  

 144 

If your disclosure raises a criminal issue or public safety concern, we may need to tell the 

authorities.  

3. Protecting you from harm 

CEC is determined to protect whistleblowers from any detrimental or harmful treatment. It is vital 

for a healthy culture that colleagues feel comfortable about raising concerns.  If you feel you have 

suffered harm as a result of whistleblowing after making this disclosure, please report that 

immediately to Safecall.  

4. Early-resolution and triage 

CEC wishes to explore whether complaints and concerns are capable of being resolved by 

dialogue between parties. We will consider whether some sort of facilitated discussion may help 

to resolve matters. Is this something you would be willing to explore?  

If matters cannot be resolved or you do not wish to explore early-resolution, we will also consider 

who is most appropriate to look into your concerns. The process by which Safecall assesses 

whether your disclosure is a whistleblowing report or a matter that should be dealt with under 

another CEC process is sometimes called triage. 

Your concern may be investigated by Safecall, or another third party, such as a law firm, but most 

cases are investigated by an Investigating Officer from CEC.  

5. Fact-finding 

It is very important that we have a clear picture of what happened, when it happened and who 

was involved.  Simple first steps like a timeline and a “who’s who?” are very useful. 

Trying to get as full an understanding as we reasonably can is a vital part of the process and 

allows us to determine what should happen next.   

The results of the fact-finding exercise could be used in a number of ways, including to help 

address your concerns and to prevent recurrence. There could also be a further process such as 

an internal disciplinary investigation, for example, where the evidence gathered here might be 

relevant.   

CEC do not want to talk to the same people about the same things more than once if this can be 

avoided so the results of the fact-finding will generally be used for any related processes.  

Page 229



  

 145 

If the matter is serious and you are willing, you might be asked to contribute further (possibly by 

giving a witness statement that could be used in a disciplinary process). You will understand that 

without evidence that can be used, things like disciplinary processes may not be possible. 

If you have any concerns that anyone is unsafe or that criminality is occurring, please tell us. 

It would be helpful to understand if there is an outcome you wish to achieve from making your 

disclosure.  

6. Independence 

If a fact-finding investigation is conducted by an investigating officer from CEC, Safecall will 

oversee the investigation and check that it is conducted independently and fairly. If you have any 

concerns about independence or fairness you can raise your concern with Safecall.  

7. Timing 

There is a balance to be struck between making sure that the investigation is thorough, while not 

taking too long. Delay can mean that memories fade and can result in strain or upset. We want to 

avoid unnecessary delays, but we have to be realistic as things can sometimes take longer for 

good reason.   

The next step is for us to consider if the matter disclosed is suitable for an early resolution process 

and to consider how best to approach matters.  [    ] will be in touch with you about this within 5 

days.   

If the matter proceeds to a fact-finding investigation, our aim is to have any investigation 

completed with 3 months, ideally sooner, although if the matter is complicated it may take longer.  

We will keep you updated but, if you want an update at any time in between our updates, you can 

use [the Safecall portal [    ] or contact [     ]] who will give you more information. 

8. Confidentiality and transparency 

Our aim is to have a good working environment for all.  This means that, while processes are 

ongoing, we might not be able to tell you everything that is happening.  We appreciate that this 

can be frustrating.   

To be fair to everyone, we might not be able to tell you everything that has happened at the end 

of a process and the reasons for that. It might be that there is another process (such as a 

disciplinary investigation) and we may not tell you if that is the outcome, as it would be unfair to 

the person going through that process. If we can reasonably tell you more, we will, but you should 

Page 230



  

 146 

be aware that there are a number of factors that might mean that we cannot do that (such as 

confidentiality and data protection issues). 

Once again, thank you for coming forward to share your experiences.   

 

9. Support 

 

Do you feel that you need any support at this time?  

 

If you are finding things difficult, there is help for you.   

 

These are some examples of the sort of support you might find helpful. You do not need to make 

any decision just now, but it is good to be aware of them. 

 

- access to a confidential contact (such as the Whistleblowing Champion) who can 

provide information and advice on the procedure for raising concerns and support 

during the process; 

- counselling or psychological support; 

- occupational health support; and 

- any changes you might need at work to make things easier. 

 

The [Employee Assistance etc] can be found at [   ] and [   ] will be available to answer general 

questions. 

 

10. Questions? 

Do you have any questions? 

Can I confirm your preferred means of future communication? By phone, by email or via the 

portal? 

As I said I will be in touch again within 5 days and I look forward to speaking to you then. 

 

  

Page 231



  

 147 

APPENDIX 8 

DRAFT MODEL EARLY RESOLUTION PROCESS 

1. The early resolution process is intended for simple and straightforward concerns that 

can be responded to within 5 working days, or less, and which will involve little or no 

investigation. These concerns may be better handled by facilitated dialogue between 

parties, or by the Whistleblowing Team speaking with the subject(s) of the report to see 

if the issue can be addressed informally, without the need for an investigation.   

2. The early resolution process will be suitable where: 

2.1 The matter being reported is capable of being quickly and consensually remedied; 

2.2 The matter being reported may not meet the legal test for being a whistleblowing report 

and, but for the early resolution process applying, may be handled under a different 

CEC policy; 

2.3 The matter being reported is unlikely to trigger a disciplinary investigation; or 

2.4 The person making the report wishes for the matter to be handled, at least initially, by 

way of a more low-key, consensual, approach aimed at maintaining relationships, while 

also addressing the concern.  

3. The following timeline will apply after a concern is raised: 

3.1 Within 1 working day of receiving a report, Safecall will assess whether any immediate 

action needs to be taken to prevent any criminality and to ensure colleague or service 

user safety; 

3.2 Within 4 working days of receiving a report and as part of its triaging process, Safecall 

will liaise with the Whistleblowing Team and, as appropriate, the Directorate’s 

Whistleblowing Champion and the HR Department, to consider if the report is capable 

of being handled through an early resolution process as an alternative to a 

whistleblowing investigation being commenced or diversion to other CEC policies. The 

following will be considered: 

3.2.1 What outcomes the person reporting the concerns is hoping to achieve, and 

whether these are possible; 

3.2.2 What action CEC needs to take to put things right, and appropriate timescales 

for this;  

Page 232



  

 148 

3.2.3 Whether all the issues are appropriate for consensual resolution or whether it 

would be appropriate to handle some of the concerns under a different 

process;  

3.2.4 Whether the person who raised the concern needs any occupational health or 

well-being support and how to provide that support; and 

3.2.5 Whether the report raises any patterns of behaviour known to Safecall, the 

Whistleblowing Team, the Whistleblowing Champion and/or the HR 

Department.  

3.3 As part of the triaging process, Safecall will have a discussion with the reporter to 

establish: 

3.3.1 What exactly the reporter is concerned about; 

3.3.2 Who else is involved;  

3.3.3 The best way to maintain the reporter’s confidentiality (if applicable); and  

3.3.4 Whether the concern can be responded to in 5 working days (or less), or 

whether it should be referred for investigation.  

4. If Safecall considers, having triaged matters within 5 working days, as per the steps in 

paragraph 3, that the report cannot be handled through the early resolution process, the 

report will be considered by Safecall and the Whistleblowing Team for further triaging 

and potential investigation or diversion to other CEC policies. Where a whistleblowing 

investigation is required, the target for completing the investigation and providing the 

reporter with a response should be within 3 months of the initial report being received. 

Updates should be provided to the reporter during this period. 

5. If Safecall considers that the report can be handled through the early resolution process, 

the reporter will receive, within 5 working days of the report being made, a response 

which must: 

5.1.1 Respond to all the issues raised; 

5.1.2 Explain the proposed next steps to deal with the concern(s) raised; and 

5.1.3 Be in writing (unless it has been agreed with the reporter that this is not 

needed).  

5.2 The proposed next steps may include: 

Page 233



  

 149 

5.2.1 A member of the Whistleblowing Team, the HR Department or another team 

speaking to a relevant manager about the concerns raised, ascertaining the 

manager’s position and establishing whether steps can be taken by the 

manager and/or other colleagues to address the concerns; 

5.2.2 A member of the Whistleblowing or HR Department helping to facilitate a 

discussion between the reporter and the colleague(s) about whom they have 

a concern; or 

5.2.3 Another team, such as the Health and Safety Team, offering to provide further 

support to the manager/department in question. 

6. If Safecall or the Whistleblowing Team are unable to provide the reporter with a 

response within 5 working days, they must tell the reporter why they are not able to 

meet the 5-day timescale and when the reporter can expect a response.  

7. The proposed next steps will only be taken with the agreement of the reporter and 

subject to a discussion about the best way to maintain the reporter’s confidentiality, 

should they wish to remain confidential.  

8. The proposed next steps will be taken within 20 working days of the initial report being 

submitted and the steps taken must be recorded in a log maintained by the 

Whistleblowing Team and shared with Safecall for reporting purposes.  

9. After 30 working days, Safecall (for anonymous reports) or the Whistleblowing Team 

(for reports where the reporter’s identity is known) will speak to the reporter to ascertain 

if the reporter is content that their concern(s) have been addressed. 

10. If the reporter is not content that the concern(s) have been addressed, the report will go 

back to Safecall and the Whistleblowing Team for further triaging and potential 

investigation or diversion to other CEC policies. Where an investigation is required, the 

target for completing the investigation and providing the reporter with a response should 

be within 3 months of the initial report being received.  

 

 

 

 

Page 234



  

 150 

TIMETABLE – DRAFT MODEL EARLY RESOLUTION PROCESS ROUTE 

All references to days are working days from Initial Report (IR); and months are calendar months. 

Time 

from IR 

Action Paragraph 

Day 0 Initial Report by whistleblower  

Day 1 Safecall will assess whether any immediate action needs to be 

taken to prevent any criminality and to ensure colleague or service 

user safety 

3.1 

Day 5 Triaging process to consider if the report is capable of being 
handled through an early resolution process. 
 

- If matter is capable of early resolution, response to 

reporter responding to all concerns and outlining proposed 

next steps; or 

- If matter not capable of early resolution, return to triaging 

process to consider investigation / diversion to other CEC 

policies; or 

- If Safecall are unable to provide a response within 5 days, 

they must tell the reporter why they are not able to meet 

the 5-day timescale and when the reporter can expect a 

response; 

 

3.2 

 

 

5 

 

 

4 

 

 

6 

Day 20 Next steps to be taken and logged 7 and 8 

Day 30 Ascertain whether the reporter is content that their concern(s) have 

been addressed. 

- If not, report to go back to Safecall for triaging and further 

investigation 

9 and 10 

3 

months 

Any whistleblowing investigation commenced to be concluded and 

reporter provided with a response 

10 

 

Page 235



  

 151 

APPENDIX 9 

DRAFT WHISTLEBLOWING PRINCIPLES 

1. All reports will be handled openly and transparently while also recognising and 

respecting that everyone involved has the right to confidentiality and for their personal 

data to be protected; 

2. We encourage early resolution where appropriate and, where early resolutions are not 

appropriate for investigations and proposed resolutions to be completed within 3 months 

in the majority of cases; 

3. We treat all concerns seriously and will conduct thorough but proportionate 

investigations using a consistent investigation methodology;  

4. We respect the confidentiality of any person who raises a concern as far as the law 

allows, unless the reporting person agrees that we do not have to; 

5. We offer support and protection to all staff, volunteers and service users who raise a 

concern or who are directly involved in a concern;  

6. Staff investigating concerns will be impartial, independent and accountable. They must 

not be involved in investigations where they have a conflict of interest, or may be seen 

to have a conflict of interest; 

7. The people who conduct investigations will have appropriate skills, experience and 

knowledge;  

8. We will publish timescales and meet them whenever possible. If timescales are not met 

for a good reason, the person who raised the concern will be informed of the revised 

timescale; 

9. The outcomes of investigations will set out what actions will be taken, or have been 

taken, to put things right or improve practice;  

10. Following an investigation, we will ensure that any lessons learned are shared locally 

and more widely across the organisation; and 

11. We will identify trends and highlight problems, with the overall purpose of continuously 

improving the way services are provided and concerns are handled. 

Page 236



 

 
The City of Edinburgh Council 
 

10.00am, Thursday 16 December 2021 

Review of Political Management Arrangements – 

December 2021   

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards All 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 To agree to hold virtual meetings for executive committees and the Governance, 

Risk and Best Value Committee and to delegate authority to the Chief Executive to 

reinstate hybrid meetings when the public health situation improves.  

1.2 To agree that once hybrid executive committee and Governance, Risk and Best 

Value Committee meetings resume, these hybrid arrangements will stay in place 

until the Scottish Government’s working from home guidance is changed or lifted, or 

until the next significant review of the political management arrangements after the 

election in May 2022, whichever comes first.   

1.3 To note that meetings of the City of Edinburgh Council will continue to be virtual 

until the Council removes the physical distancing requirement in its buildings, 

whereupon a report would be brought to Council to consider the reimplementation 

of physical Council meetings;  

1.4 To agree that the current Interim Standing Orders continue until the next review of 

the political management arrangements.  

 
Stephen S. Moir 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 
 
Contact: Hayley Barnett, Corporate Governance Manager 
Legal and Assurance Division, Corporate Services Directorate 
E-mail: Hayley.barnett@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 3996 

Page 237

Agenda Item 7.2



City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

 
Report 
 

Review of Political Management Arrangements – 

December 2021   

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The report sets out the proposed meeting arrangements to carry out Council and 

Committee business going forward.   

 

3. Background 

3.1 In response to the Covid-19 emergency; specifically, to establish quick and agile 

decision making, manage the pressure on staff, and prioritise frontline services; 

interim political management arrangements were implemented.  

3.2 Arrangements have been reviewed at regular and appropriate points during this 

period – April 2020, August 2020, December 2020, March 2021, June 2021 and 

August 2021 

3.3 At its meeting in June 2021 the Council agreed, following a move to protection level 

zero, a phased approach to the resumption of committee meetings starting with 

executive committees and the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee 

(GRBV). 

3.4 At its meeting in August 2021 the Council agreed that meetings of the City of 

Edinburgh Council would remain virtual until physical distancing restrictions 

changed, when a report would be brought to Council to consider the 

reimplementation of physical Council meetings.   

3.5  The advice from Scottish Government to work from home, where possible, is still in 

place and was reinforced by the First Minister in her statement on 29 November 

2021.  As a result, elected members and officers are currently only able to access 

the office space in the City Chambers on the day of executive committee meetings 

(if attending the committee). 

3.6  At its meeting on 5 October 2021, the Policy and Sustainability Committee 

approved the Council’s Our Future Work Strategy with a number of teams trialling 

new ways of working in council buildings.    

 

Page 238



City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

3.7 On 29 November 2021, the First Minister provided an update on the current position 

in Scotland.  She confirmed the number of cases of Covid-19 across Scotland 

remains stable.  However, the Omicron variant is posing a new risk.  Information on 

the variant at this stage is limited. Early indications suggest Omicron may be more 

transmissible than current variants and it may carry an increased risk if reinfection.  

There is currently no information that the symptoms are any different or that the 

symptoms caused by this variant are more severe.   

3.8 On the 7 December 2021, the First Minister provided a further update on the current 

position in Scotland and the Omicron variant.  A total of 99 cases of Omicron have 

been detected in Scotland – a tenfold increase in the space of a week (figure from 7 

December 2021).  The First Minister said she expected the number of cases to 

increase.  She also said employers should ensure that all staff who can work from 

home are able to, until at least the middle of January.   

  

4. Main report 

Executive Committees and the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee 

4.1 The Policy and Sustainability Committee meeting on 5 October 2021 was the first 

hybrid committee meeting to take place.  The list at appendix one details the 

committees that have taken place on a hybrid basis and the number of elected 

members in attendance.   

4.2 There are practical issues that arise from hybrid meetings which means procedural 

matters can be more complicated, however officers were able to manage these 

challenges and all hybrid meetings have worked well.   

4.3 As set out in appendix one, following a request from the Committee/Convener or 

due to limited demand from elected members to physically attend the committee 

meeting, the Proper Officer (Service Director: Legal and Assurance), in consultation 

with the relevant Convener, determined that the majority of executive committee 

meetings were to revert to remote only.    

4.4 During this period, officers presenting reports at hybrid meetings attended virtually.  

The only officers physically attending meetings were 1-2 lead officers, committee 

officers and an audio-visual technician.  Additionally, deputations attended 

remotely, and members of the public/press were encouraged to attend meetings 

remotely. As previously advised, this will be reviewed when the work from home 

guidance is changed or lifted.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 239



City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

4.5 Due to the success of the hybrid meetings, it was to be  recommended that the 

Council continues to hold hybrid meetings for executive committees and the 

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee until the working from home guidance 

is changed or lifted, or until the next significant review of the political management 

arrangements after the election in May 2022,  whichever comes first.  However, due 

to the increased cases of the Omicron variant and the First Minister’s statements of 

29 November and 7 December, it is recommended that the Council reverts back to 

holding virtual only meetings for executive committees and the Governance, Risk 

and Best Value Committee and delegates authority to the Chief Executive to 

reinstate hybrid meetings, as described earlier in the report,  if the public health 

situation improves. 

The City of Edinburgh Council 

4.6 A one metre physical distancing rule is still being applied by the Council in its 

buildings.  Therefore, Council is still unable to meet in the City Chambers with all 63 

members whilst maintaining a physical distance of 1m.  

Other Committees and Sub-Committees (as set out in the Committee Terms of

 Reference and Delegated Functions) and Working Groups 

4.7 As noted above, we have safely carried out hybrid executive and GRBV committee 

meetings, however the demand from elected members to attend physically has 

been limited.    

4.8 At its meeting in August 2021, the Council agreed to delegate to the Chief 

Executive, in consultation with conveners and vice-conveners, to agree an 

appropriate time for further physical committee meetings to recommence, following 

the successful implementation of physical meetings of executive committees.  Due 

to the work from home guidance still being in place, operational service demands, 

the limited uptake from members to attend physical meetings, and, more recently 

the emergency of the Omicron variant, a further expansion of hybrid meetings to 

other committees and sub-committees has not yet been taken.  This will continue to 

be kept under review.   

4.9 The resumption of physical meetings of working groups will be considered at the 

same time as consideration is given to the other committee and sub-committees. 

Attending a hybrid meeting 

4.10 At the point when hybrid meetings resume, those attending in person should take a 

lateral flow test prior to the meeting and should only attend if the test is negative. 

Further information regarding lateral flow tests is available here. 

 

 

 

Page 240

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/testing/regular-rapid-coronavirus-tests-if-you-do-not-have-symptoms/


City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The impact of the new Omicron variant will be monitored, and the Council will 

continue to adhere to all Scottish Government guidelines.   

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 Political management arrangements during this period will be contained within 

existing revenue budgets.   

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Political Management arrangements will be communicated to all stakeholders.   

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Interim Political Management Arrangements 2020 – Leadership Advisory Panel of 

23 April 2020  

8.2 Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee Arrangements and Remote Council 

Meetings – Policy and Sustainability Committee of 28 May 2020  

8.3 Review of Political Management Arrangements 2020 – Policy and Sustainability 

Committee of 6 August 2020  

8.4 Review of Political Management Arrangements December 2020 – City of Edinburgh 

Council of 10 December 2020 

8.5 Review of Political Management Arrangements March 2021 – City of Edinburgh 

Council 11 March 2021 

8.6 Review of Political Management Arrangements June 2021 – City of Edinburgh 

Council 24 June 2021    

8.7 Review of Political Management Arrangements August 2021 – City of Edinburgh 

Council 26 August 2021  

8.8 Our Future Work Strategy - Policy and Sustainably Committee 5 October 2021  

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 - List of Physical Executive Committee and Governance Risk and Best 

Value Committee Meetings 

 

9.2 Appendix 2 - List of Other Committees 

 

  

Page 241

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=5492&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=5492&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5512&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5512&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5517&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5517&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5594&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5594&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5597&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5597&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5600&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5600&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5601&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=150&MId=5601&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6004&Ver=4


City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

Appendix 1 - List of Physical Executive Committee and Governance Risk and Best 

Value Committee Meetings 

Date (2021)  Committee Remote/Hybrid Physical 
Attendance 

Remote 
Attendance 

5 October  Policy and 
Sustainability  

Hybrid 9 8 

7 October  Finance and 
Resources 

Hybrid 6 5 

12 October  Education, Children 
and Families  

Remote N/A 11 

14 October  Transport and 
Environment  

Remote N/A 11 

4 November  Housing, 
Homelessness and 
Fair Work 

Remote N/A 11 

9 November  Governance, Risk and 
Best Value 

Hybrid 5 6 

11 
November  

Transport and 
Environment  

Remote N/A 11 

16 
November  

Culture and 
Communities  

Hybrid 5 6 

18 
November  

Finance and 
Resources Committee 
(Special Meeting)  

Hybrid 6 5 

30 
November  

Policy and 
Sustainability  

Remote N/A 17 

7 December  Education, Children 
and Families  

Remote N/A 11 

9 December  Finance and 
Resources  

Remote N/A 11 

14 
December  

Governance, Risk and 
Best Value 

   

 

  

Page 242



City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

Appendix 2 – List of Other Committees and Sub-Committees (as set out in the 

Committee Terms of Reference and Delegated Functions) 

 

Other Committees 

Committee on Discretionary Rating Relief Appeals 

Leadership Advisory Panel 

Planning Committee 

Pensions Committee 

Personnel Appeals Committee 

Placing in Schools Appeals Committee 

Committee on Pupil Student Support 

Recruitment Committee 

Regulatory Committee 

The City of Edinburgh Planning Local Review Body 

Committee on the Jean F Watson Bequest 

Community Council Independent Complaints Panel 

 

Sub-Committees  

Development Management Sub-Committee (Parent: Planning Committee) 

Licensing Sub-Committee (Parent: Regulatory Committee) 

Pensions Audit Sub-Committee (Parent: Pensions Committee) 

Property Sub-Committee (Parent: Finance and Resources Committee) 

Special Sub-Committee on Adult Social Care (Parent: Culture and Communities 

Committee) 

Sub-Committee on Standards for Children and Families (Parent: Education, Children and 

Families Committee) 

 

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
The City of Edinburgh Council  
 

10.00am, Thursday, 16 December 2021 

Treasury Management: Mid-Term Report 2021/22 – 

referral from the Finance and Resources Committee 

Executive/routine  
Wards  
Council Commitments  

1. For Decision/Action 

1.1 The Finance and Resources Committee has referred a report on Treasury 

Management: Mid-Term Report 2021/22, to the City of Edinburgh Council for 

approval.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Stephen S Moir 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 
 
Contact: Emily Traynor, Assistant Committee Officer 
Legal and Assurance Division, Corporate Services Directorate 
Email: emily.traynor@edinburgh.gov.uk  

 

Page 245

Agenda Item 7.3

mailto:emily.traynor@edinburgh.gov.uk


Page 2 
The City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 

Referral Report 

Treasury Management: Mid-Term Report 2021/22 

2. Terms of Referral

2.1 

2.2 

2.3 

On 9 December 2021, the Finance and Resources Committee considered a report 

which provided an update on Treasury Management activity undertaken in the first 

half of 2021/22. 

During consideration the Committee noted that there were some individual figures 

in the 2020/21 out-turn column in Table A2.1 which did not reflect some late 

changes to the 2020/21 out-turn. The totals and the numbers in subsequent years 

were all correct. A revised table A2.1 is attached at appendix 1 to this report.  

The Finance and Resources Committee agreed: 

2.3.1 To note the mid-term report on Treasury Management for 2021/22.

2.3.2  To refer the report to City of Edinburgh Council for approval and subsequent 

remit by the City of Edinburgh Council to the Governance Risk and Best 

Value Committee for scrutiny. 

3. Background Reading

3.1 Finance and Resources Committee – 9 December 2021 - Webcast 

3.2 Minute of the Finance and Resources Committee – 9 November 2021 

4. Appendices

4.1 Appendix 1 – Revised Table A2.1 

4.2 Appendix 2 – report by the Executive Director of Corporate Services 

Page 246

https://edinburgh.public-i.tv/site/mg_bounce.php?mg_m_id=5928


 
Page 3 

The City of Edinburgh Council – 16 December 2021 
 

Appendix 1 

 

Appendix 2 

Debt Management Activity 

Table A2.1 below which shows the out-turn for 2020/21 along with the Council’s borrowing 

requirement over the current and next three years. 

Capital Funding v. External Debt 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

 Outturn Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Debt b/fd 1,336,171 1,347,045 1,433,124 1,378,698 1,334,734 

Cumulative Capital Expenditure b/fd 1,374,600 1,468,555 1,687,417 1,924,262 2,108,059 

Over/underborrowed b/fd -38,429 -121,510 -254,293 -545,564 -773,325 

            

GF Capital Financed by borrowing 78,588 146,321 102,793 79,073 88,398 

Tram Capital Financed by borrowing 52,704 69,873 43,971 12,849 0 

Lending to LLPs 19,313 15,026 10,388 72,000 70,500 

HRA Capital Financed by borrowing -1,579 46,935 145,743 93,243 91,003 

less scheduled repayments by GF -33,379 -38,872 -44,009 -42,575 -45,589 

less scheduled repayments by Tram -1 0 0 -4,942 -5,060 

less scheduled repayments by LLPs -6,973 -4,623 -4,834 -4,879 -5,859 

less scheduled repayments by HRA -14,174 -15,242 -16,619 -20,349 -23,609 

less scheduled repayments by Joint 
Boards 

-544 -556 -588 -623 -557 

Underlying Need to Borrow 93,955 218,862 236,845 183,797 169,227 

      
plus total maturing debt 59,126 53,921 54,426 43,964 43,199 

      
Total Borrowing Requirement 153,081 272,783 291,271 227,761 212,426 

      

Cumulative Borrowing Requirement  272,783 564,054 791,815 1,004,241 

  
 

   
New Borrowing 70,000 140,000    

      
Debt at end of the year 1,347,045 1,433,124 1,378,698 1,334,734 1,291,535 

Cumulative Capital Expenditure 1,468,555 1,687,417 1,924,262 2,108,059 2,277,286 

Cumulative Over/(Under) Borrowed -121,510 -254,293 -545,564 -773,325 -985,751 

Table A2.1 – Summary of Capital Advances v External Debt 

 

 

Page 247



 

 
Finance and Resources Committee 
 

10:00am, Thursday, 9th December 2021 

Treasury Management: Mid-Term Report 2021/22 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards  
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that the Committee: 

1.1.1 notes the mid-term report on Treasury Management for 2021/22; and 

1.1.2 refers the report to City of Edinburgh Council for approval and subsequent 

remit by the City of Edinburgh Council to the Governance Risk and Best 

Value Committee for scrutiny. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stephen S. Moir 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 
 
Contact: Innes Edwards, Principal Treasury and Banking Manager 
Finance and Procurement Division, Corporate Services Directorate 
E-mail: innes.edwards@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 6291 
  

Page 248

mailto:innes.edwards@edinburgh.gov.uk


Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

 
Report 
 

Treasury Management: Mid-Term Report 2021/22 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to give an update on Treasury Management activity 

undertaken in the first half of 2021/22.  

2.2 In accordance with the Strategy set in March 2021 the Council borrowed £140m 

from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) in the first half of the year to lock in 

attractive interest rates before Gilt yields increased, to help finance the substantial 

Capital Programme. 

2.3 The investment return for 2021/22 continues to show out-performance against the 

Fund’s benchmark, although low in absolute terms, while maintaining the security of 

the investments as a priority. 

 

3. Background 

3.1 The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in 

the Public Sector, and under the code, the mid-term report has been prepared 

setting out activity undertaken. 

 

4. Main report 

4.1 UK Interest Rates 

4.1.1 During the last six months of economic uncertainty due to the COVID-19 

pandemic, the Bank of England’s (BoE) Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) 

made no change to monetary policy maintaining UK Bank Rate at 0.1%. Inflation 

concerns have led to markets forecasting an increase in UK Bank Rate with the 

September Reuters poll showing an increase in late 2022 and possibly sooner. 

However, the anticipated level of inflation and comments by MPC members 

suggest that it could be as early as Q4 2021.  Appendix 1 gives a summary of 

the first six months from the Council’s Treasury Advisors. 

  

Page 249



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

4.2 Debt Management 

4.2.1 The Council continued to fund its borrowing requirement by reducing its 

investments but also took the opportunity as previously mentioned to lock in 

attractive rates of interest to help fund the substantial Capital Investment 

Programme. Appendix 2 outlines the debt management activity during the 

period. 

4.2.2 Some of the £140m borrowed secured funding for historical projects and 

Appendix 3 reviews the borrowing for the purchase of Waverley Court. 

4.3 Investment Out-turn 

4.3.1 The Council’s cash balances are pooled and invested via the Treasury Cash 

Fund subject to the limits set out in the Treasury Management Policy Statement. 

Appendix 4 provides detail on Council’s investments. 

4.3.2 As can also be seen in Appendix 4 Treasury Cash Fund performance continues 

to out-perform its benchmark although investment returns remain low. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The Treasury team will continue to operate its Treasury Cash Fund with the aim of 

out-performing its benchmark of 7-day compounded Sterling Overnight Index 

Average (SONIA) and manage the Council’s debt portfolio to minimise the cost to 

the Council while mitigating risk.  

5.2 The Treasury team will also continue to review the Council’s borrowing 

requirements, taking into account the significant planned capital investment set out 

in the ten-year capital plan, and the opportunities that the market presents. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The Treasury Cash Fund has generated significant additional income for the 

Council. 

6.2 Loan charges associated with the borrowing will be managed within the approved 

budget. 

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 There are no adverse stakeholder/community impacts arising from this report. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None 

 

Page 250



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1  - Economic Background 

9.2 Appendix 2 - Debt Management Activity 

9.3 Appendix 3 - Borrowing for the purchase of Waverley Court 

9.4 Appendix 4 - Investment Out-turn 

9.5 Appendix 5 - Debt outstanding 30 September 2021 

 

  

Page 251



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

Appendix 1 

Economic Background 

Our Treasury Advisors, Arlingclose summarised the financial markets and gilt yields over 

the first six months of the financial year as follows: 

Monetary and fiscal stimulus together with rising economic growth and the ongoing 

vaccine rollout programmes continued to support equity markets over most of the 

period, albeit with a bumpy ride towards the end. The Dow Jones hit another record 

high while the UK-focused FTSE 250 index continued making gains over pre-

pandemic levels. The more internationally focused FTSE 100 saw more modest gains 

over the period and remains below its pre-crisis peak. 

Inflation worries continued during the period. Declines in bond yields in the first 

quarter of the financial year suggested bond markets were expecting any general 

price increases to be less severe, or more transitory, that was previously thought. 

However, an increase in gas prices in the UK and EU, supply shortages and a dearth 

of HGV and lorry drivers with companies willing to pay more to secure their services, 

has caused problems for a range of industries and, in some instance, lead to higher 

prices. 

The 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield began the financial year at 0.36% before 

declining to 0.33% by the end of June 2021 and then climbing to 0.64% on 30 th 

September. Over the same period the 10-year gilt yield fell from 0.80% to 0.71% 

before rising to 1.03% and the 20-year yield declined from 1.31% to 1.21% and then 

increased to 1.37%. 

The Sterling Overnight Rate (SONIA) averaged 0.05% over the quarter. 

Figure A1.1 below shows the PWLB borrowing rates since April 2005. 

 

 

Figure A1.1 – PWLB Rates April 2005 to Date 
Source: DMO 

Page 252



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

Appendix 2 

Debt Management Activity 

Table A2.1 below which shows the out-turn for 2020/21 along with the Council’s borrowing 

requirement over the current and next three years. 

Capital Funding v. External Debt 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

 Outturn Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Debt b/fd 1,336,171 1,347,045 1,433,124 1,378,698 1,334,734 

Cumulative Capital Expenditure b/fd 1,374,600 1,468,555 1,687,417 1,924,262 2,108,059 

Over/underborrowed b/fd -38,542 -121,510 -254,293 -545,564 -773,325 

            

GF Capital Financed by borrowing 78,588 146,321 102,793 79,073 88,398 

Tram Capital Financed by borrowing 52,704 69,873 43,971 12,849 0 

Lending to LLPs 19,313 15,026 10,388 72,000 70,500 

HRA Capital Financed by borrowing -1,579 46,935 145,743 93,243 91,003 

less scheduled repayments by GF -32,439 -38,872 -44,009 -42,575 -45,589 

less scheduled repayments by Tram -1 0 0 -4,942 -5,060 

less scheduled repayments by LLPs -14,559 -4,623 -4,834 -4,879 -5,859 

less scheduled repayments by HRA -14,174 -15,242 -16,619 -20,349 -23,609 

less scheduled repayments by Joint 
Boards 

-544 -556 -588 -623 -557 

Underlying Need to Borrow 87,309 218,862 236,845 183,797 169,227 

      
plus total maturing debt 59,126 53,921 54,426 43,964 43,199 

      
Total Borrowing Requirement 146,435 272,783 291,271 227,761 212,426 

      

Cumulative Borrowing Requirement  272,783 564,054 791,815 1,004,241 

  
 

   
New Borrowing 70,000 140,000    

      
Debt at end of the year 1,347,045 1,433,124 1,378,698 1,334,734 1,291,535 

Cumulative Capital Expenditure 1,468,555 1,687,417 1,924,262 2,108,059 2,277,286 

Cumulative Over/(Under) Borrowed -121,510 -254,293 -545,564 -773,325 -985,751 

Table A2.1 – Summary of Capital Advances v External Debt 

 

The Debt Management Strategy for 2021/22 as outlined in the Strategy Report was:  

To address the borrowing requirement it is intended, subject to appropriate rates being 

available, to:  

• continue to reduce investment balances to temporarily fund capital expenditure; 

• seek alternative sources of funds to the PWLB; and 

• continue to lock out the risk on projects when the timing of capital expenditure 

becomes certain and interest rates are appropriate.  

 

Page 253



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

Although the strategy to reduce cash further has been followed through, there were 

significant concerns over the prospects for inflation and the medium-term outlook for 

interest rates. The opportunity was therefore taken to lock in a further £140m of long term 

PWLB funding at sub two percent levels to manage some more of the Council’s interest 

rate risk. Figure A2.1 shows PWLB Borrowing Rates along with the timing of PWLB 

borrowing. 

 

In addition to drawing down the £60m from PBB which had been pre-agreed in relation to 

the St. James Centre GAM project, since 2019/20, the Council has borrowed £386m from 

the PWLB at an average interest rate of 2.07%.  Despite borrowing nearly £450m over the 

last 24 months, Table A2.1 shows that the Council still has a substantial cumulative 

borrowing requirement over the next few years if the capital expenditure is in line with 

current forecasts. 

 

 

  

 

Figure A2.1 – PWLB Rates Jan 2015 to Date 
Source: DMO 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

J
a

n
-1

5

A
p

r-1
5

J
u

l-1
5

O
c

t-1
5

J
a

n
-1

6

A
p

r-1
6

J
u

l-1
6

O
c

t-1
6

J
a

n
-1

7

A
p

r-1
7

J
u

l-1
7

O
c

t-1
7

J
a

n
-1

8

A
p

r-1
8

J
u

l-1
8

O
c

t-1
8

J
a

n
-1

9

A
p

r-1
9

J
u

l-1
9

O
c

t-1
9

J
a

n
-2

0

A
p

r-2
0

J
u

l-2
0

O
c

t-2
0

J
a

n
-2

1

A
p

r-2
1

J
u

l-2
1

50 Years

20 Years

1 Year

Bank Rate

Page 254



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

Appendix 3 

Borrowing for the Purchase of Waverley Court 

2020/21 marked the maturity of the last of the external loans taken out to finance the 

purchase of Waverley Court in 2008. However, the Loans Fund capital advances to fund 

the purchase were for 28 years, so there is still currently a need to borrow. As the external 

loans matured, they were initially re-financed by reducing the Council’s investments, and 

subsequently re-financed as part of the package of loans detailed in Appendix 2.  This is 

therefore an appropriate time to reflect on the strategy for the borrowing for a major 

Council capital expenditure. 

Waverley Court was purpose built for the Council and was on a 20 year fully repairing and 

insuring lease from Norwich Union Life & Pension Fund (NULAP).  The lease had pre-

determined five yearly lease uplifts in the lease rentals and was due to increase to £8.3m 

per annum by November 2021.  As the Global Financial Crisis took hold, the opportunity 

arose to purchase the building which the Council took, subsequently winning the Property 

Deal of the Year at the Scottish Property Awards.  Based on funding the purchase with 

Prudential Borrowing at an interest rate 4.75%, the Council was projected to save £38m in 

cash terms and own the building.  Treasury’s role in the purchase was the borrowing 

strategy, and that is reviewed here. 

Figure A3.1 below shows that most PWLB borrowing rates were around 4.5% at the time 

Waverley Court was purchased. Subsequently, shorter rates came down as UK Bank Rate 

was reduced but longer rates stayed quite high, increasing to over 5% as the UK 

Government increased the margin over Gilts for PWLB Borrowing Rates. 

 

Table A3.1 below shows how the purchase was funded. A net £74m of Prudential 

Borrowing was needed to finance the purchase, and the business case was based on 

borrowing for 28 years at an interest rate of 4.75%.  The Council operates a Loans Pool so 

doesn’t borrow for individual projects.  However, for some major projects Treasury looks at 

packages of loans to take the borrowing risk relative to the business case off the table.  In 

this case the view was taken that interest rates were likely to come down so the long-term 

 

Figure A3.1 – PWLB Borrowing Rates April 2005 to Date 
Source: DMO 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

5.00

5.50

6.00

Apr-

05

Apr-

06

Apr-

07

Apr-

08

Apr-

09

Apr-

10

Apr-

11

Apr-

12

Apr-

13

Apr-

14

Apr-

15

Apr-

16

Apr-

17

Apr-

18

Apr-

19

Apr-

20

Apr-

21

50 Years

20 Years

10 Years

1 Year

UK Bank Rate

Last PWLB
Borrowing

Purchase
Waverley

Court

Page 255



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

risk was not taken off the table.  The strategy adopted was two-fold – firstly to secure half 

the funding from the PWLB but with a short duration.  Secondly, to borrow the other half as 

very short loans from other local authorities.  This meant that as the UK Bank Rate 

tumbled, every time a loan matured, it was re-financed at a lower rate for the next month. 

In essence, this manufactured a synthetic variable rate structure for that half of the 

borrowing to take advantage of falling rates. 

 

How Waverley Court was funded:     

   Cost of funding Waverley Court: 

Original Cost to be funded: 91,271,649    

    less 08/09 capital receipts 9,847,694  2008/09  

 81,423,956  Average Actual Interest Rate 2.03 

Made up of:   Actual Interest Incurred 600,428.23 

    PWLB Borrowing 08/09 40,000,000  Interest @4.75% 1,395,069.26 

    Temporary Borrowing @31/03/09 42,800,000  08/09 saving over business case 794,641.03 

 82,800,000    

   2009/10  

Cost to be funded 81,423,956  Average Actual Interest Rate 2.93 

    less 09/10 capital receipts 6,808,596  Actual Interest Incurred 2,277,665.10 

 74,615,360  Interest @4.75% 3,575,780.24 

   09/10 saving over business case 1,298,115.14 

Made up of:     

    PWLB Borrowing 08/09 40,000,000    

    PWLB Borrowing 09/10 34,615,360    

 74,615,360    

     

Table A3.1 – Funding the Purchase of Waverley Court 

In April 2009, the remaining local authority loans were re-financed from the PWLB. This 

strategy generated £2m of savings relative to the business case over the first two years.  

Table A3.2 below shows the two tranches of loans which that were taken out.  

 

Waverley Court Borrowing     

       

 2008/09      

       

 Borrowing Maturity Principal Interest Term  

 Date Date  Rate   

 01-Dec-08 01-Jun-11 5,000,000 2.74 2.5  

 01-Dec-08 01-Dec-13 10,000,000 3.45 5  

 01-Dec-08 01-Jun-14 5,000,000 3.55 5.5  

 08-Dec-08 08-Jun-11 10,000,000 2.27 2.5  

 08-Dec-08 08-Dec-14 5,000,000 3.30 6  

 10-Dec-08 10-Dec-16 5,000,000 3.61 8  
   40,000,000    
       

       

       

Page 256



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

 2009/10      

       

 Borrowing Maturity Principal Interest Term  
 Date Date  Rate   

 21-Apr-09 21-Apr-14 10,000,000 2.64 5  
 21-Apr-09 21-Apr-19 10,000,000 3.4 10  
 21-Apr-09 21-Apr-20 10,000,000 3.54 11  
 21-Apr-09 21-Apr-13 4,615,360 2.39 4  
   34,615,360    

       
  Total Borrowed £74.6m   

  Average Interest Rate 3.08 %  

  Average Term 6.2 years  

       

Table A3.2 – External PWLB Borrowing for Waverley Court 

 

However, all these loans have now matured and have been re-financed initially by 

reducing the Council’s investments and subsequently with long-term PWLB funding. As 

can be seen in Appendix 4, the loss of investment return over this period has been less 

than 1%, recently much less and recent long-term borrowing has been sub 2%.  This is all 

against a business case predicated on borrowing at 4.75%. 

As noted in Appendix 2, Treasury has gone from a strategy of filling in maturity gaps and 

creating interest rate risk to one of locking in historically low long-term interest rates to take 

the interest rate risk of current and previous projects off the table.   

Figure A3.2 below shows the level of the Council’s borrowing along with the cost of that 

borrowing. 

 

 

  

 

Figure A3.2 – PWLB Rates April 2005 to Date 

Page 257



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

 

Appendix 4 

Investment Out-turn 

The Council’s cash balances are pooled and invested via the Treasury Cash Fund subject 

to the limits set out in the Treasury Management Policy Statement. Figure A4.1 below 

shows the daily investment in the Cash Fund since April 2009 highlighting the increased 

cash holdings due to borrowing. The Treasury Management strategy is to ensure that 

surplus funds are invested in accordance with the list of approved organisations for 

investment, minimising the risk to the capital sum and optimising the return on these funds 

consistent with those risks. The Cash Fund’s Investment Strategy continues to be based 

around the security of the investments. 

 

Figure A4.2 shows the rates achieved in the Friday auctions of UK Treasury Bills. As can 

be seen the lowest accepted and average yield on the 3-month maturity fell below zero on 

the first auction in October. The previous week Treasury was able to secure £20m 3-

month UK Treasury Bills at a rate of 0.025%. 

 

Figure A4.1 - Source of Funds 

 
Figure A4.2 – UK Treasury Bill Yields 

Source: DMO 

Page 258



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

Figure A4.3 shows in detail the distribution on Cash Fund investments since inception in 

2007. This shows the increased investment due to increased cash holdings and the 

investment within the Governments Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF).  

 

As can be seen in Figure A4.4, 15% of the fund was invested in Local Authority deposits 

between 7 different authorities, 3% with UK Treasury Bills, 5% invested with DMADF, 47% 

was invested with Banks in call accounts split between instant access and 31-day notice 

with HSBC and 30% on deposit with Money Market Funds. As previously mentioned, 

Treasury was successful in the 3-month UK Treasury Bill auction towards the end of 

September and achieved a rate of 0.025%. 

 

The strategy is to seek Local Authority and UK Treasury Bill trades which add value to 

relative MMF/Bank rates and make a positive performance contribution. The Local 

Authority market rates remain low but with the recent increase in Gilt yields we have been 

able to secure £20 million September 2022 1.75% UK Gilts.  Treasury will continue to 

monitor yield increases and take advantage of any opportunity to achieve an increase rate 

with Government backed investments. 

 

Figure A4.3 – Cash Fund Investments since inception 

 
Figure A4.4 – Investments by Counterparty 30th September 2021 

Page 259



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

As can be seen in Figure A4.5 the weighted average life of the fund was just above 23 

from the end of September. This was mainly due to longer term deposits being closer to 

maturity although there was a successful bid for a 3-month UK Treasury Bill and a 11-

month deposit agreed with a Local Authority towards the end of the mid-term. 

 

 

Cash Fund Performance 

The annualised rate of return for the Cash Fund for the six months to September 2021 was 

0.05% against a benchmark of -0.01%. Figure A4.6 below shows the daily investment 

performance of the Cash Fund against its benchmark since April 2011. As can be seen, 

Cash Fund performance has remained above the benchmark.  Treasury will continue to 

seek trades which add value while retaining security of investments.  

 
Figure A4.5 - Cash Fund Weighted Average Life 

 

Figure A4.67 - Treasury Cash Fund Investment Performance 

-0.2

0.0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

A
p
r-1

1

J
u

l-1
1

O
c
t-1

1

J
a
n

-1
2

A
p
r-1

2

J
u

l-1
2

O
c

t-1
2

J
a
n

-1
3

A
p
r-1

3

J
u

l-1
3

O
c
t-1

3

J
a
n

-1
4

A
p
r-1

4

J
u

l-1
4

O
c
t-1

4

J
a
n

-1
5

A
p
r-1

5

J
u

l-1
5

O
c
t-1

5

J
a
n

-1
6

A
p
r-1

6

J
u

l-1
6

O
c
t-1

6

J
a
n

-1
7

A
p
r-1

7

J
u

l-1
7

O
c
t-1

7

J
a
n

-1
8

A
p
r-1

8

J
u

l-1
8

O
c
t-1

8

J
a
n

-1
9

A
p
r-1

9

J
u

l-1
9

O
c

t-1
9

J
a
n

-2
0

A
p
r-2

0

J
u

l-2
0

O
c
t-2

0

J
a
n

-2
1

A
p
r-2

1

J
u

l-2
1

(%)
Cash Fund

Benchmark

Bank Rate

Page 260



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

Appendix 5 

Debt outstanding 30th September 2021 

Market Debt (non LOBO)    
Loan Start Maturity Principal Interest Annual 

Type Date Date Outstanding Rate Interest 

   (£) (%) (£) 

M 08/10/2020 08/10/2045 59,142,025.46 2.613 1,556,590.56 

M 30/06/2005 30/06/2065 5,000,000.00 4.4 220,000.00 

M 07/07/2005 07/07/2065 5,000,000.00 4.4 220,000.00 

M 21/12/2005 21/12/2065 5,000,000.00 4.99 249,500.00 

M 28/12/2005 24/12/2065 12,500,000.00 4.99 623,750.00 

M 14/03/2006 15/03/2066 15,000,000.00 5 750,000.00 

M 18/08/2006 18/08/2066 10,000,000.00 5.25 525,000.00 

M 01/02/2008 01/02/2078 10,000,000.00 3.95 395,000.00 

   121,642,025.46   

      
Market Debt (LOBO)     
Loan Start Maturity Principal Interest Annual 

Type Date Date Outstanding Rate Interest 

   (£) (%) (£) 

M 12/11/1998 13/11/2028 3,000,000.00 4.75 142,500.00 

M 15/12/2003 15/12/2053 10,000,000.00 5.25 525,000.00 

M 18/02/2004 18/02/2054 10,000,000.00 4.54 454,000.00 

M 28/04/2005 28/04/2055 12,900,000.00 4.75 612,750.00 

M 01/07/2005 01/07/2065 10,000,000.00 3.86 386,000.00 

M 24/08/2005 24/08/2065 5,000,000.00 4.4 220,000.00 

M 07/09/2005 07/09/2065 10,000,000.00 4.99 499,000.00 

M 13/09/2005 14/09/2065 5,000,000.00 3.95 197,500.00 

M 03/10/2005 05/10/2065 5,000,000.00 4.375 218,750.00 

M 23/12/2005 23/12/2065 10,000,000.00 4.75 475,000.00 

M 06/03/2006 04/03/2066 5,000,000.00 4.625 231,250.00 

M 17/03/2006 17/03/2066 10,000,000.00 5.25 525,000.00 

M 03/04/2006 01/04/2066 10,000,000.00 4.875 487,500.00 

M 03/04/2006 01/04/2066 10,000,000.00 4.875 487,500.00 

M 03/04/2006 01/04/2066 10,000,000.00 4.875 487,500.00 

M 07/04/2006 07/04/2066 10,000,000.00 4.75 475,000.00 

M 05/06/2006 07/06/2066 20,000,000.00 5.25 1,050,000.00 

M 05/06/2006 07/06/2066 16,500,000.00 5.25 866,250.00 

   172,400,000.00   

      
  

Page 261



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

PWLB      
Loan Start Maturity Principal Interest Annual 

Type Date Date Outstanding Rate Interest 

   (£) (%) (£) 

M 23/04/2009 23/04/2022 5,000,000.00 3.76 188,000.00 

M 12/06/1995 15/05/2022 10,200,000.00 8 816,000.00 

M 14/06/2010 14/06/2022 10,000,000.00 3.95 395,000.00 

M 31/03/1995 25/09/2022 6,206,000.00 8.625 535,267.50 

M 16/02/1995 03/02/2023 2,997,451.21 8.625 258,530.17 

M 24/04/1995 25/03/2023 10,000,000.00 8.5 850,000.00 

M 05/12/1995 15/05/2023 5,200,000.00 8 416,000.00 

M 20/09/1993 14/09/2023 2,997,451.21 7.875 236,049.28 

M 20/09/1993 14/09/2023 584,502.98 7.875 46,029.61 

M 08/05/1996 25/09/2023 10,000,000.00 8.375 837,500.00 

M 13/10/2009 13/10/2023 5,000,000.00 3.87 193,500.00 

M 05/12/1995 15/11/2023 10,000,000.00 8 800,000.00 

M 10/05/2010 10/05/2024 10,000,000.00 4.32 432,000.00 

M 28/09/1995 28/09/2024 2,895,506.10 8.25 238,879.25 

M 14/05/2012 14/11/2024 10,000,000.00 3.36 336,000.00 

A 14/12/2009 14/12/2024 2,841,166.47 3.66 103,986.69 

M 17/10/1996 25/03/2025 10,000,000.00 7.875 787,500.00 

M 10/05/2010 10/05/2025 5,000,000.00 4.37 218,500.00 

M 16/11/2012 16/05/2025 20,000,000.00 2.88 576,000.00 

M 13/02/1997 18/05/2025 10,000,000.00 7.375 737,500.00 

M 20/02/1997 15/11/2025 20,000,000.00 7.375 1,475,000.00 

A 01/12/2009 01/12/2025 5,125,423.39 3.64 214,778.35 

M 21/12/1995 21/12/2025 2,397,960.97 7.875 188,839.43 

M 21/05/1997 15/05/2026 10,000,000.00 7.125 712,500.00 

M 28/05/1997 15/05/2026 10,000,000.00 7.25 725,000.00 

M 29/08/1997 15/11/2026 5,000,000.00 7 350,000.00 

M 24/06/1997 15/11/2026 5,328,077.00 7.125 379,625.49 

M 07/08/1997 15/11/2026 15,000,000.00 6.875 1,031,250.00 

M 13/10/1997 25/03/2027 10,000,000.00 6.375 637,500.00 

M 22/10/1997 25/03/2027 5,000,000.00 6.5 325,000.00 

M 13/11/1997 15/05/2027 3,649,966.00 6.5 237,247.79 

M 17/11/1997 15/05/2027 5,000,000.00 6.5 325,000.00 

M 13/12/2012 13/06/2027 20,000,000.00 3.18 636,000.00 

M 12/03/1998 15/11/2027 8,677,693.00 5.875 509,814.46 

M 06/09/2010 06/09/2028 10,000,000.00 3.85 385,000.00 

M 14/07/2011 14/07/2029 10,000,000.00 4.9 490,000.00 

E 14/07/1950 03/03/2030 2,148.44 3 70.14 

M 14/07/2011 14/07/2030 10,000,000.00 4.93 493,000.00 

E 15/06/1951 15/05/2031 2,343.50 3 75.58 

M 06/09/2010 06/09/2031 20,000,000.00 3.95 790,000.00 

M 15/12/2011 15/06/2032 10,000,000.00 3.98 398,000.00 

M 15/09/2011 15/09/2036 10,000,000.00 4.47 447,000.00 

M 22/09/2011 22/09/2036 10,000,000.00 4.49 449,000.00 

Page 262



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

M 10/12/2007 10/12/2037 10,000,000.00 4.49 449,000.00 

M 08/09/2011 08/09/2038 10,000,000.00 4.67 467,000.00 

M 15/09/2011 15/09/2039 10,000,000.00 4.52 452,000.00 

M 06/10/2011 06/10/2043 20,000,000.00 4.35 870,000.00 

M 09/08/2011 09/02/2046 20,000,000.00 4.8 960,000.00 

M 23/01/2006 23/07/2046 10,000,000.00 3.7 370,000.00 

M 23/01/2006 23/07/2046 10,000,000.00 3.7 370,000.00 

M 19/05/2006 19/11/2046 10,000,000.00 4.25 425,000.00 

M 07/01/2008 07/01/2048 5,000,000.00 4.4 220,000.00 

A 24/03/2020 24/03/2050 14,411,623.40 1.64 237,972.00 

A 26/03/2020 26/03/2050 4,799,323.64 1.49 72,011.97 

A 26/03/2021 26/03/2051 9,872,561.00 1.75 173,884.91 

A 12/07/2021 12/07/2051 40,000,000.00 1.78 707,484.79 

M 27/01/2006 27/07/2051 1,250,000.00 3.7 46,250.00 

M 16/01/2007 16/07/2052 40,000,000.00 4.25 1,700,000.00 

M 30/01/2007 30/07/2052 10,000,000.00 4.35 435,000.00 

M 13/02/2007 13/08/2052 20,000,000.00 4.35 870,000.00 

M 20/02/2007 20/08/2052 70,000,000.00 4.35 3,045,000.00 

M 22/02/2007 22/08/2052 50,000,000.00 4.35 2,175,000.00 

M 08/03/2007 08/09/2052 5,000,000.00 4.25 212,500.00 

M 30/05/2007 30/11/2052 10,000,000.00 4.6 460,000.00 

M 11/06/2007 11/12/2052 15,000,000.00 4.7 705,000.00 

M 12/06/2007 12/12/2052 25,000,000.00 4.75 1,187,500.00 

M 05/07/2007 05/01/2053 12,000,000.00 4.8 576,000.00 

M 25/07/2007 25/01/2053 5,000,000.00 4.65 232,500.00 

M 10/08/2007 10/02/2053 5,000,000.00 4.55 227,500.00 

M 24/08/2007 24/02/2053 7,500,000.00 4.5 337,500.00 

M 13/09/2007 13/03/2053 5,000,000.00 4.5 225,000.00 

A 14/10/2019 10/04/2053 106,892,653.62 2.69 2,861,104.69 

M 12/10/2007 12/04/2053 5,000,000.00 4.6 230,000.00 

A 01/07/2021 01/07/2053 50,000,000.00 1.98 984,421.87 

M 05/11/2007 05/05/2057 5,000,000.00 4.6 230,000.00 

M 15/08/2008 15/02/2058 5,000,000.00 4.39 219,500.00 

A 25/01/2019 25/01/2059 2,634,821.72 2.65 70,632.63 

A 11/06/2019 11/06/2059 1,243,526.49 2.23 28,076.16 

A 01/10/2019 01/10/2059 1,308,173.07 1.74 22,865.72 

A 02/10/2019 02/10/2059 38,959,991.51 1.8 704,427.87 

A 05/11/2019 05/11/2059 6,999,544.03 2.96 206,456.25 

A 28/11/2019 28/11/2059 1,280,483.36 3.03 38,664.01 

A 02/12/2019 02/12/2059 2,756,680.27 3.03 83,237.57 

A 20/01/2020 20/01/2060 1,947,664.57 1.77 34,629.41 

A 20/01/2020 20/01/2060 449,115.03 2.97 13,384.94 

M 04/10/2019 04/04/2060 40,000,000.00 1.69 676,000.00 

M 02/12/2011 02/12/2061 5,000,000.00 3.98 199,000.00 

M 26/03/2020 26/03/2070 10,000,000.00 1.29 129,000.00 

M 12/07/2021 12/07/2071 50,000,000.00 1.74 870,000.00 

   1,142,411,851.98   

Page 263



Finance and Resources Committee – 9th December 2021 
 

      

      
SALIX INTEREST FREE     
Loan Start Maturity Principal Interest Annual 

Type Date Date Outstanding Rate Interest 

   (£) (%) (£) 

Z 31/03/2015 01/04/2023 360,579.48 0.00 0.00 

Z 22/09/2015 01/10/2023 109,899.85 0.00 0.00 

Z 29/03/2019 01/04/2029 111,982.88 0.00 0.00 

   582,462.21   

      
 

Page 264



City of Edinburgh Council 

10.00am, Thursday 16th December 

Appointment of Executive Director, Corporate Services 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards All 
Council Commitments 

1. Recommendations

1.1 It is recommended that Council approve: 

1.1.1 Delegation of authority to the Chief Executive to recruit an interim Executive 
Director,  Corporate Services. 

1.1.2 The permanent recruitment of an Executive Director, Corporate Services at an 
appropriate time after local government elections in May 2022. 

Andrew Kerr 
Chief Executive 

Contact: Katy Miller, Service Director HR 
Human Resources Division, Corporate Services Directorate 
E-mail: katy.miller@edinburgh.gov.uk  | Tel: 0131 469 5522

Page 265

Agenda Item 7.4

mailto:katy.miller@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 

2.  Executive Summary 

 
2.1 Following the resignation of the current incumbent, it is proposed to recruit an 

Executive Director, Corporate Services exploring both an interim arrangement and a 
fixed term contract.  

 

2.2 It is proposed that the recruitment of a permanent candidate will commence post May 
2022 and will be undertaken in line with the Council’s Chief Officer Recruitment 
Policy.  
 

 

3.  Background 

3.1 Following the resignation of the current Executive Director, Corporate Services last 
working date of 11th February 2022, there is a requirement to backfill this post. 
 

3.2 With elections in May 2022, it is proposed to recruit an interim Executive Director,  
Corporate Services exploring both interim arrangements and fixed term contract.  

 

3.3 Recruitment of a permanent candidate will commence after the elections and will be 
in accordance with the Council’s agreed Chief Officer Recruitment Policy.    

  

 

4.  Main report 

4.1 Council are asked to approve required delegated authority to the Chief Executive to 

recruit an interim Executive Director, Corporate Services.  To ensure the best 

possibility of attracting candidates, both interim arrangements and fixed term contract 

will be explored.   

4.2 It is proposed to appoint a specialist organisation to assist with this search and that 

this search will commence immediately.  

 

4.3 It is proposed that the recruitment of this interim post will be supported by the Leader, 

the Depute Leader, the Convener and the Vice-Convener of Finance and Resources 

Committee.  

 

4.4 Recruitment of a permanent candidate will commence at an appropriate time post 

elections in May 2022, in accordance with the Council’s agreed Chief Officer 

Recruitment Policy.  

  

Page 266



  

5.  Next Steps 

5.1 Subject to Council approval, the recruitment of an interim Executive Director,  
Corporate Services will commence immediately, supported by a specialist 
organisation.  

5.2 At an appropriate time post elections in May 2022, the recruitment of permanent 
Executive Director, Corporate Services will commence in accordance with our Chief 
Officer Recruitment Policy.   

 

6.  Financial impact 

6.1 The post of Executive Director, Corporate Services is funded as part of agreed 
budgets.   

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Not applicable.  
 
 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Chief Officer Recruitment and Selection Policy   

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Not applicable.  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Andrew Kerr 
Chief Executive 
 
Contact: Katy Miller, Service Director HR 
Human Resources Division, Corporate Services Directorate  
E-mail: katy.miller@edinburgh.gov.uk  | Tel: 0131 469 5522 
 

Page 267

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Corporate%20Policy%20and%20Strategy%20Committee/20160906/Agenda/$item_72_-_recruitment_and_selection_procedure_-_senior_officers.xls.pdf
mailto:katy.miller@edinburgh.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 1 By Councillor Rust for answer by the 
Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 16 December 2021 

In September, the Transport Convener publicly committed to 
the Equal Pavements Pledge, and this pledge is prominently 
placed on the Transport for All website: 
https://www.transportforall.org.uk/campaign/equal-
pavements-pledge/ 

This includes a commitment to "undertake a professional 
accessibility audit of your streetspace".  

Question (1) What action is being taken to ensure any current or future
proposed ETRO or TRO embeds this pledge?

Answer (1) 

Question (2) Will independent professional accessibility audits of the
existing streetscape and any planned schemes be carried
out for all current or future ETRO or TROs, so it is clear
what contribution any plans make to achieving the pledge
and how the combination of elements being proposed for
each area work together to achieve that or otherwise?

Answer (2) 

Page 269

Agenda Item 10.1

https://www.transportforall.org.uk/campaign/equal-pavements-pledge/
https://www.transportforall.org.uk/campaign/equal-pavements-pledge/


This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 2 By Councillor Rust for answer by the 
Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 16 December 2021 

In the report to the Council in June 2021 on the potential 
retention of Spaces for People measures, it indicated that 
the monitoring of measures will be reported to Transport and 
Environment Committee prior to the implementation of the 
associated Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders 
(ETROs). 

In the report, there was a link to this data. 

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29562/monitori
ng-cycle-counters 

Question (1) Please could you provide updated data to the present date?

Answer (1) 

Question (2) Could this data be updated monthly from now on?

Answer (2) 

Question (3) This data is very limited, which is a concern given the level
of investment in active travel and the need to ensure budget
is spent on effective projects. What are the plans for
additional locations for continual cycle counts and when will
these be active?

Answer (3) 

Question (4) There has been reference previously to a more
comprehensive public data source being published. When
will this be live?

Answer (4) 

Page 271

Agenda Item 10.2

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29562/monitoring-cycle-counters
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29562/monitoring-cycle-counters


This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 3 By Councillor Jim Campbell for 
answer by the Convener of the 
Transport and Environment 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 16 December 2021 

On 29 November Forth Ward Members received an email 
raising concerns that no Safe Route to the new Victoria 
Primary School would be in place when it opens early next 
year.  This is despite the likelihood that many more students 
will now have to cross the busy A901, Lindsey Road, due to 
the Primary School moving to a new building in Western 
Harbour. The reason given for this omission, apparently by 
Council Officers, was the secondment of Officers to the 
Spaces for People Programme. 

I am grateful for the Deputy Leader’s intervention to resolve 
this nonsense. 

Question (1) Does the Convener recognise this?

Answer (1) 

Question (2) Can the Convener reassure Council that Safe Routes to
School are a priority for her?

Answer (2) 

Question (3) Can the Convener assure Council that a safe route to school
/ travel plan will be shared with all Parents / carers of
Victoria Primary students covering access to the new
building before the school moves?

Answer (3) 

Page 273

Agenda Item 10.3



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 4 By Councillor Mowat for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 16 December 2021 

To ask the Convener of Transport and Environment: 

There was an Edinburgh Council consultation in June 2018 
on 2 options for the London Street crossing at Drummond 
Place; either a Puffin crossing (Option 1), which the criterion 
used by Transport officials within the council would have 
supported, or Option 2, to add step-outs either side of the 
junction (to significantly narrow the turning) as well as a 
raised table. The consultation attracted 173 responses with 
the step-out / raised table being supported by over 90% of 
respondents. 

A plan has been prepared for these works. 

The Policy and Sustainability Committee (under the revised 
Political Management arrangements in place during the 
pandemic) discussed an updated Pedestrian Crossing 
Priority list on 6th August 2020 - this had the London Street 
crossing at the top of the list with an stated 'Estimated 
Construction Year' being 2020/21 and  £200,000 was 
included in the budget for 2020/21 for pedestrian crossing 
improvements. 

Question (1) When are the works for this crossing to be put in place
scheduled to be carried out?

Answer (1) 

Question (2) Has there been a change in process for bringing forward the
Pedestrian Crossing Priority List which is usually an annual
report to Committee given that the last time this was
presented to Council was on 6th August 2020?

Answer (2) 

Page 275

Agenda Item 10.4



   

 

Page 276



QUESTION NO 5 By Councillor Neil Ross for answer 
by the Convener of the Regulatory 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 16 December 2021 

Question Following the passing of my motion on the Amplification of 
Sound on 28 October, has the convener written to Ben 
Macpherson MSP, the Minister for Local Government in 
Scotland, as requested, and, if so, can she publish the text 
of her letter and indicate the date it was sent? 

Answer 

 

Page 277

Agenda Item 10.5



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 6 By Councillor Neil Ross for answer 
by the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 16 December 2021 

Back in 2017 the Council committed to making repairs on a 
right-first-time basis and was looking at the purchase of a 
Hot Box machine to allow hot repairs to be done. Please can 
you provide the following: 

Question (1) The proportion of emergency repairs carried out within the
expected timescale over the past twelve months?

Answer (1) 

Question (2) The proportion of temporary repairs that are subsequently
replaced by permanent repairs within the expected
timescale over the past twelve months?  What is that
timescale?

Answer (2) 

Question (3) How many ‘hot box’ repair machines does the Council have
at its disposal at present for making ‘hot’ permanent repairs?

Answer (3) 

Question (4) Has the Council investigated the potential of ‘road mole’
type repair solutions and, if so, what conclusion was
reached?

Answer (4) 

 

Page 279

Agenda Item 10.6



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 7 By Councillor Neil Ross for answer 
by the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 16 December 2021 

Question Following the passing of my motion on Zebra Markings for 
Side Streets on 25 November, has the convener written to 
the Scottish Government Ministers for Transport and Active 
Travel, as requested, and, if so, can she publish the text of 
her letters and indicate the dates they were sent? 

Answer 

Page 281

Agenda Item 10.7



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 8 By Councillor Jim Campbell for 
answer by the Convener of the 
Finance and Resources Committee at 
a meeting of the Council on 16 
December 2021 

Councillor access to documents relating to the Monitoring 
Officer and Brodies earlier work around whistleblowing 
allegations 

Question (1) Can the Convener confirm if the Council will have to pay a
third party to give Councillor's access to these Council
documents?

Answer (1) 

Question (2) If so, what amount is envisaged?

Answer (2) 

Question (3) Can the Convener confirm if the Council retains in its own
possession any copies of these documents?

Answer (3)

Page 283

Agenda Item 10.8



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 9 By Councillor Cook for answer by the 
Council Leader at a meeting of the 
Council on 16 December 2021 

To ask the Council Leader how many times in the last 12 
months they have met with: 

Question (1) The Scottish First Minister

Answer (1) 

Question (2) The Cabinet Secretary for Finance and the Economy

Answer (2) 

Question (3) Essential Edinburgh

Answer (3) 

Question (4) The Edinburgh Hoteliers Association

Answer (4) 

Question (5) The Edinburgh Chamber of Commerce

Answer (5)

Page 285

Agenda Item 10.9



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 10 By Councillor Cook for answer by the 
Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 16 December 2021 

To ask the Convener of Transport and Environment 
Committee how many times in the last 12 months they have 
met with representatives of: 

Question (1) Edinburgh Taxi Association

Answer (1) 

Question (2) Unite the Union Cab Branch

Answer (2) 

Question (3) Lothian Buses

Answer (3) 

Question (4) The AA

Answer (4) 

Question (5) Essential Edinburgh

Answer (5) 

Question (6) Edinburgh Hoteliers Association

Answer (6) 

Question (7) Edinburgh Chamber of Commerce

Answer (7)

Page 287

Agenda Item 10.10



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 11 By Councillor Mowat for answer by 
the Convener of the Regulatory 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 16 December 2021 

At the Regulatory Committee on 2nd December 2021 
Councillor Day moved to continue Item 7.4 on the grounds 
of legal advice received, can the Convener clarify: 

Question (1) Whether legal advice was sought on this item by councillors.

Answer (1) 

Question (2) Whether officers brought forward legal advice to councillors
without a request.

Answer (2) 

Question (3) Which councillors were party to this legal advice?

Answer (3)

Page 289

Agenda Item 10.11



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 12 By Councillor Mowat for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 16 December 2021 

Could the Convener detail: 

The cost of providing the gull proof sack service 

Question (1) Per household and

Answer (1) 

Question (2) As a total cost

Answer (2)

Page 291

Agenda Item 10.12



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 13 By Councillor Whyte for answer by 
the Council Leader at a meeting of 
the Council on 16 December 2021 

Question Given that the response to previous questions indicates that 
he believes that the appraisal of the Chief Executive is the 
Council Leader’s responsibility can he confirm how many 
annual appraisals the Chief Executive has had since joining 
the Council in 2015 and since he became Council Leader in 
2017? 

Answer 

Page 293

Agenda Item 10.13



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 14 By Councillor Whyte for answer by 
the Council Leader at a meeting of 
the Council on 16 December 2021 

Question Who took the decision, and under what authority, that the 
approach to the appraisal of the Chief Executive would 
change to being the sole responsibility of the Council Leader 
as opposed to the approach with all previous Chief 
Executives where appraisal was undertaken by a small 
committee made up of the political group leaders? 

Answer 

Page 295

Agenda Item 10.14



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 15 By Councillor Whyte for answer by 
the Council Leader at a meeting of 
the Council on 16 December 2021 

Question Given that he has recognised in his response to previous 
questions on this topic that the Chief Executive is 
responsible to the whole Council and not just the 
Administration why he has not shared the Chief Executive’s 
objectives with other Group Leaders and when he will do 
so? 

Answer 

Page 297

Agenda Item 10.15



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 16 By Councillor Booth for answer by 
the Convener of the Education, 
Children and Families Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 16 
December 2021 

Question (1) Please can the Convenor clarify what Scottish Government
funding was received for the refurbishment of the Darroch
annex, and what conditions were attached to that funding?

Answer (1) 

Question (2) If the Darroch annex reverts to English Medium Education in
the future, what are the implications of this for the funding
received?

Answer (2)

Page 299

Agenda Item 10.16



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 17 By Councillor Bruce for answer by 
the Convener of the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board at a meeting 
of the Council on 16 December 2021 

Can the Convener confirm 

Question The number of Care Package requests that are currently 
outstanding for each locality? 

Answer 

Page 301

Agenda Item 10.17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4.1 Minutes
	5.1 Leader's Report
	7.1 Independent Review into Whistleblowing and Organisational Culture
	Cover sheet - Independent Review into Whistleblowing and Organisational Culture
	V2 Item 7.1 - Independent Review into Whistleblowing and Organisational Culture - no appendix
	V2 Report into the Review of the Whistleblowing and Organisational Culture of the City of Edinburgh Council

	7.2 Review of Political Management Arrangements – December 2021
	7.3 Treasury Management: Mid Term Report 2021/22 - referral from the Finance and Resources Committee
	7.4 Appointment of Executive Director, Corporate Services
	10.1 By Councillor Rust - Equal Pavements Pledge
	10.2 By Councillor Rust - SFP - Monitoring Cycle Counters
	10.3 By Councillor Jim Campbell - Safe Route to School - New Victoria Primary
	10.4 By Councillor Mowat - London Street Crossing
	10.5 By Councillor Neil Ross - Motion on Amplification of Sound - Letter to Minister
	10.6 By Councillor Neil Ross - Roads and Pavements Repairs
	10.7 By Councillor Neil Ross - Zebra Markings for Side Streets
	10.8 By Councillor Jim Campbell - Councillor Access to Documents
	10.9 By Councillor Cook - Meeting with Politicians and Business Representatives
	10.10 By Councillor Cook - Meeting with Business Representatives
	10.11 By Councillor Mowat - SEV Legal Advice
	10.12 By Councillor Mowat - Gull Proof Sack
	10.13 By Councillor Whyte - Chief Executive Appraisal 1
	10.14 By Councillor Whyte - Chief Executive Appraisal 2
	10.15 By Councillor Whyte - Chief Executive Appraisal 3
	10.16 By Councillor Booth - Refurbishment of Darroch Annex
	10.17 By Councillor Bruce - Care Packages

